Doctoral Dissertation, 2023

Factors Restricting Occupational Expectations of Japanese Females – Results from International Comparisons –

OCHANOMIZU UNIVERSITY Graduate School of Humanities and Sciences Interdisciplinary Gender Studies

MIYAMOTO Kaori

March 2024

日本女子の職業アスピレーションを下げる要因:国際比較による分析

(要約)

近年、日本では、少子化に起因する労働力減少によって、女性の労働参加の重要性が高ま っている。この課題に対処するため、政府は「女性が輝く社会」を実現し、ワークライフバ ランスを支援するための政策を導入してきた。しかし、労働市場では、男女賃金格差や女性 のキャリア発展の不平等が依然として存在している。この問題を鑑み、本論文は、日本女子 の職業アスピレーションに焦点を当てる。特に、日本の女性は、OECD の PISA や PIAAC で 高得点を取るにも関わらず、男子や他国の女子より職業アスピレーションが著しく低いため、 その要因を追究する。このテーマに着目するのは、高校時点で女子の職業アスピレーション が低ければ、大学進学への意欲も下がり、その後の就職やキャリア展開も難しくなるからで ある。従って、日本女性の人的資本を最大限に利用するには、女性の管理職割合を増加させ たり、出産後の職場復帰を奨励するだけでは不十分で、女子学生が就業する以前に、将来の 職業に対する志を高める必要がある。

本研究は、OECD の PISA 2018 データを分析した国際比較の量的調査と、日英の女子大学 生をインタビューした質的調査を組み合わせたものである。PISA 調査には、「30 歳になっ た時にどのような職業に就いていると考えられるか」という質問が含まれており、15 歳の 高校生の回答に、社会経済的指標が適用されている。それを利用して、男女別に平均値を比 較すると、女子の方が男子より社会経済的地位の低い職業を選択しているのは、先進 36 か 国の中で、日本が唯一の国だという事が明らかになる。量的調査では、この結果を基に、2 つの分析を行った。

第1に、大学進学希望、数学と国語の点数、親の学歴と職業等、ブロンフェンブレンナー の生態学的システム理論によるミクロ・メゾ要因との関係を分析した。その結果、日本では、 平均的に女子の職業アスピレーションが男子よりも低いのは、4 年制大学への進学希望割合 と数学の点数の低さが関連しており、他国では、女子の職業アスピレーションが男子に対し て高いのは、大学進学希望割合と国語の点数の高さが関連している事が示された。第2に、 女性労働に関連するエックソ・マクロ要因について分析した。その結果、職業アスピレーシ ョンの男女差と、各国の男女平等状況が関連している事が判明した。つまり、日本は男女賃 金格差が大きく、女性の管理職割合が低く、男性の家事労働時間が短く、主婦に対する見方 が肯定的であるため、女子の職業アスピレーションが男子よりも著しく低い事が示唆される。

質的調査は、日本と英国で学ぶ女子大学生 48 人をインタビューしたものである。その結 果、日本の学生は、英国の学生よりも、将来期待する職業の社会経済的地位が低い事が確認 された。その背後には、日本の学生は総じて、親から威信の高い職業を奨励されず、ワーク ライフバランスに対する懸念が強い事が挙げられる。これらの洞察を踏まえ、女性が仕事と 育児を両立させるためのワークライフバランス政策、特にフレックスタイム制度とその利用 について、政府統計分析と文献調査を通じて、日英で比較した。その結果、政策面では、日 本も英国も、全労働者が柔軟な働き方を実現できる制度を整備しているものの、その利用に 大きな違いがあることが明らかになった。

本研究の結果から、日本の女子が、男子や他の先進国の女子に比べて、職業アスピレーションが低い理由は、根強い男女役割分担規範と厳しい労働環境の影響があると推察される。 量的分析によって示唆された、大学進学希望と数学点の男女差も、ジェンダーバイアスやステレオタイプに起因する可能性がある。これらを変えるには、より柔軟な働き方の普及や、 男女共働き共子育てモデルを基にした社会保障と所得税制度へ移行する改革が不可欠である。 さらに、学校教育やメディアにおいて、性別に基づく偏見を排除し、女性が経済的に独立す るための人生設計及びファイナンシャル計画教育も強化する必要がある。これらの対策を通 じて、日本女子の職業アスピレーションを高め、そのスキルを最大限に活用すれば、国の生 産性は向上し、持続可能な経済に繋がると考えられる。

この研究の制約は以下の通りである。まず、日本の労働市場は、メンバーシップ型である ため、他の先進国のジョブ型とは異なり、職業に対する認識が希薄である事が挙げられる。 次に、男女平等指標が揃った国のサンプルサイズが、32 から 36 か国に限定されているた め、職業アスピレーションの男女差との関係を一般化するのに慎重さが求められる。さらに、 インタビュー対象は、キャリア志向の高い女子大学生が主に参加していた可能性があり、特 に英国の場合、国籍、人種、育った国などが多様なため、文化的影響の解釈が複雑である。 今後の研究として、15歳の学生が期待する職業と、30歳で実際に従事した職業を追跡する 縦断的調査を行う事が重要である。特にその結果に基づき、女子が期待した職業において、 促進または妨げとなった要因を詳細に検討することが不可欠である。

Factors Restricting Occupational Expectations of Japanese Females – Results from International Comparisons – (Abstract)

In recent years, the importance of women's participation in the workforce has increased due to a diminishing labour force, resulting from declining birth rates. To address this issue, the government has introduced policies to realise a "society where women shine" and promote a better work-life balance. However, despite efforts, gender inequalities in wages and career advancement persist in the labour market. Considering these challenges, this thesis focuses on the occupational expectations of Japanese females. The main reason is because Japanese females have significantly lower occupational expectations than those of males in Japan and females of other countries, despite scoring very high in OECD's PISA and PIAAC assessments.

Thus, this research explores factors contributing to this situation, as female students with low occupational expectations during high school may lack motivation to pursue university education, which in turn could pose difficulties in their subsequent job search and career advancement. Therefore, maximising the human capital of Japanese females requires more than just increasing the representation of women in managerial positions or encouraging their return to work after childbirth. It is essential to enhance female students' aspiration towards future occupations before they enter the workforce.

This study combines quantitative studies using the OECD's PISA 2018 data for international comparisons and a qualitative investigation involving interviews with female university students in Japan and the UK. The PISA survey includes a question asking 15-year-old high school students the kind of jobs they expect to have when they are 30, with socioeconomic indicators applied to their responses. Utilising these data and comparing averages by gender, the study reveals that, among the 36 developed countries, Japan is the only one where females on average choose occupations with significantly lower socioeconomic status compared to males.

Based on this finding, a quantitative analysis was carried out in two parts. Firstly, based on Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory, individual characteristics and the micro/meso factors were examined, such as the aspiration to go to university, scores in maths and reading, and parents' educational background and occupation. As a result, in Japan, the lower average occupational expectations of females compared to males was associated with a lower proportion of females planning to go to four-year universities and their lower maths scores. In other countries, the higher averages of occupational expectations of females compared to males were related to greater proportions of females planning to go to universities and their higher reading scores.

Secondly, relationships with exo/macro factors related to female labour were analysed. The results indicated associations between the gender differences in occupational expectations and the gender equality landscape in each country. In other words, the large gender wage gap, low representation of women in managerial positions, short unpaid work hours by men, and positive attitudes toward housewives in Japan were related to the significantly lower occupational expectations of females compared to males.

The qualitative analyses involved interviewing 48 female university students studying in Japan and the UK. Consequently, it was confirmed that the Japanese students expected future occupations with lower socioeconomic status compared to their counterparts in the UK. It appeared that the lack of encouragement to pursue prestigious occupations by the parents of the Japanese students and the latter's strong reservations about work-life balance contributed to this. Taking these insights into account, work-life balance policies between Japan and the UK were compared by reviewing government statistics and literature, particularly regarding the flexible work systems and their utilisation. The analysis indicated that, while both Japan and the UK have established systems to enable flexible working for all employees, the utilisation of the system was more universal in the UK.

The findings of this research suggest that the lower occupational expectations of Japanese females compared to Japanese males and females of other developed countries are due to persistent norms of gender roles and the challenging work environment. The gender gap in the aspiration to go to university and maths scores, as indicated by quantitative analysis, could potentially stem from gender biases and stereotypes. To address these issues, essential reforms involve transitioning to a norm where both men and women work and take care of the family, as well as enforcing more flexible work arrangements. Additionally, eliminating gender biases in school education and the media, along with strengthening education in life and financial planning to promote women's economic independence, is crucial. By implementing these measures, the occupational expectations of Japanese females could be elevated, which would facilitate the country in maximising their skills. This, in turn, could boost Japan's productivity, thereby contributing to a sustainable economy.

The limitations of this study are as follows. Firstly, the Japanese labour market operates under a "membership-type", which entails a more generalised perception of occupations, contrasting with the "job-type" characteristics of most other developed countries. Secondly, the sample sizes for the countries with appropriate gender equality indicators were limited to 32 to 36 countries. Therefore, caution is required in generalising relationships between the gender equality landscape and gender differences in occupational expectations. Additionally, the female university interviewees in Japan and the UK were likely to be more career-oriented than the average student. Moreover, as the nationality, race, and cultural backgrounds of the interviewees in the UK were diverse, interpreting cultural influences becomes complex. Future research could include longitudinal surveys tracking the occupational expectations of 15-year-old students and the actual occupations engaged at the age of 30. Based on the findings, it would be essential to carry out a detailed examination of the gender related factors that promoted or restricted females from pursuing their expected occupations.

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	6
Translations and Abbreviations	9
Introduction: Background and Objectives	11
Background	11
Objectives of this Research	12
Structure of this Research	13
Chapter 1: Definition, Literature Review and Analytical Framework	15
Definition and Illustration	15
Definition of Occupational Expectations	15
Occupational Expectations versus Aspirations	15
Surveys on Occupational Choice in Japan	16
Literature Review	17
International Studies on Occupational Choice	17
Studies in Japan on Occupational Choice	20
Theories Related to Female Occupational Expectations	22
Circumscription and Compromise	22
Women's Social Status Dependency	24
Institutionalised Gender Division in the Japanese Labour Market	30
Testing the Theories	36
Analytical Framework	38
Explanation of Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems Theory	38
Studies Applying Bronfenbrenner's Theory	39
Summary of Key Factors	40
New Contribution to the Academic Literature	42
Chapter 2: Descriptions of the International Data	46
Data for International Comparisons	46
PISA 2018	46
Occupational Categories	47
Socio-Economic Indicators	50
Gender Equality Indicators	52
Chapter 3 International Comparison of Gender Differences in Occupational Expectations: Individual Characteristics and Parental Factors within Micro/Meso Systems	53
Descriptive Statistics	53
ISEI Scores and Ratio	53
Individual Characteristics and Micro/Meso Systems	56

Factors that Contribute to Occupational Expectations	60
Model and Method	60
Results	60
Blinder Oaxaca Decomposition	62
Model and Method	62
Results	63
Summary and Discussion	67
Contributing Factors to the Lower Educational Aspirations of Girls	67
Contributing Factors to the Underperformance of Girls in Maths	68
Chapter 4: International Comparison of Gender Differences in Occupational Expectations: Factors Related to the Gender Equality Landscape within Exo/Macro Systems	71
Determinants of Girls' ISEI Compared to Boys	71
Model and Method	71
Results	71
Gender Equality Landscape Factors	73
Country-Specific Effects	78
Model and Method	78
Results	78
Multilevel Regression Analysis	79
Model and Method	79
Results	80
Summary and Discussion	81
Chapter 5: Comparison between Japan and the UK: Universities and Labour Policies	83
Rationale for Comparing with the UK	83
Information on Universities and University Students	84
Labour Market Characteristics	87
Gender Distribution of Occupational Categories	88
Non-Standard Work in the UK	90
Overview of Work-Life Balance Policies	92
Flexible Work Policies	93
Use of Policies	98
Assessments on the Flexible Work System	103
Summary	106
Appendix 5: WLB Charter	108
Chapter 6: Interviews on Occupational Expectations of Female University Students: Comparison Between Japan and the UK	110
Context	110

Method	111
Profile of the Interviewees	112
Occupational Choice	115
Results and Discussion: Analysis of Factors	116
Preferences for Partners	117
Influence from Parents	120
Gender Dimensions in the Workplace	129
Summary	133
Appendix 6.A: Responses on Parental Influence and Workplace Issues	136
Appendix 6.B: Descriptions and Interpretations of Interviewees with Mixed Backgrounds .	140
Concluding Chapter: Summary and Discussion	143
Applicability of the Theories	144
Circumscription and Compromise	144
Women's Social Status Dependency	146
Institutionalised Gender Division in the Japanese Labour Market	147
Discussion	148
The Way Forward	150
Future Considerations	152
Limitations and Further Research	154
Bibliography	156
Acknowledgements	180

Translations and Abbreviations

Law, Institution, or Survey	Abbreviation	Japanese
Act on Advancement of Measures to Support		次世代育成支援対策推進法
Raising Next-Generation Children		
Act on the Arrangement of Related Acts to		働き方改革関連法
Promote Work Style Reform		
Act on Promotion of Women's Participation and		女性活躍推進法
Advancement in the Workplace		
Artificial Intelligence	AI	
Basic Plan for Gender Equality		男女共同参画基本計画
Basic School Survey		学校基本調査
Basic Survey of Gender Equality in Employment		雇用均等基本調査
Management		
British Broadcasting Corporation	BBC	f mm f
Cabinet Office	CAO	内閣府
Childcare Leave law		育児休業法
Childcare and Family Care Leave Law		育児・介護休業法
Classification of Occupations for Employment	FSCO	厚生労働省編職業分類
Services	LSCO	
Comprehensive Survey of Living Conditions		国民生活基本調査
Employment Status Survey		就業構造基本調査
European Union	EU	欧州連合
Gender Equality in Employment Act		男女雇用機会均等法
General Survey on Working Conditions		就労条件総合調査
Gross Domestic Product	GDP	
International Social Survey Programme	ISSP	
International Socio-Economic Index	ISEI	
International Standard Classification of	1600	同欧博滩啦光八拓
Occupations	1300	国际际毕顿未万短
information and communications technology	ICT	
Information technology	IT	
International Labour Organization	ILO	国際労働機関
Japan Standard Occupational Classification	JSOC	日本標準職業分類
Japan Student Services Organization	JASSO	日本学生支援機構
Labour Standards Act		労働基準法
Labour Standards Inspection Office		労働基準監督署
Labour Force Survey		労働力調査
Longitudinal Survey of Adults in the 21 st		
Century		21 世紀成年者縦断調査
Longitudinal Survey of Newborns in the 21st		21 卅幻山生旧纷影調本
Century		21 巴和田生兄桃町硐宜
Long-Term Care Insurance Act		介護保険法
Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science	MEVT	- - - - - - - - - - - - - -
and Technology	MEXI	又即科子有
Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare	MHLW	厚生労働省
Ministry of Internal Affairs and	MIC	
Communications	mit	
National Fertility Survey		出生動向基本調査

National Institute of Population and Social		国立社会保障・人口問題研究
Security Research	IPSS	所
National Institute for Educational Policy		国立教育政策研究所
National Survey of Family Income and		公 国安 <u></u> 建建 法 博 法 調 太
Expenditure		王国豕訂傳垣祠宜
Nippon Broadcasting Corporation	NHK	日本放送協会
Office for National Statistics	ONS	
Ordinary Least Squares	OLS	最小二乗法
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development	OECD	経済協力開発機構
Programme for International Assessment of Adult Competencies	PIAAC	
Population Census		国勢調査
Programme for International Assessment of Adult Competencies	PIAAC	
Programme for International Student Assessment	PISA	
Public Opinion Poll on a Gender-Equal Society		男女共同参画に関する世論調 査
Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics	STEM	
Socio-Economic Status	SES	
(National Survey of) Social Stratification and Social Mobility	SSM	社会階層と社会移動全国調査
Survey on Time Use and Leisure Activities		社会生活基本調査
United Kingdom	UK	
United States of America	USA	
Vital Statistics		人口動態調査
World Economic Forum	WEF	
White Paper on Gender Equality		男女共同参画白書
Work Life Balance	WLB	
Work Life Balance Charter		ワークライフバランス憲章
Work Style Reform Legislation		働き方改革関連法

Introduction: Background and Objectives

In recent years, the importance of women's participation in the workforce has grown significantly in Japan. This shift is driven by the country's declining population and a shrinking labour force. To address this challenge, the government has introduced various policies aimed at facilitating work-life balance (WLB) for parents. However, gender inequality persists in the labour market, characterised by significant disparities in wages and career opportunities for women. In light of this major concern, this research focuses on the occupational expectations of young Japanese females. The central theme of this study revolves around the findings that Japanese girls have lower occupational expectations compared to their male counterparts and girls in other developed countries.

This topic is relevant as research results show that young females with more ambitious educational and career plans tend to have an advantage over their counterparts with less challenging or unclear plans (see below). Therefore, the primary aim of this study is to analyse factors that influence occupational expectations and explore ways to address bottlenecks. The following section provides a concise overview of gender disparities in the Japanese labour market and outline the specific objectives and structure of this study.

Background

The Gender Gap Report 2023 by the World Economic Forum (WEF) (2023) ranks Japan as 125 out of 146 countries, below countries such as Angola, Kuwait, and Myanmar. Notably, Japan holds the lowest rank among the 19 East Asian and Pacific countries. Besides political empowerment, the gender gap is pronounced in women's economic participation, especially when compared to other developed countries. While Japan's female employment rate has reached 73%, surpassing the average of Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) members at 65% (OECD.Stat n.d.), according to Japan's 2023 Labour Force Survey, the proportion of women in non-regular employment among female employees remains notably high at 53% (Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications [MIC], 2023a). Furthermore, full-time female workers earn only 78% of their male counterparts, a significant disparity when compared to, for instance, Belgium where female counterparts earn 99%. Additionally, the representation of Japanese women in managerial posts stand at 13% (in contrast to 46% in Latvia) and women comprise 22% of doctors (compared to 74% in Estonia or similar to Australia during the 1970s) (OECD 2021a; OECD.Stat n.d.; Power 1975).

Simultaneously, the family landscape is undergoing transformation, with increasing rates of divorce, unmarried women, single mothers, and female poverty, as shown in the Fifth Basic Plan for Gender Equality (Cabinet Office [CAO] 2022). Moreover, the traditional model of a husband as the sole breadwinner and the wife as a housewife has become unrealistic, primarily due to stagnant male salary levels that are no longer sufficient for a comfortable lifestyle (Maeda 2017). This shift could potentially explain the rise in women's labour force participation rates from 63% in 2010 to 73% in 2021, as previously noted (OECD.Stat n.d.).

As an illustration of inadequate salary levels, the 2019 National Survey of Family Income and Expenditure (MIC 2021) found that over 90% of unmarried males under 50 years old were earning less than ¥5 million in 2019, which falls short of the income single women typically seek in potential partners (Osawa 2015; Ueno 2021; Yamada 2015, 2016). Consequently, some single women still hope to become housewives, but the majority anticipate returning to work after temporarily leaving the workforce while their children are young, as indicated in the 15th National Fertility Survey (National Institute of Population and Social Security Research [IPSS] 2017). Specifically, the percentage of women who believe it is preferable to continue working

after having children increased from 26% in 1992 to 64% in 2019. Concurrently, findings from the 2018 Public Opinion Poll on a Gender-Equal Society reveal that the proportion of women and men who favour ceasing work after having children decreased from 43% to 20% during the same period (CAO 2019a). In this context, according to the Basic School Survey, the percentage of high school graduating girls enrolling in four-year universities has also risen from 32% in 2000 to 53% in 2022 (Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology[MEXT] 2022a).

At the same time, Japan has been grappling with declining birth rates, a diminishing labour force, and a sluggish economy. Recognising the urgency to harness the country's human capital to support its aging society, the government has developed policies aimed at enhancing the WLB for parents, but notably women, over the past four decades. These policies encompass legislations such as the Gender Equality in Employment Act of 1986, the Childcare and Family Care Leave Law of 1992, and the Long-Term Care Insurance Act of 2002. More recently, the 2016 Act on Promotion of Women's Participation and Advancement in the Workplace has mandated that public entities and companies with over 300 employees assess the status of female employment, analyse areas for improvement, develop and publicise action plans with specific targets, and disclose pertinent information. (Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare [MHLW] n.d.a). Furthermore, the Work-Style Reform legislation in 2019 is designed to curtail overtime work and enhance WLB (MHLW *et al.* 2021).

Lastly, the 2022 amendment to the Childcare and Family Leave Law has extended its coverage to men and non-regular employees, with large companies now mandated to publicly report childcare leave uptake statistics. Starting in April 2022, companies are also obligated to actively promote childcare leave among their employees, with a particular focus on expectant fathers. Moreover, as a strategic objective, the government is presently aiming to double the representation of women in leadership roles to 30% by 2030 (CAO 2020). Nevertheless, achieving this target may prove challenging, given the relatively small number of women in the existing pool of professionals.

Objectives of this Research

With this background, this research examines the occupational expectations of young Japanese students. Occupational expectations generally refer to the jobs they expect to have shortly after completing their education. In this study, the particular focus is on the socio-economic status (SES) associated with these occupations. The research shows that Japanese females tend to have lower occupational expectations in terms of SES when compared to males, as well as females in other OECD countries.

It is essential to note that higher educational or occupational expectations do not guarantee achievement. Research also indicates that girls have a tendency of lowering their expectations over time (Berger *et al.* 2020; Danziger & Eden 2007). However, young females with higher educational or career aspirations tend to have better prospects for achievement compared to those with less ambitious plans (Baird *et al.* 2008; Carpenter & Fleishman 1987; Gottfredson *et al.* 1975; Goldin *et al.* 2006; Hayashi 2012; Kan 2007; Lee & Rojewski 2009; Mello 2008; Reynolds *et al.* 2006; Sewell *et al.* 1980; Schoon & Parsons 2002; Schoon & Polek 2011; Shaw & Shapiro 1987; Yokoyama 2015). This means that girls who do not aspire to pursue challenging careers from adolescence could face difficulties in establishing a successful professional path later on.

In this context, data from the OECD's Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) reveals Japan's unique situation among OECD countries. It is the only country where the average SES associated with the expected occupations of girls is notably lower than that of boys (see Chapter 3). Despite this, Japanese females consistently achieve top rankings in international competency tests such as PISA (refer to Chapters 3 and 4) and the Programme for International

Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC) (OECD 2019a; Komatsu 2021). When competent girls aim low for their future jobs, they may become less inclined to pursue university education, especially at competitive institutions. This, in turn, could limit their options for securing quality employment and advancing their careers. Moreover, such a situation represents a significant loss to society, as it underutilises the potential of these high-achieving individuals. In Japan, the issue of low occupational expectations is particularly concerning, given the difficulties associated with changing or obtaining full-time jobs later in one's career (Nagase 2003; Nishimura 2014; Osawa 2015; Yamaguchi 2017).

As globalisation advances, Japan will face increasing challenges in global competitiveness due to its limited natural resources. To effectively address this, the nation must harness its abundant human capital to the fullest extent. Empowering women, who constitute half the population, to unlock their full potential in the labour market holds particular significance. This imperative is even more vital in today's context of an aging society, declining birth rates, and deepening fiscal deficit. As an illustration of the potential benefits of such empowerment, Yamaguchi (2017) finds that an increase in the number of university-educated female employees in companies results in higher hourly productivity for them, when there is a gender equality policy and a relatively high percentage of female managers.

Given these considerations, it is crucial for the government to further enhance policies aimed at empowering women and to improve implementation. Equally important is to encourage young women to aim for challenging careers and align their educational paths accordingly, especially during the phase when they are making critical decisions about their future. This perspective is just as, if not more, vital than solely concentrating on expanding the existing pool of female managers within the labour market or aiding mothers in re-entering the workforce after giving birth. Therefore, this research aims to investigate the factors contributing to the relatively low occupational expectations of young Japanese females, as these factors can significantly curtail their prospects for employment and career advancement.

Structure of this Research

This study encompasses both quantitative and qualitative analyses. The quantitative section in Chapters 3 and 4 involves international comparisons using multiple sets of uniform and nationally representative data. It provides statistics and explains variables associated with gender disparities in occupational expectations in Japan and other OECD countries. Conducting international comparisons offers insights into global trends, as well as socio-economic, political, cultural, and ideological factors that contribute to varying outcomes. Furthermore, it can lead to solutions for addressing challenges in female labour issues and learning from lessons in other countries.

The qualitative section in Chapters 5 and 6 presents comparative studies between Japan and the UK, integrating policy research and interviews. This approach serves to corroborate quantitative findings with real-life experiences of female university students. The policy analysis specifically explores WLB measures, offering context to understand the interviewees' aspirations for their future careers and family life in both countries. This in-depth examination between Japan and another country enables a nuanced understanding of cultural, societal, and policy factors that could potentially impact female occupational expectations.

The structure of this research is summarised in Table 0.1. Chapter 1 begins by providing definitions and contexts of the occupations explored in this study. It then reviews the literature on female occupational choices, which encompasses empirical studies, theories explaining the low occupational expectations of Japanese females, and an analytical framework categorising key factors influencing occupational expectations. The chapter also consolidates the key elements to

be addressed in each subsequent chapter and discusses the new contributions of this study to the academic literature. In Chapter 2, explanations of pertinent data from PISA, occupational classifications, and SES indicators are presented.

Chapters 3 and 4 feature quantitative analyses utilising PISA data to demonstrate that the future occupations expected by Japanese girls have notably lower average SES compared to those of boys. Specifically, Chapter 3 discusses the factors associated with individual characteristics and micro/mesosystems (explained in Chapter 1), such as parental education and occupation. Chapter 4, on the other hand, focuses on the exo/macro systems, exploring whether Japan's gender inequality in labour issues contributes to the relatively low occupational expectations of girls.

Chapter 5 presents information on universities and the labour market in the UK, particularly regarding flexible work measures and utilisation, as background for the interviews of students studying in the UK. Building on this, Chapter 6 provides qualitative analysis based on interviews with female university students in Japan and the UK. It specifically compares the influence of parents and perceptions of workplace issues to shed light on the lower occupational expectations of Japanese females relative to their counterparts in the UK. In the final chapter, the study summarises its findings, discusses policy implications, raises future considerations and study limitations, and proposes potential avenues for future research.

Table 0.1: Structure of this Research

Factors Lowering Occupational Expectations of Japanese females:						
- Results from International Comparisons -						
Ba	ckground and object	tive of the study (Introductory Chapter)				
Context and	rationale for examin	ing occupational expectations of Japanese females				
Defi	nition, literature revi	ew, and analytical framework (Chapter 1)				
	Foundational know	ledge on female occupational choices				
	Data for	the Research (Chapter 2)				
Explanation	of PISA, occupational	classifications, SES, and gender equality indicators				
Quantita	Quantitative Analysis Qualitative Analysis					
Internation	International Comparisons Comparison with the UK					
Individual	Gender equality	Universities and labour market characteristics				
and parental	and parental landscape factors (Chapter 5)					
factors using	factors using using PISA and Interviews focusing on individual characteristics,					
PISA data	PISA data other data parental influences, and workplace issues					
(Chapter 3) (Chapter 4) (Chapter 6)						
	Summary and Discussion (Concluding Chapter)					
Findings,	Findings, policy implications, future considerations, and limitations of the study					

Chapter 1: Definition, Literature Review and Analytical Framework

This chapter begins by providing a basic description of the study. It defines occupational expectations and briefly discusses the differences between occupational expectations and aspirations. The chapter then presents a few examples of surveys conducted in Japan that list some future occupations chosen by girls and boys. Following this, the chapter explores prior research and relevant theories that help explain the phenomenon of low occupational expectations among Japanese females. It then introduces a conceptual framework designed to categorise the factors influencing occupational choice. Finally, the last section situates the theories within the empirical analyses of Chapters 3, 4 and 6 and discusses the contribution of this study to academia.

Definition and Illustration

Definition of Occupational Expectations

In this study, 'occupational expectation' refers to the occupation that a young individual anticipates having shortly after completing her or his education. These expectations encompass the occupations they intend to pursue as long-term career paths, in contrast to short-term or part-time jobs, such as those undertaken to save for graduate school expenses. A comprehensive discussion on the definition of occupation itself and its classification can be found in Chapter 2.

In certain academic literature, occupational expectations are clarified in a more comprehensive manner as:

cognitive patterns of the individual that include self-perception of occupational future identities, understanding of one's own abilities, possible place in the world of employment, existing and potential connections, and unique role. Occupational expectations are translated into academic achievements during adolescence. They also constitute a critical variable later in accessing opportunities in the labour market. Longitudinal studies demonstrate how occupational expectations predict occupational achievements in adulthood, and how they mediate the effect that a weak socioeconomic background has on academic achievement (Effective Research for Impact Institute n.d.).

This statement underscores the complex dimensions of occupational expectations, encompassing elements of psychology, education, employment, and equity issues. Consequently, this research dissects some of these aspects to understand the factors shaping females' career and life plans through occupations and discusses their ramifications on society.

Occupational Expectations versus Aspirations

'Occupational expectation' differs somewhat from 'occupational aspiration' which pertains to an occupation that young individuals *aspire* to have. While 'aspiration' can denote a job that young people hope to secure or a potentially unachievable dream, 'expectation' is generally perceived as more realistic, representing an occupation that takes into account social constraints. Several studies have explored the distinction between occupational aspirations and occupational expectations to examine the obstacles in realising these aspirations. For instance, Saha (1997) and Sikora & Saha (2011) discover that many students in Australia from disadvantaged backgrounds have expectations that fall below their aspirations due to limited access to resources and opportunities.

As the occupations that youths *expect* to have are generally closer to the occupations they realise in the future than those they *aspire* to have, this research primarily focuses on 'occupational

expectations.' In addition, the relevant question in the PISA data asks students, "What kind of job do you *expect* to have when you are about 30 years old?". Taki (2011a, 2011b), who also analyses PISA data to investigate the future educational and occupational choices of students, employs the term 'expectations' instead of 'aspirations.' Nevertheless, it is important to note that the distinction between occupational expectations and aspirations in the literature is not always straightforward and even used interchangeably. For example, a study by Schuette *et al.* (2012) on 'career aspirations' asks middle school students to name jobs that they "might like to have in the future". Staff *et al.* (2010), in their study on 'occupational aspirations', inquire with 16-year-olds about the job or occupation that they "expect or plan to have" when they are 30 years old. Furthermore, Looker & Magee (2000) use terms like occupational 'expectation', 'aspiration', 'plans', 'decision-making', and 'preferences' interchangeably in their work.

Thus, the term 'occupational expectations' is used in this literature review to cover studies that deal with occupational choice more broadly. In particular, the main interest here is the gender differences in occupational choice. Since expectations or aspirations are highly correlated with attainment (Marini & Greenberger 1978; Saha 1997), they are all relevant in analysing the contrast between females and males. Furthermore, the term 'aspiring lawyer,' for example, is used in Chapter 6 instead of 'expectant lawyer' because the former expression is commonly used in conjunction with occupations.

Surveys on Occupational Choice in Japan

To illustrate some occupations that Japanese girls and boys envision for the future, Table 1.1 lists the results of surveys carried out by many private entities.

щ	Organization	Veen	Тор Осси	Comulo	
		rear	Girls	Boys	Sample
1	Sony Life	2021	civil servant, nurse, teacher, entertainer, childcare worker		800 high school students though internet research
2	Dai-Ichi Life Insurance	2023	company worker, civil servant, nurse, teacher, kindergarten teacher/childcare worker, hairdresser, pharmacist, IT engineer, academic, doctor, chef	company worker, civil servant, IT engineer, teacher, academic, doctor, architect, game creator, YouTuber, soccer player	High school students from 3000 samples that include elementary and junior high school students through internet research
3	Benesse	2021	nurse, local civil servant, programmer, system engineer, childcare worker, pharmacist, nutritionist, psychological counsellor, high school student, singer, game creator		515 high school students through web survey
4	Shibuya Trend Research	2023	company worker, YouTuber, civil servant, hair/make-up artist, cabin attendant/pilot, entertainer/model, IT programmer, film producer, entrepreneur		100 high school students through web survey

Table 1.1: Examples of Surveys on Occupations that Youths Envision in Japan

5	Top Athlete (Hello Work for 13-year Olds)	2023	clinical psychologist, athlete, hair stylist, YouTuber, civil servant (general administration), librarian, medical doctor, nature observation instructor, illustrator	Number of accesses for each occupation by junior and senior high school students
---	--	------	--	--

Source: Sony Life (2021), Dai-ichi Life Insurance (2023), Benesse (2021), Shibuya Trend Research (2023), and Top Athlete (2023)

While some surveys do not distinguish the occupations chosen by gender, it is relatively easy to infer which ones are selected by girls or boys, especially by referring to the surveys that did. Among girls, many occupations are traditional, stable, and require qualifications in paramedical, educational, and caregiving fields, such as nurse, pharmacist, teacher, and childcare worker. There is also significant interest in the entertainment industry, such as singer and actress, as well as the beauty industry, including occupations like hair stylist or makeup artist. In contrast, boys exhibit strong interests in entrepreneurial and technology-related occupations, such as entrepreneur, YouTuber, IT programmer, and game creator. Additionally, there is a prevalence of intellectual professions that demand high qualifications, like researcher, doctor, and architect, which are less visible among girls.

At the same time, it is also notable that many girls and boys choose generic job positions such as civil servant and company worker, which are not exactly distinct occupations. This is presumably influenced by the characteristic of the Japanese labour market, where employers tend to hire generalists and assign employees to different tasks, as opposed to hiring specialists in specific occupations, which is discussed below.

Literature Review

This section reviews literature on occupational choices, with a particular emphasis on females. It encompasses international studies as well as research specific to Japan. Key topics include the influence of social class, notably through parents' occupations and their functions as encouragers or role models. The discussion also draws insights from multi-country studies and highlights recent trends revealing higher occupational expectations among females compared to their male counterparts.

International Studies on Occupational Choice

Social Class Effects on Occupational Expectations

Theories and research on factors that influence occupational choice initially concentrated solely on men. It started with the path model developed by Blau & Duncan (1967), which established that the father's education and occupation are transmitted through the son's education and eventual occupation. Subsequently, the Wisconsin Model, proposed by Sewell *et al.* (1970), introduced a socio-psychological component to expound on how the father's education and occupation influence the son's attained occupation by way of his academic aptitude and occupational aspirations. This model has become one of the foundational theories for career development.

The Wisconsin Model, however, took time to be applied to women. This delay was due to the relatively low number of women in the labour force during the 1960s-70s, particularly after marriage and childbirth. Some studies included females, but they did not specifically investigate gender differences. For instance, research by Schoon & Parsons (2002) examines 15-16-year-old boys and girls in the UK during the early 1990s. Their findings indicate that family social class, assessed by a composite measure of the higher of the parents' education and occupation, is positively associated with career aspirations of adolescents. In essence, individuals from higher

social class backgrounds are more inclined to aspire to professional or managerial careers. Moreover, after accounting for academic achievement and family background, the study reveals that career aspirations are predictive of subsequent occupational outcomes. To be specific, both males and females who aspired to professional or managerial careers were more likely to attain such positions, while those who aspired to manual or routine jobs were more likely to find themselves in those types of occupations.

The aforementioned studies demonstrate the intergenerational transmission of social class. This phenomenon occurs because parents with higher levels of education, greater income, or elevated SES typically possess access to diverse resources and opportunities that can shape their children's educational and occupational choices. These resources may encompass: financial resources that can provide children with better education, tutoring, extracurricular activities, technology, healthcare, and nutrition; social capital that can provide children with valuable information, networking, and access to internships and career opportunities; and cultural capital that can expose children to artistic and intellectual activities, sports events, travel experiences, and encounters with different societies. In addition, highly educated parents often set higher expectations, provide academic support, and offer guidance during college applications, which boost their children's academic and career achievements. Finally, parents with higher SES have access to individuals in prestigious occupations within the family or social circle, motivating their children to pursue similar career paths (Davis-Kean 2005; Dufur *et al.* 2013; Haveman & Wolfe 1995; Lareau 2002; Sirin 2005).

Parents' Occupational Influence on Females

Eventually, studies exploring female occupational expectations emerged, particularly examining relationships between daughters and mothers. However, in the earlier days, only limited research indicated a significant influence of mothers' occupation on daughters' occupational expectations or achievements, possibly due to the small share of mothers in the workforce or with professional careers. For example, Marini & Greenberger (1978) reveal that, in the 70s, the occupational prestige of mothers had less impact on the occupational ambitions of American high school girls compared to that of fathers. This difference was largely owing to the prevalence of housewives among mothers during that period.

Similarly, Vella (1993, 1994) observes that during the 1980s in Australia, when parents had high education levels and mothers worked, daughters became more progressive in their views on work, and their educational levels also increased. However, this did not significantly affect their actual occupational achievements. Marini & Fan (1997), examining young American adults in the 1980s, identify gender differences in the social class effect on occupational aspirations: boys with parents in high-paying and high-status occupations were more likely to aspire to similar careers, while girls did not exhibit the same tendency.

A comparative study conducted by Vondracek *et al.* (1999) among adolescents in Germany in the 1990s also reveal that the influence of mothers' occupational types (technical, sales, education, trade, banks, administration, and health) on their daughters' career preferences was contingent upon the regional social context of Western versus Eastern Germany, including the latter's gender equality norms fostered during the Communist period. More recent studies in the United States of America (USA), such as Schuette *et al.* (2012) and Moakler Jr. & Kim (2014), similarly do not identify significant relationships between mothers' male/female-dominated or science, technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM) occupations and their job status (professional, skilled, and unskilled) with respect to girls' aspirations. Additionally, a large-scale longitudinal study in Finland by Erola *et al.* (2016) finds that, instead of the parents' occupation or income,

their education, and particularly that of the father, has a more substantial effect on daughters' occupational expectations.

At the same time, a growing body of research has demonstrated the influence of mothers' occupations on their daughters' occupational aspirations. For example, Gutman *et al.* (2014), examining 14–19-year-olds in the UK in the mid-2000s, find that higher levels of education and higher-status occupations of both fathers and mothers are associated more with higher aspirations among girls than boys. Polavieja & Platt's (2014) longitudinal and nationally representative study in the UK adds further nuance, revealing that girls who have mothers in sexatypical (male dominated) occupations, which generally have higher wages, are more likely to aspire to sex-atypical occupations than girls whose mothers have sex-typical (female-dominated) occupations, which generally have lower wages.

Thus, findings reveal a mixed picture regarding the influence of the parents' occupations on the daughters' occupational expectations, particularly of the mothers. It is possible that a stronger connection has emerged over the last decade, aligning with the trend of more mothers pursuing challenging occupations and actively building their careers. Additionally, while mothers' occupations may not strongly influence their daughters' specific occupational choices, they may still impact their overall career plans, such as the decision to continue working after marriage or childbirth (Saha 1982; Schuette *et al.* 2012; Looker & Magee 2000; Rainey & Borders 1997; Vella 1994; Stitt-Gohdes 1997; Katase 2005; Nakao 2011; Motohama 2014; Matsumoto 2008; Muramatsu 2000; Genji 2004; Maeda 2017). On the other hand, factors like career development prospects in the workplace and WLB conflicts can also play a role in these decisions. Therefore, gaining a comprehensive understanding of occupational expectations of young females requires an examination of factors beyond parental influence, including societal norms and labour market conditions.

Parental Encouragement on Female Occupational Choice

Aside from the influence of parental education and occupations, some recent studies highlight the proactive role that parents play in shaping their daughters' occupational expectations. These studies suggest that parents' beliefs, values, and expectations regarding their daughters' achievements can impact their career choices and academic pursuits. The results indicate that parental encouragement and support, particularly for non-traditional careers like STEM, can have a positive effect on females' career aspirations. On the other hand, they also suggest that gender stereotypes and societal norms held by parents may also restrict females' career choices and hinder their pursuit of non-traditional careers.

For example, Martin *et al.* (2014) discuss parental encouragement and support regarding the subject areas for their children to study, which can lead to specialised occupations. In their survey of students studying engineering at two US universities, they categorise the role of parents as follows: being supportive of engineering, instilling the legacy of family members who are engineers, providing knowledge about college and career options in general, facilitating engineering-related opportunities, and being unsupportive of studying engineering. While this study does not explicitly differentiate between genders, with 64% of the sample being female, the data suggest that the differences in results are not primarily linked to the student's gender; instead, they are more closely related to the educational background of their parents.

Additionally, the longitudinal national study among US high school students by Wang *et al.* (2017) finds that parental encouragement to study maths or science has significant effects on students' pursuit of STEM occupations, regardless of their performance in verbal, maths, and science subjects. This research sees no gender related *effects* of parental encouragement on the pursuit of STEM occupations, although it is unclear whether there is gender-differentiated

encouragement by the parents. However, the study acknowledges the necessity for future research to explore the effects of parental encouragement towards non-STEM areas as well, such as literature or the arts, in order to enhance the predictive validity of factors contributing to children's selection of STEM occupations. This type of investigation has the potential to bring out gender-related aspects more clearly.

Multi-Country Studies

Several recent multi-country studies examining gender differences in occupational expectations yield common findings. Firstly, these research observes significant gender differences in occupational expectations across countries: boys tend to be more interested in science and engineering, while girls are more likely to expect careers in the healthcare and social services field. Secondly, they find that gender differences in occupational expectations are influenced by cultural values and beliefs regarding gender roles in each country.

Some of these studies are based on PISA data; for example, Sikora and Saha (2009) utilise PISA 2006 data and the average proportion of women in the labour force as a proxy to correlate girls' occupational expectations with labour market opportunities and gendered norms. Analysing the same data, Sikora & Pokropek (2011) demonstrate that, among STEM disciplines, regardless of aptitude in science, girls generally expect lower-paid health sector occupations while boys expect higher-paid engineering occupations. More recently, with PISA 2018 data, Stoet & Geary (2022) affirm that girls still choose people-oriented occupations – such as nurses – and boys prefer things-oriented occupations – such as mechanics – across countries, consistent with studies found in the USA a century ago.

Recent Trends in Higher Occupational Expectation of Females

Literature in the last two decades show that female occupational expectations have risen in terms of higher SES compared to the past and also relative to boys (Al-Bahrani *et al.* 2020; Francis 2002; Inoue-Smith 2014; Looker & Magee 2000; Schoon & Parsons 2002; Schoon & Polek 2011; Watts *et al.* 2015), particularly in the Anglo-Saxon countries of Canada, UK and USA. These studies attribute this phenomenon to socio-economic changes, particularly in the industrial and service sectors, as well as increases in female education, equal job opportunities, returns to investment in human capital, female labour force participation, role models such as working mothers, divorce rates, single-parent families, and childcare measures (Baird 2008; Francis 2002; Looker & Magee 2000; Schoon & Polek 2011; Thévenon 2016). However, in Japan, hardly any study so far shows that occupational expectations of females have become higher than or even close to that of males, except in a small sample at a national university (Inoue-Smith 2014).

Studies in Japan on Occupational Choice

Many studies on female labour issues in Japan adopt a life course perspective rather than focusing on specific types of occupational choices (Anzai & Paik 2012; Imada 1996; Muramatsu 2000; Nakayama 1985; Takahashi & Nakagami 2007; Takamatsu *et al.* 2023; Wakita 2009; Zhou 2013). Consequently, a significant portion of research on career plans addresses topics such as work patterns, contractual categories, and values associated with work. These subjects include females' plans to continue working after marriage or childbirth, their preference for full-time or part-time employment, contractual arrangements, and so on. Therefore, only a few studies examine parental influence on their daughters' choices for concrete occupations. When they do focus on occupations, they are generally categorised broadly, such as technical, administrative, and manual work. The following examples highlight the few.

Social Class Effects on Female Occupational Expectations

Parental influence on occupational aspirations can be examined through the lens of social class. Katase (2005) observes that when fathers hold skilled occupations, it positively influences their

daughters' aspirations for skilled careers. Nakao (2011) clarifies that a father's education impacts a son's education, which, in turn, influences his occupation. However, in the case of daughters, the father's education can directly impact their chosen occupation without necessarily affecting their education. Some studies also consider the effects of mothers, but given that social class in Japan is typically represented by the father's education, occupation, and income, investigating the mother's education or occupation as factors influencing a daughter's career choice may not directly pertain to the study of social class effects. Nevertheless, Nozaki (2010) discovers that the son's chosen occupation was influenced by the father's occupation, whereas the daughter's was not. If at all, her employment pattern was somewhat influenced by her mother's work pattern. Furthermore, Motohama (2014) demonstrates that a mother's education has a weak but positive impact on her daughter's occupational prestige. Similarly, Miyamoto (2020) utilises PISA 2015 data to show that fathers' occupations significantly influence the expected occupations of sons more than daughters, whereas mothers' occupations do not exhibit a differential impact on the expected occupations of either daughters or sons (see Box 3.1 in Chapter 3).

Parental Encouragement on Female Occupational Choice

Other studies in Japan investigate the influence of parental guidance on their children's career choices. In particular, how parents perceive whether their daughter should attain her social status through her own merit or through marriage will influence the type of support, guidance, or pressure given to the daughter, potentially impacting her occupational choices (Kanai 2007). Examining historical trends, Hama (2018) illustrates that before the war, mothers often encouraged their daughters to become housewives rather than pursue careers. This pattern has shifted as more women have entered the labour market. However, contemporary parents still tend to steer their daughters toward careers in education and healthcare, while setting higher expectations for their sons.

Since the 21st century began, Kanai (2007) finds that parents of female college students in Hokkaido encouraged their daughters to have an income and achieve some social status. However, they preferred occupations that were considered suitable for women, such as teaching, and expected them to prioritise child-rearing and housework. On the other hand, many girls in this study opted for careers in the beauty industry, despite the absence of parental encouragement specifically for these types of occupations. Other studies investigate the varying impacts of parental encouragement based on whether it came from the father or mother. Matsuda & Maeda (2008) demonstrate that among female college students at Hiroshima University, the father's expectations for careers in self-employment, research, or teaching correlate with a higher level of interest in those fields. In contrast, the mother's expectations for self-employment or teaching do not generate a similar level of interest.

More recent surveys through internet show that the top occupations that Japanese parents hoped their sons will pursue include (aside from civil servant and company worker) medical doctor, IT programmer, researcher, pharmacist, entrepreneur, teacher, YouTuber, athlete, police officer, fire fighter, engineer, and driver. For daughters, the preferred occupations include pharmacist, nurse, pâtissier, medical doctor, childcare worker, teacher, actor/singer/model, IT programmer, and designer (ReseMom 2020; Nihon Trend Research & Aoyamarajubo Clinic 2022). While some of these occupations can be considered gender-neutral, such as pharmacist, teacher, and actor/singer, many of the occupations for boys are male-dominated, and those for girls are female-dominated. A notable exception of a traditionally male-dominated but prestigious occupation that parents prefer for girls is a medical doctor.

Parents as Role Models

As mentioned above, most research on female labour issues in Japan focuses on contractual categories or values associated with work rather than specific occupations. Consequently, there

are relatively few studies examining whether parents, particularly mothers, serve as role models for their daughters in terms of occupational expectations. Notably, Nakayama (1985) points out that mothers are rarely considered occupational role models due to their predominantly housewife roles. However, exceptions exist, such as in a small sample studied by Ogawa & Tanaka (1980), which reveals that mothers who are medical doctors have more influence on their daughters' aspirations to become doctors compared to fathers who are doctors.

Moreover, contemporary research, including that of Genji (2004), indicates that when mothers hold professional occupations, a higher proportion of daughters choose professional careers. A more detailed study by Kanai (2007) shows that if mothers work as civil servants or teachers, girls are more likely to opt for the same types of jobs, especially in comparison to boys. Additionally, the 2018 White Paper on Gender Equality indicates that when mothers have science degrees, the number of daughters planning to pursue careers in the sciences is twice as high as those with mothers holding humanities degrees (CAO 2019b). Therefore, although it is not entirely clear whether these effects result from social class, direct encouragement, or the presence of role models, one can speculate that mothers may have some form of role model influence on their daughters' occupational expectations.

Theories Related to Female Occupational Expectations

This section outlines three theories relevant to understanding the relatively low occupational expectations of females in Japan. The first theory pertains to the concept of circumscription and compromise, which describes how children restrict their occupational expectations by considering the opportunities and constraints associated with their choices, influenced by factors such as gender and social class. The second theory focuses on how females tend to gauge their social status based on factors external to themselves, such as their husband's occupation, rather than their own. The third theory explains that Japanese labour practices are still based on an institutionalised model of gender role division. The following describes each of the theories.

Circumscription and Compromise

Gottfredson's Theory

Gottfredson's theory (1996, 2002) hypothesises that young individuals start constraining their career choices by opting for occupations considered suitable for their gender and social class. This theory suggests that youths perceive themselves and form their self-concept as individuals within the societal context. It elucidates how children's career selection evolves with their changing understanding of the world of work, various jobs, and occupational positions, as explained by Truyens (n.d.).

The theory elaborates on two major concepts in the process of elimination. **Circumscription** involves the limits children impose on themselves based on self-concept, such as being a girl. In other words, they rule out possibilities of careers that may appear too masculine for them or in societal terms. They learn to see certain tasks as 'suitable' for them and others as 'not suitable'. This, in turn, influences their self-concept. Within their suitable career options, children will **compromise** and select those that are most available to aim for in their social environment rather than their ideal careers that may not be as available. They compromise their ideal choice with what is practical.

There are four stages according to the general development stages of the children.

Stage 1 (age 3-5): Children realise that they cannot change their gender or become a fantasy character. They classify people in simple ways like big and strong versus weak and small. They also understand that they will become adults one day and possibly have a job.

Stage 2 (age 6-8): Children recognise highly visible occupations, such as those with uniforms, teachers, and their parents' professions. They start making distinctions that certain occupations belong to a certain gender.

Stage 3 (age 9-13): Children begin to conceptualise occupations they cannot directly see. They become aware of status hierarchies and social evaluation by friends or wider society. They understand links between income, education and occupation. They also realise that family expectations or social class influence acceptable occupations and start ruling out occupations they would find too difficult to achieve based on their academic ability or gender, which is part of circumscription.

Stage 4 (age 14+): At this stage, children search among the occupations that are compatible with who they are. They struggle to understand their interests, abilities and goals as these aspects are still being developed. They become aware of actual routes, details of jobs, and the qualifications and training required to pursue their chosen occupations.

Based on this theory, the social environment in which youths are placed may determine the extent to which circumscription and compromise play a role in their occupational choices. This can vary depending on whether the occupations in that environment are gender-segregated or mixed. For instance, young females who have been exposed to both female and male doctors may not eliminate the possibility of becoming a doctor from their expected occupations. On the other hand, those who primarily observe male doctors and female nurses may aspire and expect to become a nurse but not a doctor. In essence, the degree of circumscription and compromise based on gender may depend on the availability of role models that allows young women to either easily envision themselves in a particular occupation or not.

Given this context, the current research focuses on Stage 4, particularly of high school and university students who are on the brink of entering the workforce. This stage represents a critical juncture where these young individuals shape their future career paths, exploring their interests, abilities, and aspirations. It is a phase where they gain a deeper understanding of various occupations, required qualifications, as well as limitations. The influence of role models and the social environment becomes significant, impacting their perceptions of what is achievable based on gender and/or social class. Importantly, Stage 4 presents an opportune moment for educators, parents, and policies to offer support and corrective measures that can influence these youths' occupational choices before they enter the workforce.

Studies on Applying Gottfredson's Theory

Several recent studies have explored gender differences in occupational expectations, using Gottfredson's theory as a framework for understanding how personal factors and societal norms related to gender shape individuals' career outlook. For example, research by Stuth (2023) among adolescents in upper secondary school in Germany tests how occupations are eliminated based on Gottfredson's theory. It discovers that students exclude occupations that do not fit with the three concepts of self – gender, social class, and vocational interests, in that order. For example, females from higher socio-economic backgrounds who have interests in vocations in buildings or mechanics eliminate related occupations because they are male-dominated and are not generally of their social class.

Berge *et al.* (2020)'s longitudinal study of students aged 8 to 18 in Australia from 2012 to 2015 shows that both girls and boys begin to have less ambitious career aspirations as they progress to high school. This finding support the theory that girls and boys continue to favour occupations with gender-typical compositions, aligning with Gottfredson's theory of Circumscription and

Compromise. However, Oliveira *et al.* (2020) argue that Portuguese boys aged 10 to 12 experience greater gender circumscription than girls. They contend that when fathers hold female-dominated jobs, more boys expect to have such jobs compared to girls. Conversely, when fathers have male-dominated jobs, fewer boys expect female-dominated jobs than girls. The extent to which this represents an undesirable choice or compromise for boys is open to debate, as female-dominated jobs often come with lower pay and limited advancement opportunities.

As an example of a study in Japan, Adachi (2012) references Gottfredson's theory to present findings that show gender disparities in STEM career interests. For instance, males exhibit a higher level of interest in occupations related to technology, engineering, and IT, as well as a greater inclination towards practical jobs like machinery operation and repairs, which align with Gottfredson's research. Conversely, the study finds that, while more males are interested in practical occupations within biology, chemistry, pathology, astrology, and zoology, no significant gender differences exist in research-related occupations in these areas.

The study also examines daily activities in which children participate, revealing that boys and girls often engage in pursuits that conform to traditional gender roles. This, in turn, contributes to the gender disparities observed in STEM occupations. As a result, the author recommends promoting and encouraging activities that enable children, irrespective of their gender, to explore a broader range of experiences, as this could play a vital role in reducing the gender gap in STEM professions in Japan.

Kamise (2008) also affirms the applicability of Gottfredson's theory in Japan, maintaining that occupational images comprise two dimensions: prestige and gender. Within this framework, she states that variations in how specific occupations are perceived based on gender influences individuals' interest in pursuing those careers, subsequently shaping their job-seeking behaviour. To investigate this, she conducted a survey among Edo University students to assess their perception of the *salary man* occupation. Her findings reveal that this image predominantly depicts males in lower or middle management roles, lack specificity in job tasks beyond sales-related activities, and generally carry a negative connotation due to factors such as long work hours and fatigue. Furthermore, it is observed that most respondents do not aspire to become a salary man. The study acknowledges its limitation in failing to explore the translation of these images into actual job-seeking behaviour. In particular, many Japanese youths still pursue the path of becoming a salary man, which could be due to lack of alternatives and constraints in their career choices.

Women's Social Status Dependency

To comprehend the relatively low occupational expectations of Japanese females, it is essential to examine how they perceive their occupations in relation to their social status. This requires an initial review of how society objectively determines social status, encompassing income, education, and occupation, which can impact subjective social status. Subjective social status, in turn, is rooted in an individual's perception of their standing relative to others in society. By scrutinising both objective and subjective dimensions of social status, a deeper understanding of the interplay between subjective social status and occupational expectations among Japanese women can be attained. Specifically, the discussion revolves around how women position their occupations within the framework of their social status, as it is presumed to influence the occupational expectations of young women.

Objective Socio-Economic Status of Households

This section discusses different types of objective measurement of social status of households. It elaborates on the international debate that took place in the 1970s and 1980s, as described by Wakita (2013). First, Acker (1973) criticises the traditional perspective that views women's

status solely within the framework of a family member, whose social standing is determined by the man as the head of the household. This critique emerged in the 1970s when American society was undergoing changes with the rise of women's employment. In response, Goldthorpe (1983) counter this argument by highlighting that during the same period in the UK, most married women ceased working after childbirth. Even if they returned to work, they primarily took up part-time positions that required lower skills compared to those of their husbands. Therefore, he defends the Conventional View or the Status Dependency Model, asserting that it is not inappropriate to categorise women as belonging to a social class based on the occupation of the man as the household head. He particularly notes, following Mincer (1962) and the later Douglas-Arisawa principle (Tsujimura *et al.* 1959), that women's employment years tend to decrease as the status of their husband's occupation increases.

On the other hand, Erikson (1984) demonstrate that during the same period in Sweden, choosing the occupation with the higher social status between the couple has a more significant correlation with the household's standard of living than selecting either the husband's or the wife's occupation individually. This concept is known as the Dominance Model. Additionally, Heath & Britten (1984) introduce the Joint Classification Model, which postulates that consideration of both the wife's and the husband's occupations provides a better explanation of household fertility rates in the UK. They argue that, despite the intermittent nature of women's employment, since the wife consistently pursue similar occupations throughout her life, there is no issues in analysing both occupations, contrary to Goldthorpe's earlier critique.

The above debate on the social status of women and men occurred in countries like the USA, UK, and Sweden, primarily before the 1990s when women's participation in the workforce was not as advanced as it is today. Hence, the suitability of either model depends on the state of female employment in a particular country for a particular period. In essence, the appropriateness of the Dominance Model or Joint Classification Model may be relevant in countries where women enjoy more socioeconomic independence and equality with men. However, in nations where gender equality in the labour market lags behind, the Conventional View or Status Dependency Model which links the wife's social status to the husband as the head of the household, may still remain applicable.

For example, a recent large-scale longitudinal study by Erola *et al.* (2016) in Finland shows that the social status of both mothers and fathers matter to children's occupational outcomes. However, the fathers' influence explains approximately half of the variation, while the mothers' accounts for slightly less. It notes that the characteristics of mothers and fathers vary at different stages since mothers work and earn less than fathers when the children are young, but they fully return to the labour force as they grow older. The authors therefore caution that ignoring the effects of different parental background indicators at different ages during childhood and youth could lead to biased conclusions. Thus, in countries like Finland, a Joint Classification Model should be applied to parents as well as in interpreting the results of occupational expectations of young females.

In Japan, a family system is in place that designates only one person as the head of the family, a role predominantly represented by a male, fostering the Dependency Model, where the wife's status is intricately linked to her husband's. In other words, the family registration, tax and social security systems designate one person as the head of the family, even where the household consists of a married couple. The government has established this system to manage the family's income, expenses, national health insurance, pension, and long-term care insurance in a centralised manner. It also assumes that one of the couple is the main earner while the other is a dependent who either does not have an income or earns much less. While, legally, the head of the

household is gender neutral, traditionally, the default has been set to males. Even in 2019, according to the National Survey of Family Income and Expenditure, 89% of households with more than two people were headed by males (MIC 2021).

In this context, the National Survey of Social Stratification and Mobility (SSM), a social survey conducted every ten years since 1955 by Japanese sociologists, covering topics such as social stratification, inequality, social mobility, occupation, education, and social consciousness, had not included women in the surveys until 1985 (Wakita 2013). Furthermore, even in the most recent SSM of 2015, while the questionnaire requests information on the father's occupational status when the respondent was 15 years old and until the present, it only inquires about the mother's occupational status only when the respondent was 15 years old (SSM 2015). This persistent gender bias in the survey's data collection indicates a devaluation of women's occupational experience in examining social stratification and mobility, reflecting societal norms.

On the other hand, many recent studies take into consideration mothers' occupations when examining children's occupational choices. For example, Miwa (2011), using the SSM 2005, demonstrates that incorporating both the mother's and father's occupational types enhances the predictability of the daughter's achieved occupational type. Furthermore, Shirakawa (2018) uses the SSM 2015 data to reveal that the transferability of the father's occupational type to the daughter's is limited, unlike the son's. In the case of the mother, if she holds a professional occupation, the transferability is substantial for daughters. Additionally, while the impact of the mother's occupation diminishes over time and the influence of the father's grows stronger for daughters, the change is minimal for sons.

While the focus of this thesis is on gender differences in occupational expectations and not on social mobility *per se*, the results of these studies, which show that, the mother's occupation has an effect in explaining the occupational choices of daughters, is relevant. In other words, they suggest that, in examining occupational choices, the Joint Classification Model is more applicable for Japanese females, although Goldthorpe's Conventional View can be applied to Japanese males.

Women's Perception of their Social Status

The evolving landscape of women's social status is a multifaceted phenomenon observed across different countries. In exploring this topic, it becomes apparent that women's subjective social standing is also undergoing significant transformation parallel to changes in their roles and identities. Notably, the USA showcases a progressive shift, where women increasingly link their identities to their occupations, challenging traditional notions of work as a financial need. In contrast, Japan experiences a slower evolution, with women still largely associating their social status more closely with their husband's standing, although some nuancing is needed for the diverse types of women.

Changing Dynamics in the USA

In the USA, alongside the transition towards the Joint Classification Model of objective social class, women's subjective social status is also undergoing changes. For example, Goldin (2006) discusses the transformation of American women from the late 1970s, highlighting their increased attachment to their occupations, stronger identification with their careers, and the ability to make joint decisions with their spouses. This shift signifies a move from working out of financial necessity to working because employment and the occupation define a woman's fundamental identity and social status. In particular, marrying later allowed their identity formation to precede marriage. Conversely, leaving the workplace became associated with a loss of identity for women, with economic independence gaining more importance due to factors such as increased divorce rates. These changes have led women to invest more in education and prioritise careers alongside or even ahead of marriage in their identities.

Akerlof & Kranton (2010) also explain that, in the 1960s, the ideal for a middle-class American woman was to become a suburban housewife, with wives of high-earning husbands much less likely to hold a job. However, more recently, little relation is seen between husbands' income and wives' employment. This shift occurred because women's careers became an important part of their identity and social standing in the USA. The authors thereby challenge traditional economic theories of human behaviour by introducing the concept of identity economics, arguing that occupational and career decisions of American women are not solely based on financial incentives. In other words, women now make occupational choices based on their perceived identity and the societal expectations placed upon them, beyond prospects for household income.

Japanese Women's Social Status Dependence on Husbands

However, this transformation is taking time in Japan. Research has suggested that women often associate their social status more closely with factors such as marriage, children, and their husband's social standing, rather than their own occupation. This is in contrast with men who tend to link their social status with occupational prestige (Genji 2004; Inoue-Smith 2014; Kanbayashi 2006; Shirahase 2004; Wakita 2009).

To elaborate, Yamato (2008) shows that women's identification of their social class increases with their husband's income, educational level, and occupational prestige, as well as household assets, more than with their own education and income. Even within the husband's status, there are different dimensions that are important. Using the SSM 1995 data, Yamaguchi (1999) finds that married Japanese women associate their social status with the income and education of her husband, rather than his occupations *per se*. In particular, if the husband is in a high-income occupation, and notably in a listed company or a public institution, the wife's perception of her social status tends to be higher.

Aramaki (2018) examines women's class consciousness according to the different life stages and marital situations, using the SSM 2015 data. He finds that among the child-rearing cohort of 35 to 49 years old, women's own occupational prestige had no effect in their class consciousness. In fact, unemployed status had a positive effect on their class consciousness, presumably because it was an indication that their husbands earned enough to enable them not to work. Otherwise, among married women, the husband's education, occupational prestige, and income affected their class consciousness more than those of their own, although their own income and prestige of their first occupation had a smaller significant effect.

Using the same SSM 2015 data, Tanioka (2023) shows that university-graduated women, when considering their social status, tended to associate it more with increased household income than with their own occupational prestige. However, in this study, the household income is not delineated between her own income and that of her husband's. Therefore, given the typically lower income of wives compared to their husbands in Japan, this may imply that, even if the wife is highly educated, her perception of a high social status is still contingent on her husband's income.

While social status may not only be about income, according to the 16th National Fertility Survey and shown in Table 1.2, among unmarried respondents primarily in their 20s, 92% of females indicated that the income of their marriage partner was either important or would be considered, while only 48% of males shared this perspective (IPSS 2022). Conversely, while only 7% of females stated that his income was not a factor, the figure was higher at 50% for males. Furthermore, 81% of females deemed his occupation as important or stated it would be considered, compared to 47% of males. Lastly, the importance of education was almost evenly split for females, while 71% of males considered it unimportant. These findings highlight that

Japanese females have higher expectations for their marriage partners' SES than males have for their female partners.

			Female		Male
I. C	I. Condition for Marriage Partner				
	Important or will consider			92%	
	Income	Not important	7	'%	50%
	Education	Important or will consider	52	2%	27%
	Education	Not important	47	7%	71%
	Occupation	Important or will consider	81%		47%
	occupation	18%		52%	
	II. Financial comfort as main benefit of marriage			19%	
III.	III Woman's Life Course		Ideal	Expect	Ideal
	-		Iucui	Пиресс	<u>Wife</u>
	Not marry a	and continue working	12%	33%	7%
	Marry, have no children, and continue working			5%	6%
	Marry, have	e children, and continue working	34%	28%	39%
	Marry, have	e children, stop working, and return to work	26%	23%	29%
	Marry, have children, stop working and not return to work 1			4%	7%
	Other			7%	13%

Table 1.2: Views on Marriage and Partner

Source: 16th National Fertility Survey (IPSS 2022)

This pattern is also evident in a study conducted by Brinton *et al.* (2021), which analyses data from a marriage matchmaking agency in Japan obtained in 2006-2007. The findings from this study consistently reveal that women tend to seek out men with higher incomes and, at least, an equivalent level of education compared to their own. At the same time, none of the women interviewed in the study expressed a desire to become full-time housewives, with the majority indicating a preference for part-time work. Thus, while these women do not want to be completely financially dependent on their future husbands, the authors conclude that the norm of Becker (1985)'s gender-role specialisation is still applicable in Japan.

An aspect of the Status Dependency theory involves how women perceive their own prestigious occupations or high income as either an advantage or disadvantage in maximising their probability of marrying someone with existing or potential high status. In this context, Suzuki (1994) developed a Scale of Egalitarian Sex Role Attitudes in Japan, which includes an indicator stating, "It is better for women not to have an occupation with high social status or wage because it will be difficult to get married." Suzuki (1996) used this indicator herself and demonstrated that, in the 1990s, employed women in Tokyo generally disagreed strongly with this statement. However, this could be attributed to the biased sample of women employed in the 1990s in Tokyo, which was generally more progressive than rural areas. A more recent study using this indicator yielded slightly different results. A survey conducted from 2016 to 2018 by Nukita & Furuya (2021) among female students at a university in Tokyo indicates that, while the correlations are generally weak, those who were strongly family-oriented and those who were strongly work-oriented both tended to agree with this indicator. Additionally, Brinton *et al.*'s study above indicates that men were inclined to avoid women with graduate education or high income.

This phenomenon of Status Dependency could be attributed to the relatively high proportion of women who leave work to become full-time housewives after childbirth. Even if they return to

work after their children become older, they often take up low-wage part-time jobs to supplement the household budget, which may not particularly lead to notable careers (Nagase 2003, 2018; Nishimura 2014) that could form a basis for their identities. To provide some data, analysing SSM data from 1955 to 1995, Tanaka (1997) discovers that, while 55% of women in their 30s had equal or higher objective social status – measured by education, occupation, and income – compared to that of their husbands before marriage, only 25% maintained a similar objective social status after marriage. This decrease is because many of them had quit working or changed occupations. In particular, only 6% earned at least as much as their husbands. The study then finds that women whose objective social status was similar to that of their husbands before marriage were not the predominant group that disagreed the most with the gender division of roles. The crucial factor was whether the wife was still working and had a career in her own right after marriage. In other words, if the wife had a notable career, she was less likely to agree with the gender division of roles that typically entails dependence on the husband's social status.

Need for Nuancing

This leads to the point that some clarification may be necessary in applying the Social Status Dependency theory to Japanese women. In the above Tanioka study, theoretically, if university-graduated women were unmarried or contributed significantly to the household income, then her social status could be contingent entirely or partially on her own income. Aramaki's study above also discovers that, among the younger cohort and unmarried women, their own occupational prestige was effective for their class consciousness. Thus, it becomes evident that the applicability of the Social Status Dependency theory in Japan requires careful consideration of individual circumstances and life stages, raising the need for a nuanced approach to understanding women's social status dynamics.

In particular, as shown in Table 1.2, while only 12% of females expressed not marrying and continuing to work as an ideal, 33% expected this scenario to happen. This suggests that one out of three young women does not anticipate getting married, indicating a recognition that they cannot rely on a husband for income or social status. A notable point is that 39% of males anticipate an ideal wife continuing to work after having children without a break, a percentage higher than the ideal or expectation by females themselves. Additionally, only 7% expect her not to return to work after childbirth, surpassing the female's ideal life course at 14%. These data suggest a distinct preference among men for an ideal wife to continue working instead of relying solely on their income. This inclination might lead to men seeking to marry women with high income potential and occupational prestige, potentially influencing women's occupational expectations to enhance their marriage prospects.

In summary, while the Status Dependency theory may explain the relatively low occupational expectations of Japanese females broadly, a shifting dynamic requires nuanced consideration and the disaggregation of diverse groups within females. With more women opting to pursue careers post-childbirth, facilitated by evolving policies such as parental leave and reduced work hours (Nagase 2014, 2018), it becomes crucial to acknowledge differences among types of women in defining their social status. Although married women without notable careers may still tend to link their status to their husband's, indications suggest that unmarried women or those with careers and higher income are increasingly defining their social status based on their own characteristics. This is particularly plausible in the context of declining real wages and the decreasing prevalence of life-type employment practices among males.

The acknowledgment of this evolving landscape is essential in examining the occupational expectations of young females, since the way they envision their future social status may significantly shape their careers. In other words, if a girl expects her social status to be

determined predominantly by marriage and her future husband's standing, she may not be inclined to have high occupational expectations. Conversely, if she envisions defining her social status based on her own occupation and income, her occupational expectations are likely to be higher. This matter is explored more in-depth in Chapter 6 through interviews conducted with female university students in Japan and the UK.

Institutionalised Gender Division in the Japanese Labour Market

This section presents a theory explaining how Japanese labour practices remain deeply rooted in an outdated, institutionalised model of gender role division, where men are primary breadwinners and women are expected to shoulder family caregiving responsibilities. It looks closely at two key aspects: the duality in the labour market, particularly the distinction between regular and non-regular employment, and the widespread issue of excessive overtime work. These characteristics pose significant challenges for women striving to balance careers with family responsibilities. The adverse consequences often lead women to exit the workforce, resulting in a shortage of female role models capable of demonstrating a successful blend of professional achievement and parenthood, which may discourage young female students from aspiring to their desired occupations in the future (Maeda 2017).

Duality of the Labour Market

To understand this issue in more depth, it is important to consider the historical context of how the Japanese employment system has been formed. Nagase (2003), Hattori (2015) and others explain that it took shape during the rapid economic growth of the 1960s, characterised by linking corporate human resource management practices with a social security system based on family care. Essentially, this employment system entailed long-term job security and seniority-based wages, primarily benefiting male employees in large corporations. Consequently, while men enjoyed stable jobs within companies, women often found themselves in peripheral positions. This system operated under the assumption that women would exit the workforce due to marriage and childbirth, thereby being excluded from *de facto* job security and fair seniority-based wages.

In 1981, the International Labour Organisation (ILO) adopted Convention No. 156, shifting from the gender-based 'division of labour' family model to the 'sharing' family model, where both men and women assumed family responsibilities (ILO n.d.). Despite this change, Japan has continued to follow the division of labour model, which relies on the assumption that women would primarily care for the family, even as many advanced countries have made this transition. Meanwhile, the workforce in Japan has been divided into two distinct categories: regular and non-regular employees.

This division creates a notable contrast. Regular employees, who are predominantly men, enjoy the benefits of stable and lifelong employment, comprehensive benefits, annual salary increments, career growth opportunities, and better returns on educational investments. Conversely, non-regular employees, primarily women, frequently grapple with precarious work conditions, lower pay, limited social protection, fewer chances for career advancement, simplified termination processes, and diminished returns on education compared to their male counterparts (Ishikawa 1997; Houseman & Osawa 2003; Nagase 2017, 2021; Yamaguchi 2017).

Many of these women hold positions as part-time, *arbeit*, dispatched, and fixed-term contract workers. Japanese companies, with a tendency for seniority-based wage increases, often opt to hire part-time workers as a means to reduce labour costs (Houseman & Osawa 2003). As a result, women increasingly encounter challenges in securing regular employment that offer career prospects, causing them to take up non-regular positions. However, according to the analysis by Nagase (1994) using 1983 data, the term 'part-time' is more of a categorisation rather than an

indication of working fewer hours. In reality, many of them work just as many hours and, in some cases, perform the same tasks as full-time regular workers but without receiving the same wages or benefits (Nagase 2003).

After ratifying the United Nation's Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, Japan introduced the Equal Employment Opportunity Law in 1986. This law has opened up possibilities for women to be employed in regular positions for career-tracked *sogoshoku* alongside men (See Box 1.1). However, many women still face challenges in balancing their work and family responsibilities when they get married, have children, or need to care for their families, particularly due to long work hours.

Box 1.1 Hiring Preference for Generalists in Japan

The Japanese labour market exhibits a distinctive hiring practice, especially prevalent among large corporations, where they tend to recruit graduates *en masse*, primarily upon their graduation from universities (Yamaguchi 2017). This practice often entails competitive recruitment procedures, requiring students to undergo tests and interviews while dressed in standardised suits. These bulk hiring practices typically align with the academic calendar, with offers being extended to students in their final year of university, instilling a sense of job security and stability for many prospective graduates.

One notable aspect of this this organised hiring system is that it often results in graduates being employed as generalists rather than for specific expertise or occupations. The new recruits are frequently assigned to a company's general workforce, where they undergo training and rotate through various departments, consisting of areas such as marketing, human resources management, public relations, IT, and so on. This approach aims to nurture well-rounded employees capable of adapting to diverse tasks and contributing to the company's overall success in the long run. Consequently, it provides graduates with a solid foundation and exposure to a wide range of areas, shaping them into generalists rather than specialists with a specific occupation. Hamaguchi (2016) refers to this practice as the Membership Type, in contrast to the Job Type.

As a result, this hiring practice has become a defining feature of Japan's labour market, where many students expect to secure employment as company workers or civil servants in general, rather than specific types of occupations like staff training specialists, editors, or statisticians, since recruitment for such specific positions is relatively uncommon. The exceptions to this trend are occupations that require certifications or qualifications, particularly in the field of sciences. Additionally, while these mass hirings primarily involve regular positions, there are distinctions between the managerial career track (*sogo shoku*) and the less promising clerical track (*ippan shoku*) which are largely taken up by women.

While some scholars state that it is the employers who assign women to either of these two tracks (Nagase 2021; Yamaguchi 2017), Chapter 3 shows that, based on the PISA 2018 data, a higher percentage of Japanese girls themselves expect to become General Office Clerks (*ippan shoku*) rather than Office Supervisors (*sogo shoku*), despite the greater opportunity for career development for the latter. This preference is presumably because *sogo shoku* often entails significant overtime hours that challenge WLB, as elaborated in Chapter 5. Furthermore, the girls may have expected that employers are less inclined to hire women for *sogo shoku* positions due to the anticipation that they may take extended leaves, work reduced-hours, or leave the company to care for their families.

Subsequently, with the burst of the bubble economy in 1991, a new era for the Japanese management model emerged in the 1990s, exacerbating the situation for women. To cope with the prolonged economic recession, employers began downsizing the core workforce of male regular employees and instead sought to increase peripheral and low-cost non-regular employees from outside the company. This has resulted in the proliferation of part-time workers and the expansion of categories related to outsourced dispatched workers. However, Houseman & Osawa (2003) claim that the growth in part-time employment cannot simply be attributed to the long recession, as the rapid increase began well before the economic downturn of the 1990s. They suggest that, as markets opened up due to trade liberalisation, Japanese companies began to face pressure from foreign shareholders and banks demanding short-term profitability, which, in turn, required cutting labour costs.

One of the underlying factors contributing to the duality of regular and non-regular employment is the prevailing corporate culture in Japan, which places a strong emphasis on loyalty, long-term commitment and investment. Regular employees, usually males, are often viewed as integral members of the company, while non-regular employees, usually females, are treated as expendable and transient. Employers tend to hire young job seekers for regular employment posts as generalists upon their graduation, as explained in Box 1.1. In this model, individuals are guaranteed lifetime employment and are trained, managed, and promoted according to seniority.

Therefore, firms have continued to protect their top-heavy core workforce, which often consists of older, highly paid, but less productive (male) workers. This strategy is pursued at a time when cutting costs and raising productivity are necessary in the face of heightened global competition. As a result, firms have expanded the size of non-regular workers, particularly low-wage part-time workers who are predominantly women (Houseman & Osawa 2003). Furthermore, if women leave their regular jobs for childrearing and attempt to re-enter the job market at a later date, they have very limited opportunities for regular employment (Nagase 2003, 2021; Yamaguchi 2017, 2019a).

Since the 2000s, several legal changes related to parental leave and flexible work arrangements have been introduced; however, their practical implementation remains limited (see Chapter 5). Consequently, the gender-based division of family responsibilities has shown minimal evolution. This is evident in the low utilisation of parental leave by males and their marginal involvement in household chores. The persistence can be attributed to the close linkage between the corporate employment management system and the family-oriented tax and social security system in Japan.

Under this system, the primary worker – usually husbands – pay taxes and social insurance contributions based on a division within the family unit that provides a financial safety net for spouses – usually wives – with limited or no income. Specifically, wives who are financially dependent are exempt from income tax, health care contributions, and pension premiums if their income remains below certain thresholds – yet they are eligible for the latter two benefits. Therefore, many women opt for part-time work with incomes that fall below the non-taxable and non-insurance premium thresholds, while simultaneously fulfilling caregiving roles within the family (Houseman & Osawa 2003; Nagase 2003, 2023a, 2023b), as shown in the Employment Status Survey 2022 (MIC 2023b).

From the employer's perspective, hiring these women is advantageous as it reduces labour costs, given the companies' generation exemption from paying their social insurance premiums. However, Nagase (2003, 2011, 2023a, 2023b) advocates limiting exemptions for pension premiums as they disincentivise women's employment. In addition, from an equity perspective, exemptions diminish the pension benefits of the full-time working population without dependents. Furthermore, this treatment of female employees as dependents also reinforces the

expectation by employers that their male employees will work long hours, assuming that their wives are handling family responsibilities, which further hinders women's career development.

As for recent statistics, the Labor Force Survey of July 2023 reveals that women comprise only 35% of regular employees, yet they account for 67% of non-regular employees (MIC 2023a). Additionally, from a different perspective, non-regular employment make up 53% of women's employment, which significantly contrasts with the 23% observed among men. Importantly, it should be highlighted that, although part-time workers are generally not categorised as regular employees, a substantial proportion work full time (Houseman & Osawa 2003; Nagase 2003).

In light of these circumstances, Ochiai (2015) criticises that Japan has missed its opportunity to modernise its social welfare system when it was enjoying a short-lived period of prosperity during the economic bubble of the 1980s. Instead, it has been reinforcing the family-oriented system of the 20th century, which continues to complicate reform efforts, resulting in what is known as the 'lost two decades.' Hattori also concludes that addressing these issues requires changes in the dependent provisions related to taxation and social security, improved regulations to limit excessive working hours, and stronger oversight of workplace practices, including enhancing penalties for labour standard violations.

Thus, the duality of the labour market in Japan perpetuates traditional gender roles and societal expectations regarding women as caregivers for the family and supplementary workers. This duality also has a significant impact on women who are university-educated. According to Nagase (2018), in 2015, approximately 70% of university-educated females aged 25-39 years old who had never been married (typically without children) held permanent regular contracts. However, only around 40% of university-educated working mothers with a child aged 0-3 were regular employees. In this context, the study highlights that, after controlling for factors such as educational attainment, tenure, and occupation, the wage gap between regular and non-regular employees remained significant in Japan compared to other countries.

Excessive Overtime Work

In addition to the duality of the Japanese labour market, a defined characteristic is the practice of excessive overtime hours for regular employees, primarily male, in exchange for lifetime job security. This model has historically operated on the assumption that male workers have housewives at home who would take care of the family. Yamaguchi (2017) points out that this system might have been rational during the period of post-war high economic growth, but the model is now outdated as more educated women enter the labour market. Nagase (2022) also criticises the standard labour practice as inhumane, where employers have unlimited control over job assignments, workplace locations, and working hours. What is even more aberrant is that regular workers claim this as the norm and do not perceive it as unusual.

Female regular employees are also expected to work excessive overtime, which poses significant challenges when they have young children, unless they work for progressive major corporations or the public service, have grandparents to help, or pay high fees for babysitters or day care (Hattori 2015). Balancing long hours at the workplace with family responsibilities is often incompatible. Since many of their husbands are themselves engaged in the same work culture, it creates a double burden for women who are still expected to be the main carer of the family (Hochschild & Machung 2012).

In this context, Takeishi (2011) discovers that the utilisation of parental leave, reduced work hours, flexitime, and telework is quite low. Even among those who use these systems, they often do not find them flexible enough. Moreover, the eligibility to access such systems is limited, typically reserved for specific cases like caring for infants or the elderly (see Chapter 5). This is a

significant factor driving many women in Japan to exit the workforce to raise children. As their children grow older, numerous women re-enter the workforce, often opting for part-time employment to supplement family income while continuing to fulfil their primary caregiving roles (Hattori 2015).

This distinct pattern of the male breadwinner and female caregiver model is evident in international statistics. According to the OECD, Japanese men, on average, spend the longest hours in paid work among developed countries, at 7 hours and 32 minutes per day. This figure is more than double the work hours of Italian men at 3 hours and 41 minutes, and 2 hours and 21 minutes longer than that of British men at 5 hours and 9 minutes (refer to Figure 1.1) (OECD.Stat n.d.).



Figure 1.1 Average Work Hours per Day by Gender and Gender Ratio

Source: OECD.Stat, latest year, and author's calculations

Japanese women also rank fourth in terms of paid work hours, dedicating 4 hours and 32 minutes on average, following Latvian, Lithuanian, and Swedish women. They work 56 minutes longer than British women, who put in 3 hours and 36 minutes. However, when it comes to the gender ratio in paid work, Japanese women work only 60% of the hours worked by Japanese men, placing Japan at the third lowest rank among developed countries, after Australian and Irish women. In contrast, Estonian women's paid work hours is equivalent to 93% of that of Estonian men, differing by only19 minutes. Women from other Former Socialist countries like Latvia, Lithuania, and Slovenia, as well as Nordic countries such as Sweden and Finland, tend to work as many hours as men in their respective countries.

Regarding excessive weekly working hours, on average, 8.9% of Japanese men aged 15-64 worked more than 60 hours per week in 2022, making Japan the second highest among developed countries, trailing only Greece at 9.4%. In the case of Japanese women, this percentage stand at

2.2%, ranking fifth highest after Korea, Chile, New Zealand, and Greece. These data highlight the prevalence of overtime work in Japan for both males and females, but they also reveal significant gender disparities, even when compared on an international scale. It is noteworthy that Japan has not ratified the ILO Convention, which sets a standard workweek of less than 48 hours.

On the flip side of Japanese men's excessive work hours is their limited time allocated to household chores. Figure 4.3 in Chapter 4 shows that Japanese men devote the least amount of time to household chores among men in OECD countries. Again, this trend can be attributed to entrenched norms on gender roles, which are reinforced by employers who often require men to work long hours, presuming that their wives manage family responsibilities (Nagase & Brinton 2017).

Even when women work long hours similar to men, Yamaguchi (2017) asserts that they face disadvantages in terms of promotion to management positions, which can have demotivating effects. He argues that many women leave their jobs not mainly due to family reasons but also because of demotivation, citing Osawa (2015) to support his claim. However, the 11th Longitudinal Survey of Adults in the 21st Century presents a different picture. It reveals that among married women who have left their jobs in recent years, 65% of the reasons (with multiple reasons allowed) are related to family issues, such as marriage or childbirth, caregiving responsibilities, accompanying relocated family members, or facing difficulties in taking parental leave. Conversely, only 3% of these reasons are related to potential discrimination, such as finding work uninteresting, experiencing unfair assessments of their abilities or achievements, or becoming frustrated with company management (MHLW 2022a). Therefore, it appears that both demand-side and supply-side factors contribute to the reasons for women to leave their jobs.

Nonetheless, the re-entry of women into the labour force after a gap can be challenging. As mentioned earlier, companies in Japan typically prefer hiring freshly graduated students for regular positions, making it difficult for women to regain access to these stable, career-oriented roles, as they are so scarce. Consequently, many women are left with little choice but to accept part-time, low-paying jobs with minimal career prospects, perpetuating gender disparities and limiting their career advancement opportunities.

This unique aspect of the Japanese labour market highlights the complex interplay between traditional employment practices, family dynamics, and gender roles, all of which have significant implications for women's participation in the workforce and the occupational expectations of young females. The government acknowledges that the combination of long working hours, workplace environments, and ingrained gender role stereotypes are the primary issues obstructing the advancement of women in the workforce. As the consequence permeate society as a whole, it sees the need for workstyle reforms that enhance productivity per hour and the overall competitiveness of organisations (MHLW n.d.b). In this context, when considering the need for workstyle reform, it is crucial to evaluate Japanese organisations' readiness to adopt a discretionary working style based on results-based management, granting employees greater autonomy in managing their work hours.

In this respect, according to a study conducted by Sato (2001) in 1999-2000, among white-collar employees engaged in planning, research, or analysis – which offered the potential for discretionary work – less than 9% indicated that they had the authority to determine work priorities and office hours. This low percentage is attributed to the frequent assignment of unforeseen tasks, tight deadlines, and heavy workloads requiring overtime and weekend office work. Furthermore, only 5% of employees with the potential for discretionary work believed that the existing management style was conducive to such an approach. The reasons cited included the absence of clear task responsibilities (71%), well-defined task objectives (62%), an

evaluation system based on achievements (50%), and decentralised decision-making for tasks (39%).

In essence, working conditions in Japan do not support the effective implementation of a discretionary working style aimed at reducing excessive overtime in the office. It is also worth noting that, in this survey, only 11% of potential users of discretionary work were women. Since the survey was conducted over 20 years ago, it remains to be seen whether Japanese corporate management practices have evolved to embrace enhanced discretionary work. Such a shift would require a more outcome-oriented mindset as a basis to enable flexible work arrangements and to curb excessive overtime.

The shift towards more outcome-oriented management is particularly relevant in light of Higuchi (2010)'s examination of the economic rationale to regulate excessive working hours. On the one hand, government intervention has the potential to disrupt profit margins and operational efficiency, leading to distortions in labour allocation, which could yield unfavourable outcomes for economic efficiency. However, he states that government intervention is justified when prolonged work hours jeopardise workers' well-being, workers possess limited bargaining power relative to employers, or when the labour market lacks fluidity. Additionally, Higuchi contends that intervention is warranted in cases where negative externalities affect other workers, particularly those with family responsibilities, in an era where retaining a stable workforce is imperative. At the same time, he emphasises that, beyond mere work hour regulations or increasing the legal overtime premium rate, the government must embrace a more comprehensive strategy that includes enhancing labour market flexibility, expanding employment opportunities, and, most critically, boosting overall economic productivity.

Testing the Theories

The preceding section elaborated on the three theories used in this research that could potentially explain why Japanese young females have relatively low occupational expectations compared to those of males as well as female counterparts in other developed countries. Table 1.3 summarises the questions addressed in the following chapters that relate to these theories.

To recap, Gottfredson's theory on Circumscription and Compromise, which discusses how the youths limit their occupational choices based on gender and social class, could explain how young girls are influenced by parents who encourage them to pursue female-oriented occupations that are more conducive to taking care of the family, often with relatively low SES. The theory could also explain how the absence of mothers with professional occupations is hindering the generation of a critical mass of role models for young females to follow similar paths (Maeda 2017).

Specifically, Gottfredson's theory is applied in Chapters 3 to examine correlations between lower occupational expectations among Japanese females and choice of female-dominated occupations, educational expectations, academic competence, and social class. Furthermore, Chapter 6 utilises the theory to investigate potential differences in how female university students in Japan and the UK circumscribe and compromise their occupational expectations based on social class, parental encouragement, availability of role models, and prospects for WLB.

The second theory on the Social Status Dependency Model, where a woman relies on the social status of her husband, generally prevailing in Japan today, could explain that young women have more incentive to focus on marrying well rather than striving for self-reliance in selecting and pursuing a challenging occupation. However, studies show that unmarried women or those with high income attribute their own occupational prestige more in determining their social status. Therefore, the application of this theory may need to be nuanced when examining educated
Japanese females, particularly considering the probability of finding a partner with the requisite high income, education, and prestigious occupation is no longer high.

Chapter	Circumscription and Compromise	Status Dependency	Gender Division in the Labour Market
3	How does the theory explain the relatively low occupational expectations of Japanese girls when considering their choice of occupations, educational expectations, academic aptitude, and social class?		How does the theory explain the choice of expected occupations by girls and boys, specifically in terms of female or male-dominated occupations?
4			How does the theory clarify the correlation observed between the lower occupational expectations of girls relative to boys within the same country and elevated levels of economic reliance of women on men, as reflected in gender equality indicators assessing gender role divisions in both the labor market and household?
6	How does the theory explain any differences between female university students in Japan and the UK in terms of their occupational choices and related factors such as social class, gender-based parental encouragement, availability of role models, societal gender norms, and work conditions for women?	How does the theory elucidate the variations between female interviewees in Japan and the UK concerning their perception of whether their future status is shaped by their own occupations or the status of their prospective husbands? To what extent do parents of the interviewees perceive the future social status of their daughters?	How do the interviewees perceive the characteristics of the labor market in Japan, UK, or Europe, and to what extent do these perceptions influence their occupational expectations?

Table 1.3: Questions Addressed in Chapters that Relate to the Theories

This theory is mostly examined in Chapter 6 to investigate the extent to which female interviewees in Japan and the UK consider their future status to be determined by their own occupations or the status of their prospective partners. Additionally, it will be used as a yardstick to assess how the parents of the interviewees perceive the future occupations of their daughters in the context of their future social status.

The theory of institutionalised gender division in the Japanese labour market, characterised by the duality between regular and non-regular employment and excessive overtime work, could explain the lower occupational expectations of Japanese females, as these factors disincentivise women from pursuing a career. The division is rooted in historical employment practices that disadvantage women, with non-regular positions offering lower pay and limited career prospects. Additionally, the prevalence of excessive overtime for regular employees, grounded in an outdated model of a traditional family structure, disproportionately affects women, hindering their ability to balance work and family responsibilities, including by diminishing the household contributions by their husbands.

The theory is applied in Chapter 3 to investigate whether this division is reflected in the choice of expected occupations by girls and boys, notably female or male-dominated occupations. It is also explored in Chapter 4, wherein relevant gender equality indicators, representing the theory in the labour market and the household sphere, will be utilised to assess their correlation with occupational expectations across developed countries. Furthermore, in Chapter 6, the theory is verified by seeking the perceptions of female university students regarding the Japanese labour

market, particularly in terms of their ability to maintain WLB, and comparing these perceptions with those of students in the UK.

Analytical Framework

So far, the above has provided the definition of occupational expectations, a literature review on occupational choices and theories regarding why Japanese females have relatively low occupational expectations. Based on these elaborations, the following section first presents a general framework to categorise the factors influencing the occupational expectations of females and males. Second, it lists the relevant variables for use in the quantitative analyses of Chapters 4 and 5, as well as issues to probe in the qualitative analysis of Chapter 6.

Explanation of Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems Theory

Developmental career theories elaborate on the various levels of the environment that influence occupational decisions (Bandura *et al.* 2001; Farmer 1997; Nakayama 1985). For instance, Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems theory (1979) classifies the factors that potentially shape young people's occupational expectations. This conceptual framework claims that an individual's human development is influenced by interactions in the microsystem (e.g., family, peers, teachers), mesosystem (e.g., parents' social class, school), exosystem (e.g., economic and political systems), and macrosystem (e.g., society's cultural values).

Applying the framework to this study implies that occupational expectations can be shaped by the following factors within each category, explained below and illustrated in Figure 1.2.





Source: Author, based on Bronfenbrenner (1979)

- **Individual characteristics:** While individuals develop through interactions within the ecological systems, particularly influenced by their socio-economic background, children from the same family can have different occupational expectations. Therefore, individual characteristics, such as gender, academic competence, interests and educational aspirations must be examined as integral components that shape occupational expectations.
- The **micro system** consists of parents, peers, or teachers, while the **meso system** involves the interaction of these elements within social class, communities and schools. For simplicity, these two systems are combined in this study. Furthermore, although peer influence, teachers' encouragement for further education, and the school environment can potentially impact occupational expectations, this study generally sets aside these topics, primarily due to lack of quantitative data. Instead, it predominantly focuses on the influences of parents, as they are regarded as key in shaping occupational expectations of youths. In particular, this research scrutinises parents' educational levels and occupations, as well as their roles in providing encouragement and serving as role models.

• The **Exo-system** consists of policies, measures, or situations regarding women's participation in the labour market, practices related to gender equality in the workplace, or WLB policies that can either facilitate or impede mothers' ability to work. Typical indicators include the gender wage gap and representation of female managers. The **macro-system** includes prevailing norms regarding gender roles, which can influence women's decision regarding work and family responsibilities. These norms can be gauged using indicators like the gender division of household chores and attitudes toward working women. In this study, since the exosystem and macrosystem are interconnected, they are combined and referred to as the 'gender equality landscape' in Chapter 4.

Studies Applying Bronfenbrenner's Theory

In the application of Bronfenbrenner's theory to women's occupational expectations, studies investigate micro, meso, exo, and macro systems, with a particular focus on the family, school, culture, and social capital. For instance, Schoon (2015) incorporates Bronfenbrenner's perspective to elucidate the underrepresentation of women in science occupations. She asserts that early experiences within the family and school settings play a significant role in shaping self-concepts, choices, and behaviours. These, in turn, become integral components of the gendered social landscape, interlinked with opportunity structures, social obstacles, and gender-based segregation within the labour market. In essence, even minor biasing effects can accrue over time, leading to behavioural trajectories that restrict the opportunities of females with capabilities and social backgrounds similar to males.

Furthermore, the study highlights that anticipated gender disparities in future career prospects can significantly impact career decisions, especially when young women become aware of gender inequalities related to family responsibilities. It underscores the importance of adopting a comprehensive perspective that considers a multitude of influences spanning from the micro-level to the macro-level. This holistic approach is essential for understanding how various factors interplay and evolve over time, shaping the occupational plans of females. The concept aligns with Gottfredson's theory on Circumscription and Compromise, as explained earlier.

Menon (2017) refers to Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems theory in analysing career choices, which includes multiple levels of environmental influence within various systems. However, it employs a similar yet distinct model to understand the family-school relationship, with a primary focus on the family. This model comprises six levels of influence, encompassing a child's academic achievement, personal characteristics (including gender), parent-child interactions, family atmosphere, parental characteristics, and the socio-economic status of the family. The study explains that parental influences, including differential treatment of daughters and sons, mediates the effects of distal causes such as socio-economic status or cultural context on academic achievements and career choices.

A study by Meece *et al.* (2014) employs Bronfenbrenner's theory in investigating gender differences in the occupational aspirations of rural adolescents in the USA, focusing on individual, familial, schooling, and community factors. The research uncovers evidence of girls holding high occupational aspirations in fields that are traditionally less represented by females. It highlights the significance of contextual variables in predicting gender-related aspirations among these rural youth, such as individual motivation, parental expectations, and family income.

In Japan, there are fewer studies that use Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems theory in analysing the process of occupational choice-making of females. This is presumably due to the shortage of research that focuses on occupational choices from the outset, as explained earlier. Nevertheless, a few use the framework to describe a comprehensive approach in understanding or addressing personal development issues. For example, Bartlett (2018) employs

Bronfenbrenner's theory to describe the reasons behind Japanese high school students' lack of motivation and engagement in learning English. He highlights how the social norms in Japanese education emphasises teachers as knowledge holders and students as passive learners of grammar. He also discusses the cultural inclination to conform and avoid standing out. Bartlett argues that the reluctance of Japanese students to engage in foreign language communication is influenced by sociocultural factors beyond just language abilities.

On the other hand, Aoki *et al.* (2019) present two case studies as examples of practical application of Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems approach, which posit that personality development is a dynamic process shaped by external influences from both society and the environment. It argues the importance of personal growth where 'person-environment fit' is central. Achieving this alignment with the environment entails sharing information with stakeholders, pooling resources, defining shared objectives, and allocating different roles.

Specifically, the study explains that in one case, new high school teachers improved their ability to advise students on university and career choices by conducting mock interviews and seeking guidance from colleagues with expertise in relevant subject areas. Another case involved a university student's recovery from depression through frequent discussions with various academic and administrative staff, including a university psychiatrist, fostering an environment for open dialogue on personal issues. These approaches align with Bronfenbrenner's argument against viewing children as isolated entities, underscoring the significance of attentiveness to their surrounding social contexts.

In sum, the studies discussed above employ Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems theory to investigate a range of influences on individual development, spanning from micro to macro levels, encompassing the family, school, culture, and social capital. They underscore how factors like motivation, parental expectations, and family income within these ecological systems impact future plans, ultimately shaping gendered career trajectories, including both the underrepresentation of women in science careers and aspirations for non-traditional occupations. Additionally, some studies emphasise the importance of comprehensively addressing personal development by considering sociocultural factors affecting educational performance and advocating for environmental alignment through information sharing, resource pooling, shared objective definition, and role allocation.

Summary of Key Factors

Based on the literature review and theories discussed earlier, Table 1.4 summarises the key factors to be examined in exploring why Japanese girls have low occupational expectations. These factors encompass variables in the quantitative studies of Chapters 3 and 4, as well as the focal issues in the qualitative study of Chapter 6. While some referenced studies may have primarily addressed achieved occupations, targeted males rather than females, or involved broad occupational categories or employment status, they nonetheless include factors that are wellestablished in the literature of future career choices. Furthermore, while specific indicators or topics chosen in this research may not exactly match those in the reference studies, they are nevertheless similar and better suited to explaining the effects on occupational expectations. These factors are categorised according to the analytical framework of Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems Theory and are explored to verify whether the theories apply to the quest.

To provide a brief overview, micro/meso-level factors encompass self-related elements drawn from various references, such as choice of gendered occupations (Sikora & Pokropek 2011; Vondracek *et al.* 1999; Isa 2022; Yoshihara 1995; Sakata 2014), educational aspirations (Sewell *et al.* 1970; Schoon & Parsons 2002; Saha 1982; Kariya 1986; Katase 2005), and academic competence (Sewell *et al.* 1970; Schoon & Parsons 2002; Marini & Fan 1997; Kariya 1986;

Hirasawa 2011). and preferences for partners. Additionally, the theory of Social Status Dependency is tested, specifically pertaining to preferences for future partners (Blakemore *et al.* 2005; Brinton *et al.* 2021;Yamato 2008; Aramaki 2018).

Ecological System	Subject	Factor	Example Reference	Variable/ Issue	Chapter	Theory
		Gendered occupations	Sikora & Pokropek (2011), Vondracek <i>et al.</i> (1999), Isa (2022), Yoshihara (1995), Sakata (2014)	Choice of gendered occupations	3,6	CC, SD
		Educational aspiration	Sewell <i>et al.</i> (1970), Schoon & Parsons (2002), Saha (1982), Kariya (1986), Katase (2005)	Plan to go to university	3,4	
	Self	Acadmic competence	Sewell et al (1970), Schoon & Parsons (2002), Marini & Fan (1997), Kariya (1986), Hirasawa	Maths and reading scores		CC
		p	(2011)	University type	6	
Micro/ Meso		Partner preference	Blakemore <i>et al.</i> (2005), Brinton <i>et al.</i> (2021), Yamato (2008), Aramaki (2018)	Importance of his education, occupation and/or income	6	SD
		Education	Blau & Duncan (1967), Sewell <i>et al.</i> (1970), Marini & Fan (1997), Nakao (2011), Motohama (2014)	University graduate or not	26	CC
	Parents (social	Occupation	Blau & Duncan (1967), Sewell <i>et al.</i> (1970), Schoon & Parsons (2002), Ogawa & Tanaka (1980), Genji (2004), Katase (2005)	ISEI scores	3,0	CC
	class)	Encouragement	Martin <i>et al.</i> (2014), Wang <i>et al.</i> (2017), Qi <i>et al.</i> (2023), Kanai (2007), Matsuda & Maeda (2008)	Encouragement of gender differentiated occupations	6	CC, SD
		Role model	Ridgeway (1978), Baird (2008), Polavieja & Platt (2014), Matsumoto (2008)	Mother as an occupational role model		СС
				Gender wage gap	4	
		Workplace		Share of female managers	4	
	Labour	barriers/	Sikora and Saha (2009), Baird (2008), Power	Working environment for		GD
Exo/Macro	conditions	support	(1975), Watts <i>et al.</i> (2015), Nozaki (2010)	women	6	-
				Parental leave and flexible	Ũ	
			Ridgeway (1978) Baird (2008) Croft et al	WUIK		
	Social F	Family role (2	(2014), Hook (2006), Watts et al. (2015),	Men's unapaid work time	4,6	CC
	norms	division (2 Yo	Yokota & Shigekawa (2023)	Views on housewives		GD

Table 1.4: Key factors to be Examined

Note: CC = Circumscription and Compromise, SD = Social Status Dependency, GD= institutionalised gender division in the Japanese labour market

Data on educational aspirations (planning to go to university or not) and academic competence (maths and reading scores), utilised in Chapters 3 and 4, are sourced from the PISA dataset. The investigation into the issue of Social Status Dependency, aiming to assess its potential role in reducing female occupational expectations, is conducted through interviews presented in Chapter 6.

Parental factors, representing social class, include the education (Blau & Duncan 1967; Sewell *et al.* 1970; Marini & Fan 1997; Nakao 2011; Motohama 2014) and occupation of parents (Blau & Duncan 1967; Sewell *et al.* 1970; Schoon & Parsons 2002; Ogawa & Tanaka 1980; Genji 2004; Katase 2005); gender-differentiated encouragement by the parents (Martin *et al.* 2014; Wang *et al.* 2017; Qi *et al.* 2023), Kanai 2007; Matsuda & Maeda 2008), and the mother's role as an occupational role model (Ridgeway 1978; Baird 2008; Polavieja & Platt 2014; Matsumoto 2008). Data on parental education (have a bachelor's degree or not) and occupation (International Socio-Economic Index [ISEI] scores), used in Chapters 3 and 4, are sourced from the PISA dataset.

Encouragement is assessed based on whether parents advise the interviewees to pursue traditionally female-dominated occupations or prestigious roles that are typically dominated by males. The inquiry into mothers serving as occupational role models is specifically focused on whether their professions inspired their daughters to pursue similar paths. This qualitative

exploration involves direct questioning of the interviewees in Chapter 6. The discussion intentionally sets aside the question of whether the mother is considered a role model simply due to having a career or successfully balancing work and family life. Instead, it concentrates on understanding the influence of the mother's specific occupational type on the career choices of the interviewees.

Transitioning to the exo/macro level, this study probes into labour conditions, specifically assessing workplace barriers or support (Sikora & Saha 2009; Baird 2008; Power 1975; Watts *et al.* 2015; Nozaki 2010). Key indicators of the gender wage gap and the proportion of female managers, commonly used to gauge women's empowerment in the labour market, are derived from OECD data. Their implications for gender differences in occupational expectations are discussed in Chapter 4. The perspectives regarding working conditions for women, focusing on prospects for parental leave and flexible work arrangements that facilitate balancing work and childcare responsibilities, are obtained through the interviews.

The impact of social norms is explored through the practice of family role division, assessing men's unpaid work time and views toward housewives (Ridgeway 1978; Baird 2008; Croft *et al.* 2014; Hook 2006; Watts *et al.* 2015; Yokota & Shigekawa 2023) in Chapter 4. This analysis employs OECD data and international social surveys. Additionally, Chapter 6 explores how preferences and prospects for the division of household chores with their future partners influence their occupational choices, although this aspect is not extensively discussed in this thesis.

In summary, drawing from the literature review and theories, the outlined factors above will be investigated to determine their impact on reducing the occupational expectations of Japanese girls compared to their male counterparts and girls in other developed countries. This exploration encompasses both micro/meso and exo/macro systems. By employing a combination of quantitative analysis using OECD data and qualitative insights obtained from interviews, the research endeavours to test the theories and generate fresh insights for the academic literature, as further detailed below.

New Contribution to the Academic Literature

This section explains the unique contributions of this research to the academic literature on the low occupational expectations of Japanese females. The added value is derived from the utilisation of nationally representative data, standardised metrics across 36 developed countries, and in-depth interviews, offering a visual contrast between female students studying in Japan and their counterparts in another developed country. The findings reveal the anomaly of the comparatively low occupational expectations among Japanese female students, despite their internationally demonstrated competence. Moreover, the study explores the multifaceted factors contributing to this phenomenon, encompassing gender-based parental encouragement, a scarcity of role models, and concerns related to WLB.

Specifically, this study addresses a significant research gap by utilising nationally representative PISA data on the occupational expectations of high school students in Japan and other countries, departing from the usual focus on specific schools or limited geographical areas. While nationally representative samples exist, such as those in SSM studies, these datasets typically do not encompass individuals under 20 years of age, such as high school students. Furthermore, they often do not include inquiries into the future occupations expected by respondents.

In addition, the PISA data can link occupational expectations not only with the typical information about educational expectations, parental education, and occupation, but also with standardised measures of academic competency that is consistent globally, namely the PISA reading and maths

scores. Most other studies try to estimate academic competency by using self-reported Grade Point Averages or school ranking measures, which may be inaccurate, incomparable, or variable.

Another distinctive aspect is the in-depth examination of occupations, diverging from the prevalent practice in Japan that often relies on broad occupational categories, contractual types, or career plans like continuing to work after childbirth. Although the notion of occupation is broader in Japan compared to other countries because of labour market characteristics, the study still enables the assignment of some broad categories of occupations to SES, thereby enabling precise measurement of gender differences.

One of the significant contributions of this study is its capacity to employ standardised metrics for cross-country comparisons among representative high school students from 36 developed countries. Many comparative studies in occupational expectations that centre on Japan typically include only a few countries, frequently adjusting to local contexts, sacrificing uniformity. The present thesis, utilising homogeneous data, unveils the anomaly in Japan, where girls demonstrate significantly lower occupational expectations than boys, a phenomenon not observed in other developed nations. This anomaly can also be examined against exo/macro environmental factors that relate to gender norms in labour as well as in the family by using, again, uniform indicators for most developed countries regarding wage gaps, female managers, unpaid work time, and views on housewives.

Aside from the quantitative analyses using the PISA data, this research includes an in-depth comparative qualitative study between female university students in Japan and the UK. While the interviewees may not necessarily be representative of the average female university students in either country, it nevertheless shows the types of contrasts between the two countries in the factors that can shape occupational expectations of young females. Only a handful of in-depth case studies that compare Japanese females with counterparts of other developed countries based on real-voice accounts are currently available.

Furthermore, as a background to the interviews of the female university students in Japan and the UK, flexible work measures and their use in the respective countries are compared. The results clearly show how Japan lags in terms of facilitating a WLB for both women and men in pursuing a career and maintaining a family life. The focused comparison, as one example of WLB policies, adds a unique dimension to the research, offering insights into the challenging working conditions, which could affect the occupational expectations of young women—a perspective not extensively explored in existing literature."

In terms of results, some findings have contributed to new knowledge. The revelation that Japan is an anomaly among developed countries, where the average occupational expectations of girls is significantly lower than boys, is noteworthy. However, the analysis showing that girls who plan to go to university or have similar maths competency as counterpart boys have the same levels of occupational expectations is encouraging. In other words, if more girls plan to go to university, as the trend suggests, and if math scores improve against boys, the gender difference in occupational expectations could reduce.

While it is known that Japanese girls excel in maths and science on PISA tests compared to both girls and boys of other developed countries, their persistently low occupational expectations reveal a sobering reality—the country is extensively underutilising this competence. Additionally, the statistics indicating a relatively high proportion of girls planning to become housewives, even among those intending to attend university, stand out as unique in developed countries, posing a counterproductive challenge in terms of potential human capital loss.

The series of data showing that Japan is one of the most conservative among developed countries in terms of gender roles in the labour market and family role is well-established. However, showing the relationship between this landscape and the low occupational expectations of girls relative to boys paints an accentuated and urgent narrative that calls for fundamental changes in labour and improvements in family life for both women and men. In particular, the data of other developed countries serves as a compelling illustration that closing the gender gap is highly possible, although simultaneously showing that Japan has a significant distance to cover.

The interview findings also illuminate how Japanese parents continue to encourage their daughters' and sons' future occupations differently compared to some other developed countries. Additionally, the study sheds light on the proactive initiatives undertaken by schools and society in the UK to foster female participation in STEM fields, a phenomenon unperceived in Japan despite governmental policies (CAO n.d.a). These contrasting revelations stand as a noteworthy gaps in the existing literature.

Furthermore, the study highlights a significant dissimilarity in the availability of female professional role models between the UK and Japan. Witness accounts illustrate how the presence of role models significantly boosts the confidence of students in other developed countries when considering challenging occupations. Conversely, the scarcity of visible role models in Japan, as revealed by witness accounts, contributes to a lack of confidence among female students, offering a more vivid understanding than prevailing assumptions in existing literature. Finally, the study captures the divergence in student concerns, with strong apprehensions over WLB prevailing among Japanese female students, while their counterparts in the UK exhibit a comparatively diminished focus on this issue. These nuanced contrasts, derived from authentic voices, constitute a valuable contribution to the academic literature.

At the same time, the study uncovered the need for some disaggregation in interpreting the low occupational expectations of Japanese females. As mentioned above, if girls had comparable proportions planning to go to university or had similar maths scores as boys, they would have corresponding ISEI scores for their expected occupations. The interviews with career-minded female university students also revealed that a majority were not inclined towards mid-to-low level female-dominated occupations, nor were they intending to depend on their future partners for their income or social status.

Furthermore, the quantitative analysis also revealed that, while social class does have an effect on the occupational expectations of girls and boys, it does not have any significant effect on the gender difference. In other words, boys from the higher social class will not necessarily aim for higher occupations than girls from a similar class. This may indicate that these girls are more inclined to achieve their social status through their own occupations as opposed to through marriage based on assortative mating. Lastly, some interviewees were optimistic about changes in corporate practices where hiring females and leave policies are being promoted.

In summary, this research significantly advances the understanding of low occupational expectations among Japanese females in the academic literature. Utilising nationally representative PISA data, the study departs from traditional localised focuses, providing a multidimensional analysis of high school students' occupational expectations. By incorporating standard metrics and conducting an in-depth examination of occupations, the research adds precision and nuance to the assessment of gender differences. Cross-country comparisons across 36 developed nations reveal Japan as an anomaly, where girls exhibit markedly lower occupational expectations than boys. Qualitative insights from interviews with female university students in Japan and the UK, alongside a comparison of flexible work measures, enrich the narrative.

The study also revealed the need for nuancing, as the occupational expectations of girls with similar university plans or math scores as boys are at comparable levels. Furthermore, social class does not significantly contribute to the observed gender difference, suggesting that girls from higher social classes may be inclined to achieve social status through their own occupations rather than through marriage. Nevertheless, fundamental changes in labour practices and improvements in WLB are urgently called for to better harness the capabilities of women to contribute to the economy. Overall, this research provides a multifaceted contribution to the literature, exploring diverse factors influencing the occupational expectations of Japanese females, in comparison with counterparts in developed countries, and uncovering variations within the cohort.

Chapter 2: Descriptions of the International Data

This chapter introduces several international data sets that are relevant to this research. They consist of PISA 2018, occupational classifications, socio-economic status, as well gender equality indicators related to labour and family life, mainly used in Chapters 3 and 4. Table 2.1 summarises these sets of data.

Chapter	Topic	Data	Sample	Method	Dependent Variable or objective	Independent Variable or contributing factors
3	International comparison of gender differences in occupational expectations (micro data)	PISA 2018 (OECD, sample size 165,000 for OECD countries, of which Japan is 3,541)	Nationally representative high school girls and boys in 36 OECD countries	OLS and Blinder-Oaxaca Decomposition	ISEI score; and gender difference in average ISEI scores for each country	Educational expectation, PISA scores; and education and ISEI scores of parents
4	International comparison of gender differences in occupational expectations (micro and macro data)	Same as above	Same as above	OLS	Same as above	Gender equality indicators related to labour of 32 to 36 countries

	~ .	-				~		~1	
Table	21.	Data	and	Inforr	nation	for	the	Char	nters
rubic		Dutu	unu	1111011	nucion	101	unc	unup	

Data for International Comparisons

PISA 2018

PISA, started by OECD in 2000, is administered every three or four years to measure and compare the educational performance – notably maths, reading, and science – among15-year-old students across countries all over the world. However, it also contains questions related to the students' views and family background. The pertinent question for this research asks, "What kind of job do you expect to have when you are about 30 years old?".

PISA participants are selected from the population of students in each country according to a twostage random sampling procedure, so that weighted samples become representative of students who are 15 years old for each country. In the first stage, a stratified sample of schools is drawn. In the second stage, students are selected at random in each sampled school. While 79 countries participated in PISA 2018, the sample for this research comprises the 36 OECD member countries (in 2019), due to the generally available and reliable country-level information on gender equality indicators related to labour.

Roughly 287,000 students from the 36 OECD countries participated in PISA 2018, with 212,000 specifying their expected occupations. The proportion of students who did not specify any occupation ranged from the lowest, with 4% of girls and 6% of boys in Turkey, to the highest, with 67% of girls and 70% of boys in Belgium. OECD cites studies indicating that teenage uncertainty is often associated with low academic performance and low SES. Furthermore, an analysis of PISA 2018 data reveals that uncertainty was more prevalent among boys than girls, lower performers, foreign-born students, and schools lacking career guidance (Mann *et al.* 2020).

Despite these general observations, the OECD does not provide a comprehensive explanation for the high variations in missing data for occupational expectations across particular countries. This lack of clarity is also evident in the work of Coppé (2020), who conducts an extensive analysis of educational and occupational aspirations among Belgian students using PISA 2018 data. However, in the case of Belgium, a *partial* reason could be the relatively high migrant population, as 29% of the students who took the PISA 2018 test did not speak the language at home in which the test was administered.

While some studies focus on analysing the situations of youth uncertainty over their future (Mills & Blossfield 2006; Staff *et al.* 2010; Gutman *et al.* 2014), the primary objective of this thesis is to internationally compare gender differences in occupational expectations among students from the same countries who have concrete ideas. In this context, the countries with missing values for expected occupations generally exhibit similar patterns between girls and boys, albeit with a higher prevalence of uncertainty among boys. Therefore, those who did not specify occupations are excluded instead of using imputation. Consequently, this paper refrains from claiming that the students in the study are representative of all 15-year-olds.

For students who did not identify the final educational levels or occupations of their parents, a listwise deletion approach has been taken, similar to the methodology of Taki (2011b). It is assumed that single parent households are not necessarily being excluded, since some students in such families are still able to answer the education or occupation of the missing parent, if they are known. Furthermore, if parents are unemployed, OECD instructs the students to mention the last occupation held. It should be noted that the distribution of the ISEI scores of the samples used in this analysis generally resemble the distribution of ISEI scores of all students who chose their expected occupations. In total, the final sample size is 165,000 (86,000 girls and 79,000 boys), or on average around 2,400 girls and 2,200 boys per country. Japan's sample size is 1,953 for girls and 1,588 for boys.

As mentioned above, this study uses the weights provided in PISA 2018 to adjust for each student's representativeness for the country. Since it is difficult to develop further weights to adjust for those who are dropped, the representativeness in this study might have been compromised. At the same time, this study compares like-with-like across countries, focusing on individuals who specified their expected occupations and their parents' education and occupations. Therefore, the data is assumed to primarily serve the purpose of examining gender differences in occupational expectations and the key factors contributing to them in the respective countries.

Occupational Categories

As previously mentioned, in the PISA questionnaire, each student is asked about their expected future occupation. According to the ILO, occupation is defined as:

"any productive activity performed by a person, regardless of the type of remuneration received, the duration of the activity, the enterprise, organization or institution in which the activity is performed or the sector of the economy to which it belongs" (ILO 2016).

Thus, occupation includes paid employment, self-employment, unpaid work in a family enterprise or farm, and any other productive activity, such as volunteering or caring for family members, that contributes to the household or society. However, a homemaker or housewife is not categorised as an occupation. The following discusses some of the classification of occupations and issues that relate to this research.

International Standard Classification of Occupations

Each student's response regarding her or his future expected occupation is matched with an internationally standardised occupational code known as the International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO), established by the ILO. ISCO has been designed to categorise occupations into well-defined groups based on the tasks and duties associated with each job. Its primary objectives include:

- Serving as a basis for the international reporting, comparison and exchange of statistical and administrative data on occupations.
- Providing a model for the development of national and regional classifications of occupations.
- Offering a system that can be used directly in countries that have not developed their own national classifications.

After the initial ISCO-58, developed in 1957, revisions have been made, resulting in ISCO-68 and ISCO-88. The most recent iteration, ISCO-08, was adopted in 2007 to account for changes in the world of work since 1988. While the update has retained the overall structure of ISCO-88, it has introduced significant changes in certain areas. Subsequently, many countries have updated their national classifications based on ISCO-08, which categorises occupations into 10 major groups, 42 sub-major groups, 130 minor groups, and 436 specific occupations, primarily based on skill level and skill specialisation concepts (ILO 2016). Table 2.2 provides examples of occupations from each of the 10 major groups.

Major Croup	Sub Major Groups	Minor Groups	Unit Groups
Major Group		Examples	
0 Armed Forces	01 Commissioned	011 Commissioned	0110
Occupations	Armed Forces Officers	Armed Forces	Commissioned
		Occupations	Armed Forces
			Officers
1 Managers	12 Administrative and	121 Sales, Marketing	1222 Advertising
	Commercial Managers	and Development	and Public Relations
		Managers	Managers
2 Professionals	24 Business and	243, Sales, Marketing	2431 Advertising
	Administration	and Public Relations	and Marketing
	Professionals	Professional	Professional
3 Technicians and	33 Business and	334 Administrative	3341 Office
Associate	Administration	and Specialised	Supervisors
Professionals	Associate	Secretaries	
	Professionals		
4 Clerical Support	41 Clerical Services	411 General Office	4110 General Office
Workers	Clerks	Clerks	Clerks
5 Services and Sales	52 Sales Workers	522 Shop Salespersons	5221 Shopkeepers
Workers			
6 Skilled Agricultural,	61 Market-oriented	611 Market Gardeners	6113 Gardeners
Forestry and Fishery	Skilled Agricultural	and Crop Growers	
Workers	Workers		
7 Craft and Related	71 Building Workers	711 Building Frame	7111 House
Trades Workers		Workers	Builders
8 Plant and Machine	83 Drivers and Mobile	832 Car, Taxi and	8322 Car, Taxi and
Operators and	Plant Operators	Motorcycle Drivers	Van Drivers
Assemblers			
9 Elementary	91 Cleaners and	911 Domestic, Hotel	9112 Cleaners in
Occupations	Helpers	and Officer Cleaners	Offices

Table 2.2

Source: ILO 2016

Since the introduction of ISCO-08, several issues requiring attention have been identified for the upcoming update scheduled for 2030. These issues encompass: the need to address outdated occupations and the emergence of new ones; convergence of occupations within Major Groups 2, 3, and 7; inadequate recognition of skills acquired through experience, particularly in supervisory roles and the management of small businesses; and general shifts in skill levels across the major groups, primarily driven by technological advancements (Hunter 2015). The impact of future changes regarding categorisation of expected occupations of high school students remains to be seen, following the ISCO update in 2030 and subsequent PISA surveys.

Japan's occupational classifications

In Japan, occupation is defined by the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (MHLW) as "a continuous human relationship with the objective of obtaining some return in order to sustain a living", "a certain social division of role or a continuous execution of a social role," or "type of work that a person is engaged in to earn a living, including the activities that are performed in exchange for wages or salaries..." (MHLW n.d.c). It is important to note that the concept of occupation differs from that of a career, which has a broader time dimension than an occupation. In the case of Japan, two official occupational classifications are widely recognised and referred to (Takahashi 2018), as explained below.

Japan Standard Occupational Classification

The first official classification is managed by the Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications (MIC), which oversees the Japan Standard Occupational Classification (JSOC) (MIC 2009). The original version of this classification was developed in 1953 and subsequently revised in 1960 based on ISCO-58. Multiple revisions have followed, with the most recent update occurring in 2009, marking the fifth revision (Iwahashi 2011). JSOC 2009 is the classification currently used for official statistics related to occupational surveys. It comprises approximately 13 major categories, such as: administrative and managerial workers; professional and engineering workers; clerical workers; sales workers; service workers; security worker; agriculture, forestry, and fishery workers; manufacturing process workers; transport and machine operation workers; construction and mining workers; carrying, cleaning, packaging, and related workers; and workers not classified by occupation. Additionally, the index includes approximately 30,000 occupations as examples (Ishii 2009).

JSOC and ISCO exhibit similarities and differences. Each classification offers a hierarchical structure of occupational categories with three levels: major, sub-major, and minor categories. However, distinctions exist in the number of major and sub-major categories. For instance, JSOC comprises 12 major categories, whereas ISCO-08 includes 10. JSOC 2009 incorporates 'service occupations' and 'security occupations' as major categories, which are absent in ISCO-08. Conversely, ISCO-08 encompasses 'elementary occupations' and 'armed forces occupations' as major categories, which are not present in JSOC 2009.

Classification of Occupations for Employment Services

The second type of occupational classification in Japan is known as the Classification of Occupations for Employment Services (ESCO) by the MHLW. Originally developed in 1953, the latest, fifth version was recently updated in 2022 (Japan Institute for Labour Policy and Training 2022; Nishizawa 2007). Unlike JSOC, ESCO is primarily used for practical services related to employment and job searches at the Public Employment Security Offices, known as 'Hello Work,' located throughout the country. Consequently, ESCO encompasses around 19,000 occupations in 15 major categories. In contrast to JSOC, ESCO further disaggregates categories, including medical workers, educators, and social welfare workers, into major occupational categories.

Occupational Categories in Surveys by Nippon Broadcasting Corporation

In addition to the aforementioned official classifications, a more informal occupational classification is utilised in a nationwide opinion survey conducted regularly by the Nippon Broadcasting Corporation (NHK) over many years. NHK defines 'occupations' as continuous jobs held by respondents to earn income (Onodera 2017). Initially, these surveys were predominantly conducted through interviews, involving an open-ended question about the respondent's occupation, followed by detailed follow-up questions. The specified occupation was then coded later. Onodera points out that the concept of occupation posed challenges, as the phrasing of the question influenced the categorisation of occupations. In other words, the results of open-ended questions and subsequent coding varied depending on the surveyor and respondent.

Furthermore, as society evolved, respondents began to be more cautious when asked intrusive questions about their occupations. Consequently, their responses often became vague, such as simply stating 'office worker' or leaving the question blank, which presented challenges in classification. Therefore, starting from 1997, respondents who have a job (to earn a living) have been provided with a list of pre-coded occupational classifications to choose from. These classifications are grouped into nine broad categories, which include those that are very broad, such as technical and skilled worker, clerical and technical worker, manager and supervisor, specialist and freelance worker. Additionally, those who are not primarily employed are asked to indicate whether they are a part-time working housewife, a housewife not working at all, a student, unemployed, or something else.

The challenge of classifying occupations in surveys in Japan is relevant to this research as it can help explain why a significant proportion of Japanese students expect to become general office clerks or office supervisors, as indicated by their responses in PISA questionnaires. This challenge is also evident in the surveys on occupational choices listed in Table 1.1, which reveal that many young individuals anticipate becoming either company workers or civil servants in general. This tendency can be partially attributed to the prevalent practice of hiring generalists in Japan, as discussed in Chapter 1, leading to difficulties in forming a clear vision of their future occupations.

Socio-Economic Indicators

International Socio-Economic Index

In the PISA questionnaire, after coding the students' expected occupations according to ISCO, each occupation is assigned a SES value known as International Socio-Economic Index (ISEI) scores (see Chapter 3). These scores have been developed by sociologists using data from 42 countries, including Japan, encompassing over 200,000 individuals, collected through the International Social Survey Programme (ISSP) (Ganzeboom 2010).

In constructing this index, education was gauged by accounting for the number of years of formal education necessary for each occupation. Income was estimated by verifying the average annual income associated with each occupation in individual countries. Skill level was evaluated by considering both the required level of education and the cognitive complexity of tasks associated with the occupation. Using this information, the researchers have developed a standardised scale of occupational status by combining education, income, and skill level, with higher weights given to education and skill level compared to income.

The ISEI scores that have been developed generally range from 16 to 90, with higher scores denoting higher occupational status. For example, an occupation such as a street sweeper is given 17 points while a medical doctor is given 89 points. The scores are standardised so that the mean score across all occupations in all countries is set to 50, and the standard deviation is set to 10 (Ganzeboom *et al.* 1992). The ISEI scores are meant to be internationally comparable. The key

feature is that it is constructed objectively using quantified indicators for each occupation, unlike prestige scores that are more subjective, as explained below.

Japan's Occupational Prestige Scores

In addition to socio-economic indicators and the social status index (Nagamatsu 2018), discussions In Japan on occupational hierarchies often rely on measures of prestige, which tend to be more subjective. One notable programme dedicated to studying this topic is the SSM survey, conducted by sociologists every decade since 1955. The primary objective of this programme is to carry out research on social class, inequality, social mobility, occupations, education, and social consciousness. In the 1995 survey, respondents were asked to assign prestige scores to 56 major occupational categories within JSOC 2009, which were then used to calculate the occupational prestige of more detailed occupations. The scores derived from this survey have been utilised in various studies in Japan that examine occupational prestige.

In this context, Saito & Misumi (2011) discuss various facets of occupational prestige based on the SSM 2005 survey. These aspects encompass challenges related to measurement, shifts in prestige scores for certain occupations since the 1970s, the significance of education in achieving occupational status, and regional disparities in occupational prestige. While the paper touches on gender-related variations in the assessment of occupational prestige, it does not extensively discuss gender differences among occupational holders. In contrast, as occupational prestige is determined subjectively, Wakita (2012, 2015, 2021) highlights that assessments can vary depending on the individuals engaged in the occupation. For instance, a tendency exists where male nurses working in predominantly female-dominated occupations receive lower ratings, while women in predominantly male-dominated occupations tend to receive higher ratings compared to assessments that are gender-blind. Moreover, in Japan, the assessments of the same occupation can differ based on factors such as, *inter alia*, the type of employment contract and the size of the company.

Discussion

To assess potential major differences in the hierarchy of occupations between ISEI and the commonly used occupational prestige system in Japan, this research applied the occupational prestige scores from the SSM 1995 survey (Sugiura n.d.) to the top 10 occupations expected by Japanese girls and boys in the PISA 2018 questionnaire. The findings indicate that, as most occupations are similar in terms of occupational prestige scores and ISEI scores¹, the average prestige score for girls in the top ten occupations is still lower, at 51, than that of boys, at 60. Additionally, this research also applied the 2018 average income for males and females in each occupation, derived from the Labour Force Survey (MIC 2023a; Nenshu Guide 2023) to the top expected occupations for girls and boys in PISA 2018. The results reveal that the average annual income for girls' occupations was 25% lower than that of boys' occupations, reflecting a similar wage gap for full-time workers observed in the country.

In summary, the gender differences in the averages of the SSM prestige scores and the incomes of the top 10 occupations expected by high school girls and boys in the PISA 2018 data for Japan are consistent with the gender difference in the average ISEI scores. Therefore, although ISEI may not be a perfect measure for assessing occupational status in Japan, it still serves as a suitable proxy and basis for discussing the lower occupational expectations of girls compared to boys in Japan.

¹ Genji (2011) also find that occupational assessments are comparable among Japan, China, Korea and USA.

Gender Equality Indicators

Chapter 4 investigates the relationship between gender differences in occupational expectations and the gender equality landscape, particularly focusing on factors related to the labour market and family roles in the exo/macro systems. Specifically, indicators for this analysis include data on the gender wage gap, the proportion of female managers, unpaid work time by men, and women's views on being a housewife. These variables are primarily sourced from OECD.Stat, mostly for 2018, although some of the data originate from the ILO and United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization. An exception is data for the variable on views on being a housewife, which is obtained from the ISSP 2012 data (ISSP 2014) and the 7th wave of the World Value Survey (Haerpfer *et al.* 2022).

Other potential indicators for assessing the gender equality landscape were considered, including the proportion of female parliamentarians (Wängnerud 2009), welfare regimes, and the level of economic development. However, the proportion of female parliamentarians has not been selected due to its tendency to fluctuate after elections. Indicators representing welfare regimes, such as childcare provision, are also not the most suitable, as the effectiveness of measures to promote gender equality depends on complex interactions with other policy support (Thévenon 2016). Lastly, while wealthier countries tend to exhibit better gender equality outcomes than poorer countries globally, among OECD countries, gender equality does not show a direct correlation with per capita income (Yamaguchi 2019a).

Chapter 3

International Comparison of Gender Differences in Occupational Expectations: Individual Characteristics and Parental Factors within Micro/Meso Systems

This chapter explores the differences in occupational expectations between girls and boys in high school, based on data from PISA 2018. It is an update to Miyamoto (2020) which uses PISA 2015 data. Both studies utilise answers to the question in PISA, 'What job do you expect to have when you are 30 years old?'. As the data are derived from a survey that is uniform across many countries, it is possible to analyse differences in occupational expectations of Japanese high school girls and boys with those of other countries. In particular, since information is quantified, it allows computation and ranking of countries according to gender disparities in the average SES of occupations. While research on occupational expectations is extensive, very few highlight the anomaly of the gender gap in Japan among OECD countries.

The following section presents descriptive statistics derived from the PISA 2018 data, along with the models and methods used for the regression analysis of the determining factors of occupational expectations. Following the presentation of results, a Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition is conducted to examine whether the factors contributing to gender differences in occupational expectations stem from the endowment or coefficient effect, and how these variations manifest between Japan and other OECD countries. The final section summarises the findings and discusses future considerations.

Descriptive Statistics

ISEI Scores and Ratio

This chapter explores gender differences in occupational expectations using the average female/male ISEI score ratio for each country. Unlike other methods that involve dividing the gender difference by either male or female ISEI score, this approach is simpler and more intuitive. Despite experimenting with various methods, the results remained largely unchanged. Hence, this method effectively captures the direction and magnitude of gender differences in ISEI scores, aligning with the research's specific goals.

Table 3.1 presents the average ISEI scores of the expected occupations by gender and by country, listed from the lowest to the highest ratios. The table shows that the only country where the average for girls is significantly lower than that for boys is Japan, with 55.6 for girls compared to 60.1 for boys, resulting in a ratio of 0.93. Korea is also slightly lower at 0.99, but the difference is not significant. In all other countries, girls have higher average ISEI scores than boys. Furthermore, the average of Japanese girls is much lower than those of girls in other countries, which range between 60 to 70 points. In contrast, the country exhibiting the highest ratio of girls' average ISEI score against boys' is the Czech Republic at 1.21, closely followed by Norway at 1.20.

While discerning a straightforward pattern proves challenging, other countries with high ratios (ranging from 1.13 to 1.21) are predominantly Nordic and Former Socialist countries, including Iceland, Finland, Slovakia, Poland, and Lithuania. Conversely, countries with the lowest ratios (ranging from 0.93 to 1.08) encompass a diverse mix from East Asia, lower-income countries of the OECD, and Former Socialist and other European countries, such as Japan, Korea, Netherlands, Mexico, Israel, UK, France, Austria, and Hungary.

ш	Cast		ISEI		ш	Cast		ISEI		ц	Cast		ISEI		ш	Cast		ISEI	
#	Cnt	Girls	Boys	Ratio	#	Cnt	Girls	Boys	Ratio	#	Cnt	Girls	Boys	Ratio	#	Cnt	Girls	Boys	Ratio
1	JPN	55.6	60.1	0.93	10	ESP	71.1	65.2	1.09	19	CHE	61.9	55.6	1.11	28	NZL	69.0	61.4	1.12
2	KOR	63.2	63.7	0.99	11	LUX	68.8	63.0	1.09	20	GRC	70.7	63.5	1.11	29	DEU	64.0	56.9	1.12
3	NLD	65.0	62.7	1.04	12	CHL	72.6	66.2	1.10	21	TUR	76.7	68.9	1.11	30	LTU	69.1	61.3	1.13
4	MEX	74.2	71.6	1.04	13	LVA	68.0	62.0	1.10	22	ITA	66.7	59.5	1.12	31	POL	67.9	59.9	1.13
5	ISR	73.4	69.5	1.06	14	BEL	69.8	63.5	1.10	23	PRT	71.3	63.6	1.12	32	SVK	65.1	56.4	1.15
6	GBR	69.8	65.2	1.07	15	CAN	73.3	66.6	1.10	24	DNK	71.8	64.1	1.12	33	FIN	65.4	56.3	1.16
7	FRA	65.6	61.0	1.08	16	USA	72.0	65.5	1.10	25	SVN	65.5	58.4	1.12	34	ISL	70.7	60.0	1.18
8	AUT	62.1	57.7	1.08	17	IRL	71.0	64.2	1.11	26	SWE	68.3	60.9	1.12	35	NOR	68.9	57.6	1.20
9	HUN	58.3	53.8	1.08	18	EST	68.9	62.0	1.11	27	AUS	68.9	61.4	1.12	36	CZE	61.8	51.1	1.21

 Table 3.1: ISEI Scores and Ratios by Gender and by Country²

OECD (2019b) and author's calculations

To provide a better idea of occupational choices and corresponding ISEI scores, Table 3.2 lists the top 10 jobs chosen by students from the Czech Republic, USA, and Japan, disaggregated by gender. The USA is chosen as it is one of the median countries in terms of the ISEI score ratio and is a large non-European economy like Japan.

			Zzech I	Republic							Ja	pan						
#	Girls	ISEI	%	Boys	ISEI	%	Girls	ISEI	%	Boys	ISEI	%	Girls	ISEI	%	Boys	ISEI	%
1	Generalist Medical Practitioners	89	7%	Car Mechanics	31	6.9%	Specialist Medical Practitioners	82	16%	Mechanical Engineers	77	4.6%	General Office Clerks	43	10%	Office Supervisors	62	13%
2	Nursing Associate Professionals	56	5%	IT Programmers	75	6.0%	Nursing Professionals	69	9%	Specialist Medical Practitioners	82	4.4%	Nursing Professional s	69	10%	General Office Clerks	43	10%
3	Psychologist s	86	5%	Building Electricians	36	5.3%	Generalist Medical Practitioners	89	5%	Athletes	51	4.1%	Child Care Workers	25	9%	Teaching Professionals	76	6%
4	Primary School Teachers	77	5%	Cabinet- Makers	25	2.5%	Veterinarians	84	5%	Generalist Medical Practitioners	89	3.2%	Office Supervisors	62	6%	Building Architects	80	3%
5	Hairdressers	31	4%	Athletes	51	2.4%	Lawyers	87	4%	IT Programmers	75	3.2%	Teaching Professional s	76	4%	IT Programmers	75	3%
6	Lawyers	87	4%	Lawyers	87	2.4%	Psychologists	86	3%	Car Mechanics	31	3.1%	Pharmacists	81	3%	Generalist Medical Practitioners	89	3%
7	Veterinarians	84	4%	Building Architects	80	2.3%	Teaching Professionals	76	3%	Graphic Designers	80	3.1%	Housewives	17	3%	Sports Workers	51	2%
8	Early Childhood Educators	59	3%	Generalist Medical Practitioners	89	2.3%	Graphic Designers	80	3%	Lawyers	87	2.8%	Hairdressers	31	3%	Engineering Professionals	75	2%
9	Specialist Medical Practitioners	82	3%	Machine Operators	29	2.3%	Biologists	81	2%	Engineering Associate professionals	61	2.3%	Nutritionists	65	2%	Pharmacists	81	2%
10	Cooks	27	2%	Police Officers	52	2.3%	Psychotherapists	68	2%	Police Officers	52	2.3%	Shopkeepers	35	2%	Firefighters	46	2%
	Weighted Average	70		Weighted Average	52		Weighted Average	80		Weighted Average	69		Weighted Average	51		Weighted Average	64	
	Total		41%	Total		35%	Total		52%	Total		33%	Total		52%	Total		47%

Table 3.2: Top 10 Expected Occupations of Students

Source: OECD (2019b) and author's calculations

² JPN=Japan, KOR=Korea, NLD=Netherlands, MEX=Mexico, ISR=Israel, GBR=United Kingdom, FRA=France, AUT=Austria, HUN=Hungary, ESP=Spain, LUX=Luxembourg, CHL=Chile, LVA=Latvia, BEL=Belgium, CAN=Canada, USA=USA, IRL=Ireland, EST=Estonia, CHE=Switzerland, GRC=Greece, TUR=Turkey, ITA=Italy, PRT=Portugal, DNK=Denmark, SVN=Slovenia, SWE=Sweden, AUS=Australia, NZL=New Zealand, DEU=Germany, LTU=Lithuania, POL=Poland, SVK=Slovakia, FIN=Finland, ISL=Iceland, NOR=Norway, and CZE=Czech Republic.

In the Czech Republic, a large proportion of girls opt for occupations traditionally considered female-dominated with mid to high-range ISEI scores of 50s to 70s, i.e., nursing associate professionals, primary school teachers, and early childhood educators. Only hairdressers have a low ISEI score in the 30s range. Conversely, five occupations have high ISEI scores exceeding 80, predominantly in the medical field. This is not irregular considering that 56% of doctors in the Czech Republic were females in 2019 (OECD 2021a), indicating a balanced gender representation in the medical profession. When the percentages are combined, it reveals that at least 22% of Czech girls in the sample anticipate pursuing occupations with very high ISEI scores.

On the other hand, Czech boys tend to select occupations traditionally viewed as male-dominated, such as mechanics, IT programmers, electricians, cabinetmakers, athletes, building architects, machine operators, and police officers. Within this group, four occupations have ISEI scores in the 20s and 30s, while three occupations are in the 50s to 70s. The weighted average of the ISEI scores for the top 10 occupational choices for girls in the Czech Republic is 70, while it is 52 for boys, indicating a significant disparity.

Regarding the USA, the table reveals that seven out of the top 10 occupational choices for girls have ISEI scores in the 80s, with a notable emphasis once again on the medical profession. On a positive note, it is encouraging to observe that girls hold high occupational expectations, especially considering the continued male dominance in the medical field in the USA, where only 37% of doctors are females (OECD 2021a). It is noteworthy that these expectations contrast with those from forty years earlier in 1979, which included mostly female-dominated categories like secretary, housewife, nurse, elementary school teacher, and hairdresser, in addition to designer, accountant, physician, and manager (Baird 2008).

On the other hand, the study by Reynolds *et al.* (2006) in 2000 points out that, although there is no gender breakdown, American high school students were increasingly becoming unrealistic in their occupational expectations, with two-thirds of seniors planning to become lawyers, doctors, college professors, accountants, or engineers. OECD also cautions that the recent aspirations of American girls indicate "weak labour market signalling and poor understanding of the labour market and individual prospects within it" (Mann *et al.* 2020, p. 25).

When it comes to American boys, the top 10 occupations are predominantly those that are considered male-dominated, including engineers, athletes, IT programmers, car mechanics, and police officers, in addition to the medical profession. Four of these occupations have ISEI scores in the 80s, while one has a score in the 30s. The weighted average ISEI score for the top 10 occupations in the USA is 80 for girls and 67 for boys.

The expected top 10 occupations for Japanese girls mostly consist of those traditionally associated with female-dominated fields, such as general office clerks, nurses, childcare workers, teachers, hairdressers, nutritionists, and shopkeepers. These occupations generally have lower ISEI scores, ranging from the 20s to 40s, as well as some in the mid-range with scores in the 60s to 70s. The only occupation with an ISEI score in the 80s is that of a pharmacist. Additionally, 3% expressed a desire to be a housewife, a role not officially recognised as an occupation by the ILO. Nevertheless, since PISA 2018, OECD has assigned an ISEI score of 17 to this category.

For Japanese boys, many of their top expected occupations are traditionally male-dominated occupations such as building architects, IT programmers, generalist medical practitioners, sports workers, engineers, and firefighters. A total of 8% chose professions with ISEI scores of over 80 – architects, medical doctors, and pharmacists. Unlike the boys of the other two countries, there are no occupations that are in the 20s and 30s. The weighted average ISEI score of the top 10 jobs

for Japanese girls is 51, which is significantly lower than the 64 for Japanese boys, mirroring the large ISEI score difference for the total sample shown in Table 3.1.

In relation to the description of the Japanese labour market in Chapter 1, the top occupation chosen by girls in Japan, reaching 10%, is to become a general office clerk. This is a secretarial or administrative type of job, possibly equivalent to an *'ippan shoku'*, This occupation is also prevalent among boys, ranking second at 10% of the sample. Furthermore, 6% of girls and 13% of boys chose to be an office supervisor, possibly a *'sogo shoku*,' which is also a generalist type of job, but with the possibility of being on a management track.

The high proportions of these two types of occupations reflect the Japanese labour market, where companies and the public sector prefer to recruit and maintain generalists rather than specialists, allowing them to assign employees to various types of assignments. The results of these choices by Japanese high school students most likely demonstrate that this type of hiring practice has influenced their occupational expectations, incentivising them to aim for generalist-type jobs to maximise their employment possibilities.

However, it is debatable whether students explicitly specified '*ippan shoku*' or '*sogo shoku*' as their expected career choices, or if they simply listed '*kaishain*' (office worker) or '*OL*' (office lady). Consequently, the National Institute for Educational Policy, the entity overseeing PISA in Japan, was contacted to inquire about how they determined which responses were categorised as office clerks and which as office supervisors. Although they acknowledged the challenges of converting students' responses in Japanese to ISCO codes, they did not provide detailed clarification on their methodology.

This allows for some subjectivity in the categorisation process. To mitigate such concerns, the average ISEI scores of girls and boys were recalculated by excluding the two occupations of office clerk and office supervisor. Instead, medical doctor (ISEI 89) and event planner (57) were added for girls, while sports instructor (51) and engineering technician (54) were added for boys in the top 10. The results indicate that the average ISEI score for girls, at 57, still remains lower than that of boys at 62, as well as those of girls in other countries.

To summarise, in the Czech Republic, girls often choose traditionally female-dominated occupations with mid-range ISEI scores, as well as the medical field which has high ISEI scores and a significant female presence. Conversely, boys opt for male-dominated roles with relatively low ISEI scores, leading to a notable gender disparity in average ISEI scores. In the USA, girls exhibit unrealistically high occupational expectations, particularly in the male-dominated medical sector, while boys tend to pursue traditionally male-dominated occupations with mid to high-range ISEI scores. In Japan, girls prefer female-dominated categories with low to mid-range ISEI scores. Thus, while gendered occupational preferences are observed in other countries, Japan stands out with an accentuated gender difference as girls opt for female-dominated roles with low to mid-range ISEI scores with low to mid-range ISEI scores instead of those with low scores.

Individual Characteristics and Micro/Meso Systems

As elaborated above, the occupational expectations of girls in Japan are significantly lower than those of boys, representing an anomaly among developed countries. This chapter now examines factors in the micro/meso systems that contribute to the occupational expectations of youths. Explained in Chapter 1 and illustrated in Table 1.4, the micro/meso system encompasses individual factors such as educational aspirations and academic competence, along with the educational and occupational backgrounds of parents within the surrounding environment.

These factors will be specifically scrutinised, given that information on them is available in PISA 2018.

Specifically, data are provided on individual characteristics, i.e., a) whether the student expects to go to university for a bachelor's degree; b) maths score; and c) reading score. Data are also provided on the micro/meso systems, i.e., d) whether the mother is a university graduate; e) whether the father is a university graduate; f) ISEI score of the mother's occupation; and g) ISEI score of the father's occupation. Table 3.3 lists the averages of this information by country.

In addition to the maths and reading tests, PISA encompasses a science test. Each of these subjects provides valuable insights into students' cognitive abilities. However, an analysis reveals that science scores exhibit a high correlation with both maths and reading scores, while the correlation between maths and reading scores is comparatively less, although significant. To address the important issue of collinearity, this study strategically focuses solely on maths and reading scores. By doing so, the analytical process is not only streamlined but also ensures a more precise examination of the individual impact of maths and reading scores on the observed trends in occupational expectations. Conversely, the variables representing parents' education and occupation (denoted as d) to e) above) are retained in the model, given their minimal collinearity.

The figures show that, for a), the proportion of Japanese girls expecting to obtain bachelor's degrees, at 0.59, is much lower than that of American girls at 0.92, although it is higher than those of Norwegian and German girls at 0.40. Moreover, it is notable that Japan is practically the only country where the proportion of girls expecting to go to university is lower than that of boys in the same country. This situation reflects reality, as Japan is one of only two OECD countries where girls' enrolment in bachelor's programmes is lower than that of boys (OECD.Stat n.d.), with the other country being Korea.

Despite this situation, for b), Japanese girls have the second-highest average maths score among girls of 36 countries at 532 points, just below Dutch girls at 537 points (see Figure 3.1). In fact, while lower than Japanese boys at 550 points, Japanese girls score considerably higher than boys in 31 other countries, except for the Netherlands, Korea, Estonia, and Canada³. Moreover, according to the OECD, while approximately 22% of Japanese boys and girls emerge as top performers, especially in maths and/or science—marking the highest percentage among OECD countries—only about 4% of girls and 7% of boys anticipate pursuing careers as science and engineering professionals. This stands as the lowest proportion among all 63 countries ranked for this measure (Schleicher 2019). It suggests that, despite the outstanding performance of Japanese girls in maths and science on average, the country would be significantly underutilising its human capital.

On the other hand, for c) reading, with a score of 525 points, Japanese girls fall within the middle range among girls from 36 countries – between Mexico, at 436 points, and Finland, at 557 points. However, Japanese girls outperform Japanese boys, who score 514 points. Indeed, the average performance of Japanese high school students on PISA's reading tests has been a national concern for two decades. Some reasons mentioned for this relatively poor performance, compared to maths and science, include the decline in reading lengthy materials by youngsters and an education system that emphasises extracting necessary information rather than understanding relationships (Tasaki 2017). While Japanese educational institutions are working to address these issues, whether the next PISA results show improvements remains to be seen.

³ In the PISA 2018 full sample, Japanese girls have the second highest average maths score after Korean girls. Again, while lower than Japanese boys, Japanese girls score significantly higher than boys in all other countries, except for Korea and Estonia.

		(2	a)	(b)	(c)	(d)	(e)	(f)	(g)	(h	ı)
#	Cnt	Plan	Uni	Ma	ths	Read	ling	Uni (Grad	ISI	EI	N	I
		Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Mother	Father	Mother	Father	Girls	Boys
1	AUS	0.77	0.58	497	505	531	501	0.46	0.39	49.9	45.6	4,138	3,982
2	AUT	0.42	0.33	497	517	504	483	0.19	0.21	42.7	43.3	2,003	2,048
3	BEL	0.55	0.44	504	521	508	491	0.39	0.38	46.0	46.4	1,131	1,009
4	CAN	0.82	0.69	520	533	548	527	0.51	0.47	51.9	49.5	6,253	5,173
5	CHE	0.44	0.35	518	529	509	483	0.25	0.29	43.0	48.2	1,784	1,882
6	CHL	0.85	0.75	423	437	472	458	0.25	0.29	37.3	40.7	2,130	2,054
7	CZE	0.68	0.50	500	504	512	479	0.20	0.20	43.0	40.7	1,943	1,747
8	DEU	0.40	0.32	515	530	536	514	0.27	0.31	45.3	46.4	1,286	1,365
9	DNK	0.73	0.53	517	525	529	503	0.67	0.55	54.8	51.8	1,816	1,682
10	ESP	0.71	0.55	484	495	511	488	0.39	0.33	41.6	42.2	12,150	11,551
11	EST	0.61	0.43	526	539	547	522	0.41	0.30	49.0	44.9	1,626	1,476
12	FIN	0.75	0.60	519	516	557	510	0.56	0.46	49.4	47.7	1,695	1,536
13	FRA	0.58	0.61	504	518	519	501	0.35	0.37	45.4	46.3	1,736	1,672
14	GBR	0.62	0.52	508	526	528	512	0.38	0.36	51.2	51.3	4,064	3,468
15	GRC	0.84	0.73	456	463	484	450	0.38	0.35	43.0	45.0	2,268	2,068
16	HUN	0.52	0.45	485	494	499	471	0.42	0.38	46.4	40.6	1,721	1,690
17	IRL	0.71	0.52	504	511	540	516	0.38	0.32	45.9	44.6	1,831	1,622
18	ISL	0.59	0.41	512	506	507	472	0.65	0.50	56.6	51.3	1,085	946
19	ISR	0.74	0.74	481	499	510	493	0.53	0.45	55.2	55.6	1,858	1,293
20	ITA	0.68	0.52	484	505	496	474	0.28	0.25	38.6	42.3	3,533	3,558
21	JPN	0.59	0.69	532	550	525	514	0.31	0.44	43.8	47.0	1,953	1,588
22	KOR	0.85	0.79	531	540	533	515	0.05	0.09	42.9	46.6	2,414	2,398
23	LTU	0.70	0.57	494	500	509	478	0.47	0.35	49.7	43.5	1,882	1,796
24	LUX	0.58	0.49	488	501	494	473	0.34	0.35	44.7	46.9	1,731	1,561
25	LVA	0.43	0.35	502	515	505	479	0.42	0.26	49.8	44.6	1,399	1,171
26	MEX	0.79	0.65	411	425	436	426	0.20	0.22	32.1	38.2	2,468	2,215
27	NLD	0.70	0.66	537	545	518	495	0.52	0.51	47.2	49.1	1,161	1,029
28	NOR	0.40	0.25	511	511	531	494	0.29	0.29	56.2	52.7	1,880	1,752
29	NZL	0.67	0.48	496	509	529	506	0.37	0.29	50.3	47.8	2,060	1,776
30	POL	0.68	0.54	523	526	538	507	0.31	0.27	45.1	41.9	1,988	1,810
31	PRT	0.75	0.58	496	508	513	489	0.33	0.25	43.2	44.3	1,925	1,878
32	SVK	0.70	0.50	502	504	493	456	0.34	0.28	44.4	41.2	1,723	1,540
33	SVN	0.42	0.27	511	513	520	481	0.35	0.25	46.4	42.9	1,839	1,901
34	SWE	0.59	0.46	513	521	536	512	0.49	0.41	54.3	50.9	1,697	1,513
35	TUR	0.89	0.82	455	462	483	460	0.15	0.22	26.0	38.1	2,451	2,474
36	USA	0.92	0.81	486	504	533	520	0.48	0.41	50.3	47.7	1,437	1,255

 Table 3.3 Individual Characteristics and Factors from the Micro/Meso Systems

Source: OECD (2019b) and author's calculations⁴

Regarding parents' education, 31% of mothers of the Japanese high school respondents are fouryear university graduates, which falls between the 5% of Korea and the 67% of Denmark. For fathers of Japanese students, 44% are university graduates, which falls between the 9% of Korea and the 51% of the Netherlands. While the fathers are more educated than the mothers among Japanese respondents, in 26 other countries, mothers are on average more educated than or as educated as the fathers.

⁴ Average PISA scores are not the same as those published by OECD as the sample for this study only includes students who gave responses regarding their expected occupations and specified their parents' education and occupation. The reading scores for Spain is missing due to implausible student-response behaviour, explained in OECD (2019c).



Figure 3.1: PISA 2018 Maths Scores Among the Sample

Source: OECD (2019b) and author's calculations

Regarding parents' occupations, the average ISEI score of mothers of Japanese girls shown in d) at 44 points is lower than the mean of 46, falling between the lowest, Turkey, at 26 points and the highest, Iceland, at 56 points. As mentioned above, mothers who are reported as a housewife are attributed an ISEI score of 17 points. Concerning fathers, at 47 points, Japan is above the mean at 46 points, falling between the lowest, Turkey, at 38 points and the highest, Israel, at 55 points, as shown in e). It is noteworthy that the average ISEI scores of mothers and fathers in Japan are not hugely different, despite the large gender wage gap in the country. This could be due to the high proportion of mothers who earn less but are in occupations with similar ISEI scores as the fathers. In addition, as the questionnaire asks to state the previous jobs held if a parent is unemployed, it is possible that non-working mothers could have had occupations with similar ISEI scores as the fathers before they quit.

Factors that Contribute to Occupational Expectations

Model and Method

This section outlines the model designed to analyse the relationships between occupational expectations and the contributing factors. The model is expressed through two equations:

$$Y_{i}^{f} = \alpha^{f} + \Sigma_{j=1}^{7} \beta_{j}^{f} X_{ji}^{f} + e_{i}^{f}$$
(1)
$$Y_{i}^{m} = \alpha^{m} + \Sigma_{j=1}^{7} \beta_{j}^{m} X_{ji}^{m} + e_{i}^{m}$$
(2)

In this model:

- The dependent variables Y_i^f and Y_i^m represent the ISEI score of the occupation expected by the student at the age of 30, for females and males, respectively.
- *i* denotes individual, where *f* represents female and *m* represents male.
- *α^f* and *α^m* are the country-specific intercepts that capture unobserved variations for females and males, respectively.
- β^f_j and β^m_j (where *j* ranges from 1 to 7) are coefficients associated with the seven variables of: educational expectation (expecting to go to university or not), academic competence (maths and reading scores), parental characteristics of education of the mother and father (obtained a bachelor's degree or not), and the ISEI score of the mother and father's occupation.
- X_{ji}^{f} and X_{ji}^{m} (where *j* ranges from 1 to 7) represent the values of each variable for females and males, respectively.
- e_i^f and e_i^m are the error terms for males and females.

The model utilises a multiple regression analysis with Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) for each gender within every country to assess the impact of the variables on the ISEI scores of expected occupations. In other words, this method examines the relationships between occupational expectations and the contributing factors among girls and boys in 36 different countries. The coefficients derived from the analysis are presented by country and by gender in Table 3.4.

Results

The results of the analyses of (1) and (2) are shown in Table 3.4. The factors that contribute to the ISEI score of Japanese girls are: plan to go to university, maths scores, mother's ISEI score, and father's ISEI score. For girls of other countries, plan to go to university has positive effects in all the countries, except for France. Countries such as Austria, Switzerland, and Italy have high coefficients of over 17 points. Japan's coefficient of 8.0 points is lower than the average of 34 other countries that had positive effects at 12.7 points.

In terms of maths scores, besides Japan, 19 other countries have positive effects. While the rise of 0.05 point in the ISEI score by increasing 1 point of maths score in Japan is above average of 0.04 points of 20 other countries, it is below France and Hungary, both exceeding 0.06 points. For the reading score, although it is not significant for Japan, when the scores increase, the ISEI scores also increase in 20 other countries. Regarding the education of mothers and fathers (whether they are university graduates), they do not have significant positive effects for Japanese girls nor most other countries.

As for the parents' ISEI scores, aside from Japan, it is significant in 16 other countries for the mother and 15 other countries for the father. While the effect of mother's ISEI score at 0.10 point is higher than the average of 0.08 points of 16 other countries, the effect of the father's ISEI at 0.06 point is the same as the average of 15 other countries.

Next, regarding boys in Japan, significant variables that increase the ISEI score of their future expected occupations include the plan to go to university, math scores, mother's ISEI score, and father's ISEI score, similar to the girls. In addition, father's education is also significant at the 10% significance level. For boys in other countries, the plan to go to university is significant for all countries except France, just like their female counterparts. The coefficient of 7.8 points for the Japanese boys' plan to go to university is lower than the average of 12.1 points of 34 other countries with positive effect.

				Girls			Boys							
Cnt	Uni Dlan	Maths	Reading	Uni (Grad	IS	EI	Uni Dlan	Maths	Reading	Uni (Grad	IS	EI
	Uni Plan	Score	Score	Mother	Father	Mother	Father	uni Pian	Score	Score	Mother	Father	Mother	Father
AUS	17.0 ***	0.02 **	0.01	0.5	0.7	0.00	0.01	20.3***	0.02**	0.03***	0.51	0.36	-0.01	0.11***
AUT	17.4 ***	0.01	0.04 ***	-0.2	2.8 **	0.08 ***	0.02	12.8***	0.00	0.06***	-1.05	3.16**	0.02	0.11***
BEL	14.3 ***	0.01	0.04 **	0.2	-2.4 *	0.05	0.03	14.4***	0.04**	0.04**	-0.82	2.13	-0.02	0.02
CAN	14.8 ***	0.00	0.02 **	0.0	0.8	0.03	0.04 **	18.5***	0.01	0.02***	-0.74	2.32**	0.02	0.10***
CHE	17.6 ***	-0.01	0.05 ***	2.6 **	0.2	0.06 **	0.08 ***	13.9***	-0.01	0.06***	2.76**	1.60	0.04*	0.12***
CHL	8.8 ***	0.02	0.02 *	-0.7	1.3	0.04 *	0.00	12.4***	0.03***	0.02*	-3.12**	2.25*	0.03	0.11***
CZE	16.0 ***	0.03 **	0.05 ***	-2.5 *	0.4	0.14 ***	0.04	17.4***	0.02**	0.04***	0.38	-0.73	0.10***	0.08***
DEU	12.6 ***	0.02	0.04 ***	2.5 *	0.1	0.03	0.06 *	12.1***	0.04***	0.03**	-0.25	-0.4	0.07**	0.14***
DNK	14.3 ***	0.04 ***	-0.01	0.5	-0.5	0.05 **	0.04 **	13.6***	0.01	0.05***	-0.63	-1.02	0.08***	0.11***
ESP	8.8 ***	0.04 ***	(omitted)	0.4	0.0	0.00	0.03 *	11.1***	0.05***	(omitted)	-0.08	-0.05	0.01	0.04*
EST	11.2 ***	0.02	0.01	2.3 **	2.1 *	0.08 ***	-0.01	9.6***	0.04***	0.02*	0.47	1.49	0.03	0.08***
FIN	16.5 ***	0.04 ***	0.03 ***	0.9	-0.9	0.12 ***	0.08 ***	12.8***	0.07***	0.02	0.50	0.51	0.12***	0.10***
FRA	-2.2 **	0.06 ***	0.05 ***	-0.5	2.4 **	0.03	0.05 **	-0.8	0.04***	0.06***	0.99	2.67**	0.02	0.10***
GBR	11.9 ***	0.02 **	0.01	0.4	2.6 **	-0.01	0.03	12.7***	0.02	0.03***	0.07	-0.60	0.01	0.10***
GRC	11.2 ***	0.02 **	0.04 ***	1.2	0.8	0.01	0.03	6.5***	0.02*	0.03***	-0.10	-0.21	0.05**	0.08***
HUN	15.5 ***	0.07 ***	0.02	0.3	1.8	0.05 **	0.06 **	13.1***	0.05***	0.02**	1.08	-1.00	0.08***	0.10***
IRL	9.9 ***	0.05 ***	0.02 *	-0.3	0.7	0.03	0.01	12.8***	0.03**	0.04***	-0.70	-1.26	0.01	0.10***
ISL	11.3 ***	0.02 **	0.00	0.3	2.1 **	0.01	0.04 *	10.6***	0.00	0.04***	1.06	2.87**	0.01	0.10***
ISR	8.4 ***	0.00	0.00	-0.3	0.6	-0.01	0.01	6.1***	0.01	0.01	-1.47	1.64	-0.05*	0.05**
ITA	18.1 ***	0.00	0.04 ***	1.8	0.6	0.06 **	0.06 **	14.6***	0.00	0.04***	-0.06	1.73	0.02	0.11***
JPN	8.0 ***	0.05 ***	0.00	-0.3	0.3	0.10 ***	0.06 **	7.9***	0.04***	0.00	-0.81	2.07*	0.06**	0.06**
KOR	6.2 ***	0.04 ***	0.02 **	0.8	0.9	0.02	0.05 **	5.2***	0.03***	0.02***	0.33	1.38	0.01	0.04*
LTU	13.1 ***	0.00	0.05 ***	-1.0	0.7	0.05 **	0.03	10.9***	0.01	0.06***	-0.37	-2.17*	0.07***	0.08***
LUX	12.5 ***	0.02	0.03 ***	-0.1	1.1	0.00	0.02	12.0***	0.03***	0.02***	-0.03	-1.02	0.00	0.09***
LVA	8.1 ***	0.04 ***	0.00	-1.4	-0.2	0.11 ***	0.06 **	7.9***	0.04**	0.04***	2.13	-0.84	0.07***	0.08***
MEX	6.4 ***	0.00	0.01	0.2	-1.7	0.03	0.01	6.2***	0.02**	-0.01	-0.35	0.50	0.00	0.03
NLD	13.2 ***	0.02 *	0.03 ***	-0.4	0.6	0.08 ***	0.01	10.4***	0.03**	0.03**	-0.85	0.54	0.12***	0.10***
NOR	13.1 ***	0.03 ***	0.01	-0.4	1.8 *	0.04 **	0.06 ***	16.6***	0.04***	0.04***	0.87	0.33	0.06**	0.12***
NZL	11.4 ***	0.03 ***	0.01	-0.5	0.9	0.03	0.02	13.8***	0.05***	0.02*	1.07	-0.24	0.02	0.09***
POL	14.8 ***	0.01	0.03 ***	-1.4	2.0	0.06 **	0.03	11.6***	0.03**	0.04***	1.07	-0.22	0.05**	0.11***
PRT	15.5 ***	0.03 ***	0.01	0.1	-0.6	0.00	0.04 *	11.3***	0.03***	0.03***	0.85	-1.52	0.00	0.11***
SVK	15.3 ***	0.05 ***	0.02 **	-0.7	-0.4	0.10 ***	0.04	12.7***	0.05***	0.02**	-1.04	0.90	0.06**	0.11***
SVN	9.5 ***	0.03 ***	0.05 ***	-1.6	-1.4	0.10 ***	0.04	8.4***	0.05***	0.04***	0.99	-0.01	0.02	0.13***
SWE	15.6 ***	0.01	0.02 **	-1.3	1.0	0.00	0.09 ***	16.9***	0.03**	0.01	-1.48	0.89	0.07***	0.11***
TUR	4.9 ***	0.03 ***	0.01	-0.4	0.5	0.02	0.00	6.1***	0.05***	-0.01	-0.68	1.08	0.04	0.02
USA	16.9 ***	0.01	0.00	-3.2 ***	1.6	0.01	0.01	15.5***	0.00	0.03***	-0.15	0.93	0.04	0.05*
~	0.00	D (0040		. 1				0.4		distanti di				

Table 3.4: Factors Influencing ISEI scores: Non-Standardised Coefficients by Gender and by Country

Source: OECD (2019b) and author's calculations

* p<0.1, ** p < 0.05, *** p < 0.01.

In summary, the coefficients related to the plan to attend university are relatively modest among both Japanese girls and boys. This may be attributed to the prevalence of job categories such as 'general office clerk' and 'office supervisor,' which tend to have lower ISEI scores compared to certain specialist occupations. Furthermore, in Japan, mothers' occupations exert a notably higher influence on girls compared to Japanese boys and girls of other countries, surpassing the impact of fathers' occupations. This suggests that mothers' occupations might be serving as role models for their daughters' expected occupations.

As a caveat, the plan to go to university may not be the cause of higher occupational expectations, but higher occupational expectations could be driving them to plan on going to university. In other words, there could be endogeneity, reverse causality, simultaneity, or circular reasoning.

Thus, a binomial logistic regression is conducted using the plan to attend university as the dependent variable, with the ISEI score of the expected occupation, maths and reading scores, as well as the parents' education and ISEI scores as explanatory variables.

The analysis reveals that the ISEI score, math score, and parental education levels significantly influence the plan for university enrolment for both girls and boys in Japan. Specifically, individuals with higher ISEI scores and math scores exhibit increased odds of pursuing university education. Furthermore, the odds ratios for father's and mother's education (whether they have attended university or not) are notably high, indicating a substantial impact on the aspiration for university enrolment. However, reading scores and mother's occupation do not show a significant effect on plan for university enrolment in this context.

This indicates that, for both girls and boys, the parents' education affects the plan to go to university, which affects the ISEI score of the expected occupation; but the parents' education does not affect the ISEI score directly. Furthermore, the father's occupation affects the plan to go to university and expected occupation, but the mother's occupation only affects the expected occupation and not the plan to go to university. This could be because, in Japan, mothers with university degrees do not necessary assume prestigious occupations once they quit for child raising. Furthermore, the results showing that Japanese students have mediocre performance in reading comprehension and that it has no significant impact on their career choices or university plans may reflect an education system and society that prioritise maths.

The R-squared values, indicative of explained variances, exhibit considerable variability. In the case of Mexico, Israel, and Turkey, there are lower fits for girls, ranging between 0.05 and 0.07. For the former two countries, only the coefficients regarding the intention to attend university are significant, and for Turkey, maths score is also significant. A similar pattern emerges for boys, where, in addition to the plan to attend university, father's occupation is significant for Mexico, and maths score is significant for Israel.

Conversely, Switzerland, Czech Republic, and Hungary demonstrate higher R-squared values, ranging from 0.37 to 0.38 for girls. In these cases, all variables except father's education and occupation are significant for the Czech Republic and Hungary, while all variables except maths score and father's education are significant for Switzerland. Boys in the Czech Republic and Australia show R-squared values of 0.40 to 0.42, where all variables except mother's and father's education are significant for the Czech Republic, and the same, plus mother's occupation, is not significant for Australia. Overall, the models are less optimal for the lower-income members of the OECD and exhibit a better fit for Former Socialist countries. Japan falls within the lower-middle range, with R-squared values of 0.14 for girls and 0.12 for boys.

Blinder Oaxaca Decomposition

The previous section showed that in Japan, and in most other OECD countries, the ISEI scores of girls and boys are generally associated with the expectation to go to university and maths and/or reading scores. In addition, the ISEI scores are related to the occupations of the parents, which implies that social class still exerts an effect. However, it is necessary to decompose the factors to examine the extent to which high average values or high average effects contribute to the gender differences in the ISEI scores. For example, an analysis of the gender wage gap can illustrate the extent of lower pay for women due to their lower education compared to males and the extent of lower pay even with the same level of education.

Model and Method

For this purpose, a Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition is carried out using the estimation results from the preceding section to assess whether, for instance, the effect of planning to go to university is

higher on ISEI scores for girls or boys when comparing only those who plan to go to university. This is called the coefficient effect. On the other hand, one can also observe that the average effect is higher because either more boys or girls plan to go to university when assuming that the effect is the same. This is called the endowment effect⁵.

The following explains the process of deriving the last equation (3).

$$\begin{split} \bar{Y}_{i}^{f} &= \alpha^{f} + \Sigma_{j=1}^{5} \beta_{j}^{f} \, \bar{X}_{ji}^{f} \qquad (1) \\ \bar{Y}_{i}^{m} &= \alpha^{m} + \Sigma_{j=1}^{5} \beta_{j}^{m} \, \bar{X}_{ji}^{m} \qquad (2) \\ \bar{Y}^{m} - \bar{Y}^{f} &= (\alpha^{m} - \alpha^{f}) + \Sigma_{j=1}^{5} \beta_{j}^{m} \, (\bar{X}_{j}^{m} - \bar{X}_{j}^{f}) + \Sigma_{j=1}^{5} (\beta_{j}^{m} - \beta_{j}^{f}) \, \bar{X}_{j}^{f} \qquad (3) \end{split}$$

In equation (3):

- The term $\overline{Y}^m \overline{Y}^f$ measures the average gender gap in ISEI scores within each country, where \overline{Y}^m and \overline{Y}^f denote the average ISEI scores of expected occupations for male and female students, respectively, in each country.
- *m* is for male students and *f* is for female students.
- α^m and α^f are the country-specific intercepts.
- β_j^m and β_j^f represent the five coefficients for educational expectation, academic competence, and the ISEI score of the parents' occupations for each country. The parents' education variables are excluded from the model as they did not have a significant effect on the ISEI scores of both boys and girls.
- \bar{X}_{j}^{m} and \bar{X}_{j}^{f} denote the average values of the variables for male and female students within the country.

The term $\beta_j^m (\bar{X}_j^m - \bar{X}_j^f)$, representing the endowment effect, explains the gender difference in the ISEI scores based on gender variations in the averages of the variables – educational expectations, academic competence, and parents' occupations⁶. On the other hand, regarding the coefficient effect, denoted as $(\beta_j^m - \beta_j^f) \bar{X}_j^f$ and focusing on girls' average characteristic \bar{X}_j^f for the seven variables in each country, the gender difference in ISEI scores is determined by the gender variation in the estimation coefficients $(\beta_j^m - \beta_j^f)$. This assumes that the average educational expectations, academic competence, and the parents' occupational ISEI scores are equal between the genders in each country.

Results

Table 3.5 shows the results of the Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition. A positive endowment effect suggests that the higher average value of boys, such as in maths scores, contributes to an increase in boys' average ISEI score compared to girls when one assumes that the two genders have the same coefficient. Conversely, a negative endowment effect indicates a situation where the higher average value among girls contributes to an increase in girls' average ISEI scores compared to boys when one assumes that the two genders have the same coefficient. In parallel, a positive

⁵ Sugihashi (2009) expresses concerns about utilising the Blinder-Oaxaca Decomposition in gender wage gap analysis. The argument posits that the endowment effect already encompasses discrimination, rendering it inadequate to address discrimination solely through the coefficient effect. In the context of the current research, this suggests that the low educational expectations of Japanese females may, in part, stem from discrimination or ingrained gender norms that discourage girls from pursuing four-year university education, consequently diminishing the endowment effect.

⁶ The Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition here assumes that the girls are the same as the boys' values.

coefficient effect suggests that the impact of the variable is higher for boys when the two genders have the same average value. Conversely, a negative coefficient effect indicates that the impact of the variable on the average ISEI scores is higher for girls than boys when they have the same average value.

	Endowment Effect						fect		Coefficient Effect					
Cnt	Uni I	Plan	Mat Sco	hs re	Read Sco	ling re	Mother ISEI	Father ISEI	Uni Plan	Maths Score	Reading Score	Mother ISEI	Father ISEI	
AUS	-3.3	***	0.2	**	-0.4	**	0.01	0.01	1.9 ***	0.2	6.9 *	-0.8	4.3 ***	
AUT	-1.5	***	0.2		-0.7	**	-0.03	0.02	-1.5 ***	-5.5	10.6	-2.4	3.6 **	
BEL	-1.5	***	0.2		-0.7	**	0.07	0.02	0.2	13.1	-1.2	-3.2 *	1.6	
CAN	-1.9	***	0.1		-0.3	***	0.02	0.05	2.7 ***	3.2	4.9	-0.4	3.7 ***	
CHE	-1.6	***	-0.1		-1.3	***	0.06	0.05	-1.1 **	-1.0	0.8	-0.8	2.5	
CHL	-0.9	***	0.2		-0.2	*	0.05	0.01	2.7 **	7.7	1.1	-1.0	4.4 ***	
CZE	-2.9	***	0.1		-1.8	***	0.04	0.01	0.7	0.0	-8.1	-0.8	1.7	
DEU	-1.0	***	0.3		-0.8	**	-0.01	-0.04	-0.3	8.9	-4.1	0.6	3.0 *	
DNK	-2.8	***	0.3	*	0.3		0.08	0.05	-0.4	-13.2	31.2 ***	1.5	3.1 *	
ESP	-		-		-		-		-	-	-	-	-	
EST	-2.1	***	0.3		-0.2		-0.11	0.01	-0.6	9.7	6.2	-3.0 *	3.5 **	
FIN	-2.5	***	-0.1		-1.5	***	0.09	-0.08	-2.1 **	16.3	-6.5	0.1	1.7	
FRA	-0.1		0.8	***	-0.9	***	0.02	0.09	0.8	-6.2	7.3	0.1	2.5	
GBR	-1.3	***	0.4	**	-0.2		0.00	0.04	0.2	-4.1	8.2	0.4	2.3 *	
GRC	-1.3	***	0.2	*	-1.2	***	0.01	0.02	-3.5 ***	-2.4	-1.6	0.9	1.6	
HUN	-1.1	***	0.6	**	-0.6		-0.01	-0.06	-1.1	-6.4	1.9	1.1	0.3	
IRL	-1.9	***	0.3	**	-0.4	*	-0.01	-0.02	1.4 *	-6.9	9.4	-1.3	3.2 ***	
ISL	-2.1	***	-0.1		0.2		0.01	0.01	-0.1	-10.2	19.6 ***	0.3	3.9 **	
ISR	0.0		0.1		-0.1		-0.05	0.02	-1.7	3.8	0.9	-2.7	3.0 *	
ITA	-3.0	***	-0.1		-0.7	***	0.05	0.04	-1.8 **	3.1	4.5	-2.0 *	2.3	
JPN	0.8	***	0.9	***	0.0		0.02	0.10	0.1	-5.9	-2.4	-1.6	0.1	
KOR	-0.4	***	0.3	**	-0.3	**	-0.07	0.00	-0.7	-7.2	3.8	-0.4	-0.2	
LTU	-1.7	***	0.0		-1.5	***	0.10 *	0.02	-1.4	5.7	7.1	1.2	1.2	
LUX	-1.1	***	0.2		-0.7	***	0.01	0.04	-0.3	8.9	-2.8	-0.4	2.3	
LVA	-0.6	***	0.6	**	-0.1		0.13	0.05	0.1	-3.1	14.2 *	0.3	1.2	
MEX	-0.9	***	0.1		-0.1		0.01	0.00	-0.1	10.9 *	-7.7	-1.1 *	1.6 *	
NLD	-0.6	**	0.2		-0.8	**	0.07	0.00	-1.9	3.5	-4.0	1.5	4.6 **	
NOR	-2.0	***	0.0		-0.2		0.02	0.01	0.9 ***	4.3	14.6 **	1.1	2.8 *	
NZL	-2.1	***	0.4	***	-0.2		0.03	0.04	1.2 *	9.3	5.0	0.0	3.1 **	
POL	-2.1	***	0.0		-0.9	**	0.01	0.00	-1.6 **	8.9	5.3	0.3	2.9 *	
PRT	-2.7	***	0.4	**	-0.2		0.00	0.01	-2.4 **	1.9	10.6	0.3	2.9 **	
SVK	-2.9	***	0.1		-0.9	**	-0.11	0.02	-1.3	0.3	0.0	-1.6	3.2 **	
SVN	-1.3	***	0.1		-1.9	***	0.05	-0.01	-0.1	8.8	-3.4	-2.3	4.5 ***	
SWE	-1.9	***	0.1		-0.5	**	-0.01	0.11	0.6	11.6	-3.4	3.6 **	1.0	
TUR	-0.4	***	0.2	**	-0.2		0.00	0.00	1.0	12.2 **	-6.4	0.6	1.0	
USA	-1.8	***	0.2		-0.1		-0.02	0.02	-0.7	-5.3	13.0	2.2	2.2	

Table 3.5: Blinder-Oaxaca Decomposition on the Factors that Affect ISEI

Source: OECD (2019b) * p<0.1, ** p < 0.05, *** p < 0.01.

Note: Spain is missing due to omitted scores for reading. See Footnote 4.

Coefficient Effect

When examining the coefficient effects first (right side of the table), no variable produce consistent results for more than half of the countries, except for the father's ISEI score. More specifically, an increase in the father's ISEI score lead to an increase in the boy's ISEI score relative to that of a girl in 19 countries. Conversely, in four countries, mothers' occupations exhibit slightly stronger positive effects on girls' occupational expectations, albeit with significance only at the 10% level. These findings closely resemble those obtained from the analysis of PISA 2015 data, which might suggest that, in many countries, social class remain more closely associated with fathers' or husbands' occupations than with mothers' or wives' occupations, aligning with Goldthorpe's Conventional View. However, no particular pattern of country grouping is detected, as those aligning with the Conventional View span a wide range from Anglo-Saxon, Former Socialist, Southern European to Nordic countries.

Regarding Japan, none of the variables are statistically significant for the coefficient effect. This is different from the analysis with the PISA 2015 data (see Box 3.1). In other words, after controlling for the proportion of those planning to go to university, maths and reading scores, as well as the ISEI scores of mothers and fathers, there is no statistically significant difference in the ISEI scores of the expected occupations between girls and boys.

Box 3.1: Difference between PISA 2015 and PISA 2018 Data

In Miyamoto's analysis of 2020, using PISA 2015 data, the findings regarding the coefficient effects differ from those from the PISA 2018 data, although the endowment effects are similar. Firstly, the earlier coefficient effect was negative for the plan to go to university. This means that when girls planned to go to university, the average ISEI score of their expected occupation was higher than that of boys who had similar plans. Secondly, in the PISA 2015 data, when the ISEI scores of fathers' occupations were controlled, the coefficient effect for boys was significantly higher than for girls. This meant that, in 2015, boys were either more encouraged by their parents or perceived their fathers as role models more than girls, leading them to aspire to more prestigious occupations compared to girls.

The difference between the results of PISA 2015 and 2018 suggests that, three years later, an average girl planning to go to university no longer expect to secure an occupation with a significantly higher ISEI score than an average counterpart boy. However, the lower proportion of girls planning to go to university compared to boys in PISA 2018 (59% vs. 69%) still lowers the average ISEI score of girls against boys. Additionally, the lack of a significant difference in the effects of fathers' occupations on the ISEI scores of boys and girls might indicate that parents are no longer encouraging boys particularly more than girls, boys are not necessarily perceiving their fathers as greater role models compared to girls, or both.

In this context, an analysis of the motivations for attending university indicates that girls attribute greater importance to university education than boys, aligning it more closely with their envisioned career. In the 19th Longitudinal Survey of Newborns in the 21st Century (2001 Cohort) conducted in 2021, which inquires about the reasons for attending the specific university that students are enrolled in, allowing for multiple reasons, nearly half of the females responded that it was related to their aspired occupation, while only 35% of males made this choice (MEXT 2021a). Furthermore, 37% of females selected the reason that the course was interesting to them, whereas only 25% of males did. Conversely, while 39% of males chose the university because they were likely to be accepted, this percentage was slightly lower at 35% for females. However, approximately a quarter of both females and males similarly responded that attending the specific university was advantageous for employment. While these results do not necessarily

indicate that female university students hold high occupational expectations, they underscore the seriousness accorded to their university education, linking it more closely to their aspired occupations compared to boys.

Reasons	Females	Males
Related to the aspired occupation	49%	35%
Interesting course	37%	25%
Likely to be accepted	35%	39%
Good atmosphere	34%	21%
Proximity to home	27%	25%
Advantage for employment	26%	25%
Parents/relatives' recommendation	15%	11%
Teacher's recommendation	14%	15%

Table 3.6 Reasons for Choosing the Attending University

Source: 19th Longitudinal Survey of Newborns in the 21st Century, (MEXT 2021a)

Endowment Effect

Regarding the endowment effect, the plan to go to university significantly increases girls' average ISEI scores compared to those of boys in 32 countries. Only in Japan is the endowment effect negative. This indicates that, while girls tend to have higher average ISEI scores than boys in many other countries, driven in part by a greater proportion of girls planning to attend university than boys, the situation is reversed in Japan, where a higher proportion of boys planning to go to university contributes to their higher average ISEI scores compared to girls.

To be specific, results show that, when the proportion of Japanese girls planning to go to university is equivalent to that of boys, a 1% increase in the girls' proportion elevates their average ISEI score by 0.8 points. Concerning maths scores, in 13 countries, the higher average scores achieved by boys have a more significant effect on raising their ISEI scores compared to girls. This is particularly evident in Japan, where the endowment effect of 0.9 is the highest among the countries. To rephrase, when the average maths score for Japanese girls is equivalent to that of boys, a 1-point increase in the girls' average maths score elevates their average ISEI score by 0.9 points.

In other words, the lower occupational expectations of Japanese girls compared to boys can be attributed to two main factors: fewer girls planning to go to university and their lower average maths scores compared to boys. On the other hand, while no endowment effect for reading scores is evident in Japan, it is observed in 21 countries. This suggests that the higher average reading scores of girls compared to boys in many countries contribute to the higher average ISEI scores of girls relative to boys.

In summary, the Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition indicates that, on average in Japan, boys exhibit higher occupational expectations due to a greater percentage planning to attend university than girls, along with their higher math scores. Conversely, in most other countries, girls generally demonstrate higher occupational expectations, attributed to their larger proportion planning to go to university than boys and higher reading scores. While the countries where girls display significantly higher occupational expectations than boys are often found in Nordic or Former Socialist countries, the nuances of these patterns in relation to individual characteristics and parental factors require further exploration.

Summary and Discussion

This section examined gender differences in occupational expectations among high school students in 36 OECD countries using PISA 2018 data. The comparison revealed that only in Japan, girls expect occupations with significantly lower SES than boys. The study explored this unique situation by analysing ISEI scores as the dependent variable.

Regression analyses, following prior research, explored the impact of educational expectation, academic competence, and parental characteristics on expected ISEI scores for both genders. Findings indicate that in Japan, the plan to go to university, maths scores, and parental ISEI scores positively influence both girls' and boys' ISEI scores. Similar trends are observed in many other OECD countries, with the addition of reading scores, a contrast to the Japanese case.

To further analyse the factors behind the lower average occupational expectations for girls in Japan, a Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition was undertaken. The aim was to determine whether this disparity could be attributed to the gender difference in coefficient effect or the endowment effect. The results show that, in Japan, the lower proportion of girls planning to go to university and their lower maths scores relative to boys reduce their occupational expectations.

Contributing Factors to the Lower Educational Aspirations of Girls

Following the above result, it is essential to understand the factors contributing to girls having lower aspirations for higher education compared to boys in Japan. This phenomenon contrasts with a global trend where, with the exception of Japan, Korea, and Germany, more girls are attending university than boys. Thus, to gain a deeper understanding of the underlying reasons for the smaller proportion of girls attending university in Japan, it is necessary to explore references related to developing countries or historical literature for developed countries.

Assuming that educational aspirations correlate with actual attainment, literature on the economics of education highlights two explanations for the gender gap: labour market discrimination against women and parental discrimination against daughters (Kingdon 1997). Concerning the former, Kingdon's research in India, utilising a Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition, reveals lower unexplained returns on education for women compared to men, presumably due to labour market discrimination.

Pasqua (2005) also points to gender bias among parents in developing countries, specifically a preference for investing in sons' education. Consequently, daughters are often assigned household responsibilities, including caregiving for the elderly, which diminishes the perceived necessity for their education. Other studies on developing countries reveal that parents spend less on their daughters' education compared to sons, even among the highest income groups in Nepal (Khanal 2018) or in rural Ethiopia (Delelegn 2007).

In developed countries, Goldin (1992, 1995) highlights the lower economic returns to college education for women compared to men in the USA for those who graduated between 1900-1920 and 1940-1960. Additionally, she notes the trade-offs with marriage and childbearing for the earlier cohort. However, she points to the indirect economic benefits of college-educated women, particularly in the second cohort and those who graduated after 1980, by marrying college-educated men who subsequently earned more compared to men with only a high school education.

Behrman *et al.* (1986) also discuss the issue of female university enrolment in the USA during the 1970s from the perspective of parents' allocation of human capital investment. They conclude that parents do not favour boys' education, if girls' returns are included through the marriage market by finding husbands at universities. These earlier studies in developed countries suggest

that the economic returns to college education for women were contingent on marriage through assortative mating.

In Japan, Nagase & Nagamachi (2002) show that between 1984 to 1994 when the share of educational costs in household expenditures generally started rising, parents were spending more on boys as opposed to girls for university education. More recently, the national survey on educational expenditure for children shows that parents in Japan still spend less for their daughters' education than their sons' in junior and senior high schools (MEXT 2022c).

The lower educational investments towards daughters in Japan can be explained by the gender differentiated views of the parents. A survey conducted by Yamamoto & Watanabe (2016) indicates that, while 85% of mothers preferred and 82% expected their sons to go to university, the corresponding figures for their daughters were only 60% and 46%, respectively. The study further identifies a gender difference in mothers' value towards education, with 46% considering education important for their sons but only 23% for their daughters.

In addition, calculations from the 15th Longitudinal Survey of Newborns in the 21st Century (2001 Cohort) reveals that, while 18% of parents with a son hope that he will start working after high school and 47% after university, the corresponding figures for parents with a daughter are 22% and 39%, respectively (MHLW 2017). These data clearly demonstrate that parents in Japan have lower educational aspirations for their daughters compared to their sons, potentially lowering the educational aspirations of the daughters themselves.

The parents' lower expectations toward their daughter's education compared to their sons are linked to returns on university education, as evidenced in the significant gender wage gap. For example, while the statistics indicate that university educated women earn 80% of their male counterparts, Nagamachi (2021) criticises that this figure is based on a small subset of women who continuously work as regular employees until the age of 60. She argues that the gender gap would be higher for the majority of university-educated women who temporarily pause their careers for child-rearing and later engage in irregular employment. Additionally, she mentions that studies suggesting high returns to women's university education are primarily derived from calculating the husband's income through assortative marriage.

Investments and returns to education are also linked to the specific occupations that parents envision for their daughters. In a study conducted by Yamamoto & Hosokawa (2017), mothers expressed a desire for their daughters to pursue a career but anticipated breaks during childrearing. Consequently, they preferred occupations that required qualifications or certificates facilitating re-employment, many of which did not necessarily involve attending university. The study highlights the limited employment opportunities for women, particularly those with children, and emphasises the negative consequences of a professional career on marriage. Ultimately, the study concludes that a gender role division persists, depicting men as breadwinners and women as family caregivers.

Contributing Factors to the Underperformance of Girls in Maths

Regarding maths, the OECD points out that girls' underperformance compared to boys is related to several factors, such as their lack of confidence in their own abilities in maths, which is significantly influenced by the learning environment that fosters or undermines their perception (OECD 2015). In this context, teachers hold stereotypical ideas about boys' and girls' academic strengths and weaknesses (CAO n.d.b). Parents in Japan also hold lower expectations and provide less encouragement for girls to pursue STEM occupations compared to boys. For example, according to a survey by a human resources information company, while 74% of fathers and 76% of mothers desired their sons to pursue science as opposed to humanities, only 60% of fathers

and 64% of mothers wished the same for their daughters (AIDEM 2022). This parental attitude may reflect occupational segregation in the labour market, potentially discouraging girls from investing effort to achieve competence in maths and science. This, in turn, creates a vicious cycle, further lowering their occupational expectations.

In this regard, several studies present the correlation between gender gaps in maths performance with the gender equality landscape of countries. For example, Guiso *et al.* (2008), using the PISA 2003 data, show that gender-equal cultures are associated with reducing the gender gap in maths scores in favour of girls among 40 countries. Indeed, as shown in Table 3.2 and Figure 3.1, in several Nordic countries such as Finland, Iceland and Norway, known as highly gender-equal countries, girls have equivalent or higher average maths scores than boys. On the other hand, Anghel *et al.* (2020), using PISA data from 2003 to 2015 and the WEF's Gender Gap Index, discover that the maths gender gap is associated with gender equality primarily in low-income countries. Given that Japan's ranking in WEF is comparable to some low-income countries, as explained in the Introductory Chapter, this finding might be applicable in the case of Japan.

While not specifically addressing mathematical competence, van Langen & Dekkers (2005) explain why fewer high school girls opt to study maths and science in many countries, potentially resulting in weaker performance in standardised tests. They attribute this phenomenon to various factors, including the demanding and inflexible job market characteristics of STEM occupations, where salaries, career prospects, and working conditions are not significantly better than in other professions. In particular, these fields pose challenges for females to work part-time, take breaks, and find role models or mentors.

Secondly, a stereotypical view persists, indicating that STEM is difficult, unappealing, and predominantly geared towards males. Thirdly, the authors discuss the impact of the presence or lack of government policies in promoting STEM for females, which includes initiatives like student information provision, mentoring, networking, summer camps, and competitions. They also highlight positive examples of larger IT companies facilitating flexible working conditions and implementing family-friendly personnel policies, which are particularly benefiting females.

All of this relates to the norms in society that perpetuate gender stereotypes, suggesting that women are inferior to men in quantitative skills (OECD 2015). This, in turn, unconsciously influences girls' performance in and attitudes towards maths, as well as educational and occupational choices. The OECD concludes that the analysis of PISA results strongly indicate that gender gaps in school achievement are not determined by innate differences in ability. In particular, even though the average maths score of Japanese girls is lower than that of Japanese boys, it has been one of the highest among both girls and boys of OECD countries.

The results from the Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition revealed no significant gender difference in ISEI scores between a Japanese girl and boy planning to attend university or with the same maths scores. On the contrary, it showed that if the proportion of girls planning to go to university or their average maths score matched those of boys, their ISEI score will become higher than that of boys. This indicates the potential to elevate the average occupational expectations of girls by increasing the proportion of female students pursuing four-year degrees in Japan and motivating them to enhance their performance in maths. Given that Japanese girls rank internationally superior in maths proficiency, an effective strategy involves providing targeted career guidance to boost their confidence and promote university enrolment, including in the STEM field. As seen in Table 3.2, in several Nordic countries such as Finland, Iceland, and Norway, girls have equivalent or higher average math scores than boys. This phenomenon suggests the importance of schools to emphasise that females can be equally capable in maths as males. Therefore, a collaborative effort, involving parents, teachers, policymakers, and opinion leaders, is imperative

in encouraging girls to pursue university education and strive for excellence in maths. It is noteworthy that this, in turn, could contribute to the potential economic growth and well-being of Japanese society.

Chapter 4: International Comparison of Gender Differences in Occupational Expectations: Factors Related to the Gender Equality Landscape within Exo/Macro Systems

The preceding chapter examined individual characteristics and parental factors within the micro/meso systems, elucidating their roles in shaping gender disparities in high school students' occupational expectations. In contrast, this chapter focuses on factors within the exo/macro systems. Specifically, it investigates whether Japan continues to exhibit the lowest ISEI score ratio by girls against boys among OECD countries, after controlling for individual characteristics and parental factors. Furthermore, it explores the potential influence of gender equality landscape factors on this phenomenon. In addition, the chapter conducts a multilevel regression to determine individual and country-level factors that impact girls' ISEI ratios. The content of this chapter is mostly derived from Miyamoto (2021), incorporating updated data and adjustments to enhance accuracy and clarity.

Determinants of Girls' ISEI Compared to Boys

Model and Method

To analyse the difference between a girl's expected ISEI score of her future occupation and the average ISEI score of boys in the same country, a multiple regression analysis using OLS with country-specific effects is conducted. This comparison helps shed light on individual, surrounding and societal factors that may shape career expectations differently for girls and boys, contributing to a broader understanding of gender dynamics in occupational choices. The model is expressed as follows:

$$ISEIRatio_{ki} = \frac{Y_i^f}{\bar{Y}_k^m} = \alpha_k + \Sigma_{j=1}^5 \beta_j X_{jki} + e_{ki}$$
(1)

In this model:

- *ISEIRatio*_{ki}, the dependent variable, represents the proportion of a girl's ISEI score compared to the average ISEI score of boys within the same country *k*, indicating gender-related distinctions in ISEI scores specific to each country.
- The subscript *i* pertains to the individual, *f* is female, and *m* is male.
- α_k signifies the country-specific intercept, obtained from country dummies, which controls the influence of unobserved characteristics in each country *k*. This allows the model to isolate the specific impact of the independent variables on the dependent variable.
- β_j is the coefficient vector associated with five variables *j*: expectation to go to university (binary dummy variable), maths score, reading score, and the ISEI scores of the mother's and father's occupations.
- X_{jki} encompasses the values associated with the corresponding coefficient and variable, reflecting that individual-level variables can vary across both girls and countries.
- e_{ki} is the error term, representing unobserved or random variability for individual *i* in country *k*, capturing factors not explained by the predictors.

Results

With these parameters, Table 4.1 presents OLS results, indicating statistical significance at the 1% level for all variables. Notably, the plan to go to university exhibits the highest standardised coefficient at 0.314, followed by maths scores at 0.116, reading scores at 0.097, and then the

mother's and father's ISEI scores. In the case of Japan, despite girls achieving extremely high average maths scores, the average is lower than that of boys. Furthermore, the proportion expecting to go to university is low compared to boys (see Chapter 3). Therefore, the combination of these factors could be contributing to reducing the ISEIRatio of girls.

N = 86,059 (53,91	6 with weight	Adjusted R-squared = 0.944				
Variable	Coefficient	Standard Error	t	P> t	Standard Coefficients	
Expect University	0.2052	0.0028	73.0	0.000	0.314	
Maths Score	0.0004	0.0000	13.8	0.000	0.116	
Reading Score	0.0003	0.0000	12.0	0.000	0.097	
Mother's ISEI	0.0008	0.0001	13.1	0.000	0.057	
Father's ISEI	0.0007	0.0001	12.2	0.000	0.052	

 Table 4.1: Coefficients of the Individual and Surrounding Factors

#	Cnt	Coef.	Std. Err.	t	P>t	[95% Inter	Conf. 'val]	#	Cnt	Coef.	Std. Err.	t	P>t	[95% Conf Interval]	#	Cnt	Coef.	Std. Err.	t	P>t	[95% Con Interval	nf. I]
1	JPN	0.331	0.047	7.11	0.000	0.237	0.426	13	ESP	0.503	0.044	11.47	0.000	0.414 0.63	3 25	BEL	0.530	0.045	11.8	0.000	0.439 0.6	522
2	KOR	0.340	0.047	7.22	0.000	0.244	0.436	14	EST	0.505	0.048	10.62	0.000	0.409 0.60	2 26	HUN	0.535	0.044	12.24	0.000	0.446 0.6	519
3	NLD	0.414	0.047	8.84	0.000	0.319	0.510	15	PRT	0.516	0.045	11.57	0.000	0.425 0.60	6 27	AUT	0.543	0.044	12.26	0.000	0.453 0.6	i05
4	ISR	0.444	0.045	9.77	0.000	0.351	0.575	16	GRC	0.516	0.042	12.23	0.000	0.431 0.60	2 28	ITA	0.544	0.043	12.67	0.000	0.457 0.6	532
5	CAN	0.448	0.048	9.35	0.000	0.350	0.545	17	NZL	0.522	0.046	11.37	0.000	0.429 0.61	5 29	LVA	0.554	0.045	12.31	0.000	0.463 0.6	646
6	USA	0.450	0.046	9.8	0.000	0.357	0.544	18	POL	0.523	0.047	11.22	0.000	0.428 0.61	7 30	CHE	0.561	0.046	12.3	0.000	0.468 0.6	54
7	GBR	0.469	0.047	10.07	0.000	0.375	0.536	19	SWE	0.523	0.047	11.05	0.000	0.427 0.61	9 31	SVK	0.565	0.044	12.82	0.000	0.475 0.6	54
8	DNK	0.492	0.047	10.41	0.000	0.396	0.588	20	CHL	0.524	0.040	13.13	0.000	0.443 0.62	4 32	DEU	0.572	0.047	12.25	0.000	0.477 0.6	666
9	IRL	0.492	0.046	10.64	0.000	0.398	0.586	21	FIN	0.525	0.048	10.95	0.000	0.427 0.62	2 33	SVN	0.574	0.046	12.55	0.000	0.481 0.6	67
10	FRA	0.496	0.045	10.94	0.000	0.404	0.564	22	TUR	0.526	0.041	12.95	0.000	0.443 0.60	8 34	ISL	0.584	0.046	12.6	0.000	0.490 0.6	578
11	MEX	0.499	0.037	13.32	0.000	0.423	0.588	23	LTU	0.530	0.045	11.84	0.000	0.439 0.62	0 35	CZE	0.620	0.045	13.92	0.000	0.529 0.7	'10
12	AUS	0.501	0.046	10.9	0.000	0.407	0.594	24	LUX	0.530	0.044	12.12	0.000	0.441 0.59	2 36	NOR	0.634	0.047	13.37	0.000	0.538 0.7	'30

Source: OECD (2019b)

In the regression analysis examining the girls' ISEI ratio relative to the boys' average ratio of the country, a notable observation emerged regarding the high R-squared value of 0.944. This might be attributed to collinearity between the girls' ISEI ratio and the country-specific intercept, which captures unobserved, distinct factors of the country that could be influencing the overall ISEI ratio. In other words, the strong correlation between the girls' ISEI ratio and the country-specific intercept suggests that a substantial portion of the variance in the dependent variable is explained by the unique characteristics of each country. As a result, the interpretation of the R-squared should be approached cautiously, considering the potential impact of the country intercept on the girls' ISEI ratio.

Table 4.1 also illustrates the country-specific intercepts derived from the OLS regression using the model, in the order of low to high coefficients. The figures reveal that Japan's coefficient is the lowest at 0.331, significantly lower than the highest, which is Norway at 0.634. This finding suggests that, even after controlling for individual characteristics and parental factors, Japan still maintains the lowest proportion of average ISEI scores of girls compared to boys of the same country. High country-specific intercepts suggest potential factors, such as cultural norms that encourage females to pursue successful careers, the existence of supportive policies for women's employment, and the prevalence of female role models. Conversely, low country-specific intercepts may indicate the presence of entrenched gender stereotypes, lower levels of female educational attainment, and limited employment opportunities for women. Accordingly, the following section examines related factors in greater detail.
Gender Equality Landscape Factors

To investigate why Japan maintains the lowest proportion of girls' ISEI scores compared to boys', even after controlling for individual characteristics and parental factors within micro/meso systems, this section now explores the gender equality landscape within exo/macro systems. This examination focuses on aspects related to the labour market and cultural norms, given that, unlike males, females often contemplate their future careers in conjunction with their role in taking care of the family, as explained in Chapter 1.

From this perspective, and shown in Table 1.4 in Chapter 1, the following variables are selected as factors related to the gender equality landscape:

- f) Gender wage gap among all workers (including part-time employees)
- g) Share of female managers among all managers
- h) Amount of unpaid work time by men (measured in minutes per day)
- j) Women's opinions on whether being a housewife is fulfilling, using a scale from 'strongly agree' as -2 to 'strongly disagree' as 2.

Since country averages are used, there is only one value per country for each variable. f) and g) are common indicators utilised to assess the extent of women's economic empowerment in a country. However, while wage gap is typically measured among full-time employees, this indicator uses data for all workers. As explained in Chapter 1, a high proportion of Japanese women are in non-regular part-time jobs. Therefore, comparing the gender wage gap only among regular full-time employees fails to provide a comprehensive picture of gender inequality in Japan. On h), the limited time men spend on household chores and childcare – based on the norm of gender roles – is considered as a major bottleneck for women to advance their careers in Japan (Adachi 2018; MHLW n.d.a; Nemoto 2013; Ouchi 2012; Linkedin Japan 2020; Yamaguchi 2019a).

Data for j) are acquired from the ISSP 2012 dataset (ISSP 2014) and the 7th wave of the World Values Survey (Haerpfer *et al.* 2022). Utilising similar data, Knight & Brinton (2017) demonstrate that the extent of women's economic empowerment across 17 European countries is not easily explained by a straightforward shift from traditional to liberal egalitarian views. Nevertheless, data from a larger number of OECD countries related to the role of being a housewife may exhibit some correlation with the occupational expectations of girls.

In checking for collinearity of the four indicators, the lowest correlation was found between f) and g) at 0.22, whereas the highest was observed between g) and h) at 0.77. While the correlation of the latter is considered strong, it is important to note that these indicators capture different aspects of gender dynamics. Moreover, multicollinearity becomes a concern when correlations can significantly impact the reliability of the results, typically above 0.80. Nevertheless, when considering the potential interplay of these indicators and their distinct contributions to the overall analysis, careful interpretation of the results is needed.

With this understanding, the statistics for f) to j) are presented in Figures 4.1 to 4.4. These graphs illustrate that, for f), Hungary has the smallest wage gap, with women's average wage at 88% of that of men, while Japan has the largest gap, with women's average wage at only 47% of that of men. Regarding g), Latvia has the highest share of female managers at 44%, while Korea has the lowest share at 13%, followed by Japan at 15%. As for h), Danish men spend the most time on unpaid work, with an average of 186 minutes per day, while Japanese men spend the least, at 41 minutes.



Figure 4.1: Percentage of Earnings by Females Relative to Males, All Workers 25–64-year-old

Source: OECD.Stat. mostly 2018 data, except Japan's latest was for 2012.



Figure 4.2: Share of Female Managers

For j), the data show that Korean women exhibit the highest level of agreement in considering being a housewife as fulfilling compared to being a working woman, scoring -1.2. Japanese women closely follow with a score of -1.0. Conversely, New Zealander women express the lowest level of agreement, scoring 0.6. In this context, negative scores generally indicate more traditional views, while positive scores reflect more progressive views. These data indicate that on all five variables, Japan exhibits one of the most traditional stances in terms of women's economic empowerment, career development, as well as the division of roles within the household.

Source: OECD.Stat, 2018 data



Figure 4.3: Men's Unpaid Work Time (Minutes per Day)

Source: OECD.Stat, 2018 data.





Note: Smaller scores are more positive towards views on being a housewife. Source: ISSP 2014, Haerpfer *et al.* 2022, and author's calculations.

The examination now focuses on how each of the gender equality landscape factors relates to the country-specific intercepts in the regression model (1). These intercepts, represented by country dummies, reflect the average ISEI score ratio of girls against boys in the country, after controlling for individual characteristics and parental factors from the micro/meso systems. To do this, the country-specific intercepts from the model are plotted against each of the gender equality

landscape variables to illustrate the relationships. Figures 4.6 to 4.9 show a general trend of increasing country-specific intercepts as countries' gender equality landscape improves, i.e., smaller wage gap, higher proportion of female managers, longer unpaid work time by men, and less traditional view on being a housewife. Since Japan has the lowest or second lowest value of gender equality for all four variables, it is not surprising to see the country being placed in the lower left-hand in all the graphs.





Figure 4.6: Relationship between Country-Specific Intercepts (Dummy Coefficients) and Proportion of Female Managers



Source: OECD.Stat (n.d.), OECD (2019b)

Source: OECD.Stat (n.d.), OECD (2019b)

Figure 4.7: Relationship between Country-Specific Intercepts (Dummy Coefficients) and Men's Unpaid Work Time



Source: OECD.Stat (n.d.), OECD (2019b)

Figure 4.8: Relationship between Country-Specific Intercepts (Dummy Coefficients) and Views on Housewife



Source: OECD.Stat (n.d.), OECD (2019b), ISSP (2014), Haerpfer et al. (2022)

Country-Specific Effects

Model and Method

Next, sequential OLS regressions are performed to examine the relationships between the country-specific effects (referred to as the country-specific intercepts above that were obtained from the previous estimation (1)) and each of the four gender equality landscape factors individually. This sequential approach aims to assess the unique impact of each variable on the observed country-specific variations.

The model is as follows:

$$\alpha_k = c_j + \beta_j X_{jk} + e_{jk} \tag{2}$$

where:

- α_k is the dependent variable, representing the country-specific effect for country k, obtained from the estimation using equation (1).
- c_{*j*} is the constant term for variable *j*.
- B_j is the coefficient associated with each of the four gender equality variables *j* of: gender wage gap, share of female managers, unpaid work time spent by males, and views on being a housewife. These variables are introduced sequentially for the analyses.
- *X_{jk}* is the value of each gender equality variable *j* for country *k*.
- e_{jk} is the error term for each variable *j* for country *k*.

Following the individual analyses, a multiple regression is conducted, incorporating all four gender equality variables simultaneously. The objective is to analyse the relationship between the country-specific effect and the combined impact of the four gender equality variables when considered together.

The model is the following.

$$\alpha_k = c + \sum_{j=1}^4 \beta_j X_{jk} + e_k$$
(3)

where:

- α_k remains the dependent variable, representing the country-specific effect for country k.
- c is the constant term common across all countries, when all four gender equality variables are considered simultaneously.
- $\sum_{j=1}^{4} \beta_j$ denotes the combined effect of all four gender equality variables, representing their collective influence on the country-specific effect.
- X_{*ik*} represents the value of each gender equality variable for each country.
- e_k is the error term for the multiple regression in country k.

Results

The results presented in Table 4.2 demonstrate that these country-specific effects exhibit varying levels of significance. Specifically, the gender wage gap and views on being a housewife are significant at the 1% level, while men's unpaid work time is significant at the 5% level, and the share of managers at the 10% level when examined individually. Standardised coefficients reveal that the gender wage gap has the most pronounced effect.

However, when all four variables are examined simultaneously, issues of collinearity arise, and the significant variables are narrowed down to the wage gap and views on being a housewife. This implies that, when adjusting for the aforementioned individual characteristics and parental factors, the reduction in the gender wage gap within a country and less traditional views on being a housewife have the most substantial effect on elevating the occupational expectations of girls

compared to the average expectations of boys. To phrase it differently, it is plausible that the gender inequality situation in Japan, specifically the considerable gender wage gap, along with more positive views on being a housewife, play pivotal roles in diminishing the occupational expectations of girls.

Variables		Standardised Coefs	P> t	Countries	Adjusted R2	
	Wage	0.533	0.002	36	0.284	
لسطنية طبيمالي	Managers	0.396	0.090	36	0.157	
individually	Unpaid Time	0.461	0.044	35	0.213	
	Housewife	0.523	0.009	33	0.274	
	Wage	0.381	0.010		0.400	
Combined	Managers	0.154	0.315	22		
Combined	UnpaidWork	0.127	0.341	32	0.489	
	Housewife	0.285	0.050			

Table 4.2: Results of OLS with Country Specific Effects and Gender Equality Landscape Variables

Source: OECD (2019b), OECD.Stat, ISSP (2014), Haerpfer et al. (2022).

Multilevel Regression Analysis

Model and Method

Expanding upon the OLS model that examined the determinants of girls' ISEI compared to boys, a multilevel regression analysis is conducted to further explore the factors influencing the ISEI ratio of girls to the average ISEI of boys within each country. Through this multilevel regression analysis, the aim is to investigate the relationship between individual-level variables and the dependent variable, while also considering the contextual influence of country-level factors. This methodology enables the examination of how factors at both the individual and country levels contribute to variations in the dependent variable, offering insights into the complex interplay between individual characteristics and broader social contexts across different countries.

The independent variables considered in this analysis include individual-level factors such as the plan to attend university, reading scores, mother's ISEI, and father's ISEI, alongside the country-level factor of the gender wage gap. The variable for maths scores was intentionally excluded from the analysis due to its statistically insignificant impact. The decision to focus on the gender wage gap for the country-level factor stems from the statistical significance observed when including all four variables. Collinearity issues with the other three variables led to their exclusion.

The model is as follows:

$$ISEIRatio_{ki} = \gamma_0 + \sum_{j=1}^4 \beta_j X_{jki} + \gamma Z_k + u_k + e_{ki}$$
(4)

where:

- *ISEIRatio*_{ki} is the dependent variable for female individual *i*, as compared with the average of boys' ISEI score in country *k*. This represents the score of each girl's ISEI compared to the average ISEI score of boys within the same country.
- γ_0 represents the intercept or constant term, serving as a baseline value for the ISEI ratio when all predictor variables are set to zero.

- The term $\sum_{j=1}^{4} \beta_j X_{jki}$ captures the combined influence of the four individual-level variables (plan to attend university, reading scores, mother's ISEI, and father's ISEI), represented by X_{jki} , where *j* signifies each specific variable. This term explains the influence on the ISEI ratio for an individual *i* within country k.
- γZ_k represents the coefficient γ , associated with the country-level variable, denoted as Z, quantifying how changes in the gender wage gap influence the ISEI ratio of girls at the country level.
- u_k is the random effect for country k, capturing unobservable variations specific at the country level that are not accounted for by the explanatory variables.
- e_{ki} is the error term for individual *i* in country *k*, capturing unobserved or random variability not explained by the predictors.

Results

The results presented in Table 4.3 indicate that the expectation to attend university, reading scores, and father's ISEI are significant at the 1% level, while the mother's ISEI is significant at the 10% level. The gender wage gap is also found to be significant at the 10% level.

Model								
Observations	Countries	Minimum/ country	Maximum/ country	Wald chi2(5)				
86,059	36	1,085	12,150	107				
Individual-level Coefficients								
Variable	Coefficient	Standard Error	Z	P> z				
Expect University	0.1508	0.021	7.26	0.000				
Reading Score	0.0005	0.000	5.27	0.000				
Mother's ISEI	0.0003	0.000	1.82	0.069				
Father's ISEI	0.0006	0.000	3.08	0.002				
Gender Wage Gap	0.0049	0.0026	1.8900	0.0590				
Constant	0.1879	0.2150	0.8700	0.3820				
	Random-Ef	fects Paran	neters					
Levels	Variation	Standard Error	[95% Cor	f. Interval]				
Country-level	0.041	0.013	0.022	0.078				
Individual-level	0.089	0.010	0.072	0.111				
Residual Interclass Correlation								
Level	Level ICC Standard Error [95% Conf. Interval]							
Country-level	0.315	0.084	0.176	0.497				

Table 4.3 Results of Multilevel Regression Analyses

Source: OECD (2019b), OECD.Stat

Furthermore, the Intraclass Correlation Coefficient of 0.315⁷ implies that around 31.5% of the total variability in the dependent variable can be attributed to differences between countries⁸. This substantial percentage underscores the importance of country-level factors in shaping individual outcomes, revealing that the country to which the student belongs significantly contributes to variations in the ISEI ratio.

It is noteworthy that the significance of the gender wage gap is borderline, but this is acceptable given the exploratory nature of the study. Further investigation of this topic will be undertaken through a qualitative study involving interviews with female university students. The approach aims to probe deeper into female occupational expectations and the contributing factors, providing richer insights into the interplay between individual and societal influences.

Summary and Discussion

Japan is the only OECD country where the average ISEI score of girls' expected occupations is notably lower than that of boys, with the exception of Korea, where the difference is not significant. In this chapter, data for all countries were aggregated to conduct an OLS regression to examine whether the plan to go to university, higher maths and reading scores, as well as higher ISEI scores of parents' occupations contributed to the higher ISEI score of a girl's expected occupation compared to the boys of the same country. This analysis, including the examination with country-specific effects, aimed to uncover nuanced relationships between these factors. The findings indicated that the significance of each factor was maintained when controlling for the effect of other variables.

Upon comparing the country-specific effects, the results showed that, among 36 countries, girls in Japan still had the lowest average ISEI score ratio against that of boys from the same country. This indicated that other factors could be dampening the occupational expectations of Japanese girls, apart from the lower proportion of girls planning go to university and maths scores. To explore this, the gender equality landscape factors related to the labour market and gender norms were examined in this chapter. It was discovered that on all four indicators of the gender wage gap, the share of female managers, unpaid work time by men, and opinions on being a housewife, Japan was either the most or second most conservative country. Again, OLS regressions showed relationships between these indicators and ISEI score ratios, particularly the gender wage gap, and views on being a housewife.

These results suggest that, even after controlling for micro/meso factors, Japanese females experience discouragement in fostering high occupational expectations, influenced by factors such as a significant wage gap, a lack of role models, and societal expectations reinforcing household responsibilities. Notably, a multilevel analysis revealed that around 31.5% of the variations in the girls' occupational expectations relative to boys can be attributed to country-level factors such as the wage gap. The findings align with previous studies indicating the absence of female role models for girls in Japan and other countries, where societal expectations often steer them towards family responsibilities in adulthood (Maeda 2017; Nemoto 2008, 2013; Ouchi

⁷ Without the inclusion of specific variables, the Intraclass Correlation Coefficient was found to be 0.25, indicating that approximately 25% of the total variability in the dependent variable is attributed to differences among countries. The above increase to 31.5% underscores the substantial impact of the added variables in capturing and explaining additional sources of variability in the ISEI ratio.

⁸ n this multilevel regression analysis, no specific country among the 36 countries served as a reference. Consequently, the coefficients for the country-level variables are interpreted in relation to the overall mean or average effect across all countries. This approach provides a comprehensive understanding of how each country's characteristics contribute to the observed outcomes without privileging any single country as a reference point.

2012; Smirles *et al.* 2020). They also underscore a perpetuating cycle, termed an 'echo effect,' where current practices impact future generations (Adachi 2018; Zhou 2013).

In contrast, a virtuous cycle may be unfolding in other countries where the wage gap is small and role models of women actively pursuing careers are abundant. In such countries, girls are more likely to envision themselves pursuing challenging or prestigious occupations instead of becoming housewives. When examining gender equality indicators, many Former Socialist and Nordic countries exhibit favourable conditions. For instance, Hungary, Lithuania, Poland, Slovenia, and Latvia have smaller wage gaps, and Latvia, Iceland, and Poland have a higher proportion of female managers. Denmark, Sweden, Norway, and Slovenia show greater participation of men in unpaid work, and Norway, Denmark, Sweden, and the Czech Republic exhibit progressive attitudes regarding being a housewife.

As mentioned in Chapter 2, this study is limited to samples of students who indicated their expected occupations and were able to specify their parents' education and occupations. Therefore, there is a possibility that the sample is biased. However, the purpose of this chapter is to compare like-with-like students from Japan against those from other OECD countries, without claiming that they are representative of all 15-year-olds. Another limitation is that the sample size of 32 to 36 countries with comparable gender equality data may not be sufficient to confidently generalise the relationships with the ISEI score ratios.

Therefore, future research could increase the number of sample countries by including emerging economies that have reliable and relevant national-level data on gender equality. In addition, since the effects of peers and teachers from the micro/meso systems are not examined due to lack of appropriate data in the PISA survey, these elements could also be explored. Furthermore, a large-scale longitudinal study aimed at demonstrating the relationships between expected occupations and actual occupational achievements across many countries would be highly valuable. If significant correlations are identified, a compelling case can be made to encourage females to set high aspirations for their prospective careers.

In conclusion, Japan needs to recognise the significant underutilisation of half its population. As the maths test results show, Japanese girls score high among girls and boys of many OECD countries. Yet, this competence is not fully utilised in the economy. Japan should take more measures to reduce gender inequality in the labour market and household responsibilities so that young girls feel confident about pursuing challenging occupations in the future. In essence, it is crucial for the country to tap into more of its human capital, as seen in other countries that are better at harnessing the capabilities of women.

Chapter 5: Comparison between Japan and the UK: Universities and Labour Policies

Following quantitative international comparisons of factors affecting occupational expectations in Chapters 3 and 4, Chapter 6 aims to verify some of the findings by conducting a qualitative study comparing Japan with another country, the UK. It entails in-depth interviews of female university students studying in the two countries. By contrasting real-life voices and perspectives, the objective is to validate whether the aforementioned theories and differences in identified factors can account for the lower occupational expectations of Japanese females.

In this context, this chapter first explains the rationale for selecting the UK. It then provides background information on universities and labour issues of the country, highlighting differences with Japan. These descriptions are necessary to understand the contrasting situations faced by young females in the two countries.

Rationale for Comparing with the UK

The UK is chosen for comparison due to several reasons. Firstly, it is one of the G7 countries, just like Japan. This implies similarities in both being economic powerhouses, exerting global influence in trade, investment, environment, security, health, foreign policy, and so on. Moreover, G7 countries also frequently engage in comparisons and co-ordination on gender equality issues, which is relevant in the context of occupational expectations. For instance, with the G7 Dashboard on Gender Gaps, it is possible to examine the differences in the state of gender equality between the two countries, as shown in Table 5.1.

The second reason is due to some similarities between the UK and Japan regarding female labour, and some differences, particularly where the UK is more advanced. The similarities include gender differences in PISA maths scores and the share of women in part-time work. Where the UK is more advanced is in the share of women among STEM graduates, as well as gender differences in labour force participation rates, the wage gap, and unpaid work time. The only aspect where Japan is more favourable for women's employment is the lower childcare facility cost as a share of average wages.

	PISA maths score difference (boys vs girls)	Share of women among STEM graduates	Labour force participation rate (men minus women)	Share of women in all part- time workers	Gender wage gap (difference)	Gap in unpaid work time (women minus men)	Childcare facility cost as % of wage
Japan	532 vs 522	17%	87% vs 73% (12%)	73%	22%	2hr 41 min	11%
UK	508 vs 496	33%	82% vs 75%(7%)	75%	14%	1hr 48 min	27%

Table 5.1: Selected Indicators from the G7 Dashboard on Gender Gaps for Japan and the UK

Source: OECD 2023a, 2023b

Third, the UK is an Anglo-Saxon country characterised as a Liberal Welfare regime, according to Esping-Andersen's classification (1990, 1999). However, some scholars consider the country to be more on the traditional side of the regime grouping. While Esping-Andersen does not clearly

categorise Japan, he and other scholars observe that the country has the characteristics of both Liberal and Conservative welfare states (Buhr & Stoy 2015; Esping-Andersen 1997; Hong 2008).

Lastly, even though the UK is no longer a member of the European Union (EU), it has an extensive history of leading efforts in Europe to shape and promote gender issues. Therefore, its longstanding legacy as an influential player within the region continues, which also attracts students from neighbouring countries to study at its universities. Thus, this melting pot of cultures could provide valuable lessons learned from different perspectives when examining the various influences that shape the occupational expectations of female university students.

Thus, the UK could provide some lessons learned that might be relevant in elevating occupational expectations of young females in Japan. In other words, a comparative analysis between the UK and Japan could be meaningful due to their shared traits as well as the more advanced situation of the UK in women's labour issues. This comparison may be more effective than benchmarking against countries with much higher gender equality standards – i.e., those in the Social Democrat regime like the Scandinavian countries – as the labour market and welfare systems are too different from Japan. Alternatively, comparison with a country resembling Japan's low gender equality situation could also be limited in being a model.

Information on Universities and University Students

To that end, 48 female students enrolled in various universities in the UK and Japan were interviewed, as detailed in Chapter 6. The chapter specifically conducts a comparative analysis of the occupational expectations of these students and explores the factors influencing them. To contextualise the findings from these interviews, the following section provides background information concerning universities, with a summary in Table 5.2.

Country	# of universities	Annual tuition	% proceeding to university	Girl/Boy Ratio in Enrolment	Age to decide university major	Bachelor's Degree	Master's Degree	% receiving student loans
Japan	773	¥500,000 to ¥1.6 million	53% (girls) 60% (boys)	85%	17-18 years old	4 years	2 years	Around half
UK	160-170	£9,250 (¥1.7 million)	53% (girls) 40% (boys) (England)	127%	14-16 years old	3 years	1 year	More than 68%

Table 5.2 Comparison of University Education between Japan and the UK

Source: OECD, MEXT 2022a & 2022b, UK Department for Education 2022

In Japan, the university landscape comprises approximately 773 institutions (MEXT 2021b), with 95 (12%) being national, 61 (8%) regional public, and 617 (80%) private. Concerning tuition, national universities generally charge between \pm 500,000 and \pm 800,000, regional public universities between \pm 500,000 and \pm 900,000, and private universities between \pm 900,000 and \pm 1.6 million per year (MEXT 2022b, n.d.). According to the Japan Student Services Organization (JASSO), approximately half of the four-year university students in Japan resort to their scholarships and others' to finance education and living costs (JASSO 2022). While challenges in loan repayments are becoming a social issue (Armstrong *et al.* 2019; Ouchi 2015), none of the interviewees described in Chapter 6 expressed significant concern regarding this matter for the moment.

In the UK, around 150 universities exist (Higher Education Statistics Agency 2023). This suggests that Japan has approximately three times the number of universities per person under 25 years

old compared to the UK (author's calculation based on Office for National Statistics [ONS] 2023a). Most UK universities are publicly funded, although technically not government owned. The tuition of a bachelor's degree for British students is generally uniform at £9,250 a year (approximately ¥1.7 million) in 2023 (Department for Education 2023) and variable fees for international students, depending on the programme.

According to the latest government report, 94-96% of eligible students have been taking loans since 2015/2016 (Bolton 2023). Since repayments start when borrowers earn above £27,300 annually, and any remaining debt is forgiven after 30 years, concerns have risen regarding potential work disincentives and the fiscal burden posed by outstanding loans. However, Britton & Gruber (2020) find that the UK's loan system, including income-contingent loans, has not reduced labour supply, mitigating concerns about decreased loan payments and tax receipts.

At the same time, in recent years, tuition fees in the UK have substantially increased compared to the past, making them notably higher than the fees in most other European countries. This surge in tuition costs has been further amplified by the consequences of Brexit, resulting in EU students now having to pay fees on par with those charged to non-EU international students. Despite these increased costs, some of the European interviewees described in Chapter 6 have still chosen to study in the UK due to their prior attendance at international schools where English was the primary language and their desire to continue their English-language education.

Given this situation, one could infer that the European students interviewed predominantly originate from affluent households capable of readily meeting the elevated tuition expenses. Consequently, it may be conjectured that the sample exhibits an inclination towards individuals with higher economic standing in comparison to their counterparts in Japan. However, upon examining parental education levels and occupational backgrounds, it becomes apparent that this assumption may not necessarily hold true (refer to Chapter 6). Conversely, while 22% of undergraduates in the UK are international students, the top four nationalities are China, India, Nigeria, and USA (Universities UK 2022) — countries with large populations. As none of the interviewees in the UK represents these nationalities, it is important to acknowledge the potential bias towards European students in the sample.

In 2022, 53% of high school graduating girls and 60% of boys in Japan proceeded to attend fouryear universities (MEXT 2022a), reflecting increases from 44% of girls and 56% of boys in 2009. Similarly, in England, 54% of girls and 40% of boys proceeded to attend universities in 2022, demonstrating growth from 38% of girls and 30% of boys in 2009/10 (Department for Education 2022). However, when examining the gender ratio, fewer females compared to males were enrolled at a ratio of 83% in Japan, while in the UK, more females were enrolled, surpassing males at 132% in 2020 (Higher Education Statistics Agency 2023; MEXT 2021b).

Figure 5.1 illustrates the evolution of female enrolment in bachelor's degree programmes as a proportion of male enrolment between Japan and the UK. It shows that Japan's female enrolment of 27% relative to males in 1975 was akin to the UK's level in 1950. Although the proportion has consistently increased in Japan, it has yet to surpass the number of males. In contrast, more girls began enrolling than boys in the early 1990s in the UK (Vincent-Lancrin 2008), coinciding with a period of significant university education expansion. This suggests that the UK is at least three decades ahead of Japan in terms of female enrolment in universities. Notably, Japan stands out among a few OECD countries where fewer girls pursue bachelor's degrees compared to boys.

At the same time, comparing occupational expectations of university students between the two countries can raise issues because the UK encourages students to select their majors for university earlier than in Japan. In the UK, when students are 14 to 16 years old, they are required

to select three subjects to study if they plan to go to university. At the end of two years of studying these subjects, they take the A-levels exams, which become important in applying to university departments that are more specialised than those in Japan (Anders *et al.* 2018). For example, students apply to departments such as accounting, electrical engineering, biochemistry, zoology, art history, or economics, instead of broader departments in Japan such as general engineering, science, political science and economics, literature, and so on.



Figure 5.1 Evolution of Gender Ratios in Undergraduate Enrolment

Source: Higher Education Statistics Agency for UK's data from 1995 to 2020. They encompass all undergraduate full-time and part-time students, including both UK domestic and international students. For the period 1950 to 1990, data are from ONS, sited in Bolton (2012). They include full-time first degree students only. Japan's data for the years 1975 to 2020 is sourced from the Basic School Survey of MEXT.

Furthermore, except for Scotland, most bachelor's programmes in the UK are three years and master's programmes are typically one year (Artherton *et al.* 2023). Thus, students in the UK begin to focus on their chosen majors earlier and concentrate more intensively throughout their three-year undergraduate or one-year master's programme compared to students in Japan with a bachelor's degree. This has implications for occupational expectations, as students in the UK will need to consider potential occupations much earlier in their course of study than their Japanese counterparts.

With this understanding, Table 5.3 presents the top 10 occupations expected by high school girls in the UK and Japan from PISA 2018, specifically those planning to attend university. Due to space constraints, the remaining 150-plus occupations specified by British girls and 100-plus occupations specified by Japanese girls are abbreviated. Nevertheless, the top 10 occupations for the UK (n=2,503) reveal that the most popular occupation is to become a lawyer, accounting for 12% of the total sample. Additionally, six other occupations in the top 10, all with ISEI scores above 80, include a generalist medical practitioner, psychologist, biologist, designer, veterinarian, and dentist. Teachers (teaching professional and primary school teachers), both with ISEI score of 76, amount to 7%. The weighted average of the ISEI scores for these top 10 jobs is 82, surpassing the average ISEI score of 73 for British boys planning to go to university, although this information is not presented here.

For Japan (n=1,129), the most popular occupation is, again, an administrative assistant (ISEI 43). However, contrary to the top 10 expected occupations of all high school girls shown in Table 3.2 in Chapter 3, this list includes occupations like medical doctors and secondary school teachers, with ISEI scores in the 80s, as opposed to occupations such as hairdressers and shopkeepers, which have ISEI scores in the 30s. Furthermore, if teaching professional and secondary school teacher are combined, the percentage of those expecting to become a teacher increases to 8%, compared to 4% in the general sample. The rest are the same, with becoming a housewife ranking eighth, despite the fact that the sample consists of those intending to pursue university education, and most occupational classifications do not categorise it as a formal occupation. The weighted average of the ISEI scores for the top 10 jobs is 59, which is somewhat higher than 51 among all high school girls, but significantly lower than the counterpart girls in the UK.

	UK				Japan		
#	Occupation	ISEI	%	#	Occupation	ISEI	%
1	Lawyer	87	12%	1	General office clerk	43	10%
2	Medical doctor	89	9%	2	Nursing professional	69	9%
3	Psychologist	86	7%	3	Office supervisor	62	8%
4	Teaching professional	76	5%	4	Teaching professional	76	6%
5	Biologist	80	4%	5	Childcare worker	25	6%
6	Nursing professional	69	3%	6	Pharmacist	81	4%
7	Dentist	69	3%	7	Medical doctor	89	3%
8	Veterinarian	84	2%	8	Housewife	17	3%
9	Product and garment designer	80	2%	9	Nutritionist	65	2%
10	Primary school teacher	76	2%	10	Secondary school teacher	82	2%
	Weighted average	82	48%		Weighted average	59	54%

Tabel 5.3: Top 10 expected occupations of high school girls who plan to go to university

Source: OECD (2019b)

The different approaches to specialisation in universities between the UK and Japan reflect the specific demands of their respective labour market that students are expected to prepare for. Despite these distinctions, some of the UK policy initiatives to address gender equality could provide valuable insights and strategies to foster higher occupational expectations among young Japanese females. While these initiatives range from career guidance, promotion of role models, addressing bias and stereotypes, mentorship and networking, flexible work, to gender pay gap reporting, this research focuses on one area in this Chapter – flexible work – drawn from findings from the interviews explained in Chapter 6.

Labour Market Characteristics

A major component of this chapter is a comparative analysis of WLB systems in Japan and the UK. This stems from a key concern voiced by interviewees in Japan, as discussed in Chapter 6, highlighting the challenge of advancing their careers while caring for children. Therefore, it is crucial to explore how women manage their careers during this life stage, as young females often shape their future aspirations based on the experiences of others in similar situations. The focus of the examination should particularly emphasise the capacity to sustain WLB well beyond the conventional one or two years of maternity or parental leave (Matsui 2019; Nishimura 2014).

Furthermore, understanding the structure of the labour market in Japan and the UK is essential for a meaningful comparison of their WLB policies, as the characteristics of each country's employment landscape can significantly influence policy effectiveness. Examining the gender distribution in various occupations is particularly crucial, revealing disparities that could result in different impacts

of WLB policies on individuals based on gender. This understanding enables a more targeted approach in designing policies to enhance WLB in the respective countries.

Gender Distribution of Occupational Categories

In this context, Figure 5.2 illustrates the occupational composition of workers in the UK, specifically England and Wales, disaggregated by gender proportions based on the UK Census 2021. The figure highlights a significant presence of females in caring, leisure, and other service occupations (such as care givers, hairdressers, and housekeepers), constituting 81% (ONS 2023b). Following closely are administrative and secretarial occupations (including government administrators, office managers, and secretaries), where females make up 77%. Additionally, females also represent a substantial proportion in sales and customer service occupations (like sales assistants and cashiers), accounting for 62%.

Conversely, males dominate in skilled trades (such as farmers, vehicle mechanics, and construction workers) and process occupations (including machine operators and vehicle drivers), accounting for 89% and 87%, respectively, followed by management occupations (such as corporate managers and elected officials) at 64%. Occupations that demonstrate a relatively balanced gender distribution include professional occupations (such as researchers, doctors, nurses, lawyers, and architects), associate professional and technical occupations (including IT technicians, paramedics, and community workers), and elementary occupations (such as farm labourers, cleaners, and factory workers).



Figure 5.2 Gender Distribution of Workers in Occupational Categories in the UK

Source: UK Census 2021 (ONS 2023b

In the case of Japan, Figure 5.3 illustrates the occupational composition of workers, broken down by gender proportions based on the Labour Force Survey 2023. The graph highlights a substantial representation of females in service occupations (such as housekeepers, elderly care workers, associate nurses, hairdressers, cooks, and building janitors), comprising 68% (MIC 2009). Following closely are clerical workers (including human resource workers, administrative assistants, receptionists, sales agents, and data entry workers) at 60%.

Conversely, males are prevalent in security, transport, machinery, and construction occupations, constituting 96%. This is followed by administrative and managerial workers (such as politicians, organisational heads, and managers) at 87%, manufacturing process workers (for metal, chemical, food, electric, textile, clothing products, etc.) at 70%, and agricultural, forestry, and fishery workers at 66%. Occupations that demonstrate a relatively balanced gender distribution include professional and engineering workers (including researchers, engineers, engineering technicians, medical doctors, nurses, nurse associates, legal workers, teachers, and artists), sales workers (including shop owners, sales workers, real estate agents, financial agents, and telecommunication marketing agents), and elementary occupations (such as deliverers and cleaners).



Figure 5.3 Gender distribution of Workers in Occupational Categories in Japan

Source: Labour Force Survey 2023 (MIC 2023a)

Comparing the UK and Japan reveals both similarities and differences in occupational patterns. While classifications are not identical, both countries exhibit a substantial female presence in service-related occupations, with 81% in the UK and 68% in Japan. Administrative and clerical roles also share commonality, with 77% female representation in the UK and 60% in Japan. Moreover, both nations display a significant male dominance in comparable occupational categories, such as skilled trades and machinery-related occupations, constituting 89% and 87%, respectively, in the UK, and security, transport, machinery, and construction occupations at 96% in Japan. Additionally, a noticeable gender disparity in management and administrative roles is evident in both countries, with males representing 64% in the UK and a more pronounced 87% in Japan.

An issue arises in the occupational classification of Japan, particularly in combining the occupations of professionals and associate professionals (Nishizawa 2018). In the UK, these categories are distinct, with professional occupations typically having higher ISEI scores than associate professionals. However, in Japan, the amalgamation of these categories potentially obscures a nuanced gender distribution. While both professional occupations and associate professionals in the UK exhibit gender balance, the combined category in Japan conceals variations. Based on the analysis of the SSM 2005 data, Yamaguchi (2019b) disaggregates professional occupations into Type 1 and 2. Type 1 includes occupations with high SES, such as college professors, medical doctors, dentists, and so on, while Type 2 encompasses the rest, with lower SES, including most other human service professions. As a result, calculations indicate that the gender ratio for Type 1 is 74% males to 26% females, while for Type 2, it is 8% males to 92% females.

Addressing this gendered occupational segregation in Japan is crucial for the discussion on occupational expectations. The observable gender balance in the UK in occupations with high ISEI scores could serve as inspiration for educated young females aspiring to similar roles. Notably, beyond the gender-balanced distribution of professional occupations, the female share of managers in the UK is 42% among 25-34-year-olds, surpassing the overall figure of 36%, offering greater hope for young women. Conversely, alongside the limited representation of females in high-SES professional occupations discussed above, the share of female managers among 25-34-year-olds in Japan is 25%. While this surpasses the 13% across all age groups, it still remains notably lower than Japanese males and the corresponding figure in the UK. Consequently, the scarcity of female role models in demanding professions in Japan may erode the occupational expectations of university-educated young Japanese women.

Non-Standard Work in the UK

This section conducts a comparative analysis of WLB policies in Japan and the UK, with attention to flexible work. The focus arises from the disparities between the interviewees from the two countries regarding their concerns about WLB in their future careers, potentially influencing their occupational expectations. To contextualise this analysis, it is essential to first offer a brief overview of the UK labour market, concerning standard and nonstandard workers. Grasping these characteristics is crucial for understanding the differences in the implications of flexible work between the two countries. Therefore, the following description outlines the contemporary situation of the UK labour market, as it pertains to this study. For additional information, Box 5.1 provides a historical context regarding the state of nonstandard work approximately two decades ago in the early 2000s.

To understand the personnel management landscape in the UK, the depiction by Sano (2018) can be useful. He explains that the workforce in the UK is generally divided into three primary groups: 1) the core group, comprising regular full-time employees responsible for pivotal tasks and high-level discretionary responsibilities crucial to the company; 2) the peripheral group, encompassing quasi-regular full-time employees, fixed-term employees, or part-time workers engaged in non-company-specific skills and routine duties with limited discretion; and 3) the external group, consisting of subcontracted and dispatched workers.

Within these workforce categories, the core group demands 'functional flexibility', implying that companies can swiftly and seamlessly reassign these employees among various activities and roles in the short or medium term. In contrast, the peripheral and external groups require 'numerical flexibility', allowing companies to respond promptly, affordably, and effortlessly to short-term fluctuations in labour demand by hiring and laying off workers or transitioning them to fixed-term contracts. The availability of 'numerical flexibility' contributes to job security for the core group, who are expected to demonstrate a high level of commitment to the company, facilitating their long-term development and utilisation of company-specific skills. Consequently, job security and promotion prospects appear to differ significantly between the core and peripheral groups, akin to the labour market model in Japan, described in Chapter 1.

However, Sano points out that there is limited evidence supporting this as a typical model in the UK. One primary reason is the absence of comprehensive organisational strategies of this nature, coupled with the lack of robust human resources departments to enforce personnel planning based on cost comparisons among different employment forms. Instead, decentralised decision-making prevails, responding to optimal business needs on a case-by-case basis.

Furthermore, a significant difference between the UK and Japan is found in the composition of nonstandard employment groups. In the UK, these groups are not homogeneously comprised of unskilled, low-wage, and unstable workers; instead, they encompass various positions and labour typologies, ranging from unskilled fixed-term employees to highly skilled professionals. Sano acknowledges that in female-dominated occupations such as secretaries, salespersons, cleaners, and nurses, many women in the UK are offered nonstandard contracts to accommodate family

responsibilities. However, he also notes that many women in these occupations also have full-time standard contracts; and moreover, the fundamental principle of equal pay for equal work is consistently applied. In essence, fixed term and permanent standard contract employees generally receive identical wage rates, bonuses, and social security benefits⁹.

Box 5.1 Nonstandard Work in the UK in the Early 2000s

Fagan & Ward (2003) explain that nonstandard employment in the UK had been a longstanding practice, but it gained increased prominence in the early 2000s. This shift was linked to the country's transition towards a "liberal" welfare regime, as categorised by Esping-Andersen (1990). As a result, labour market regulations were relaxed, reducing employment rights and weakening the influence of trade unions. Simultaneously, labour market institutions aligned more closely with liberal economic principles. The rise of nonstandard employment was primarily driven by employers seeking greater workforce flexibility, with the aim of reducing labour costs to stay competitive globally and address uncertainties in product markets.

Nonstandard employment, predominantly found in a limited range of low-status, low-paid service positions, encompassed several distinct forms. Part-time work, typically involving fewer than 30 hours of work per week, was commonly undertaken by women with family responsibilities. These roles were particularly prevalent in service sectors like hotels, catering, and retail, where formal human capital entry requirements were minimal or non-existent. For employers, this represented a cost-effective solution, resulting in lower hourly wages, fewer fringe benefits, and reduced social security costs (Matsui 2016). Furthermore, part-time work enabled businesses to extend their operating hours, manage workload fluctuations, and enhance their recruitment and staff retention capabilities. Temporary employment featured a variety of arrangements, including fixed-term contracts and temporary agency work. The prevalence of temporary contracts increased within the UK, with workers often transitioning from temporary employment to longer-term commitments. Temporary agency workers played a pivotal role in this context, being engaged on an 'as-needed' basis.

Nonstandard work had a lasting impact on the UK labour market. Female employment in the UK saw growth, often through part-time work, as it allowed mothers to balance work with family responsibilities. They also became significant routes into employment, with the majority of new job entries in the late 1990s involving part-time or fixed-term contracts. For example, in 1997, 40% of women were in part-time employment compared to 14% of men, and 70% of new job entries were through fixed-term contracts.

Meanwhile, the EU was playing a substantial role in shaping labour market regulations by introducing directives to regulate nonstandard employment. For example, the Working Time Directive of 1993 established limits on weekly working hours, capping them at 48 hours. Similarly, the 1997 Equal Treatment for Part-Time Workers Directive and the 1999 Fixed-Term Work Directive aimed to ensure equal benefits and treatment for part-time and fixed-term workers. The prevalence of these forms of employment differed within the EU based on the regulatory environment, with the UK offering fewer employment protections compared to some EU counterparts.

In addition, part-time employment is not inherently considered peripheral labour -- it can be utilised until employer confidence grows, potentially leading to the conversion of part-time employees into more permanent roles (Fagan & Ward 2003). Additionally, Sano finds that, as the required skill or expertise level of a post increases, the tendency of using part-time contracts rises. Thus, the distinction in job roles between standard full-time employment and nonstandard employment within organisations is less rigid, allowing individuals, particularly women, the flexibility to switch between different contractual types to balance work and family life.

On the other hand, the OECD's economic survey of the UK (2022b) points out that, despite women's high education levels in the UK, their skills go underutilised in the labour market, leading to

⁹ Except when earnings were lower than £61 per week in 1996-7 (HM Revenue & Customs 2014), which is equivalent to around ¥1.34 million per year in current rates.

diminished productivity and growth. Roughly one-third of women work part-time, a proportion approximately three times higher than that of men, primarily due to their caregiving responsibilities. Notably, mothers undergo a substantial and long-lasting reduction in working hours following the birth of their first child. Even a decade after resuming work, their wage levels do not rebound. The report also highlights that more than half of mothers report altering their employment situations for childcare reasons, a contrast to about a quarter of fathers. The OECD attributes this phenomenon to ingrained gender norms, limited parental leave entitlements, and the scarcity of affordable, high-quality childcare, collectively penalising motherhood.

Thus, both Japan and the UK share similarities in that a significant number of women engage in parttime work to balance their jobs and childcare responsibilities. However, Japanese women face major challenges compared to those in the UK. In Japan, once women leave their full-time regular positions, obtaining another one and advancing in their careers becomes challenging. The UK presents a somewhat different scenario, as working part-time often results in a pro-rata reduction in salary and benefits, but they may still retain the possibility of career progression. These differences can be crucial factors influencing the occupational expectations of young women in both countries.

Overview of Work-Life Balance Policies

Chapter 1 explained that working women in Japan who seek WLB often find themselves in nonregular positions, which are low paid with minimal career prospects. On the other hand, those in regular positions aspiring to build their careers often work long hours, which can pose challenges to achieving WLB. Therefore, the key question is how women in regular positions are maintaining WLB by leveraging the flexible work systems introduced by the government in recent years.

In this context, within the UK, the government's first major policy document on WLB has reported that 92% of mothers on maternity leave considered flexible work to be either essential or important in facilitating their return to work (Department of Trade and Industry 2003). This statistic highlights the significance of flexibility in work arrangements for mothers, underscoring the relevance of comparing these systems between Japan and the UK.

Furthermore, while the precise impact of flexible work on young women's occupational choices remains uncertain, it is presumed to exert some influence, particularly for Japanese females. For instance, although not directly related to specific occupations, a survey conducted by Yokota (2016) indicates that the prospects of having flexible work arrangements or the option to avoid significant overtime hours play a pivotal role in shaping the aspiration of female students at a national university to pursue management roles in the future.

In contrast with the interviewees in Japan, those in the UK did not express excessive unease regarding WLB. Instead, they demonstrated more apprehension regarding their promotional prospects. For interviewees in Japan, promotion was a secondary consideration vis-à-vis their primary concern of being able to continue their careers. This corroborates the findings by Yokoyama (2020), which suggest that women who consider household chores and childcare to be a burden often choose to forgo regular full-time employment before even contemplating on prospects such as promotions.

Therefore, a comparison of flexible work systems could provide insights into the realisation of WLB by female workers with children in Japan and the UK. Specifically, it is crucial to look beyond policy frameworks and delve into the actual use of entitlements. This examination is crucial because, in Japan, deficiencies often stem not from the policies themselves but rather from the application of labour standards and benefits (Ikemoto 2003; Nagase 2017).

Flexible Work Policies

Japan

The challenge of WLB for parents continues long after the maternity or parental leave period, spanning several years. In other words, achieving success in one's chosen occupation hinges on the ability to effectively balance work and family well beyond the infancy years, covering the entirety of a child's elementary school education and potentially further. With this understanding, Japan has enacted and amended several laws aimed at empowering parents to adapt their work hours to accommodate the care of their children.

In this research, the nonstandard working style under consideration is collectively referred to as 'flexible work,' encompassing reduced work hours, staggered work hours, and flexible scheduling hereafter referred to as 'flexi time.' The study by Nagase (2017) establishes the effectiveness of reduced-work hour systems in facilitating women's continued employment after childbirth. Specifically, it shows that the utilisation of reduced work hours among married women in regular employment with a child under three years old increased from 38%-58% in 2009 to 45%-65% in 2015, depending on the type of employer. This increase is attributed in large part to the new policy implemented in 2012, which grants the entitlement of reduced hours to all regular employees, irrespective of organisational size.

In this context, Table 5.4 lists the chronology of key laws and reforms relevant to flexible work. The initial law was enacted in 1988¹⁰ as part of the reform of the Labour Standards Act. However, its primary purpose was to provide employers with the means to distribute working hours more evenly throughout a month, rather than granting employees the choice of their work hours. It was not until 1992, with the introduction of the first Child-Care Leave law, that employees with children under one year old –both mothers and fathers – were allowed to take parental leave or adopt flexible work arrangements, such as reduced-hours. Nevertheless, eligibility for these provisions remained restricted to employees with indefinite contracts.

In 2002, the entitlement was expanded to include employees with children under three years old or those providing elderly care. Since the law had only been applied when the employee made a request, the subsequent 2010 reform required employers with over 100 employees to establish a system for flexible work, irrespective of employee requests. Furthermore, in 2012, this requirement was extended to include all employers regardless of the number of employees.

On reduced work hours for parents, the current law mandates employers to offer female and male employees who have a child under 3 years old an option to shorten the working hours to, in principle, 6 hours per day. However, several major corporations extend this benefit until the end of elementary school (HR Vision Co. n.d.; MHLW 2022c). When an employee work reduced-hours, salary and social security contributions are deducted accordingly.

To be eligible for this provision, employees must have been with the organisation for at least one year and have not worked fewer than two days a week (MHLW n.d.f). Adjustments can be made to accommodate individual circumstances, such as reducing the number of working days per week. Additionally, if an employee raising a preschool-age child or caring for an elderly family member requests an exemption from overtime, the employer is obligated to allow them not to work beyond the specified hours. Furthermore, employers unable to accommodate reduced work hours for employees – often due to challenges related to maintaining productivity, service delivery, or finding suitable replacements – are obligated to offer flexible work hour options instead.

¹⁰ All years regarding policies indicate the years in which the laws were enforced.

Table 5.4 Chronology of Laws related to Reduced hours and Flexible Work in Japan

#	Year	Content
1	1992	Child-Care Leave Law mandated employers with more than 30 employees to allow parents with children under one year old to take leave or to work with reduced hours, when requested. Only employees with indefinite contracts and who have worked for the employer for more than a year were eligible.
2	1995	Child-Care and Family Care Leave Law The eligibility applied to all employees, regardless of the size of the employer . Coverage was also expanded to employees with elderly care. The law was thus renamed accordingly.
3	2002	The coverage for flexible work was extended to children under three years old. However, employers selected and offered either reduced work hours, flexi time, or staggered hours to employees. Employers were prohibited to require parents with pre-school children to work overtime of more than 24 hours per month or 150 hours per year.
4	2005	Fixed-term employees became eligible to take family care leave. Coverage of parental leave was extended to the child's age of one year and six months, for exceptional cases.
5	2007	Work Life Balance Charter issued (see Appendix 5).
6	2010	Employers with over 100 employees were required to establish a system to provide reduced work or flexi time regardless of the request from employees. They were also mandated to exempt employees with children under 3 years old from overtime work when requested. Parents with pre-school children became entitled to extra leave for 5 days per year for health reasons if they had one child, and 10 days per year if they had two or more children.
7	2012	Employers with less than 100 employees were required to establish the same system. Reduced hours were also defined as, in principle, 6 hours of work per day.
8	2016	Act on Promotion of Women's Participation and Advancement in the Workplace Employers with more than 301 employees were required to establish and report to the MHLW an action plan on enabling employees to maintain WLB and adjust working style.
9	2017	Parents became eligible to take leave for their children's health related reasons in half-day units. Extension of parental leave became possible up to two years.
10	2019	Work Style Reform extended eligibility for flexible work to all employees, irrespective of their family caregiving status. However, this eligibility requirement must be clearly outlined in the employer's rules and the employee contract. The duration for averaging the total work hours was extended from one month to three months. Additionally, it established a legal maximum monthly overtime limit of 45 hours and an annual limit of 360 hours.
11	2022	Parents became eligible to take leave for their children's health related reasons in hourly units. Large companies are required to encourage childcare leave to their employees, particularly expectant fathers, and publicise the uptake of childcare leave statistics.

Source: MHLW (n.d.d n.d.e), Amano (2009), Nakagawa (2016), Nagase (2021), Uenishi (2022)

Employees are also entitled to leave days in order to care for their sick preschool-age children, which can also be used for regular medical appointments. They are allowed five days for one child or ten days for two children or more per year. Since 2021, leave can be taken in units of hours instead of days. With this revision, all workers with childcare or family care responsibilities can now take leave for the desired number of hours, including those who work less than four hours a day.

Moreover, since 2019, the Work Style Reform has made the flexible work hour system available to all workers with regular contracts. The MHLW is promoting the use of this system to enable diverse ways of working that could meet the needs of different lifestyles and life stages, such as to take care of family matters, engage in skills development training, avoid rush-hour commutes, secure time for pursuing hobbies, and so on (MHLW 2020, 2021a).

However, this requires employers to establish employment rules that specify items such as: standard daily work hours; the total work hours to be distributed evenly within a month; the employee's right to determine start and end times within the core work hours; and similar provisions. Furthermore, the framework for flexible work needs to be included in the employment contract. Under this law, total work hours can be smoothed out over a maximum period of three months, allowing parents, for instance, to work longer hours during school weeks and shorter hours during school holidays. If the adjustment period extends beyond one month, employers are obligated to notify the Labour Standards Inspection Office to ensure proper management of work hours. Meanwhile, this reform has a limited impact on lower-skilled part-time workers who already maintain relatively flexible work schedules in exchange for lower wages and minimal social security coverage (Matsui 2016). Consequently, the government has decided to offer subsidies to employers who convert part-time workers into regular employees with reduced work hours (MHLW n.d.f).

UK

The first law granting flexible work in the UK was established in 1996, primarily aimed at parents with children up to six years old. In 2002, it became a statutory right for eligible employees and a legal requirement for employers to respond to such requests. Subsequently, in 2003, the government released a policy document that outlined a strategy to promote WLB for workers, by articulating the social, business, and economic rationale for flexible work (Department of Trade and Industry 2003).

It states that, while the family model in the 1950s featured the father as the breadwinner and the mother as homemaker, the landscape has transformed; the majority of families have both parents working or/are headed by single parents, with most women participating in the workforce. However, despite these changes, women still shoulder the burden of caregiving responsibilities, which affect their earnings. Balancing work and caregiving is stressful for parents, while businesses have to prioritise the retention of employees with caregiving responsibilities. Consequently, policies are deemed necessary to provide better support for families, which could benefit children's well-being, promote gender equality, and enhance workforce productivity.

In implementing the WLB strategy, the right to work flexibly was extended to employees who took care of family members in 2006, including the elderly and disabled adults. In 2014, this right was further extended to all employees, regardless of their parental or caregiver status. However, employees must have worked continuously for at least 26 weeks with the employer (GOV.UK n.d., The National Archives n.d.a). The chronology of relevant policy changes is listed in Table 5.5.

Flexible work can take various forms (GOV.UK n.d.), including:

- Job sharing: Two people do one job and split the hours.
- **Working from home:** Some or all of the work can be done from home or anywhere else other than the normal place of work.
- **Part time:** Working fewer than full-time hours or fewer days.
- **Compressed hours:** Working more than full-time hours but over fewer days.
- Flexi time: Allowing employees to choose when to start and end.
- **Annualised hours:** Requiring employees to work a certain number of hours over the year, with some flexibility about when they work. There are sometimes 'core hours' which the employee regularly works each week, and they work the rest of their hours flexibly or when there is extra demand at work.

• **Staggered hours** Having different start, finish and break times compared to other workers.

#	Year	Content
1	1996	Employment Rights Act provided parents with children up to 6 years old or children with disabilities up to 18 years old the right to request a change in their working hours. While employers were not legally obligated to grant the request, they were expected to give it due consideration and explore potential options for flexible work.
2	2002	Statutory Right : The 2002 Act made the right to request flexible work a statutory right for eligible employees, meaning that employers were legally obliged to consider and respond to such requests.
3	2003	Balancing Work and Family Life: Enhancing Choice and Support for Parents document issued by the Department of Trade and Industry
4	2006	Work and Families Act extended the right to request flexible work to carers of adults.
5	2009	Eligibility was extended to parents with children up to 17 years old.
6	2014	Children and Families Act further expanded the right to request flexible work to all employees with at least 26 weeks of continuous employment, removing the previous restriction based on parental or carer status.
7		Flexible Working Regulations provided a framework for requesting for and responding to flexible work, including time limits and grounds for refusal by employers.

Source: The National Archives, n.d.b, GOV.UK n.d. Wakisaka 2018

In sum, the evolution of flexible work in the UK showcases a progressive trajectory aimed at promoting WLB. Beginning with the 1996 Employment Rights Act, which granted parents of young children the right to request adjusted working hours, the legal landscape has undergone significant transformation. In particular, the landmark 2014 Children and Families Act has broadened the scope of eligibility to include all employees with continuous employment. From job sharing to staggered hours, the diverse array of flexible work options outlined in this section underscores the UK's commitment to fostering a more adaptable and accommodating work environment for its workforce.

Comparison of Policies between Japan and the UK

In terms of historical sequencing of laws for flexible work, the above showed that Japan established the first law in 1992, preceding that of the UK in 1996. However, the coverage in Japan was much more limited from the beginning. Initially, children had to be under one year old in Japan, while in the UK, parents with children up to six years old were eligible from the start, which was later extended up to 17 years old. Furthermore, while the scope was expanded to include elderly care earlier in Japan in 2002, preceding the UK in 2006, the latter allowed parents of disabled children up to 18 years old to work flexibly as well, which is not covered by Japan's Childcare Family Care Leave Act. Additionally, while the1996 law in the UK allowed parents to request a change in working hours, this was not explicitly included in the 1992 law in Japan. Table 5.6 compares the flexible work systems of the respective countries.

Country/	Japan		UK
Entitlement	Flexible work for carers	Flexible work for all workers	
Law	Childcare and Family Care Act	Labour Standards Act	Employment Rights Act
Eligible employees	Employees with infants under three years old or the elderly to take care	All employees	All employees
Legal status	Applicable employees have a right	Employees have a right when the employer establishes rules and state it in employment contracts	Employees have a statutory right and employers have an obligation to respond to requests in a reasonable manner.
Employment requirement	Employee must have worked for the employer for at least one year	At the discretion of the employer	Employee must have worked for the employer for at least half a year
Scope of reduced work hours	Reduced work hours is, in principle, 6 hours.		No specific standard
Salary and social security for reduced work hours	For reduced-hour workers, salary a	nd social security contributio	ns are deducted pro rata.
Flexible work hour adjustment	Maximum three months		No legal maximum. Possible to adjust within a year through annualised hour contract.
Additional leave	Extra leave of five days per child per year to take care of children for health reasons. Leave can be taken in hourly units.		18 weeks of unpaid leave per child or adopted child until his/her 18 th birthday. Leave must be taken in weekly units.
Additional	Employee is exempt from overtime		
entitlement	if requested	į	

Table 5.6: Comparison of Flexible Work System between Japan and the UK

Source: GOV.UK n.d., MHLW n.d.d.

Concerning the expansion of flexible work eligibility to all employees regardless of parental status, the UK preceded Japan by extending it in 2014, while the latter followed suit in 2019. However, in Japan, employees have not been automatically entitled to flexible work; it depends on whether the employers include it in their employment rules and contracts. In contrast, the UK established a statutory right for employees, obligating employers to consider requests and allowing refusal only for legitimate reasons based on guidelines.

Furthermore, there are key differences in eligibility requirements between the two countries. While Japanese employees must have worked for the employer for at least one year to make a flexible work request when caring for children or the elderly, the requirement is only six months in the UK. Under the Work Style Reform in Japan, however, eligibility is at the discretion of the employer.

Looking ahead, the UK is poised to remove even the 6-month requirement, considering making flexible work the default from day one (Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy 2022). This marks a significant departure from the Japanese approach, where reduced or flexible work remains primarily an exception, especially for mothers with young children. Furthermore, flexible work is often perceived negatively by colleagues and management in Japan, seen more as an unwelcome inconvenience (Brinton 2022; Hattori 2015; Teramura 2015) than a clear benefit for the organization and society. While the promotion of WLB and continuous employment could lead to enhanced utilisation of human capital and higher long-term productivity (Brinton 2022; Ikemoto 2003; Yamaguchi 2017), the prevailing perception of flexible work in Japan sharply contrasts with its potential benefits.

Use of Policies

Japan

According to the 2021 Basic Survey of Gender Equality in Employment Management, 73% of employers claim to have a flexible work system for their employees (MHLW 2022b). While the law only requires employers to provide measures with children up to three years old, 56% of employers voluntarily extend the eligibility to include children up to their entry to elementary school, and 20% even up to the completion of primary school years. Furthermore, 40% of employers have a flexi work system allowing employees to adjust their start and finish times, and a further 18% for more flexibility.

On the other hand, in terms of actual usage, only 17% of employers have at least one employee who used the reduced work-hour system, of which 95% are females. Similarly for only 13% of employees had at least one employee use the staggered work hour system, of which 68% were females. These data indicate that employees, particularly males, rarely utilise these WLB measures, even when they are available to them.

The availability of different WLB measures differs significantly depending on whether one is a regular or non-regular employee. Table 5.7 presents the percentages of married women aged 29-38 years old (or whose husbands were in that age range) with children who had access to WLB measures, according to the 10th Longitudinal Survey of Adults in the 21st Century (2012 Cohort). It shows that, among regular employees, 95% had access to parental leave, but only 81% and 54% had access to reduced work hours and flexi time, respectively. Furthermore, for non-regular employees, these percentages were considerably lower at 45%, 40%, and 22%, respectively. Therefore, it is evident that twice as many regular employees had access to WLB measures compared to non-regular employees, with flexi time being the least available option for both types of employees (MHLW 2022d).

	Regular Workers	Non-Regular Workers
Parental Leave	95%	45%
Reduced Work Hours	81%	40%
Flex Time	54%	22%

Table 5.7: % of Married Women with Births Who Reported System Availability for Their Use

Source: Author's calculations based on the 10th Longitudinal Survey of Adults in the 21st Century (2012 Cohort) (MHLW 2022d)

Another source of statistical data is the government's Survey on Time Use and Leisure Activities, conducted every five years. Figure 5.4 illustrates a notable trend: the share of workers who reported the availability of flexi time at their workplace has constantly increased from approximately 5-6% in 2011 to 9-12% in 2021, depending on the gender (MIC 2011, 2016, 2021). Male employees consistently reported higher rates of availability than their female counterparts. This discrepancy may arise because flexi time is typically offered to regular employees, who are more commonly men, while a lower proportion of women are in regular employment. It is, however, important to note that various factors can influence respondents' answers. Some may not have been aware of the system's existence due to its limited usage or simply because they lacked interest in utilising it. Conversely, others might have indicated that the system was unavailable, even if it was *de facto* accessible, possibly due to a workplace atmosphere discouraging its use (Brinton *et al.* 2021; Teramura 2015).



Figure 5.4 Share of Full-Time Employees Who Responded that Flexi Time was Available at Work

Source: Surveys on Time Use and Leisure Activities (MIC 2011, 2016, 2021)

As the availability of WLB measures does not necessarily translate to actual usage, Figure 5.5 shows the percentage of full-time employees working under a flexi time arrangement from 2003 to 2022, based on the General Survey on Working Conditions (MHLW 2003-2022). While the data do not provide a gender breakdown, the picture reveals that, prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, the percentage fluctuated within the range of 6.9-8.9%. However, possibly due to the emergency measures implemented against the pandemic, the proportion consistently increased

Figure 5.5 Share of Full-Time Employees working under a Flexi Time Arrangement



Source: General Survey on Working Conditions : 2003-2022

from 7.8% in 2018 to 10.3% in 2022. If both employers and employees continue to recognise the benefits of flexi time arrangements even after the epidemic, there is potential for this rate to continue its upward trajectory.

UK

In the UK, the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development (CIPD), a prominent association for human resource management professionals, provides reports on the availability and utilisation of various WLB measures. According to the survey conducted in January and February 2023, as shown in Figure 5.6, approximately half of employees had access to both telework and

flexi time. While the high adoption of telework in the past 12 months is understandable due to the COVID-19 pandemic, it is noteworthy that over a third of employees were actively using the flexi time system. Moreover, only 11% of employees opted for reduced-hours, which is less popular as it entails income reductions.



Figure 5.6: Availability and Use of Flexible working in the UK

Source: Brinkley (2023)

The availability of various alternative flexible work arrangements in the UK allows employees to explore options beyond reduced-hours, unlike in Japan (Takeishi & Matsubara 2014). It is worth mentioning that the survey conducted in 2019 (CIPD 2019; Wheatley & Gifford 2019), prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, had already indicated similar, though slightly lower, figures. This demonstrates how flexible work was gaining traction in the UK even before the government's measures to combat the disease and the subsequent global shift in working practices. In fact, Box 5.2 describes the degree to which flexible work was already prevalent in the UK in 2000.

Meanwhile, to gain a more precise understanding, it is relevant to examine the share of employees with dependent children who have utilised alternative working arrangements. According to the 2019 UK census, approximately 61% of mothers and 63% of fathers stated that it was generally possible to have alternative working arrangements, such as flexi time, compressed hours, and on-call work (ONS 2019). Moreover, the 2021 census reveals that 32.6% of females with dependent children and 23.3% of males with dependent children reported that they had an agreed special working arrangement regarding their working hours (ONS 2022). Table 5.8 provides a breakdown of the various flexible work arrangements adopted by employees, both with and without dependent children.

First, it is notable that 27.9% of females and 21.7% of males without dependent children were working flexibly. While these percentages are lower than those for employees with dependent children, they are still significant. Second, in all categories except for four-and-a-half-day week and on-call working, females were generally utilising these measures more than males, or at least to a similar extent.

Box 5.2 Flexible Working in the UK in 2000

The UK government launched a WLB Campaign in the spring of 2000 to raise employers' awareness of the benefits of introducing practices that help employees achieve a better WLB. In this context, Hogarth *et al.* (2001) conducted a baseline study to assess the extent to which employers implemented WLB practices. This assessment was carried out through surveys involving 2,500 workplace employers and 7,500 employees, along with interviews of 250 employers at their head offices. The following are key findings, some of which are based on the 1999 Labour Force Survey:

Full-time vs. Part-time workers

- 44% of females and 8% of males were working part-time, but they were mostly students aged 16-17.
- About 53-55% of establishments allowed staff to move from part-time to full time and vice versa.

Employer Provision of Flexible Work

- Around 80% of establishments allowed reduced-hours and flexi time, respectively, for all employees (full or part-time, or managers) without restriction.
- 85% of head offices had written policies on flexi time.
- While 66% of employers did not have written policies for reduced hours and 47% for flexi time, they still offered flexible working arrangements.
- Among employees with more than 25% of staff working flexi time, about 23% of managers had discretion over who was eligible to use flexi time.

Employee use of flexible work

- About 25% of women and 23% of men were using flexi time arrangements.
- 21% of female managers and 30% of female professional workers were working part time.
- Among public service employees, 65% were working reduced-hours, 12% flexi time, and 7% part-time.

The data above reveals a striking contrast in labour market characteristics between the UK over 20 years ago and the current situation in Japan. In the UK, part-time employment was primarily occupied by students, whereas in contemporary Japan, a notable proportion of part-time workers consists of older females. Furthermore, in the UK, transitioning between full-time and part-time roles was relatively common, enabling adjustability. However, in Japan, returning to full-time employment, particularly for females, is exceptionally challenging unless it is for a non-regular position.

In the UK, a substantial share of establishments had already implemented written policies on flexi time, facilitating its use across all employee categories, encompassing full-time, part-time, and managerial positions. Even without formal policies, many employees in the UK embraced flexible work practices, with decision-making decentralised to the managerial level. In stark contrast, in Japan, flexible work arrangements are only accessible when there are established policies set by the employer.

Furthermore, in the UK, the adoption of flexible working arrangements is widespread, encompassing not only females but also males and even managerial staff. However, in Japan, flexible work is primarily undertaken by females with young children who typically opt for reduced hours rather than flexi time. Consequently, Japan has a considerable way to go if it aims to catch up with the WLB levels that the UK had achieved even two decades ago.

		Fema	le	Ма	ale
Arrangement	Definition	With Dependent Children	Without Dependent Children	With Dependent Children	Without Dependent Children
Flexitime	Varied start/end time but with core hours	14.8	13.5	12.1	11.3
Annualised hours contract	Work hours calculated within a year	6.4	6.0	5.4	5.6
Term time working	Work during school terms	8.6	5.2	1.7	1.1
Job sharing	Full-time job is divided by 2 or more people	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Nine-day fortnight	Work 10-day hours in 9 days and take 1 day off	0.7	0.6	<0.5	<0.5
Four-and-a-half-day week	Work 5-day hours in 4.5 days and take 0.5 day off	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.8
Zero hours contract	Paid for number of hours worked	1.1	1.5	1.1	1.4
On-Call Working	Paid for hours worked on short notice	2.0	1.7	3.4	2.4
Total		32.6	27.9	23.3	21.7

Table 5.8: Flexible working with and without dependent children

Source: ONS 2022

In terms of specific working arrangements, the flexi-time system is the most popular choice, with 11-15% of employees having varied start and end times, although these hours typically need to include core hours. Another arrangement, used by 5-6% of both female and male workers, pertains to an annualised hour contract in which the total number of work hours is fulfilled within a year. However, there is gender difference in the term-time working arrangement (employees work only during school terms): while 8.6% of females with dependent children have this arrangement, only 1.7% of males with children do. The rest of the measures are not widely adopted, but collectively enable 4-6% of employees to work flexibly and achieve a better WLB, regardless of whether they have dependent children or not. By adding up these percentages, it can be estimated that approximately 28-33% of women and 22-23% of men in the UK are using some form of flexible work system, regardless of whether they have children or not.

Comparison of Use between Japan and the UK

As shown above, both Japan and the UK are implementing flexible workplace policies to address WLB issues. In Japan, a significant number of employers provide reduced work hour systems and flexi time arrangements that allow employees to adjust their start and finish times. Similarly, in the UK, slightly less than half the employees report having access to flexible work systems, which encompass a variety of options beyond reduced hours and telework.

However, there are notable differences between Japan and the UK in terms of utilisation and gender dimensions. In Japan, the actual usage of reduced work hour systems and flexi time arrangements is relatively low, hovering around 10%. Furthermore, employers report that over 90% of users are women. In contrast, the UK demonstrates higher utilisation rates, with around a third of employees having used flexi time and teleworking even before the COVID pandemic. Importantly, in the UK, besides females, a significant proportion of males also take advantage of flexible work arrangements, indicating a more gender-equal distribution.

Disaggregating the usage according to parental status in the UK, data show that one out of every three mothers and one out of every four fathers with dependent children have special working arrangements. At the same time, it is evident that the utilisation of flexible work is also prevalent among employees who do not have dependent children. Furthermore, the UK offers a more comprehensive set of working arrangements, including annualised hours contracts, term-time working, job sharing, nine-day fortnights, and four-and-a-half-day week contracts. While these arrangements may be possible in Japan if the employer agrees, they are not as clearly defined as options as they are in the UK.

In sum, this comparison between Japan and the UK underscores the significant disparity in workplace flexibilities. The UK's extensive range of flexible work options may be enabling young females to envision career progression while effectively balancing their roles as parents, often sharing responsibilities with their partners. This optimistic outlook, in turn, can be fostering their expectations for a broader spectrum of challenging occupations. Conversely, the restricted possibilities for flexible work in Japan may be circumscribing the range of occupations that could align with achieving an optimal WLB for Japanese females.

Assessments on the Flexible Work System

Japan

In Japan, there is a notable difference in the number of studies on reduced work hours compared to flexi time. This imbalance can be attributed to the prevalence of reduced work hours in comparison to flexi time, as shown in Table 5.7. The underlying reason for this contrast lies in the relative ease with which employees – particularly mothers with young children – can transition to reduced work hours, presumably because it provides employees with a sense of diminished unease, while employers tend to be more accommodating due to the lower pay involved. In contrast, requesting flexible hours often presents a more complex challenge. The intricacies of managing irregular schedules can make both management and employees apprehensive. Employees may grapple with feelings of guilt when leaving the office early, or not adhering to standard workdays, coupled with concerns about how their colleagues perceive their commitment to work (Brinton *et al.* 2021).

Nonetheless, given that reduced work hours represent a form of flexible work and are crucial for enabling women to sustain their careers while taking care of young children, it is important to review studies that assess their effectiveness. For example, Nagase (2017) shows that, the use of reduced work hours (less than 30 hours a week) rose among the proportions of female regular employees with children under three years old. As the policy has been enforced across several types of employers in different years– the public sector since 2007, companies with more than 100 employees since 2010, and companies with less than 100 employees since 2012 – the rise generally took off after the respective year of enforcement. On average, the proportion of female regular employees with infants who were working with reduced hours increased from around 20-30% in 2002 to 50-60% in 2015. Subsequently, Hirakawa (2020) also finds that the reduced work hour system has an effect in raising the continuation rate of female regular employees after their first births in private and small companies. In addition, Fujima (2021) shows correlations between utilisation of the reduced work system and continuity of employment by mothers who have regular or irregular employment.

Regarding the occupational categories of females who use the reduced work-hour system, Sakazume (2017) finds that 84% were in routine jobs, while 16% held high-skilled positions, before they transitioned to reduced-hours. This distribution may reflect the lower representation of women in high-skilled roles compared to the larger number of women in administrative positions to begin with. However, while 60% of the managers consider their high-skilled

subordinates who work reduced-hours as assets to the organisation, this perception drops to 34% when it comes to managers whose subordinates with routine jobs are working reducedhours. This suggests that the reduced work hour system is retaining a greater number of women who are in routine roles, often viewed as more replaceable. However, it may also be keeping the fewer highly skilled women, valuable assets to the organisation, who might otherwise leave without the option of reduced work hours.

Meanwhile, Takeishi (2013) points out that the uptake of the reduced work hour system for childcare remains low and is also rarely offered except for family responsibilities. Since the standard of workplaces is for employees to do overtime and/or work on weekends, reduced work-hour employees are frequently considered as exceptional (Brinton *et al.* 2021; Yamaguchi 2017). Therefore, Takeishi raises several challenges – for example, meetings are often organised during the time when reduced-hour workers cannot participate or there are cases where they end up working normal hours, although they are entitled to be exempted from overtime.

Furthermore, performance reviews of reduced-work workers can be problematic if they are assessed not only in terms of quality of work but quantity of work. As a result, they could face a double negative impact of reduced wages and unfairly poor evaluations. In addition, some parts of the organisation may resist accepting transfers of reduced-hour workers. This could demotivate the workers which could lead to a spiral where they feel that the reduced-hours limit their opportunities and the return to full-time work becomes increasingly difficult.

Takeishi stresses the urgency of advancing the work style reform as well as improving the workplace environment. In order to minimise the number of women leaving their jobs due to childcare, there is a need to establish a work-friendly environment where reduced-hour workers are not treated as special. At the same time, she emphasises the importance of reduced-hour workers to have a vision for their future career and become involved in important work without being constrained by the idea that childcare is solely the mother's responsibility. She concludes that it is essential to refer to examples from Europe and consider the challenges and countermeasures associated with the use of short working hours by all regular employees.

A potential avenue for future research could investigate how flexible work arrangements, including reduced work hours, impact women in different occupations. Additionally, given the widespread adoption of teleworking during the COVID-19 pandemic, exploring its influence on corporate policies regarding flexible work and its effects on women's WLB would be valuable.

UK

In the UK, various studies have examined the advantages and disadvantages of flexible work. Rubery *et al.* (2016) observe that flexible work within existing full-time roles enable many mothers with children to maintain their career positions. The Centre for Progressive Policy (2021) also reports that flexible work among parents is widespread, with 85% of mothers having access to some form of flexibility, although it notes that only 46% say they have a 'good' level of flexibility. Similarly, Gatrell *et al.* (2014) find that both mothers and fathers with dependent children face challenges in accessing flexible work opportunities. Moreover, the Trades Union Congress (2021) claims that half of working mothers have had their flexible work requests rejected or only partially accepted by their employers and that 86% of these mothers say that they have been inconvenienced as a result.

The question of who has better access to flexible work yields mixed views. Rubery *et al.* note that flexible work options could be accessible to managerial and professional employees. On the other hand, Gatrell *et al.* find that managers often believe that their supervisory roles are not suitable for flexible work arrangements. Additionally, the above Centre reports a discrepancy in access to

good flexibility at work based on household income. While 59% of mothers with household incomes above £100,000 claim to have good flexibility, this figure drops to 39% for mothers with incomes ranging from £7,001 to £14,000. This disparity could be attributed, in part, to the nature of certain occupations that do not readily accommodate flexible work arrangements, potentially linked to required skill levels and thereby income levels.

Alternatively, Adams-Prassl *et al.* (2020) state that, while there is a concern over potential worker exploitation in flexible arrangements, firm demand for flexible work has been relatively unexplored in research, with older literature predominantly focusing on temporary employment and recent literature mainly centring on worker preferences for flexible jobs. Furthermore, they claim that data and measurement issues, including inconsistencies in questions about alternative work arrangements asked over time, have posed challenges for empirical research in this field.

To address these gaps, the authors analysed over 60 million online job vacancies in the UK using machine learning word search. Their findings reveal that flexible work is more likely to be found in low-paid and unfixed salaried jobs, especially in lower-skilled elementary and sales occupations. At the same time, it is essential to note that the study focuses solely on job advertisements rather than the actual realised work arrangements. Therefore, it may grossly underestimate the use of flexible work by higher skilled fixed salaried workers whose original job description did not state the possibility of flexible work.

Rubery *et al.* also criticise flexible employment policies, highlighting their role in the proliferation of low-paid and insecure part-time positions, including zero-hour contracts, agency workers, and pseudo self-employment, which often offer limited opportunities for career advancement. They emphasise that, while workers have a legal right to request flexible work, they lack a statutory right to request a return to full-time employment. This suggests that some employees encounter difficulties when seeking to transition back to full-time roles with corresponding pay. Additionally, these policies may have the unintended consequence of diminishing productivity by favouring a short-term, disposable labour model over a longer-term investment-oriented approach. Furthermore, the authors contend that the government's need to provide compensation in the form of tax breaks and welfare benefits to a growing population of low-income workers is eroding the fiscal base.

In sum, studies in the UK suggest that flexible work has enabled many mothers to maintain their career positions, although access is not always guaranteed, leading to workplace disadvantages for some working parents. While certain studies indicate that higher-income mothers have better access compared to their lower-income counterparts, others claim that flexible employment policies have contributed to the growth of low-paid and insecure part-time positions. Given the focus of the current study on the use of flexible work among women in high-skilled permanent positions, future research could further explore this category, with particular attention to selected high-SES occupations in the UK.

Comparative Studies on WLB between Japan and the UK

There are a few studies that examine WLB policies in the UK to contrast with Japan. One is by Takeishi & Matsubara (2014) who compare the flexible work system in the UK to extract lessons. They emphasise that in the UK, flexible work is offered in various forms and accessible to all employees. The authors observe the frequent usage of flexi time, staggered start and end times, as well as compressed or annualised work hours where employees could work longer hours on some days and take regular days off or align their schedule with school breaks. Teleworking has also been prevalent in the UK long before the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, they report that even as early as 2010, around 30% of females and 25% of males were using flexible work, including around 13% flexi time and 7-8% annualised hours for both males and females.

The study reveals that, instead of relying on a formal contract outlining specific arrangements, flexible work in the UK often involve informal agreements between managers and employees. In fact, these arrangements do not often entail reduced work hours and subsequent pay cuts, as the flexible work style allows employees to adapt their schedules without necessarily working fewer hours. Furthermore, the research does not uncover instances of employees being penalised for opting for flexible work, especially since the priority for employers lies on the quality of output, irrespective of working hours. Nonetheless, management and supervisors receive seminars aimed at educating and informing them about the benefits of implementing flexible work. This is considered necessary to retain competent employees, keep them motivated, and ultimately enhance productivity.

Concerning Japan, however, Takeishi & Matsubara criticise the limited progress in the effectiveness of reduced work policies and the minor reforms over the past 30 years. They suggest that Japan could benefit from the UK's approach of making flexible work the norm for all employees rather than the exception. While this shift requires a major cultural change, it is imperative for working parents to achieve a better WLB to maintain their careers. Additionally, an enhanced WLB is also crucial for employers as they could retain competent employees and benefit from their experience, leading to improved productivity, service quality, and profits. Specifically, the authors state that expanded flexible work arrangements could boost the retention rate of highly skilled mothers, which could create role models for young females who may aspire to pursue similar occupations in the future.

Another study by Wakisaka (2018), examines findings from the UK's Fourth WLB Employee Survey conducted in 2011 (Tipping *et al.* 2012). Some highlighted points indicate that a significant proportion of reduced work hours is unrelated to childcare. Additionally, between 79% and 91% of requests for flexible work are granted, and over 40% of employees believe that they could participate in job sharing. Teleworking is more common among males (33%) compared to females (27%). The survey data indicate that 60% of all employees in the sample had experienced some form of flexible work in the past year, with 32% utilising reduced work hours, 23% engaging in flexi time, 13% teleworking, and 10% participating in school term-time working and annualised hour contracts, respectively. These figures differ from those presented in the 2021 census in Table 6.7, possibly due to variations in survey methods and potential shifts in work patterns over the course of a decade.

In addition, Wakisaka also highlights the responses to the question regarding the consequences of colleagues' working flexibly. While 55% responded that there were no positive consequences, 57% also reported that there were no negative consequences either. Among the positive consequences, 14% responded that there was a better working atmosphere and 7% said that colleagues' flexible work allowed other staff to work flexibly too. Among the negative consequences, 9% related to the lack of interaction between staff, 8% inaccessibility to colleagues, and 8% heavier or varied workload. He considers these results to be similar to the situation in Japan.

Summary

In recent years, flexible work systems have gained increasing importance in both Japan and the UK, as a growing number of working parents seek ways to harmonise their professional and family responsibilities. In this context, this chapter showed the significant difference between Japan and the UK in terms of the policies and use of flexible work. This section highlights three key distinctions.

First, flexible work in Japan is, in practice, limited to mothers of young children or carers of the elderly and is considered an unwelcome exception in the workplace. In particular, the system

tends to benefit administrative assistants with regular contracts, although it also retains the few women in higher-skilled positions from opting out for childcare. In contrast, in the UK, flexible work is widely adopted by both female and male employees, including those in managerial and professional roles, and those without children.

Second, in Japan, flexible work often implies reduced work hours, as employees can more easily justify working fewer hours, and employers may find it more acceptable since it entails lower pay. In contrast, working reduced hours is less dominant in the UK due to the openness to a menu of flexible work arrangements that allow employees to avoid the option involving decreased earnings.

Third, the eligibility criteria for reduced work hours differ significantly between the two countries. In Japan, employees who have the right to flexible work due to caring responsibilities for young children or the elderly are required to have one year of service. For other employees in Japan, the requirement for employment tenure depends on the rules established by their employers, indicating that they do not have an automatic right to flexible work. In contrast, in the UK, this requirement is as low as 26 weeks, with upcoming plans to expedite entitlement from the very beginning of employment Notably, the UK government is actively working towards making flexible work the standard rather than the exception (Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy 2022).

In conclusion, to adopt a similar practice, Japan needs to undergo a major shift in values, placing greater importance on output rather than time input. This transformation is particularly crucial as flexible work will become increasingly indispensable for employers aiming to retain employees, maintain their motivation, and enhance productivity. Embracing this change extends to competent female employees seeking to continue their careers while maintaining a fulfilling family life. If professional and managerial women with children can establish a critical mass of role models, it holds the potential to inspire hope and confidence in young female students, ultimately raising their occupational expectations.

Appendix 5: WLB Charter

In 2007 a WLB Charter was established in Japan by a multistakeholder group comprising representatives from business, labour, regional authorities, experts, and relevant cabinet members (MHLW 2007). This charter articulates the rationale behind the necessity of WLB and lays out a path forward. Recognising the interdependent relationship between WLB and economic growth, it identifies key challenges faced by individuals in dealing with managing work and life effectively.

The first challenge mentioned is the escalation in global competition, structural shifts in the economy, and sluggish growth, contributing to a rise in non-regular workers struggling to secure stable employment and economic independence, particularly among the youth. The second challenge refers to health concerns arising from excessive work hours, particularly among regular employees. In particular, the prevalence of 'black companies' that illegally coerce employees into long working hours has come into focus (Jo 2014). Although the Charter itself does not explicitly mention deaths due to excessive work, known as *karoshi*, this issue has been gaining prominence as a significant social problem. The third challenge evolves around the fact that, despite the increasing prevalence of dual-earner households, societal support structures and work patterns continue to align with the traditional breadwinner husband and housewife model. This deeply ingrained gender division of role has led to declining birthrates while hindering the full utilisation of the human capital of women and older individuals.

In response, the charter emphasises the shared responsibility of employers, employees, citizens, the government, and subnational authorities in addressing WLB. Employers and employees are urged to collaborate in reforming workplace norms and cultures to enhance productivity. Citizens are encouraged to reconsider their perspectives on WLB and actively engage in family and local community life. Additionally, consumers are called upon to consider the work styles associated with the services they seek. The government is expected to promote understanding, establish support systems, and facilitate environmental changes conducive to WLB. In addition, subnational authorities are encouraged to develop innovative initiatives tailored to local needs.

However, the charter does not explicitly establish a connection between the increasing number of non-regular employees and WLB, nor does it address how measures could alleviate these disparities and resolve low-income challenges. This aspect is particularly important in this thesis, given that a significant proportion of non-regular employees are females. Kuwashima (2017) also provides a critical assessment of studies examining WLB measures, shedding light on deficiencies inherent in social policies related to equal opportunities and childcare. These critiques draw attention to issues such as inequality in wage and benefits between regular and non-regular employment, limited access to childcare leave, and the exclusive nature of public childcare services tied to employment status. Her study concludes that the cumulative impact of these constraints has maintained a substantial gap between the ideal concept of WLB and the realities of life.

In addition, Yamaguchi (2017) comments that in fluid labour markets, where workers can easily switch to other organisations offering better conditions without significant costs, employers may not impose excessive overtime work. However, the majority of Japanese employers do not provide such opt-out choices, as explained in Chapter 1, which has led to the prevalence of extreme working hours and, in some cases, *karoshi*. Takeishi (2011) also presupposes the prevalence of long work hours against the will of the employees.

While crediting the government for establishing limits of maximum allowable overtime hours, Yamaguchi also criticises that the primary objective of the WLB policy has shifted towards
safeguarding employees' health and preventing *karoshi*. Consequently, the workstyle reform has not brought about a fundamental change in work patterns that prioritises productivity per hour, nor has it encompassed workers' legal rights to determine and manage their own time. In essence, he concludes that there has been a shift from a focus on improving the *quality* of work and life to a preoccupation with *quantity* regarding wages and working hours.

Chapter 6: Interviews on Occupational Expectations of Female University Students: Comparison Between Japan and the UK

Chapters 3 and 4 unveiled the low occupational expectations of Japanese girls against boys, as well as girls of other countries. These chapters elucidated that individual characteristics, such as educational expectation and academic proficiency within the micro/meso systems and broader gender equality landscape within the exo/macro systems contribute to this phenomenon, in line with the literature review. Expanding on these findings, this chapter presents the outcomes of an in-depth qualitative study comparing female students in Japan with those in another country, namely the UK. The study particularly focuses on university students since underutilising their competence results in a significant opportunity cost and societal loss.

Context

The purpose of this chapter is to investigate whether Japanese females indeed have modest occupational expectations and to explore the relationship with key factors discussed in Chapters 3 and 4, such as academic aptitude, parental education and occupations, and the gender equality landscape. This is carried out by comparing with another country. As explained in Chapter 5, the UK is chosen due to its status as a G7 nation and its greater progress on female labour-related issues than Japan, as demonstrated by relevant indicators. Furthermore, both countries share similarities as the UK falls on the traditional side of a Liberal Welfare state, while Japan is positioned between a Liberal Welfare and Conservative state. Hence, valuable lessons could be drawn from the UK's experience in raising the occupational expectations of young females.

With this background, 48 interviews were conducted among female students enrolled in universities in Japan and the UK. While recognising that the small sample size limits generalisation, this study aims to explore the realities of young women, comparing the experiences in the two countries, and triangulating with existing literature. This type of comparative study with real voices of young females on occupational expectations in Japan and another developed country is fairly limited. Ideally, including interviews with male students to gauge gender differences in occupational expectations in Japan and the UK would have been more consistent with the overall theme of the research. However, for the sake of simplicity, this study focuses exclusively on female students, allowing for a more focused exploration of the factors that either elevate or dampen the occupational expectations of females in both countries.

The following builds on the results obtained in Miyamoto (2023), which mainly compares the mother's influence on the occupational expectations of the interviewees in Japan and the UK. This chapter broadens the parental influence to include fathers as well and adds the dimension of the interviewees' perspectives on the work environment. The main questions addressed in this chapter are:

- What are the differences in occupational expectations between the interviewees in Japan and the UK?
- How different are the parental effects on their occupational expectations?
- How different are the interviewees' perspectives for WLB that affect their occupational expectations?

The next sections present the research method, followed by a discussion on the results of the interviews. The final section summarises the findings, lists the limitations of the study, and offers some forward-looking conclusions.

Method

Interviews were conducted with 27 participants from Japan and 21 from the UK. The procedure was as follows: Firstly, a proposal for the interview (Reference #2021-146) was submitted to and approved by the ethics committee of Ochanomizu University. Subsequently, the recruitment process employed a snowball sampling technique. A formal notification was distributed through personal and professional networks, including the OECD, where the author was employed at the time. Messages were sent to employees who were presumed to have connections with female university students in Japan or the UK. These contacts subsequently disseminated recruitment emails to female university students who were likely to have an interest in volunteering. The volunteers from the UK were students studying at various universities located between Scotland and London, primarily from the competitive Russell Group.¹¹

In the case of Japan, a considerable number of participants were enlisted through university faculty members, particularly those who were personal contacts or affiliated with an econometric study group to which the author belonged. Several faculty members played a key role by inviting their students to participate actively in the study, resulting in the recruitment of one to three students from each of their respective university departments. Consequently, several volunteers were affiliated with a national university in Kyushu, a mid-level private university in Kansai, and various competitive private universities in Tokyo. This multi-faceted recruitment strategy, leveraging personal, organisational, and academic networks, contributed to the formation of a diverse pool of potential interviewees.

The recruitment message invited interested and willing participants to complete an online form. Notably, there were no specific standards or conditions for the selection of interviewees, except that they had to be female university students in the UK or Japan. All individuals who registered and were available from December 2021 to February 2022 underwent interviews, ensuring that every eligible participant had the opportunity to participate.

The online interviews were conducted in either Japanese or English, using a pre-tested question guide that had been sent in advance. These semi-structured interviews lasted approximately an hour and a half and included questions about the participants' expectations regarding future occupations and family life, as well as information on their parents, friends, and schools. Additionally, the interviews explored their perspectives on gender-related workplace and childcare issues. As mentioned earlier, results elaborated in this chapter primarily focuses on parental influences from the micro/meso systems and workplace-related issues from the exo/macro systems that are relevant to occupational expectations.

To document the interviews, the students were asked to sign a permission form in advance. After the interviews, the transcripts were sent to them for review and approval. Extracts from the Japanese transcripts were translated into English by the author for this research. While a modest honorarium was offered to compensate for the participation time, it is reasonable to assume that participants who volunteered for this study were generally more inclined towards career pursuits and possessed insights into their career aspirations.

As a result, caution should be exercised in recognising that the sample's characteristics may not fully encompass the entire spectrum of perspectives within all female university students in Japan or the UK. Nevertheless, this study's comparison of gender-related influences on occupational

¹¹ The 24 universities of Birmingham, Bristol, Cambridge, Cardiff, Durham, Edinburgh, Exeter, Glasgow, Imperial College, King's College, Leeds, Liverpool, London School of Economics, Manchester, Newcastle, Nottingham, Oxford, Queen Mary, Queen's Belfast, Sheffield, Southampton, University College London, Warwick and York.

expectations among females interested in the topic between Japan and the UK is akin to a likewith-like comparison. The findings should be interpreted within the context of the study's goals, the inherent biases associated with self-selecting samples, and to recognise potential limitations in generalising to the broader population of female university students in these countries.

The analysis for this qualitative research was conducted using a methodology outlined by Sato (2008). Information was systematically coded to facilitate data reduction, conversion into numerical formats, and quantification. A combination of deductive and inductive approaches was employed, considering existing theories, other surveys, and quantitative data related to parental influence on daughters' occupational choices. Cases were assembled to construct code matrices based on gender-related patterns. Ultimately, the matrices for Japan and the UK were compared to identify any similarities or differences, thereby shaping the narrative.

Profile of the Interviewees

Table 6.1 displays profiles of the 27 interviewees in Japan, including their majors, university categories, cities they grew up in, and expected occupations matched with ISEI scores based on the closest ISCO code. It also provides information on their parents' education, occupations, and ethnic background if at least one was non-Japanese. In total, these interviewees were attending 16 universities spanning from Hokkaido to Kyushu.

To approximate academic ability, universities are classified into five types and grouped into three categories: Former Imperial or competitive private¹² (11), other national (seven); and other private or public (nine), with competitiveness generally descending in that order. Among the interviewees, 17 were pursuing bachelor's degrees, nine were master's students, and one was a doctoral candidate, with ages mostly ranging from 18 to 29. Their academic majors varied widely, encompassing fields such as economics, law, art, history, and molecular biology.

There was some cultural diversity among the interviewees in Japan. While most of them had Japanese parents and grew up in Japan, one interviewee was born and raised in Japan but had Indian parents. Another grew up in the USA with a Japanese mother and an American father. A third interviewee, with Japanese parents, had lived in a foreign country and attended international schools both abroad and in Japan. This diversity reflects Japan's increasing internationalisation, which is an important aspect to consider for the study, although it also adds complexity to the cultural interpretation of the findings.

Table 6.2 presents the profiles of the 21 interviewees in the UK, who were enrolled in 12 universities spanning from Scotland to Southeast England. The universities are categorised into two groups: Ancient (seven) and others¹³ (14), with the former typically known for higher competitiveness. Among these interviewees, 13 were pursuing bachelor's degrees, four were master's students, and four were doctoral candidates, with ages ranging from 18 to 27. The academic majors varied, with some specialising in the sciences such as biology or neuro-immunology, while others pursued fields such as education and political science.

The cultural backgrounds of the interviewees on the UK side show significant diversity. Among the 21 students in the UK, 12 or 57% grew up in the country. Of these students, 10 students or 48% had at least one British parent, and seven students or 33% had parents who were both British (or Irish). The other 9 students did not grow up in the UK but mostly in Europe and attended international schools. They had one or two parents of different nationalities, primarily

¹² Competitive Private includes Waseda, Keio, and Sophia, commonly known as "SOUKEIJOU".

¹³ "Ancient" includes Universities of Oxford, Cambridge and Glasgow. "Others" are mostly Russell Group universities.

from Europe or East Asia, including Italy, Portugal, Hungary, Ukraine, Japan, Hong Kong, Taiwan, or a mix of these nations.

ID	Major	University	resity Course Veer Age Expected ICEL Father			Mother			Parents'					
ID	мајог	Group	Course	теаг	Age	Occupation	ISEI	Education	Occupation	ISEI	Education	Occupation	ISEI	background
11	oconomics	other private	bacholor	3	20	tax official	67	technical	business & admin	59	tochnical school	factory workor	10	
11	economics	other private	Dacheloi	3	20	tax official	07	school	associate	30	technical school	lactory worker	10	
J2	social welfare	other private	bachelor	4	22	social worker	53	bachelor	stationary plant operator	23	bachelor	cosmetics researcher	59	
J3	arts	national	master	2	24	digital background artist	57	bachelor	announcer	54	junior college	real estate agent	62	
J4	microbiology	national	master	2	24	sales professional	74	doctorate	medical doctor	89	bachelor	housewife	17	
J5	history	competitive private	master	1	23	editor	74	master	business & admin professional	74	bachelor	administration associate	58	
J6	regional economics	other private	bachelor	4	22	3D graphic designer	57	high school	security guard	24	high school	housewife	17	
J7	law	competitive private	law school	3	24	business lawyer	87	master	business service & admin manager	72	bachelor	CEO of a company	75	
J8	international politics	competitive private	bachelor	4	22	sales professional	74	bachelor	marketing &development manager	74	bachelor	childcare worker	25	
J9	economics	competitive private	bachelor	3	21	international organisation professional	73	bachelor	research & development manager	82	bachelor	housewife	17	
J10	economics	competitive private	bachelor	2	19	financial/data analyst	76	bachelor	industrial production engineer	79	master	secondary school maths teacher	82	Indian mother and father
J11	project management	other private	bachelor	4	22	banking associate	60	bachelor	business & admin professional	74	technical school	X-ray technician	57	
J12	international development	national	master	1	29	aid worker	71	bachelor	gardener	21	bachelor	primary school teacher	76	
J13	Spanish	other private	bachelor	4	22	business associate professional	63	bachelor	mechanical engineer	77	junior college	administrative assistant	43	
J14	gender and social science	national	master	1	24	certified accountant	77	bachelor	secondary school teacher	82	bachelor	building architect	80	
J15	food management	other private	bachelor	4	22	non-profit organisation co- ordinator	53	high school	retail manager	52	high school	teacher's aide	25	
J16	economics	competitive private	bachelor	2	21	certified accountant	77	bachelor	ICT manager	79	bachelor	administrative assistant	43	Japanese mother and American father
J17	medical science	national	medical school	3	20	specialist medical doctor	82	doctorate	social professional	77	bachelor	admin professional	74	
J18	international cultural exchange	other public	bachelor	4	22	aid worker	71	master	psychologist	86	bachelor	housewife	17	
J19	economics	national	bachelor	1	18	business associate	60	technical college	science and engineering associate	52	junior college	cashier	31	
J20	nursing	other private	master	1	35	community health worker	53	high school	restaurant manager	44	high school	waiter	25	
J21	economics	competitive private	bachelor	2	19	international organisation professional	73	doctorate	medical doctor	89	bachelor	secondary school teacher	82	
J22	literature	former imperial	doctorate	3	29	university teacher	85	doctorate	university teacher	85	doctorate	university teacher	85	
J23	business management	national	bachelor	1	18	admin associate	60	bachelor	tax official	67	bachelor	teacher's aide	25	
J24	international education	competitive private	master	1	27	aid worker	71	bachelor	manufacturing manager	65	master	housewife	17	
J25	law	competitive private	law school	2	24	business lawyer	87	bachelor	civil engineer	70	bachelor	administrative assistant	43	
J26	law	competitive private	bachelor	4	21	legal professional	81	bachelor	business service manager	72	bachelor	secondary school teacher	82	
J27	economics	other private	bachelor	3	20	administrative assistant	43	high school	business admin associate	58	high school	administrative assistant	43	
			Average				69			66			47	

Table 6.1: Profile of the Interviewees in Japan

ID		University				Expected			Father			Mother			Parents'
ID	Major	Group	Course	Year	Age	Occupation	ISEI	education	occupation	ISEI	education	occupation	ISEI	City Raised	background
UK1	medical science	Other	medical doctor	2	20	specialist medical doctor	82	bachelor	software engineer	64	bachelor	journalist	73	London	Japanese mother and British father
UK2	education	Other	bachelor	1	18	secondary schoolteacher	82	bachelor	financial professional	73	bachelor	housewife	17	Brussels, Milan	Japanese parents
UK3	social science	Other	doctorate	1	24	university teacher	85	bachelor	gardener	21	master	Cleaner	15	Eastly	British parents
UK4	biology	Ancient	bachelor	3	20	biologist	81	bachelor	airline pilot	74	bachelor	tour guide	47	Surrey	Japanese mother and British father
UK5	education	Other	bachelor	1	18	elementary schoolteacher	76	bachelor	director of international packaging company	72	high school	housewife	17	Ukraine, Italy, etc.	Ukrainian parents
UK6	cancer research	Ancient	master	1	24	cancer researcher	81	master	independent day trader	61	master	Journalist	73	Waterloo	Japanese mother and Belgian father
UK7	neuro- immunology	Other	doctorate	1	27	neuro scientist	81	bachelor	tree cultivator	21	high school	cleaner	15	North of London	British parents
UK8	biology	Other	bachelor	2	19	cancer researcher	81	bachelor	architect	80	bachelor	statistician	76	Saint-Germain	British Pakistani/ German mother and Italian/ American father
UK9	Arabic/ Portuguese	Other	bachelor	1	19	documentary maker	63	bachelor	banker	76	bachelor	primary school Latin teacher	74	London	Italian parents
UK10	international relations	Ancient	master	3	23	think tank researcher	83	master	director of chemical company	71	bachelor	housewife	17	Hong Kong, Shanghai	Taiwanese mother and Belgian/ Spanish father
UK11	economic geography	Other	doctorate	3	27	researcher	83	law	lawyer	81	bachelor	financial officer	55	Brussels	Portuguese parents
UK12	biochemistry	Other	bachelor	1	19	biochemist	81	master	stay at home father	17	master	human resource specialist	75	Former Socialist Country, Luxembourg	Parents from a Former Socialist country
UK13	law	Ancient	law degree	1	21	barrister	87	doctorate	software modeller in insurance company	75	master	airline logistics specialist	75	Surrey	British parents
UK14	Korean studies	Ancient	master	1	22	academic	83	bachelor	actuary	58	vocational school	massage therapist	27	London	Japanese mother and British father
UK15	politics	Ancient	bachelor	3	20	diplomat	79	high school	army officer, security company owner	52	bachelor	Russian teacher, city council worker	69	Norfolk	British parents
UK16	psychology	Ancient	bachelor	3	21	elementary schoolteacher	76	high school	lorry driver	26	master	elementary schoolteacher	76	Liverpool	British parents
UK17	anthropology	Other	bachelor	2	19	museum curator	77	high school	firefighter area manager	46	high school	teacher's aide in primary school	25	South Wales	British parents
UK18	neuro- immunology	Other	doctor	1	25	neuro- scientist	81	master	electrical engineer	81	master	solicitor	87	Northern Ireland	Irish mother and British father
UK19	education	Other	bachelor	1	20	elementary schoolteacher	76	high school	restaurant owner	44	bachelor	housewife	17	Budapest	Hungarian parents
UK20	nutrition	Other	bachelor	2	23	community worker	53	bachelor	financial professional	73	bachelor	administrative assistant	43	Nagoya	Japanese parents
UK21	political science	Other	bachelor	2	21	financial consultant	76	high school	furniture business owner	52	high school	housewife	17	Birmingham	Hong Kong Chinese parents
		Av	erage				78			58			47		

While the diverse ethnic composition of the sample presents challenges for cultural interpretation, it mirrors the contemporary demographic landscape of the UK, where 22% of undergraduates in the UK were international students in 2022 (Universities UK 2022). A more in-depth examination of responses to the PISA 2018 questionnaire regarding the backgrounds of UK students reveals that, among female students aspiring to attend university, 30% report having at least one parent born in a foreign country. If this proportion is reflective of the broader population of university students who attended UK high schools, and considering that 22% of undergraduates come from abroad, it suggests that nearly half of female university students in the UK may have one or both parents from a foreign country. While acknowledging the complexity of representation, this implies that the interview sample, despite its inherent challenges, may capture certain aspects of the UK's demographic diversity relevant to this analysis.

Occupational Choice

Regarding occupational choices, on the Japan side, several interviewees were planning to become graphic designers, social workers, lawyers, and aid workers. Only one interviewee indicated an interest in becoming an administrative assistant – an occupation equivalent to the most popular choice in the PISA sample – possibly because this type of occupation is increasingly becoming temporary and low paid (Ueno 2021, Yamada 2016).

Other interviewees were considering the types of organisations they wished to work for first, prioritising stability or better working conditions, and then selecting specific occupations, such as becoming a tax officer. Meanwhile, a few were leaning towards certified occupations – a popular choice among Japanese females seeking job security or flexible workhours – like becoming a certified accountant. Overall, the average ISEI score of the interviewees' expected occupations is 69, which is higher than the average of 59 in the PISA sample among high school girls who planned to go to university.

At the same time, the interviewees in the UK display higher levels of ambition compared to those in Japan. Several expected to become laboratory scientists, academics/researchers, or teachers, while others had plans of becoming a doctor, barrister, diplomat, or financial consultant. Some of these occupations align with the popular ones in the PISA sample, including lawyers (barristers), medical doctors, teachers, and biologists. The average ISEI score of the interviewees in the UK is 78, which is higher than that of the interviewees in Japan, but lower than the average of 82 in the PISA sample.

The primary distinction between the two countries is observed in the field of STEM occupations. In Japan, only one interviewee, J17, a medical student, was pursuing a STEM occupation, which typically offers higher wages and greater prestige. While this discrepancy could be influenced by the sample selection, it aligns with Japan's low representation of females in STEM fields compared to other OECD countries. According to the OECD, the share of female graduates in STEM fields in Japan is merely 17%, marking the lowest figure among developed countries, a significant contrast to Poland's 42% (OECD 2022c). Similarly, the UK has a 24% share of females in STEM, which is below the OECD average of 29%, but still higher than Japan. The underrepresentation of females in STEM fields is frequently attributed to gender stereotypes (Adachi 2022; Ikkatai *et al.* 2021; OECD 2021, 2022c; Nagamachi 2021;Sikora & Pokropek 2011).

Except for the medical student, none of the other 10 interviewees in Japan who liked science or maths as subjects recalled being specifically encouraged by their parents or schools to pursue a STEM field, nor did they perceive that society was actively promoting females in STEM. Even the two other interviewees who were enrolled in science courses were contemplating dropping out. For instance, J15, a food management major, and J4, a master's student majoring in microbiology, actively sought and had already received offers for non-STEM occupations that would not necessarily require their scientific knowledge.

In contrast, eight interviewees in the UK were expecting to work in STEM fields. While not all of their parents actively recommended STEM careers, five interviewees within the entire sample had parents who, at some point, encouraged them to pursue careers in the sciences. Additionally, four interviewees mentioned that their schools were urging female students to take up STEM fields. Two of them stated:

....when I was in school, there was a whole movement for women in STEM....I'll go to the hospital or I'll go into my lecture halls, it is almost female dominated. So I knew that when I got into the workplace, those movements would have taken such hold that I wouldn't necessarily feel pressured by those patriarchal standards of work work work or nothing (UK1, a medical student).

There was a lot of workshops for women in STEM because there's a big drive for that, essentially in England. They are trying to fix the gender gap. I remember going to those, thinking, what on earth is this rubbish, why do they need a Women in STEM Day, when men are just as important. In other words, it wasn't as apparent that there was a divide to me when I was younger. Because I'd always thought that, yes, I can go into whatever I wanted to go. By 13, I already knew that I probably wanted to do science (UK4, an aspiring biologist).

In the UK, the proportion of females among new entrants in the STEM field at the bachelor's level is 31%, which is higher than Japan's rate of 18%, the lowest among OECD countries (OECD 2022a). On the other hand, Japanese girls consistently perform exceptionally well in maths and science on PISA tests. For instance, among those in the PISA 2018 sample who planned to go to university, Japanese girls rank second highest in both science and maths among OECD countries. In contrast, females in the UK rank 15th in maths and 9th in science. This indicates that in Japan, despite the competence in STEM subjects, females are less likely to pursue STEM careers, leading to the underutilisation of valuable human capital.

In sum, the results indicated that interviewees in the UK generally held higher occupational expectations than those in Japan, with many anticipating careers in STEM fields. While several opted for traditionally female-dominated occupations, such as teaching, others chose lab or research-related roles that are progressively becoming female-dominated in the UK, along with those that remain male-dominated, like doctors or barristers. In Japan, most interviewees did not necessarily gravitate towards typically female-dominated occupations. Several of them expected to become digital artists, lawyers, aid workers, and international organisation professionals. However, when asked if they would have chosen different occupations had they been born as boys, a few admitted that they would have aimed higher, a viewpoint not observed in the case of the UK.

Results and Discussion: Analysis of Factors

With the profiles of the interviewees provided above, the following sections examine factors related to their occupational expectations. They are broadly divided into three: preferences for future partners (individual characteristics), parental influence (micro/meso systems), and perspectives on WLB (exo/macro systems).

It is important to note that the interviews covered a diverse range of additional subjects, particularly on the significant influence of peers (Duncan *et al.* 1968; Picou & Carter 1976; Soldner *et al.* 2012; Coppé 2020; Matsumoto 1995) and career support (Gottfredson *et al.* 1975; Soldner *et al.* 2012; Whiston *et al.* 2017; Adachi 2004; Terasaki 2008) on the occupational or career aspirations of young individuals, as underscored by literature. Moreover, observing the distribution of childcare responsibilities between parents can potentially influence young

women's preferences for the division of household responsibilities with a potential partner, WLB and career aspirations. This, in turn, may shape their views on the extent to which they would be willing to align their social status with that of their future partner.

However, to prioritise and focus on the most impactful issues, these aspects are not extensively detailed in this section. In particular, while they play a crucial role in understanding the evolution of career aspirations, their direct influence on the selection of specific occupations was not conclusively determined. Additionally, although effective child rearing or the potential academic success of children may be an essential aspect of a mother's social status (Nishimura, 2001), its relevance to young females who may or may not have children in the future was considered tentative. These areas warrant further in-depth exploration in subsequent research endeavours.

Preferences for Partners

Chapter 1 elucidated that Japanese women, particularly those who are not employed, frequently depend on their social status relative to that of their husbands. However, it also demonstrated that the situation may be evolving as more women opt to advance their careers even after childbirth. Consequently, questions were presented to the interviewees to assess the Social Status Dependency theory concerning their preferences for future partners in relation to their occupational and career expectations.

In short, the majority of interviewees in Japan did not strongly align with the Status Dependency Model, akin to the interviewees in the UK. This misalignment may be attributed to the biased sample, given that the interviewees comprised female university students who volunteered for the interview, potentially making them more career-oriented than the average Japanese female. This section nevertheless briefly compares partner preferences among interviewees in both Japan and the UK, even though it may not significantly contribute to explaining why Japanese females have relatively low occupational expectations. It highlights that the interviewees in the UK were even more independent-minded than those in Japan, potentially raising the former's occupational expectations.

Interviewees in Japan

Approximately 93% of the interviewees in Japan expressed a desire to marry and/or have children in the future. However, there were exceptions, including a student who had graduated from a competitive private university and had secured a position in marketing at a major bank and another attending a national university with an expectation of becoming a business associate or certified financial planner. It is possible that these individuals chose their occupations with the assumption that they would not rely on a future husband due to their lack of interest in marriage. Nonetheless, these family aspirations did not appear to significantly influence the students' specific choices for occupations.

When it comes to their preferences for future partners, approximately 70% of the interviewees indicated that their prospective husband's income would not be a decisive factor for them. For instance, J15, an aspiring social worker, emphasised, 'Income is not important at all. What's important is someone I can talk to.' Similarly, J23, who aspired to be an administrative associate, remarked, 'Income is not so important. I intend to work, so if he doesn't work, I'll have to work.' Most interviewees expressed that their own career held greater importance than that of their future partners.

On the other hand, there were a few interviewees who anticipated modifying their occupational expectations with the anticipation of finding a partner who could provide sufficient income. For instance, J4, who had secured a marketing position with a publishing company and came from a family where her mother was a contented housewife and her father was a doctor, stated:

My salary will be an average of a salaryman, but I have no intention of providing for the family. If my future husband has significant income and the living situation is comfortable, I think that staying at home without working is an option..... But even if I stay at home and take care of the children, I want to do something that uses what I've learned. For example, I've studied nutrition for a long time, and I even have a qualification as a nutritionist. So I want to work on sharing knowledge with others. I'd like to develop some business than being employed.

However, this is an exceptional case, with 78% of the interviewees expecting their partners to share household chores and childcare responsibilities, recognising the trade-offs between domestic work and career (Miura 2015; Moriizumi & Nakamura 2021; Yamada 2016). A few even said that their preference for partners who would do household chores was more or as important as their educational credentials or income. It is worth noting that those who preferred their partners to take on more household responsibilities were not necessarily aspiring to pursue ambitious occupations. Conversely, those who were comfortable with their future husbands spending less time on household responsibilities were not necessarily aiming for less demanding occupations. Either way, since the degree to which a future husband would undertake household responsibilities remained uncertain, this factor did not significantly influence the interviewees' occupational choices.

In summary, although the Status Dependence theory had been put forth as a hypothesis to explain the low occupational expectations of Japanese females, the findings suggested that most interviewees in Japan did not strongly demonstrate a reliance on their future husbands for their social status. This departure from the theory could partly be attributed to an evolving paradigm as more women choose to advance their professions. Furthermore, given that attributes of future partners, such as income, education, occupation, and their role in household chores, were unpredictable for most interviewees, it seems that speculation did not significantly influence their choice of occupations.

Interviewees in the UK

In the case of the UK, more than 70% of the students expressed a preference to have both a partner and children in the future. However, there was an Eastern European student who wanted a partner but not children. Her perspective was influenced by her observation of her father sacrificing his career for her mother's, a situation she believed might not have occurred if there were no children involved. Additionally, a few students in the UK expressed a wish for children but not necessarily a partner, reflecting a greater acceptance of single motherhood in Europe compared to Japan. These students aspired to a range of occupations, including primary and secondary school teachers, laboratory scientists, and social science researchers. Evidently, these interviewees did not appear to be primarily focused on depending on their future partners' income or status.

In fact, in England and Wales, more than half of births now occur outside of marriage (ONS 2023c), a rate significantly higher than the 2% reported in Japan, according to the Vital Statistics (MHLW 2023). In this respect, about 13% of households are headed by lone mothers in the UK (ONS 2023d), while the rate is lower at 8% in Japan (MIC 2022). In addition, according to YouGov, an internet-based market research company, while 6% of women were entirely financially dependent on their partner and 29% were somewhat dependent, 48% responded that neither was dependent on each other, and 10% responded that their partners were dependent on them. While no gender breakdown is given, the proportion of those who responded that neither was financially dependent on each other was 52% for 25-34 year olds, 45% for 35-44 year olds, and 52% for 55 years and older (YouGov 2021a). These data suggest that females in the UK from all cohorts are likely to be earning a living independently from males including to support their

children. This is in contrast to their counterparts in Japan, who are more dependent on males in this regard.

In terms of partner preferences in the UK, an estimated 63-68% of women were comfortable with having a romantic partner whose income, ambition, or success was much less than hers, respectively¹⁴ (YouGov 2018). Furthermore, 95% of women and 92% of men responded that it is good for women to make a career of their own (YouGov 2021b). Being aware of this trend, young females in the UK may anticipate greater autonomy in their family lives, potentially influencing their perspectives on parenting, income sources, careers, and occupational choices.

In this context, several interviewees in the UK preferred their future partners to have occupations to fit their occupational life. This is particularly the case where the interviewees were aspiring to take up occupations that are generally considered prestigious.

I don't know if my partner's going to be a doctor or not. And there is a saying in medicine that doctors should not marry doctors, simply because our lifestyles are so busy, therefore the children get neglected. So I think, in my mind ideally, my partner would be able to fill in to the gaps I can't manage (UK1, medical student).

I would probably like to stay on the move a bit throughout my youth. So if I'm in the Foreign Office, I wouldn't be too worried with the children. It would be the husband, and I hope that he can either work remotely or do small jobs that can be flexible and not rooted in one place (UK15, aspiring diplomat).

Moreover, some interviewees expressed the view that having a stay-at-home parent is beneficial, but that they envisioned their future partner taking on this role rather than themselves. UK10, aspiring academic, said:

I wouldn't mind, for example, having a stay-at-home husband...I think it would depend on who is earning more. I grew up in a family where there was a stay-at-home parent, and I think that it worked out really well..... But on an egotistical level, I want to have my own career and I don't know if I want to sacrifice that for someone else.

In terms of expecting their partner to carry out household chores, the interviewees in the UK were much more vocal and demanding than the interviewees in Japan, with around 90% considering it as very important. Furthermore, most of them talked about 50 50 and sharing equally, which was the not case in Japan.

...in terms of housework, ideally split half and half. I never really agreed with the whole, your partner is "helping" you do the housework. I don't think it should be a matter of help. I think it should be like, you have your part and I do mine..., especially in terms of children's activities.....I just think it's wrong that that role is assigned automatically (to women). So definitely split half and half (UK9, aspiring documentary maker).

In summary, the majority of UK interviewees expressed a desire to have both a partner and children in the future. However, their preference did not necessarily involve depending on their future partners' income or status. Some were even considering raising children without having a partner, indicating a greater acceptance of single motherhood and women's financial independence. Additionally, a few interviewees envisioned their future partners accommodating their career ambitions or taking on the role of a stay-at-home parent. Furthermore, many emphasised the importance of their partners equally sharing household chores and childcare

¹⁴ Assuming that gender distribution of total respondents and those who answered "don't know" were equal.

responsibilities to enable them to focus on their careers, challenging the automatic assignment of these task to women.

Influence from Parents

Chapter 1 elaborated on how parents can play a pivotal role in shaping the occupational expectations of youths, including girls. From an early age, children observe and absorb information about various occupations and careers within their immediate environment. Parents' occupations, work styles, and achievements shape the child's perceptions and attitudes towards work and potential occupations. Moreover, parental expectations, encouragement, guidance, and support contribute to the development of educational and career goals. In the case of girls, the role of parents becomes even more critical, as they can either encourage their daughters to align with traditional gender norms by pursuing female-dominated occupations or empower them to aspire to a wider range of professions, cultivating ambitious occupational expectations.

The influence of parents on the interviewees' occupational expectations is categorised according to Kanai's (2007) classification as follows:

- **Environment: effects of social class**, represented by the education and occupations of the parents;
- Direct effects: encouragement by the parents; and
- Indirect effects: mothers as role models.

The following sections presents each category.

Environment: Effects of Social Class

This section focuses on the influence of social class – generally represented by parents' educational and occupational levels – on the occupational expectations of interviewees. In the case of Japanese girls, analysis in Chapter 3 showed that the occupations of fathers and mothers in the PISA 2018 sample significantly influenced their ISEI scores. However, for British girls, Table 3.4 shows that neither the education nor the occupation of the parents had any significant effect. Therefore, this section seeks to explore whether these patterns are mirrored among the interviewees in both Japan and the UK, providing insights into the relationship between social class and occupational expectations of females.

<u>Interviewees in Japan</u>

Among the interviewees in Japan, 78% of the fathers had at least a bachelor's degree. The occupations ranged from plant operator, restaurant manager, security guard, secondary teacher, and IT manager, with an average ISEI score of 66. Fathers with ISEI scores above 80 included a medical doctor, research manager, and a psychologist.

Regarding mothers, while 67% had at least a bachelor's degree, about 75% had left work around childbirth. Subsequently, after the children became older, most of these mothers took up some occupation – a typical M-curve employment pattern in Japan (MIC 2022). No distinct feature is discernible in the occupational SES of those who had quit and those who continued – e.g., the architect and the childcare worker stopped working, while the university teacher and restaurant worker continued. The latest occupations of the mothers ranged from factory worker, cashier, child minder, to secondary school teacher, while five remained as housewives. The occupations of four mothers – secondary school teachers, an architect, and a university teacher – had ISEI scores above 80. The average ISEI score of all mothers' occupations is 47, or 54 excluding housewives.

To investigate the potential impact of parental social class and the factors outlined in Chapter 3 on the ISEI scores of expected occupations, Table 6.3 classifies the interviewees into three distinct groups based on their ISEI scores. These groups consist of the highest (76-87), high (66-75), and

moderate (43-65) ISEI score categories. An attempt is made to evenly distribute the interviewees among these groups, considering the breaks between the ISEI scores. As it is not feasible to directly assess their mathematical competence or general academic aptitude, the categorisation of universities is utilised as a proxy. They are divided into (a) Former Imperial or competitive private; (b) national ¹⁵; and (c) other (public or private), with competitiveness generally decreasing in that order. Additionally, the table presents information on the percentage of fathers and mothers with at least a bachelor's degree and the average ISEI scores associated with their respective occupations.

ISEI of	n	Acad	emic Aptitu	ıde	Father		Mother	
Interviewee's Expected Occupation		(a) Former Imperial of Competitive Private	(b) National	(c) Others	% with at least Bachelors	ISEI	% with at least Bachelors	ISEI
Highest	8	75%	25%	0%	100%	77	100%	71
High	9	56%	22%	22%	89%	71	89%	36
Moderate	10	0%	30%	70%	40%	53	20%	39

Table 6.3: University Grouping and Parental Social Clas	SS
by ISEI Scores of Interviewees in Japan	

Source: Author

Analyses of the factors reveal correlations between the ISEI scores and the competitiveness of universities, as well as the average education level and ISEI scores of the fathers and mothers. Specifically, the group with the highest ISEI scores exhibits the largest proportion of individuals from (a), with fathers and mothers holding at least a bachelor's degree, along with the highest average ISEI scores of their occupations. Conversely, the group with moderate ISEI scores displays the opposite pattern.

The only exception is that the ISEI score of the mother's occupation of the high ISEI score group exhibits a slightly lower score than the moderate ISEI score group. This discrepancy may partly be attributed to the inclusion of four housewives in the High ISEI score group, for whom an ISEI score of 17 is assigned, following the methodology of the OECD for PISA. Although the analysis in Chapter 3 indicated a strong correlation between occupational expectations and the mother's ISEI score, the academic literature presents a more varied perspective, as explained in Chapter 1.

Nevertheless, it can be concluded that, in general, the findings suggest the presence of a social class effect on the occupational expectations of the interviewees in Japan. However, as explained in Chapter 1, this itself is not the primary focus of this study. Conversely, if interviewees from higher social classes did not demonstrate elevated occupational expectations, despite possessing stronger academic aptitude and greater educational investment, this could be seen as a significant loss of potential productivity and a societal concern.

Interviewees in the UK

Among the interviewees in the UK, 76% of the fathers held at least a bachelor's degree, which is similar to the proportion of fathers on the Japanese side. The occupations of the fathers on the UK

¹⁵ Those excluding Former Imperial universities.

side ranged from lorry driver, firefighter, restaurant owner, architect, electrical engineer, to banker, with an average ISEI score of 58, somewhat lower than the average ISEI score of the fathers in Japan. Those with scores above 80 included an architect and an electrical engineer. Regarding mothers, 76% held at least a bachelor's degree, which is higher than the proportion of mothers in Japan. This aligns with the historically higher proportion of females in the UK going to university after high school compared to females in Japan, until recently. However, since two-thirds of the mothers did not grow up in the UK, this factor may not be so relevant.

Nonetheless, similar to the Japanese side, about 75% of the mothers had intermittent career patterns when the children were young. Here, the mothers who continued their careers tended to be those with relatively high occupational ISEI scores, such as solicitor, statistician, human resource specialist, and elementary school teacher. Other recent occupations of the mothers range from nursery teacher, tour guide, cleaner, journalist, to financial officer. Additionally, there were five housewives, but from Japan, Taiwan, Hong Kong, Ukraine, and Hungary – cultures known to be traditional in gender roles. On average, the ISEI score of the mothers in the UK is 47, or 53 when considering only working mothers, very similar to the mothers in Japan. The one mother who has an ISEI score above 80 was a solicitor.

The case of the UK also exhibits some parallels with Japan regarding the transmission of social class. Table 6.4 classifies the interviewees into three groups based on their ISEI scores, encompassing the highest (82-87), high (79-81), and moderate (53-77). Since the distribution of ISEI scores among the UK interviewees tend to concentrate more towards the higher end than in Japan, the groupings are not identical. Nevertheless, an effort is made to achieve a balanced distribution, taking into account the breaks between the ISEI scores, to facilitate comparisons of the effects of factors among the UK groups and not with those in Japan. Regarding universities, they are categorised as (a) Ancient, representing the top-level institutions in the UK, and (b) others, primarily consisting of Russell Group universities that are also considered competitive. Unlike Japan, where three groups are used, the UK is divided into two groups, as further disaggregation of group (b) based on academic prestige is challenging.

ISEI of Interviewee's		Academic	Aptitude	Fath	er	Mother		
Expected Occupation	n	(a) Ancient	(b) Others	% with at least a Bachelor	ISEI	% with at least a Bachelor	ISEI	
Highest	7	43%	57%	100%	63	86%	40	
High	h 7 43		57%	86%	55	86%	63	
Moderate	7	14%	86%	43%	56	57%	38	

Table 6.4: University Grouping and Parental Social Classby ISEI Scores of Interviewees in UK

In the UK, the relationship between ISEI scores, academic aptitude, and social class is somewhat more complex than in Japan, but there are still notable correlations. The highest ISEI group tends to have higher values in all aspects compared to the moderate ISEI group. However, some exceptions are present; the share of interviewees in category (a) is the same between the highest and high groups, the father's ISEI score is slightly higher in the moderate group than in the high

group, and the mother's ISEI score is significantly higher in the high group. This discrepancy may be partly due to the narrow range of ISEI scores in the high group, which could be merged with the highest group for a more consistent analysis.

The UK is often characterised as a class-based society, where studies have shown that, since the early 2000s, students from high-income households are much more likely to attend university than those from low-income backgrounds (Department for Education 2022; Pan 2022). In particular, research by Ro *et al.* (2022) reveals that students whose parents hold university degrees have a 77% higher chance of pursuing STEM subjects at a Russell Group university when compared to students with non-university-educated parents. Nevertheless, the analysis suggests that the social class transmission effect is significantly stronger in Japan than in the UK.

To explain the possibly smaller transmission effect of social class in the UK, there could be other societal factors at play that could be mitigating the impact. For instance, initiatives promoting females in STEM fields may provide opportunities for females from diverse backgrounds to aspire to high-status occupations. Another possible factor that contributes to raising females' occupational expectations in the UK is the financial support for students to pursue higher education. In fact, all the British interviewees were taking advantage of the government's Tuition Fee Loan, which is made accessible to all UK home (national or resident) students, irrespective of household income. All these interviewees expressed satisfaction with this system. Nonetheless, since the social class transmission is not the primary focus of this study, as explained in Chapter 1, the discussion regarding strategies to encourage females from lower socioeconomic backgrounds to pursue challenging occupations will be deferred to future research topics.

Direct Effect: Parental Encouragement

Parents exert significant influence over their children's occupational expectations, impacting them through encouragement and the reinforcement of traditional gender roles. They assume a crucial role by providing guidance, motivation, and advice, which can enhance their children's confidence and determination to pursue particular career paths. However, in the case of daughters, parents can also impose traditional gender norms, dissuading them from aspiring to high-prestige careers and emphasising the role of caregivers (Maeda 2017).

While a quantitative analysis of parental encouragement is not conducted, the literature review in Chapter 1 indicates that parental support, especially for non-traditional careers, including those in STEM, can have a positive influence on girls' career aspirations. Alternatively, it is also observed that, in Japan, parents frequently guide their daughters towards occupations in education, healthcare, or the public sector, which are traditionally female dominated.

Therefore, this section summarises the findings from the investigation into whether these tendencies are evident among the interviewees in both Japan and the UK, providing further insights into how parental encouragement related to gender-based roles impact career expectations. The highlight is on the most contrasting responses given by the interviewees, while a summary of other responses is included in Appendix 6A, presented in Table 6.5 for Japan and Table 6.6 for the UK.

<u>Interviewees in Japan</u>

In the case of Japan, approximately nine interviewees had parents who adopted a laissez-faire attitude or were supportive of their choices. However, for most parents, there was some preference regarding their daughters' careers, with a strong emphasis on employment stability and income. Notably, seven interviewees had parents who encouraged them to pursue careers in the public sector or large corporations, aligning with Japan's employment practices, where such entities tend to hire generalists, as elaborated in Chapter 1. For example, J5, who aspired to become an editor, perceived her father's expectations as follows:

...something that's somewhat solid, for example, a job at a large corporation than a venture, or the public sector where there's stability.

Alternatively, some parents encouraged the interviewees to acquire certain certifications without specifying a particular occupation. For instance, J20, who was planning to be a community worker while currently working as a nurse, mentioned that her father observed numerous instances of women who were unable to leave their partners even when they wanted to do so.

My father always said it's better to have a qualification.... With some skill, I can be independent and not be reliant...if there's trouble....

A notable observation is that, in Japan, most parents were not necessarily encouraging the interviewees to aim for the more prestigious occupations or positions, such as career officials or management roles in companies. The exception was the case of J17, who felt pressured by her family to become a doctor. On the opposite end of the spectrum, some interviewees had parents who actively discouraged them from setting high career expectations. For instance, J27, who planned to become an administrative assistant while studying economics, received advice from her father to pursue a role as an office clerk, particularly since she did not mind routine tasks like word processing.

Moreover, 11 interviewees expressed that if they had been born as boys, they believed their parents or grandparents would have encouraged them to attend a more competitive university and pursue a stable or prestigious job. For instance, J4, who aspired to become an editor in a publishing company, shared the following:

If I were a boy, I think my father would have expected me to take a preparatory year off to study and go to a national university. Then become a national civil servant and have a so-called solid career.

Others mentioned that their parents had lower expectations of them because they were females. Two of them shared:

Success for my father meant my going to a good university, work for a company, have a family and stay at home (UK20, a Japanese student attending a UK university and expecting to become a community worker).

My mother said....how about an airport ground staff?... I think my mother thought that it was good because these people appear confident and neat...She (also) said, since I'm a girl, why don't I "go to a junior college and catch a nice man. It's not necessary to earn a living". I also think that they spent more on cram schools for my older brother (J19, aspiring-business and administrative associate).

Despite having lived in Europe all her life, UK2, who aspired to become a teacher, mentioned the views of her Japanese parents:

.....it's deemed that the man will bring the income, especially in Japanese society's perspective and viewpoints. So I think that if I were born as a boy, they would have put much more emphasis on how I can take care of my family financially.

Some girls were also discouraged from taking a year off to reapply the following year, especially to accommodate their brothers, when university fees or living costs posed a burden for the family. J23, who aspired to become an administrative associate, said:

I have many siblings, so it would have been difficult financially to go to a private university..... So that's why I'm at the current (national) university....If my brother wants to go into programming, I think it's better to spend money on him to go to a private or technical school....

J7, who was studying to become a lawyer, also mentioned that her friends could not afford to take a year off for preparatory studies to gain admission to a more competitive university:

During high school....if I looked around, there were friends who lowered their academic aspirations by saying, "I have a younger brother, so I have to go straight to university" or "my older brother went to a private school, so I can only go to a public university.

Hence, per Gottfredson's theory, career expectations of Japanese females can be circumscribed by the parents' devaluation of their daughters' education. This is exasperated by financial constraints in attending highly competitive private universities, especially if there are male siblings to accommodate. This is a significant constraint because, in Japan, the hierarchy of university competitiveness can shape the scope of career options and the types of organisations they can access. Unless females are admitted to the highly competitive Former Imperial national universities, the competitive private universities provide the next broad range of future job opportunities. If these options are restricted due to gender-based reasons imposed by parents, they may have little choice but to compromise by attending less prestigious public universities or more affordable private institutions, which could limit their occupational choices.

At the same time, student loans have increasingly become available through JASSO to finance university education. In fact, seven interviewees, constituting 25% of the sample of interviewees, were taking advantage of this financial option. Nevertheless, difficulties in repayment, which are becoming a social problem (Ouchi 2015), may still discourage some female students and parents from considering them as a viable option to finance university attendance (Armstrong *et al.* 2019). Consequently, they might opt for less competitive but more affordable public universities.

Aside from financial issues, some conservative parents are against daughters to live in big cities or away from home. J2, an aspiring social worker, said:

My cousin, who's a year older than me living in Yamanashi, said she wanted to go to a university in Tokyo. However, her parents and grandparents from the Yamanashi side told her that it wasn't acceptable for a girl to go to Tokyo alone. Consequently, she ended up going to a university in Yamanashi and couldn't come to Tokyo...... Perhaps there's a concern that, in Tokyo, she'll have a wild life, or, because she was the only girl among her siblings, they might not want to let go of the daughter they've raised so carefully.

And if it is not the parents, gender differentiation persists due to relatives. J13, an aspiring business associate, said:

When I was looking for a job, I was told by my grandmothers on my father and mother's sides that women should be administrative assistants. The reason is that they are easier to quit and prioritise the family.

UK1, a medical student with a Japanese mother also observed in Japan that:

....every time I say, especially to the Japanese side, "I want to be a doctor", they say, "Are you sure you want to become a doctor, not a nurse?" So I think, if I were a boy, they would have been more supportive, saying "doctor", that's great..... In terms of the English side, your career can continue after kids, and from the Japanese side, it's more, your career stops with your kids.

Certain interviewees indicated that they themselves would have set higher aspirations for themselves if they had been born as a male. For instance, J4, who had already received an offer to become a sales marketing professional and had a father who was a doctor, expressed:

I would have probably become a doctor.... If I were the eldest and a boy, I think my mother would not have been able to withstand the pressure from those around her to get me into medical school.

While emphasising the importance of their own preference for their future careers, the majority of interviewees acknowledged the influence of their parents. Therefore, when both parents and the interviewees themselves lowered their expectations due to gender, it could partly explain the lower occupational expectations of females in Japan in comparison to males. For instance, J3, planning to be a digital background artist, said that if she were a man, she would have pursued an independent career as an artist, believing that it was challenging for women to thrive in what she perceived as a predominantly male-dominated field.

If I were a man, I might have become an artist.... Perhaps it's my bias, but men are stronger, and while women can be tough, I think they are weaker in dealing with troubles. Artists have to manage on their own.

These examples align with surveys that indicate a large share of parents exert less pressure on their daughters than their sons when it comes to pursuing admission to elite universities or prestigious careers. Additionally, as explained in Chapter 3, parents generally pay more in supplementing their sons' education than their daughters' in junior and senior high schools (MEXT 2022c). This difference in treatment may stem from the belief that daughters' future social status relies on their husbands, consistent with the Dependency Model discussed in Chapter 1.

The gender-based differentiation imposed by parents may discourage young women in Japan from pursuing challenging occupations. However, it could also relieve them of the pressure to become the primary breadwinner in their future families (Maeda 2017). Consequently, while some young women acknowledge the potential risks of not earning enough for a comfortable lifestyle, they may pursue occupations they are passionate about without significant concerns about income or providing for their future children. This stands in contrast to males, who often bear the weight of being the primary earners due to the 'breadwinner bias' (CAO 2021). In this context, research by Borgonovi & Han (2020) show that the fear of failure among female students is lower in countries with greater gender inequality. This could partially explain the relaxed attitude of Japanese females towards their occupational expectations.

Interviewees in the UK

Among the interviewees in the UK, 11 stated that their parents were supportive of their career choices, but six indicated that their parents had high expectations for them, especially in terms of securing prestigious or high-status jobs, including in the STEM field. Notably, many of these mothers had at least a bachelor's degree, a prestigious occupation, or both. UK8, who was aspiring to become a cancer researcher, shared her experience regarding her mother, a statistician with a bachelor's degree working in an international organisation:

She expects me to have a very high position in an organisation. It's an income thing, but also a status thing..... Obviously, they would be really happy if I was a doctor or lawyer or something.

Or UK4, an aspiring research scientist, shared the following about her mother:

After I graduate, she wants me to have a professional job. She always wanted me to become a doctor or lawyer, or you know, the very typical things you can brag about.

Furthermore, the mother of UK18 wished for her daughter to follow in her footsteps and pursue a career as a solicitor. However, the interviewee had different plans and aspired to become a neuroscientist instead.

She has made the suggestion to become a solicitor.... She wanted me to follow her footsteps ...I think she would have liked me to have a job with high prestige, something that she would be proud to tell her friends... It wasn't good enough that I would just study science; it would have been good if I was going to be a doctor.

Despite these encouragements, only UK6, an aspiring cancer researcher, and UK12, an aspiring biochemist, were pursuing occupations that aligned with their mothers' wishes. Nevertheless, the rest of the interviewees were aiming for prestigious occupations, primarily in the field of science.

Thus, the parents of the interviewees in the UK generally held higher expectations for their daughters compared to those in Japan. Furthermore, on the UK side, very few interviewees believed that their parents' expectations for their careers would have been different if they were boys. One of the few exceptions was UK19 whose Hungarian father expressed the belief that women should handle house chores, while men should focus on working. Consequently, he would have preferred her to pursue a more esteemed job than being a teacher if she were a boy.

The interviewees in the UK themselves also did not envision choosing a different occupation if they were born as a boy. In fact, UK3, an aspiring academic researcher, believed that there was greater pressure on girls than boys to complete their education.

(My brother) hasn't finished his compulsory education... I do think there's less pressure on the boy than a girl....Even if (my sister and I) weren't finishing off our education for ourselves, we were doing it so that other people would pat on our heads .So maybe he was less expected to be people pleasing and he was more expected to follow his own wonts and values.

Furthermore, UK18, an aspiring neuroscientist, mentioned that she did not believe her parents would have expected "any less" if she were a boy. This observation suggests a potential trend in the UK of expecting "more" from girls than boys, in contrast to Japan.

Indirect effect: Mother as a role model

This section discusses the indirect influence of mothers as role models for their daughters, based on studies indicating that same-sex parents are generally more influential. The quantitative analysis in Chapter 3 also revealed a stronger relationship in Japan between the daughter's occupational expectations and her mother's occupation than her father's. Accordingly, most interviewees did not explicitly consider their fathers' occupations as role models or counter-role models for their occupational expectations. Instead, they looked at their fathers as examples of what they would expect or not expect in their future partners, both as husbands and as fathers to their children.

In general, mothers can serve as influential figures for their daughters, offering real-life examples of what is possible and not possible in careers. When daughters witness their mothers excelling in their professions, it can inspire them to consider similar career paths. However, in Japan, many mothers encounter challenges in serving as career role models due to the widespread practice of leaving their jobs when the children are young. Re-entering the workforce with positions that support career advancement is rare, as discussed in Chapter 1, resulting in a limited number of mothers who can act as occupational role models for their daughters.

Therefore, the following examines whether mothers are acting as occupational role models or counter-role models among the interviewees in Japan and the UK. It seeks to highlight the most salient responses provided by the interviewees, while all other responses are detailed in Appendix 6.A, presented in Table 6.5 for Japan and Table 6.6 for the UK.

<u>Interviewees in Japan</u>

In Japan, at one end of the spectrum, three interviewees regarded their mothers' careers as role models. For instance, J7, an aspiring lawyer, drew inspiration from her mother, who held the position

of Chief Executive Officer at a cosmetics company. However, rather than her specific occupation, J7 was more impressed by her mother's eloquence and people management skills, which are essential qualities for lawyers.

...when I was distressed over managing a (chorus) club during high school, my mother, who had become a manager a few years earlier, was able to summarise and express well how to advance discussions and guide my juniors.

Furthermore, J22, an aspiring academic, was treading in the footsteps of her mother, who held the position of a university professor. However, her role model was not solely based on her mother's occupation, but also on her ability to successfully balance her professional and family life, especially in academia where so few women manage to do so.

Even if they (women) get a doctoral degree, they are not teaching anymore, because for example, they had children and stayed at home. So those who became academics with children would be 20 years older than me. I finally found someone, but then there wasn't anyone above that, and then I ended up with my mother. I always wanted to get married and have children, so the fact that I took the same path is because I was conscious of her.

Moreover, five other interviewees commended their mothers for their dedication to both their careers and family responsibilities, irrespective of their specific occupations.

On the contrary, 10 interviewees expressed a desire to differentiate themselves from their mothers, regardless of their mothers' occupations, as they aspired for uninterrupted and uncompromised careers. J25, an aspiring business lawyer, shared her perspective regarding her mother, who worked as an administrative assistant:

By watching my mother since childhood, I thought I wanted to continue working as a full-time worker even around childbirth. My mother quit working when she had my older brother....and seeing her often having trouble finding jobs, I became to think that, when I have children, I want to avoid quitting work by using parental and maternity leave.

Some interviewees recognised that the times had changed compared to their mothers' era. J21, an aspiring worker for an international organisation, shared her view of her mother, who worked as a part-time English teacher in secondary schools:

Something I hope to be a bit different is.....to have more of a career too. Maybe because of the generation difference, during her time, people were more stay-at-home-moms and less of a working mother. So that's why she was a stay-home-mom a lot of the time. But social standards are changing. So I would like a balance.

Others saw their mothers as role models in certain aspects but not in others. For example, J14, who aspired to become a certified accountant, considered her mother a role model due to her qualified occupation, although she did not necessarily see her intermittent career as an example to follow.

....because she has a qualification as an architect, it provided security as she had highly paid (short-term) contracts and was able to do inspection work. So from my mother, I thought it was necessary to get a certified occupation. On the other hand, my mother wanted a continuous career; but she often said it wasn't possible during her era.... So from that perspective, I think it's important to continue a career without quitting.

Interviewees in the UK

On the UK side, none of the interviewees were following the exact occupational footsteps of their mother. However, four interviewees regarded their mothers' uninterrupted careers as sources of

inspiration. UK12, an aspiring biochemist, said of her mother who was a human resource specialist:

(My mother was a role model) being a career woman. I'm set to follow the same path. And I want to be focused on my career and keep growing until I'm older. So I think in that sense, we both have the same goal. That's how I want my future to look like, just in a different field.

UK13, an aspiring barrister, spoke about her mother, who worked as an airline logistics specialist:

I would want to be that kind of role model for my children. I really respect the fact that she is self-employed and she's as successful as she is. She completely made her own way and have a pretty successful career, flexibly on her own terms with what she enjoys.

Furthermore, UK18, an aspiring neuroscientist, expected to follow a high-status occupation like her mother, who was a solicitor.

I've always been driven as a high achiever for several reasons, but one of them was just to try and make her proud of me....

Alternatively, seven interviewees commended their mothers for re-entering the workforce or for their ability to balance work and family life, irrespective of their occupations.

On the other hand, like those in Japan, 11 interviewees in the UK believed that their mothers could have pursued other paths, such as continuing their careers or furthering their education. UK19, an aspiring elementary school teacher, shared her thoughts about her mother, who had been a housewife:

What I would change is, I think, it's also important to sometimes put yourself first and your goals in life and career goals.

UK3, an aspiring university teacher, also shared her opinion on her mother, who held a master's degree but worked as a cleaner:

I definitely learned the lesson from her to not give up a career or education or aspirations for a relationship...She wanted to get a PhD. And I think, with childcare, she couldn't really get a job when she was looking after us most of the time.

Furthermore, five interviewees suggested that their mothers could have encouraged their fathers to take on more household chores, potentially freeing up additional time for their own careers or other activities.

Gender Dimensions in the Workplace

As explained in Chapter 1, while the micro/meso systems may explain a significant portion of the variance in the types of occupation and career prospects that females expect in the future, the exo/macro level factors should not be underestimated. In other words, in addition to individual characteristics and parental factors, the labour market conditions and societal norms can also have a substantial impact (Saha & Sikora 2008; Schoon & Polek 2011; Sikora & Saha 2009; Vondracek *et al.* 1999).

In the quantitative analysis of Chapter 4, it was revealed that girls in Japan had significantly lower occupational expectations compared to boys due to the challenging gender equality landscape in the country. Conversely, countries with advanced levels of gender equality were associated with higher occupational expectations for girls relative to boys. This landscape was assessed through

indicators such as the gender wage gap, the proportion of female managers, men's unpaid work time, and societal views on the role of housewives.

Building on this understanding, the following section explores the perceptions of interviewees in Japan and the UK concerning gender related workplace issues, aiming to elucidate how these perceptions might shape their occupational expectations differently. To achieve this, it highlights the most contrasting responses provided by interviewees in the respective countries. A summary of all responses can be found in Appendix 6.A, presented in Table 6.7 for Japan and Table 6.8 for the UK.

Interviewees in Japan

Regarding the overall social environment for women pursuing their careers, most interviewees in Japan expressed concerns and criticisms. They pointed to demeaning remarks made by politicians and highlighted that Japan's gender equality situation ranked the lowest among G7 countries. Additionally, some interviewees, like J24, had personal experiences of discrimination in their previous jobs.

What I didn't like was that women's right to speak up in meetings was low.When I said, "Excuse me, how about this?", they said "No, it's ok". Other women who were looked down upon seemed to have gotten used to it and didn't feel any discomfort (J24, aspiring aid worker).

J11, who had already received a job offer at a bank, pointed out that all the executives were men, and female bank tellers were obligated to wear uniforms. She also mentioned that female job seekers were advised to wear skirts, and in pharmaceutical companies, female staff were expected to pour drinks for clients during business dinners. In a similar vein, UK14, who was planning to become a political science researcher, shared that her Japanese mother had experienced difficulties while working for a Japanese company in London.

My mum doesn't have a lot of good things to say about Japanese working life. From her experiences, especially when she worked in a Japanese company, even though it was in London, she was saying how she hated it and it was horrible. She never went into detail, but I think it was just a lot of casual sexism.

Some interviewees criticised employers for discriminating against women by expecting them to leave their jobs when they had children, while others pointed out that women sometimes internalised this stereotype and imposed their own glass ceiling. Interviewees in the UK who had relatives in Japan also noted differences on the supply side.

...My school wasn't competitive. It was a military school, actually. So a couple of the people, girls included, were expected to go into the army. Nobody I know wanted to be a stay-at-home mom, except one girl... but people don't really say that in England.....because wanting to have a career shows that you are driven. It's not really something I spoke about with my Japanese friends, but my cousin in Japan, she does not seem to be chasing a career at all, whereas another one of my cousins, she has a career, and is always working, but things like temporary jobs, so clearly, if she gets married, I expect she'll drop out of that job.... the girls I was with didn't talk about what they wanted to be when they grew older, and that is a marked difference between England and Japan (UK4, aspiring scientific researcher with a Japanese mother).

The background to this issue is the persistent norm regarding gender roles, where women are expected to manage household chores and, in recent years, to work as well, albeit mostly part-time, to supplement the household income. This is because, as explained in Chapter 1, most full-

time jobs in Japan require long hours, making it difficult for women to simultaneously care for their children (Nemoto 2013; Takahashi & Nakagami 2007; Yamaguchi 2019a). Due to these conservative gender norms, many interviewees expressed concern about the lack of role models in their expected occupations. J25, an aspiring corporate lawyer, lamented:

...since women who have qualification for legal practice is only 20-30%,...you can see how tough reality is....At the law firm I'm working part-time,...there are meetings until midnight. I see female lawyers returning late and wonder how they are managing (J25, aspiring lawyer).

As mentioned earlier, even in academia, J22, an aspiring university teacher, mentioned that women with doctoral degrees are often not teaching but staying at home to take care of their children. Other interviewees who were aiming for highly professional occupations, such as medical doctors or lawyers, expressed the need to learn how these professionals successfully balanced their work and personal lives. This aligns with the findings of Olsson & Martiny (2018), who emphasise the benefits of presenting female role models who have both successful careers and children.

The issue is particularly significant because, as reported in the Public Opinion Poll on Gender-Equal Society 2018, 47% of female workers in Japan ceased working after the birth of their first child between 2010 and 2014 (CAO 2019c). Even though many eventually return to work after several years, the jobs they find are often part-time or irregular (Nagase 2003, 2018; Yamaguchi 2019a), offering few benefits or prospects for career advancement.

Consequently, while approximately two-thirds of the interviewees expressed a desire to take maternity and parental leave and/or work reduced-hours, many cited the challenge of continuing their careers, despite the availability of these systems. They believed that their employers or colleagues would not be receptive to such arrangements. Research by Teramura (2015) supports this, indicating that corporate norms, culture, and workplace atmosphere strongly encourage female workers to resign upon marriage and childbirth. Additionally, the *de facto* entitlement for reduced hours in Japan is limited to parents with children under three, with the default being 6 hours of work per day. This is significantly more restrictive compared to the various flexible arrangements available and commonly used in the UK, as explained in Chapter 5.

Accordingly, J6, an aspiring IT visual technician, said she might quit and then try to work for a different company after the children have grown because taking parental leave might be a nuisance for co-workers. A few interviewees therefore preferred to work for the public sector, large companies, international organisations, or abroad, since these avenues seemed more conducive to taking leave or working flexibly and maintain a WLB. Many also saw that nursery shortage was a serious problem but that hiring nannies was not common in Japan. For example:

I would like to use parental leave as much as possible, but I think there's a big difference between availability of the system and the actual utilisation at work....I think foreign firms and international organisations have better systems and the environment to balance work and childcare than Japanese firms. So that's one of the reasons why I want to eventually work abroad or for an international organisation (J9, aspiring aid worker).

I would prefer working at an international company or a Japanese company with international presence because the maternity and paternity leaves are much more generous.... (In Japanese culture).... you're not a good employee because you're not being there for everyone and you know you're taking leave and everyone else is working (J10, aspiring financial consultant).

Furthermore, several interviewees also raised concerns about the potential challenges faced by their future partners when attempting to take paternity leave. J21, an aspiring aid worker, highlighted that Japan has commendable paternity leave laws but noted that few fathers actually utilise this benefit.

Conversely, a few interviewees stated that they saw less discrimination among workers in their 20s or in certain occupations like art directors, graphic designers, or teachers. J8, an aspiring marketing professional at a bank, mentioned that her bank was actively promoting women, and being a woman was no longer a hindrance in her workplace. In fact, there was a corporate reputational risk for banks that did not increase the ratio of female managers. Some interviewees noted that their seniors had worked hard to become role models, and now, it was their responsibility to serve as examples for the younger generation.

Others were also optimistic, noting that employers were now mandated to hire and promote more women in professional roles, expand parental leave options, and report these statistics to the government — an observation corroborated by the findings by Osawa (2015). J26, an aspiring corporate legal adviser, heard from recent graduates that many individuals were taking advantage of parental leave.

The human resource person I'm close to said that it's an age where people take parental leave – it's become normal for even men, so there isn't much to worry about. Actually, it's more detrimental for companies to lose human resources, so she told me that if staff can take it and return to work, it's most welcomed.

In fact, in recent years, the proportion of full-time female employees utilising maternity or parental leave without quitting has also increased to around 80% (MHLW 2021b). Certain localities have also expanded the availability of nursery places. Thus, young females are seeing positive changes in society that could enable them to take up their occupational choice and manage a family.

In general, only a minority of interviewees in Japan explicitly mentioned adjusting their occupations solely due to concerns about WLB. This could be the case because many of them were still at a stage far from having children, and possibly because support policies and practices have been gradually improving. However, the traditional value placed on motherhood over work may have been deeply ingrained in them, to the extent that it could have made an unconscious and long-term impact on gradually circumscribing the occupational choices of the interviewees. This suggests that further research in this area is necessary to shed more light on the complex interplay between traditional societal values and career expectations among young women in Japan.

Interviewees in the UK

On the UK side, while some interviewees mentioned that the upper echelons of academia, pharmaceuticals, or law were predominantly occupied by older white men, not many referred to overt workplace discrimination. Furthermore, a common view among interviewees in science majors was that females are not disadvantaged in STEM, particularly since there were many women in these fields, unlike the situation in Japan.

...I have noticed that there are more women in the industry than men in Belgium and in the UK, actually. In my class, for example, we were 28 people in our master's and only four were guys.... It turns out that there are more women in pharmaceutical research (UK6, aspiring pharmaceutical lab scientist).

 \dots I spent some time at a biological lab (at a national Japanese university)... They essentially said that science is very male dominated in Japan...their estimate was 90%

men.... I think it's like 60% men from my personal experience in England.... In Japan, they seem to expect women to do a degree, and then become stay-at-home moms anyway.... What's the point of going into further education if you're not going to pursue a career (UK4, aspiring researcher, with a Japanese mother)?

Not only were there more women in these fields, but interviewees saw that they also had children and were able to advance into managerial roles. Some also noted that society is progressing in this direction.

Especially now in the UK, there's a lot more female empowerment to go into big careers and still be able to have children.....there's a lot of representation of female doctors.....They're both big social aspects that everyone is driving towards currently. I've always felt like I've had role models in medicine (UK1, aspiring medical doctor).

I know a lot of women in academia who are lab leaders, and they have young children... So I think my working environment is very conducive to women working... It is becoming more open, so people aren't against taking time off to have children as they are like in typical banking (UK7, aspiring immunology researcher).

More specifically, over half the interviewees in the UK expressed a preference to take maternity/parental leave and work part-time when their children were young, which was similar to the preferences of interviewees in Japan. However, unlike their counterparts in Japan, not many interviewees in the UK expressed significant concerns about their ability to do so. UK21, aspiring financial consultant, said:

I'd probably work part-time and get back into full-time work when they're old enough, maybe like 15 or 16. I'm thinking, two or three times a week or maybe just a few hours a day for those two or three days. Or maybe negotiate with the company to be like a zero-hour basis....My friend's mum who is a doctor, she worked part-time for 18 years. She should just go into work two days a week. Yes, she does get all the benefits still.

This lack of serious concern in working part-time is likely because, as explained in Chapter 5, in the UK, there is no great disadvantage compared to full-time in terms of hourly wages, benefits, and career prospects, which is in stark contrast with Japan. Furthermore, switching between full-time and part-time is relatively easy in the UK, a situation that does not happen often in Japan.

Summary

This chapter conducted a comparative analysis of interviews with female university students in Japan and the UK to verify whether Japanese girls indeed have relatively low occupational expectations, and if so, to gain insights into the influencing factors. The study confirmed that the average SES of the expected occupations by the interviewees in Japan was lower than that of their counterparts in the UK. In particular, there were more interviewees in the UK aiming for occupations in the STEM field. To elucidate the factors, the chapter specifically compared individual preferences for future partners, influence of parents within the micro/meso systems, and gender-related workplace dynamics within the exo/macro systems between the two countries.

Although the Status Dependence theory had been put forth as a hypothesis to explain the low occupational expectations of Japanese females, the findings suggested that most interviewees in Japan did not strongly demonstrate a reliance on their future husbands for their social status, possibly as most of them were career oriented. Furthermore, since the potential attributes of future partners remained unknown, preferences did not appear to have a significant impact on their occupational expectations. As for the interviewees in the UK, however, they were even less dependent on their future partners, with some considered having children without one, indicating greater possibilities for women's financial independence. Additionally, a few interviewees envisioned their future partners to

accommodate their career ambitions or taking on the role of a stay-at-home parent. Furthermore, many emphasised the importance of their partners equally sharing household chores and childcare responsibilities to enable them to focus on their careers, challenging the default of assigning these tasks to women.

Concerning parental influence, the findings discovered that correlations existed between occupational expectations, academic competence (measured by the competitiveness of university groups), and parents' education and occupational SES in both Japan and the UK. However, the UK presented a more complex picture compared to Japan. For instance, some interviewees in the UK who were attending highly competitive universities or expecting to take up occupations with high ISEI scores had parents without university degrees or were engaged in occupations with relatively modest ISEI scores, a result not found in Japan.

This aligns with the quantitative analysis using PISA data, which demonstrated that while parents' occupations influenced the occupational expectations of Japanese high school girls who were planning to go to university, this social class effect was not evident in the UK. These results suggest the influence of alternative mechanisms in the UK, such as the student loan system and broader societal initiatives that facilitate young women from disadvantaged backgrounds to pursue higher education at prestigious universities and aspire to challenging careers.

In addition, although parents' encouragement may not have been the sole determinant of their daughters' career choices in both countries, there was a notable difference in the nature of parental encouragement. In Japan, parents were more inclined to encourage occupations that prioritised stability over high social status. This situation stemmed from the lower expectations associated with female careers compared to those of males who are traditionally seen as future breadwinners. In contrast, in the UK, more mothers had prestigious occupations who pressured the interviewees to aim for higher career aspirations, thus elevating their expectations towards challenging professions.

The mixed perceptions of mothers as role models were similar between Japan and the UK. In both cases, these role models were primarily not about specific occupations, as very few interviewees aspired to follow in their mother's professional footsteps. This finding aligns with a study that examined 5.6 million parent-child pairs in terms of occupations, concluding that children typically choose occupations different from their parents (Adamic & Filiz 2016).

Furthermore, in both countries, while a few interviewees regarded their mothers as role models for their ability to maintain successful careers or achieve a WLB, a larger proportion of interviewees aimed to avoid career interruptions or compromises experienced by their mothers. Consequently, the presence or absence of role models were elsewhere in society that either motivated or discouraged them in shaping their occupational expectations.

In this regard, the study confirmed that the interviewees in Japan lacked female role models in their expected occupations who successfully balanced work and family life. This situation has remained relatively unchanged since the early 2000s, even after the implementation of the Equal Employment Act (Ouchi 2012). As a result, the interviewees in Japan anticipated greater challenges in achieving a WLB, particularly concerning parental leave and flexible work for childcare. They expressed concerns about potential career disruption and inflexibility at the workplace, partly stemming from Japan's rigid labour system and an unwelcoming atmosphere towards leaves and reduced work hours, as explained in Chapter 5. Additionally, these interviewees were well aware of workplace discrimination, prevailing gender stereotypes that burdened them with household responsibilities, and a prevalent culture of excessive overtime work, which was incompatible with family life.

These systemic constraints in the broader social and economic context in Japan are influencing the occupational choices of many females. This phenomenon aligns with findings from earlier studies conducted in other countries (Saha 1982). Many Japanese women opt for careers in the public sector or certified professions, driven by concerns about the feasibility of sustaining their careers once they

become mothers. Although schools and universities in Japan have made efforts to expose female students to occupational role models, the persisting uncertainties surrounding WLB and career progression could have discouraged the interviewees to aim for occupations with greater qualifications, responsibilities, prestige, and income.

In contrast, on the UK side, while some interviewees acknowledged the dominance of men in the upper echelons of certain sectors such as academia, pharmaceuticals, and law, not many of them pointed to overt discrimination in the workplace. In particular, those pursuing STEM occupations did not perceive significant disadvantages due to the substantial presence of women in these fields. Several interviewees even mentioned that their respective industries had more women than men and that they saw a shift in societal attitudes towards empowering women to pursue challenging careers while still accommodating family life. In addition, more than half of the UK interviewees expressed a desire to take maternity and parental leave and work part-time once they had children, but relatively few expressed significant concerns about doing so, particularly when compared to the interviewees in Japan.

This study has several limitations. Firstly, the interviewees may not be entirely representative of all female university students in Japan and the UK, as they volunteered to share their perspectives on their future jobs and were likely to be more career oriented. Secondly, while the interviewees attended universities situated in diverse geographical areas, many of these institutions are competitive and located in relatively large cities. This might suggest that the interviewees were more progressive on gender issues compared to the average female university students in both countries. Thirdly, differences in the duration of bachelor's and master's courses in Japan, which are four and two years, respectively, and generally three and one year in the UK, may have influenced the clarity of the interviewees' occupational expectations. Fourthly, disparities in the labour market dynamics between Japan and the UK, where Japanese employers tend to hire generalists while UK employers favour specialists, complicate direct occupational comparisons. Lastly, the ethnic diversity among the interviewees, particularly in the UK, including those with one or two Japanese parents, introduced complexity when making cultural attributions (see Appendix 6.B for descriptions and cultural interpretations of students who had mixed backgrounds).

While acknowledging these limitations, this chapter has affirmed the lower occupational expectations of female university students in Japan in comparison to their counterparts in the UK. It has also shed light on the influencing factors. While the effects of parental education and occupation can be observed in both countries, the transmission of social class effects seemed more pronounced in Japan. Furthermore, a clear contrast between Japan and the UK is that parents in Japan tended to discourage girls from pursuing challenging careers in order to prioritise family care, while some parents in the UK exerted pressure on their daughters to aim for high-status occupations. In addition, although most mothers were not typically seen as occupational role models in either country, the UK had a greater presence of female professionals in their chosen occupations. As a consequence, female students in the UK had fewer concerns about balancing work and life in their careers. Thus, it can be concluded that these factors, gradually ingrained into the subconsciousness of interviewees in Japan as they transitioned from childhood to adulthood, cumulatively circumscribed them to a greater extent in compromising their occupational expectations compared to those in the UK.

Appendix 6.A: Responses on Parental Influence and Workplace Issues¹⁶

Table 6.5: Summary of Responses by the Interviewees in Japan on Parental Influence

	Parental End	couragement	Mother as				
ID	Gender differentiated	Gender neutral	Rolel Model	Counter Role Model			
J1	Father expects better university and iob for a son.						
J2	Mother expects better university and work for a big company for a son.		Worked in an area she studied.				
J3		No difference with younger brother.	Worked when she had time.				
J4		No difference with younger brother.	Did housework with ease.	But should have continued work.			
J5	Father expects a son to go to a national university and become a publi servant.		Worked and did housework.				
J6	Father would not have sent a son to technical school.						
J7		Mother expects a son to do more housework.	Continued working. Learned from her experience as manager.				
J8		No difference as I am already pursuing a male course.	She quit working but earned a qualification.	Shouldn't be submissive to her husband.			
J9	A son would have been sent abroad.			I would have gone back to work.			
J10	Propbably more encouragement to do engineering.			Did not have to sacrifice her career for the children.			
J11	A son would have been expected a more stable and prestigious job.		Good at cooking. I want my future partner to be a good cook.				
J12		My younger brother is not expected more.	Worked full time and prepared meals.				
J13		No gender difference with my younger brother.	Valued the family.	But I want to continue working.			
J14	My grandmother expects more from my older brother.	But not by my parents.	Was able to work on contracts with a qualification.	But I want to continue working.			
J15		No difference with my three older brothers.	Prepared meals and did pick-ups and drop-offs.				
J16		No difference with my younger brother.	organisation of household chores.				
J17		Same expectation with my younger brother.	Worked reduced hours.				
J18	Relatives expects a male to continue the family name.			Compromised her potential to adjust to her husband.			
J19	My mother said a daugher should go to a junior college and it's not necessary to earn.		Did both work and housechores.				
J20		No difference with my older brother.	Worked hard.				
J21		No difference.		I want to have more career.			
J22	Different from my two older brothers but that's because they are competent not because of gender.		Being married and an academic.				
J23		I am more competent than my brother, so they don't have more expectation from him.					
J24		There is more expectation from me.		I prefer to work.			
J25		No difference with my older brother.		I don't want to quit, by using parental leave and reduced work hours.			
J26		No difference with my older brother.		Want to work even with reduced hours.			
J27	Father expects a son to go to a famous university.						

¹⁶ Information presented in this appendix is derived from interviews conducted by the author.

Table 6.6: Summary of Responses by the Interviewees in the UK on Parental Influence

п	Depents' he skape und	Parental En	couragement	Mother as			
ID	Parents background	Gender differentiated	Gender neutral	Rolel Model	Counter Role Model		
UK1	Japanese mother and British father	Japanese relatives expects me to be a nurse.	Parents and English relatives are gender neutral.	Brought passion into work and child-raising			
UK2	Japanese parents	Especially father would have emphasised taking care of family financially.			Should have done less household chores.		
UK3	British parents	Younger brother had less pressure to finish school. Girls are expected to follow rules.			She should not have given up her career and PhD.		
UK4	Japanese mother and British father	Expected to be a doctor or lawyer for a daughter and doctor or engineer for a son.	No different for a son because I go to a male dominated field.	Working and keeping the household.	With a part-time job, should have done 70% household chores instead of 100%.		
UK5	Ukrainian parents		Equal expectations with two older brothers.		She couldn't get a university education, so it was important for me.		
UK6	Japanese mother and Belgian father		None	Juggled work and life. Spent quality time with me.			
UK7	British parents	Sisters should look after the brother. Men go to work and women take care of the house and children.			Finance was all in father's name. I want more control.		
UK8	Pakistani/ German mother and Italian/ American father	I am expected to cook but not my brother.	Othewise same house chores and expectations.	Work driven but was always available for us.			
UK9	Italian parents		No different from younger brother.	Balanced work, family and social life.			
UK10	Taiwanese mother and Belgian/Spanish father	There was a big dispute when the brother quit engineering.	Parents say they treat the siblings the same way.	Stable presence at home.			
UK11	Portuguese parents		No gender difference	Sacrificed her career for the family to be together, which I would do the same.			
UK12	Parents from a Former Socialist Country		Same expectation with younger brother.	Career woman.	I don't want to have children.		
UK13	British parents	Being good at maths is smart, which is associated with boys. Girls good with English is not necessarily considered smart.		Feminist with a successful career on her own terms.	Should have been more forceful about my father's household chores.		
UK14	Japanese mother and British father		No difference. When my older brother achieved expectations, parents had the same with me.	Getting back to work and doing something she wanted to, even though father was not happy.			
UK15	British parents		Cannot imagine gender difference.	She never let the military put her down and followed her dreams.	Could have been firmer with my father on doing chores. Mother took care of mother-in- law, but father should have.		
UK16	British parents		Viewed the brothes and sisters the same.	Gool child care and work balance.	Wanted her to come and see my extracarricular activities.		
UK17	British parents		No gender difference.	Cared about everyone else being happy.	Didn't do the things she wanted to, like going to university because she thought she didn't have enough time to study and work.		
UK18	Irish mother and British father	Father might have expected a son to be more interested in engineering like him.	Otherwise no gender difference.	Managed to work and raise children.	Had difficulty in working from home and looking after us.		
UK19	Hungarian parents	Father would have pushed more education for a son and not wanted him to be a teacher because of the salary. He expects men to be the ones working.		Children was priority.	Also important to have a balance by putting yourself first and have career goals.		
UK20	Japanese parents	Pressured my brother to go to a good university.			Should have had her own time.		
UK21	Hong Kong Chinese parents		No gender difference.	Efficient in house chores.	Would have had father dedicate more to chores.		

Table 6.7: Summary of Responses by the Interviewees in Japan on Workplace Issues

ID	Workplace Concern	Maternity/Parental Leave or Flexible Working			
	Challenges	Opportunities	Challenges	Opportunities	
J1	Few female managers due to marriage and pregnancy.		Difficult to take parental leave in companies and few men take it.		
J2	Few female managers due to leave after pregnancy		Men should take parental leave too.	Easy to take parental leave in social services.	
J3	Women have to work and do household chores.	There are female art managers so not much gap.		Male university faculty members are taking parental leave.	
J4	Women should have more options	No difference in management. Males could be house husbands.		There are companies that support maternity/parental leave.	
J5	Prevalent overtime work is a challenge for child raising		Difficult to take maternity/ parental leave. Should force males to take parental leave.		
J6	Female office workers have too much overtime work including on weekends. Women are expected to do housechores.	Digital art companies have weekends off and no discrimination.			
J7	Worried because only few women. Too much overtime work. Women are expected housework. Outsourcing is rare in Japan.		Parental leave is unpaid, reduced hours is incompatible with workplace.		
J8	No role model in the 40s.	No discrimination before 30s. Companies worry about reputation if they don't increase female managers	Society's loss for not being able to work due to lack of nurseries.		
J9	Difficult to get back to work once you quit		Parental leave is difficult to take. Better overseas or in international organisations. Nannies are not common.		
J10	Women are asked if they will continue working once married. Politicians make disparaging remarks on women. Japan has lowest gender equality among G7.	Female labour force participation is high. Women are being recruited more.	Maternity and parental leave are hard to take. International companies have higher standards. Few men aware of parental leave.		
J11	Have to wear a skirf for interview. Women have to attend to drinks with clients. Only men in banking. Changing jobs is difficult. Men should do child raising too.				
J12	Tasks are changed when married and have children. Employers won't send them on missions.				
J13	There are men's dorms but not for women. Men have higher status.	Companies are increasing female professionals. Women need to be proactive.			
J14		Female accountants with children can end early.	Men and women should take parental leave equally.		
J15	Women who want to work and do child raising have difficulties because companies want to grow.		Mothers hesitate taking parental leave.		
J16	More difficult for women to get promoted cf men, which is a deterrent to work in Japan.				
J17	Men are promoted more not because of discrimination but because career delay due to parental leave.	Female doctors are preferred by both female and male patients, so it's an advantage.		Pay to hire child minder.	
J18	Gender wage gap even upon entry due to male preference. Companies don't expect much from females because they leave when pregnant. Women's own stereotype is the bottleneck.		Problem is the mindset of men who think they can contribute to the family without taking parental leave. They need to involve in children's development and make Japan a kinder society.		
J19	Environment is not ready for working and child raising. Uban and rural areas both have fixed ideas that men work and women do housechores.		Worry about returning to the same post after leave.		
J20	Nursing environment is very busy and often require unpaid overtime.				
J21	Want to work in international companiese because more females are in higher positions and role models. More difficult for women to work in Japan.		Japan has one of the best paternity leave law but not many take it.	Maternity leave policy ensures women to go back to the work force.	
J22	Japanese literature department is finally about half female faculty but law department has zero. Need role models.				
J23	Men have advantage even in the public sector. Easier to take parental leave and not much overtime in foreign companies.		Child care workers are overworked.		
J24	Women had no right to speak in meetings, so I quit. Women get used to this.		Society does not welcome maternity and parental leave.		
J25	Females are only 20-30% in the legal field. How do female lawyers cope with working late? Promotion is difficult.			Men are being encouraged to take parental leave.	
J26	In Japan, there is gender role and pressure to do household chores. But not in France and do not feel discrimination.		Nannies and baby sitters are hired in France but is not common in Japan.	Many senior women are taking parental leave and it's becoming the norm for men. Companies do not want employees to leave.	
J27	Given up on the wage gap between administrative and professional jobs.			Can ask companies their share of women and rate of maternity/parental leave uptake.	

Table 6.8: Summary of Responses by the Interviewees in the UK on Workplace Issues

			Motomity /D				
ID	Workplace C	oncern	Maternity/Parental Lea	ve or Flexible Working			
	Challenges	Opportunities	Challenges	Opportunities			
	Older patients treat female doctors like a nurse.	There are more female medical students than	Taking parental leave will delay promotion				
IIK1	Country side mindset expects women to stay at home	males and most hospitals are female	against males which is frustrating. Three month				
ORI	or be a receptionist and look after the husband.	dominated. In London, men and women are	maternity leave is too short. Paternity leave is				
		equal.	not prevalent.				
	Male teachers are treated more seriously.		Many people cannot afford nannies. Employers	Having nannies is not looked down upon.			
UK2			do not welcome mothers being late taking	Paternity leave is increasing.			
			children to school.				
	Female academics have less publication if they have	Academia is good for non-discrimination. See	Childcare is really expensive and hard to secure.				
UK3	children.	female professors having children.	Paternity and maternity leave should be equal.				
	Big imbalance in hiring by playing into stereotype	Being a woman can have positive	Both naternity and maternity leave should be	Many 16-18 year olds are looking for nannying			
	Females require more effort to convince clients that	discriminatory effect if companies have to	longer	iohs for mothers working long hours			
UK4	you know your area. Older generation is the concern.	meet quota.		,			
	,						
		Male and female teachers have equal		Different within Europe In Germany women			
UK5		opportunity		only took a few weeks off but in Italy, they			
				staved at home and did not go back to work.			
		There are more women in pharmaceutical	I don't want to be dependent on parents for	There can be subsidies for child care.			
UK6		research than men in Belgium and UK.	childcare, although it's sometimes nice.				
	Professors are mostly white males. Need a few	Flexible and inclusion Female professors and	Intense job like banking is less open to taking	Plenty of nurseries and waiting time is OK. The			
	nublications before narental leave. Semi rural places	lab leaders are increasing. Some have young	time off Maternity leave shouldn't be longer	government funds those who earn under a			
	and older population have more traditional views	children but there is no pressure to have	than naternity leave	certain wage, but only from two children			
UK7	and older population have more diautional views.	children soon. Environment is flevible	than paterinty leave.	certain wage, but only noin two emiliaren.			
		inclusive and conducive to women Deople are					
		not against taking time off					
<u> </u>	When I say I want to prioritise career over children I	Don't feel disadvantaged when applying for	As there is stigma for naternity leave, it should	In France, friends had nannies or stav-at home			
1	get comments World expects women to have	iobs Conservation is regarded as women's	he encouraged In the IIK parental leave is a	mome in primary school But in middle school			
111/0	children A successful woman is someone settled	occupation because it deals with animals	mother's thing	mothers worked so they had papping or friends			
	down with a big family not with assumptional	occupation because it deals with animals.	mouler's uning.	were independent Dig offices are appring			
	achievement			care control for young paranta			
<u> </u>	actic venient.		Nannias are quite expensive and never Dettint	We had haby sitters and someone habits			
	My school was dominated by stay-at-nome moms		Nammes are quite expensive and never british.	home			
11120	looking after kids. Even if both parents worked full-			nome.			
UK9	time, childcare was automatically assigned to mother.						
	I hough they didn't mind too much, they couldn't						
	develop their careers.	x c 11. · · · · · ·					
		I never faced discrimination or received	Architect cousin in Paris had hassle to get her				
		gender related comments.	baby in a nursery close by, so my parents had to				
0K10			take care sometimes. Paternity leave is shorter				
			than maternity leave. Parents should be able to				
			decide allocation of leave.				
	I here is only one female supervisor in my cluster.		In the UK, childcare is expensive and hard to	Portugal is a family based social system for day			
	Women have to work beyond working hours and lack		access.	care, so grandparents or a live-in nanny took			
	good WLB. They don't want to have children or only			care of children. As this is not common			
	once they are older. We need different role models,			anymore, sister uses a nursery.			
0K11	including child-free by choice. In Portugal, families						
	cannot rely only on male salary, but since salary is						
	low, women don't take time off. In Brussels, high						
	salaries allowed either mothers or fathers not to						
	work.						
	Top in pharmaceuticals is men. Societal expectations	UK is more progressive and Western Europe is					
UK12	in Eastern Europe is to marry and have children	more lenient with family expectations. At the					
-	before 30 or 35.	university, 65% of the biochemistry course are					
L	m · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	remaies.		m1 1 1 1 C			
	I op in judiciary are old white men. Hiring is based on		Nursery is quite expensive.	I here is subsidy for a certain income bracket.			
	stereotypes, discrimination, and prejudice as						
	cnampers don't have hiring policies. Fewer women						
UK13	become barristers because the job is demanding by						
	arguing with others. Old white judges do not take into						
	consideration female's childcare responsibilities and						
<u> </u>	demand delivery at short notice.	Develophishing the start of the		Description of the second s			
	in the workplace, remains might not be taken	Don't think there is significant discrimination.		Daycare is offered at my university for post			
	seriously. They may receive inappropriate comments.	Many companies nave programmes to get		docs. I nere is a lot of talk about trying to			
L		women who left for children to come back.		increase paternity leave.			
UK15		Don ctnink gender matters in job applications.					
<u> </u>		Teaching is female dominated Head and	Paternity loave should be longer on the source of	Nurrory is quite evenencing but as it is not			
111217		deputies in my schools wore all women	raternity leave snould be longer or the same as	ivursery is quite expensive, but as it is not			
0110		deputies in my schools were all women.	was on her own after two wools	um casonable, it is manageable.			
<u> </u>		Condor noutral in my field Museums ar-	Daveara is expansive. Teachara were cret-ful for				
11124-		mostly women	maternity leave but men should be a leave				
		mosuy women.	linaternity leave, but men should have longer				
<u> </u>	Social expectation is for moments he was well 1.	There are women minsingly and the form	ieave as well.				
	social expectation is for women to be responsible for	There are women principals and professors.					
UK18	care giving, when women go for jobs, they are asked						
	about plans to have children. Human resources						
<u> </u>	policies are not in place.	Proveden berrieden in California	Determited because in the state	A - bining - upper training			
		remaies have advantage for elementary	Paternity leave is not common in Hungary.	As niring a nanny in Hungary is not expensive,			
UK19		teaching because females are better at caring.		had an old lady for 8 years.			
<u> </u>		For older students, genders are equal.					
	in Japan, it's difficult to take paid leave or be						
UK20	promoted. After child birth, females cannot return to						
<u> </u>	the same position because it is unwelcomed.	In IIV coloury proceeding and the	Dawhang musclowers do worth as	Theoreto meteomity because and and the f			
111224	in Asia, women are looked down upon.	III UK, salary, promotion, and career paths are	remaps rural areas do not have many nurseries	abildeere which is accessible and subsidies for			
0 1 2 1		u ansparent and equal for men and women.	because there isn t much work.	immodiately			
1		1	1	mmeuiately.			

Appendix 6.B: Descriptions and Interpretations of Interviewees with Mixed Backgrounds

In both Japan and the UK, several interviewees showed cultural diversity, with a few having experienced their formative years outside these countries. Furthermore, some interviewees had familial roots that extended beyond Japanese and British heritage. These mixed backgrounds introduce complexities when attempting to attribute the influence of micro/meso and exo/macro environmental factors on their occupational expectations. Essentially, it remains challenging to determine whether these individuals were primarily shaped by their parental upbringing, the cultural environment in which they were raised, or a blend of both. Nonetheless, the following section briefly describes the backgrounds of interviewees with diverse upbringings, aiming to shed light on the intricate interplay of cultures.

UK1, UK4, UK14, UK6, and J16 had Japanese mothers and British, Belgian, or American fathers, growing up in their fathers' countries. These interviewees all held high occupational expectations, aspiring to become a doctor, biologist, academic, cancer researcher, and certified accountant. Their Japanese mothers, who had moved to their husbands' countries, were exceptionally supportive of their daughters' career aspirations, irrespective of their own educational or occupational status. Given that the levels of encouragement exceeded that of the average mother of the interviewees in Japan, it is plausible that these Japanese mothers may have been influenced by the societal norms of Europe or the USA, where they have integrated themselves. This influence could have led them to emphasise the importance of successful careers for their daughters, reflecting the prevalent norms of gender equality in these countries. This includes both the constraining need for females to pursue careers and be economically independent, as well as the assurance that this is attainable.

Among the interviewees in the UK, there were two students with both parents of Japanese origin. UK2, aspiring to become a secondary school teacher, lived in several continental European countries with her parents and attended international schools. UK20, aiming to work as a community worker, grew up in Japan. Neither of their mothers were employed, and their fathers held gender-biased views, believing that girls should primarily focus on taking care of the family. This implies that, despite the latter family having lived in Europe for many years, their perspectives remained rooted in traditional Japanese conservatism.

Within those interviewed in Japan, J10, an aspiring financial analyst, had a unique background. She was born to Indian parents but grew up in Japan, attending international schools with peers from Europe, USA, and Asia. Her father worked as an industrial production engineer, while her mother was a secondary school maths teacher. Indian culture can be complex when it comes to gender issues. On the one hand, many upper-class women pursue prestigious occupations such as lawyers and doctors, but on the other hand, as per J10's observation, Indian society tends to prioritise males over females and maintains traditional gender roles.

In J10's case, her father was supportive of her pursuing challenging occupations, particularly in the technology industry, including in Japan. However, her mother leaned towards emphasising family life regardless of her chosen occupation. J10 herself felt more aligned with her Asian schoolmates who valued women's roles in the family, in contrast to her European peers who were more career oriented. Nevertheless, she maintained aspirations to work for an international consulting firm as a data or financial analyst, which is considered as prestigious in Japan.

Among the UK group with mixed backgrounds, several had parents from Southern Europe, Former Socialist countries, and Asia, although most of the students did not grow up in their parents' countries. For instance, UK9, an aspiring documentary filmmaker, had Italian parents but grew up in the UK. Italy is a conservative Southern European country with traditional gender roles. However, UK9 did not think that she was treated differently from her brother by her parents in terms of expectations for future career or family life.

The parents of UK11, an aspiring researcher, were from Portugal, another conservative Southern European country but with a relatively high rate of women's full-time labour participation. Her parents moved to Brussels for her father's job at the European Commission, and her mother, who was a banker, gave up her job in Portugal to follow her husband. While she found a job in Brussels, it was at a lower level compared to her previous position. UK11, who mostly attended international schools in Brussels, said that she valued family life and would do the same as her mother. This could imply two things. First, UK11 could have been influenced by the conservative family tradition of her parents and her country of origin. Second, as an aspiring researcher with English proficiency and an expected doctoral degree, she had reason to be confident in finding jobs as an academic possibly beyond the UK or Portugal to follow her future spouse to keep the family together.

The three interviewees with parents from Former Socialist countries exhibited different patterns. UK19, an aspiring elementary school teacher with Hungarian parents, had a mother who was a housewife and a father who owned a restaurant. While UK19 grew up in Hungary, since her father wanted her to have a good education, she attended international schools in Budapest. At the same time, her father believed that women should stay at home and take care of the family. Her father's complex stance, valuing his daughter's education but also expecting her not to work, can be seen among many traditional Japanese parents as well.

UK5, whose parents were from Ukraine, also aspired to become a primary school teacher. Her mother was a housewife, and her father was a director of a packaging company with postings in Italy, Germany, Russia, and other countries, where UK5 attended international schools. In her case, her parents did not exhibit gender bias or hold different future expectations between her and her two brothers.

In the case of UK12, an aspiring biochemist with parents from another Former Socialist country, her father compromised his career for her mother, a human resource specialist who took up jobs at multinational organisations in continental Europe since UK12 was young. Consequently, her father became a homemaker to keep the family together. However, as UK12 did not like the idea of compromising her career for the family, she did not want to have children of her own in the future.

Research on gender equality in Eastern European countries such as Ukraine and Hungary vary in coverage, but Hungary, as an OECD and EU member, receive more attention, presenting a mixed picture. Thévenon (2011) states that, while policies supporting women in balancing motherhood and work are generally weak among Eastern European OECD members, Hungary stands out for providing comprehensive support. However, Van der Lippe *et al.* (2019) explain that in Hungary, where gender equality is not a top priority, generous maternity and parental leave arrangements exist to mostly encourage women to exit the labour market to care for children. Chybalski & Marcinkiewicz (2021) categorise Hungary and other Eastern European countries as high welfare states with a low public-private mix in providing pro-family and pro-female services. In addition, Kristó (2015) notes that fathers in Hungary has become eligible for family support, with full pay available if the parent returns to work after a year of the child's birth. The mixed picture in Hungary may be attributed to the country's conservative society, combined with the requirement to implement the EU's gender equality mandate and the Barcelona target, which sets standards for childcare provision among its members (Nagy *et al.* 2016; Kowalewska 2017).

Among students in the UK with Asian backgrounds from countries other than Japan, there were various family dynamics. For instance, UK21 had parents from Hong Kong who were very supportive of her education but did not pressure her about her future career. They encouraged her to follow her interests, to which she did not perceive any gender bias. On the other hand, UK10 had a Taiwanese mother and a father who was Belgian and Spanish. She did not perceive her parents to have lower expectations for her compared to her brother. However, when they expressed concern about her brother changing his career path from engineering to music, she questioned whether they would have had the same reaction if it were her. Meanwhile, UK8 had a complex heritage, with a mother who was British Pakistani and German and a father who was Italian and American. Both parents had high hopes for her career and expected her to achieve success on par with her brother, whether it be as a doctor, lawyer, or in a high-ranking position in an organisation. These examples demonstrate the diversity of family backgrounds and expectations among students with Asian backgrounds.

In conclusion, the interviewees coming from mixed environments, both in the UK and Japan, had a range of complex factors that potentially influenced their occupational expectations. These factors included the cultural attitudes of their parents and their upbringing in different countries. Among interviewees with a Japanese mother and a non-Japanese father who grew up in Europe or the US, there was a tendency towards high occupational expectations and supportive mothers. On the other hand, in the UK, interviewees with both Japanese parents experienced gender bias, particularly from their fathers, who had conservative views on their careers. Other interviewees with parents from Southern Europe, Former Socialist countries, or Asia, growing up in various countries, and generally having attended international schools, had varied experiences regarding expectations from their parents, ranging from gender bias to laissez-faire attitudes and high hopes for their careers. These findings highlight the intricate interplay of cultural and familial factors in shaping the occupational expectations of young women in both countries.

Hence, the occupational expectations of these interviewees from diverse backgrounds may have been shaped on a case-by-case basis through a combination of factors such as parents' cultural or personal influence, peer and school environment, and exposure to female role models in the places they grew up in, making generalisation highly challenging. While these students attended university in the UK, since many did not necessarily spend their formative years in the country, this research is not strictly about comparing Japanese and British students. Rather, since most of the students either grew up in Europe or have one or two European parents, it is closer to contrasting students between Japan and Europe more widely. In this context, despite the heterogeneity of Europe on gender issues, there are still commonalities distinct from Japan. Furthermore, while the UK is no longer an EU member, its longstanding legacy in Europe continues to attract students from neighbouring countries, offering nuanced perspectives on factors shaping occupational expectations of female university students that could provide lessons learned for Japan.

Concluding Chapter: Summary and Discussion

This study examined factors restricting occupational expectations of young Japanese females. The analyses were based on the finding revealing that Japan was the only OECD member country where girls showed significantly lower occupational expectations compared to boys from the same country. The rationale for addressing this issue is grounded in the assumption that, if young girls do not aspire to pursue challenging occupations while still in school, it will become increasingly difficult for them to establish successful careers later on. From a macro perspective, failing to seriously address gender gaps in the labour market and support female careers would hinder Japan from fully harnessing its human capital, particularly in the face of a shrinking workforce and a sluggish economy.

The research involved both quantitative and qualitative investigations with distinct groups of analysis and covering different factors. The quantitative part in Chapters 3 and 4 utilised nationally representative data, including both female and male high school students, to conduct a comparative study between Japan and multiple countries, exploring gender disparities in occupational expectations and their influencing factors. Conversely, the qualitative part in Chapter 6, while comparing differences in their occupational expectations and influencing factors, focused solely on female university students studying in Japan and another country, the UK. Furthermore, these participants may not have necessarily represented the broader student demographics of their respective countries.

The factors covered in the quantitative and qualitative analyses also exhibited some deviations. For example, the interviews in Chapter 6 scrutinised topics that were not available as data, such as preferred profiles of future partners, gender-differentiated encouragement by parents, the influence of mothers' occupations as role models, and perspectives on measures related to WLB. In contrast, certain aspects broadly coincided, including academic competence, the impact of social class, as well as gender differences in labour and family roles.

While the topics covered in the interviews compensate for the data gaps in the quantitative analysis, the shared elements also contribute to a multi-dimensional understanding of the factors influencing the lower occupational expectations of Japanese girls compared to their male counterparts and girls from other countries. This holistic portrayal provides valuable insights into the complex dynamics shaping the occupational expectations of Japanese girls within the broader international context.

The main findings of this study encompass the following. Firstly, compared to boys, a smaller proportion of girls plan to attend four-year universities and their maths aptitude is generally lower, attributable to gender stereotypes suggesting that females require less educational competence. Secondly, parents in Japan tend to hold lower occupational expectations for their daughters compared to their sons, often based on the belief that females should prioritise family caregiving roles. Thirdly, Japan's gender equality landscape concerning labour issues and family roles remains one of the most conservative among developed countries, disincentivising females to envision career development. Fourthly, there is a notable absence of visible female role models in Japan, particularly mothers who successfully balance both career and family life. Lastly, flexible work arrangements that enable better WLB have not been widely used, as they are considered as unwelcome exceptions at the workplace. These factors collectively serve to discourage girls from pursuing ambitious careers, erode their confidence in striving for high-achieving vocations, and further limit the range of potential job opportunities. This concluding chapter verifies these findings by comparing them against the three theories of Circumscription and Compromise, Social Status Dependency, and institutionalised gender division in the labour market.

Applicability of the Theories

Circumscription and Compromise

Gottfredson's Circumscription and Compromise theory was tested in Chapter 3 to determine whether it explained the low occupational expectations of Japanese girls in considering individual factors such as occupational choices, educational expectations, and academic competency, all of which can be associated with gender-based identity. The examination also evaluated how social class from the micro/meso system impacts occupational expectations differently between genders.

Analysis of the PISA 2018 data revealed that, among 15-year-old high school students across 36 OECD member countries, the significantly lower occupational expectations of Japanese girls compared to boys were not observed in other OECD countries. Examination of the top 10 chosen occupations indicated that girls in Japan tended to opt for female-dominated occupations with low to mid-range ISEI scores, while boys preferred male-dominated occupations generally associated with higher ISEI scores, and none with low scores. The observed pattern in Japan indicates a strong alignment with the Circumscription and Compromise theory, suggesting that traditional societal expectations and gender norms play a role in shaping occupational choices among adolescents in Japan.

A Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition showed that the lower average ISEI scores of Japanese girls compared to boys were primarily due to a smaller proportion of girls planning to go to university and having lower average maths scores than boys. This may be due to the influence of parents who have traditional gender biases expressing lower need for education and academic achievement for girls. These attitudes stems from persistent gender role division, where males are viewed as breadwinners and females are expected to fulfil caregiving roles. This gender-differentiated cultural context could be playing a role in fostering low educational and occupational expectations, aligning again with the Circumscription and Compromise theory.

On the other hand, the decomposition showed that, if the proportion of girls planning to go to university or their average maths scores were the same as those of boys, there would be no significant gender difference in the average ISEI scores of their expected occupations in Japan. Furthermore, while both mothers' and fathers' occupations were found to elevate the occupational expectations of both genders, there were no significant gender differences in their effects. In other words, while social class impacts occupational expectations *per se* for both girls and boys, it does not play a role in generating gender differences in these expectations. This is in contrast to observations from the PISA 2015 data, which indicated that boys were more affected by their father's occupation than girls.

The theory was also investigated in the qualitative study of Chapter 6 through interviews with female university students in Japan and the UK. More specifically, its explanatory relevance was explored regarding distinctions in occupational choices and potential influence of various factors between the females in two countries. Topics encompassed individual characteristics, preferences, and perspectives, as well as parental influence from the micro/meso systems, and the availability of role models, societal gender norms, and work conditions for women from the exo/macro systems.

The results indicated that interviewees in the UK generally held higher occupational expectations than those in Japan, with many anticipating careers in STEM fields, which was not the case in Japan. While the interviewees in Japan did not necessarily gravitate towards typically female-dominated occupations, a few admitted that they would have aimed higher if they were a boy, a viewpoint not observed in the case of the UK.
Furthermore, it also became evident that in Japan, several parents of the interviewees would have encouraged higher occupational expectations if their children had been boys—a trend mostly unobserved in the UK, with only a few exceptions. In contrast, some parents of interviewees in the UK held great expectations for their daughters to pursue careers as doctors or lawyers, especially when the mothers held prestigious occupations. This dynamic was not prominently observed in Japan, except for one interviewee who consistently received encouragement from her parents to become a doctor.

At a broader level, interviewees in Japan or those with Japanese roots were more vocal than the interviewees in the UK regarding the prevalence of traditional gender norms upheld by relatives, media, and society. Besides the emphasis on women's roles within the family, some interviewees highlighted instances of overt discrimination or demeaning remarks towards women, a concern less frequently mentioned among interviewees in the UK. The impact of direct and subliminal messaging over the years in gradually diminishing occupational expectations among Japanese girls can only be assumed. Furthermore, this assumption could also extend to the counterbalancing pressure that males presumably face in achieving professional success and being the breadwinner for the family.

Regarding social class, quantitative analysis, using the universities attended by the interviewees as proxies as well as the educational levels and occupations of their parents, revealed a clear impact on occupational expectations among those in Japan, and to some extent, those in the UK. While the transmission of social class, in general, may be a societal concern as an equity issue, the perspective of occupational expectations takes on a different dimension. While females who have parents with higher education and occupational SES now expect occupations with higher SES, it can be interpreted as progress compared to the past where women from higher social class could only attain social status through assortative marriage which relied on their husbands, instead of through their own achieved occupations.

In summary, Gottfredson's Circumscription and Compromise theory aptly explains the low occupational expectations of Japanese girls. In Chapter 3, it aligned with gender-based occupational choices, as well as the factors of lower educational expectations and maths achievement that are associated with cultural norms on gender role division. The qualitative study in Chapter 6 reinforced these findings, highlighting the influence of gender-differentiated parental expectations and a general persistence of traditional gender norms on female roles in occupations and family life. On the other hand, while quantitative analyses in Chapters 3 and 6 showed that social class impacts occupational expectations particularly among Japanese females, the theory is not used to explain *gender differences* in the occupational expectations.

In terms of consistency with related literature, the findings of Marini & Greenberger (1978), Vella (1993, 1994), and Gutman *et al.* (2014), which illuminate the evolving impact of mothers' occupations on daughters' expectations, helps explain the evolving occupational expectations observed among career-oriented interviewees in Japan. On a broader exo/macro level, the study by Stuth's (2023) in Germany and a longitudinal study in Australia by Berge *et al.* (2020), examining how societal norms on gender circumscribe career choices, align with the applicability of Gottfredson's theory to Japanese females. Additionally, Adachi's (2012) study in Japan, which delves into societal perceptions that influence career choices, particularly the belief that STEM fields are more suitable for males, resonates with the observed lack of STEM occupations among both the larger PISA sample and the interviewees in Japan. These studies contribute to understanding how external factors shape career aspirations and choices within a given cultural context.

Women's Social Status Dependency

The theory of women's Social Status Dependency was examined in Chapter 6 to assess whether the interviewees based their future occupational choices on the assumption of gaining social status or earning a living through a future partner. Results showed that, with the exception of one interviewee who expressed no interest in becoming a breadwinner, most interviewees in Japan did not strongly indicate a reliance on their future partners for their social status. This was the case even though the majority of them were raised in conventional households where the father served as the primary breadwinner, except for those whose parents were either both academics or both national civil servants. Instead, many expressed a preference for a dual-income couple, sharing household chores and child-rearing responsibilities, a departure from the practices of their parents.

On the one hand, it was noted that several parents or relatives of the interviewees held views suggesting that females should be responsible for the family and males should be breadwinners. This perspective clearly aligns with the Social Status Dependency Model, although the extent to which it has restricted the occupational expectations of the interviewees remains uncertain. Again, it is essential to take into account the opposing expectation that males face, being compelled to take on the role of the family's primary provider and head of the household.

In contrast, the inclination to choose one's occupation independently from a prospective partner's income or occupation was more evident among the interviewees in the UK. Notably, some even contemplated having children without a partner or envisioned their partners taking on the role of stay-at-home parent. Furthermore, many were more vocal regarding the equal sharing of household chores and active participation in child-rearing. In addition, none of the parents of the interviewees in the UK appeared to expect their daughters to be dependent on their future husbands, except for one. In fact, some parents were unenthusiastic about their daughters getting married or having a long-term partner, even though they desired to have grandchildren.

In summary, while the Status Dependency theory may explain the broader national trend of lower occupational expectations for Japanese girls compared to boys, its explanatory power may be limited when applied to female university students. This limitation becomes apparent as the interviewed students in Japan appeared less inclined to choose occupations with the expectation of achieving social status through their future husbands. On the other hand, it is essential to note that this tendency could be attributed, at least in part, to the sample selection, where volunteered interviewees were likely to be more career-oriented than Japanese female university students at large. In other words, the voluntary participation of these individuals suggests proactive interest and possible awareness of the evolving landscape, such as the increasing prevalence of women with careers, unmarried women, rising divorce rates, as well as declining salary levels and heightened instability in male employment. Nonetheless, while the Status Dependency theory may clarify the general trend of lowering occupational expectations among Japanese females, its relevance to more educated girls necessitates nuanced examination and further investigation into its applicability.

In the context of relevant literature, the findings from discussions by Goldin (1992, 1995) and Behrman *et al.* (1986) on female university enrolment in the USA, spanning from the early 1900s to the 1970s, resonates with the experiences shared by some interviewees in Japan. While the parents of these interviewees placed value on university education, it was not mainly for the purpose of pursuing a career but rather to secure a favourable marriage. Additionally, the study conducted by Brinton *et al.* (2021), which highlighted Japanese women's consistent preference for men with higher incomes and, at least, an equivalent level of education, serves as clear evidence of the Status Dependency Model. However, it is crucial to disaggregate this data to

discern whether different patterns exist among highly educated and career-minded women, as suggested by the insights gained from the interviews. Further exploration is needed to understand how these dynamics play out among women with aspirations beyond traditional gender roles.

Institutionalised Gender Division in the Japanese Labour Market

The relevance of the theory on institutionalised gender division in the Japanese labour market was assessed in Chapter 3 against the top occupational choices of girls and boys. The results showed that the top choices for girls mainly included female-dominated occupations with low to mid-level ISEI scores, such as nurses, childcare workers, and teachers, or those prevalent in non-regular employment, such as general office clerks. These occupations are more conducive to shouldering the primary responsibility for family caregiving. Conversely, boys tended to gravitate towards traditionally male-dominated occupations such as architects, IT programmers, and engineers, often associated with higher ISEI scores and reflective of a pattern where men pursue professions with higher perceived social status. The substantial proportion selecting generalist roles in the management track, traditionally designed for males to ensure lifelong employment but often involving excessive working hours, further validates the theory.

The theory was tested in Chapter 4, revealing a trend of increasing average ISEI scores for girls compared to boys as the gender equality landscape of countries progressed. Conversely, this indicated that the significantly low occupational expectations of Japanese girls were related to the large gender wage gap and low share of female managers in Japan, as described by the theory — women being relegated to lower-paid non-regular employment and scarcity in managerial positions. Furthermore, results also showed that relatively low occupational expectations are correlated with the short time Japanese men spend on household chores. The theory remains applicable as it points to the prevalence of men working excessive hours, naturally diminishing their involvement in household responsibilities, and consequently transferring the burden onto women. Finally, results showed that the positive view on being a housewife also reduced the occupational expectations of girls compared to boys. This could be explained by the situation described by the theory, which prompts more women to validate their role by embracing the perception that being a housewife is personally fulfilling.

The theory was then considered in Chapter 6 to assess how the interviewees perceived the gender-related characteristics of the labour market in Japan, UK or Europe, and to what extent these perceptions influenced their occupational expectations. Many of them in Japan referred to blatant discrimination in the work place, lack of role models, long work hours, and difficulties in WLB, particularly in raising children. This was in stark contrast to interviewees in the UK, who were able to identify role models and did not express significant concern over maintaining WLB during childrearing, although some were apprehensive about disadvantages in promotions and low income.

In particular, the interviews in the UK unveiled the existence of role models who were female professionals raising children in their expected occupations, including scientists, doctors, barristers, and academics. Conversely, in Japan, the absence of such role models with successful careers and balanced family life was inducing anxiety among some interviewees regarding their potential occupations as lawyers or doctors. More specifically, interviewees in Japan expressed concerns about continuing their careers while maintaining WLB when their children are young, even in taking maternity/parental leave or working reduced hours. Despite being aware of the entitlements, they were concerned about potentially becoming a burden or facing underappreciation from colleagues for working less. However, these issues were not voiced by

the interviewees in the UK, although many criticised the short duration of paternity leave as a legal provision.

At the same time, only a few interviewees in Japan had intentionally adjusted their occupational choices to adapt to the challenging conditions in the labour market for women. The exceptions were those who chose roles such as a certified accountant, administrative assistant, or tax official in the civil service to manage WLB conflicts. The reason why there were so few could be due to several factors: many are far from having children to imagine the full extent of the challenges; the sample is biased towards career-minded female university students who are confident or optimistic in pursuing their ideal occupations by overcoming the challenges; and they are aware of the gradual improvement in policies and practices for WLF.

In conclusion, the theory of institutionalised gender division in the Japanese labour market provides a persuasive framework for understanding the low occupational expectations of Japanese females relative to boys within the broader sample. In particular, the significant gender wage gap and the positive views attributed to housewife roles in Chapter 4 were key features of the theory that had explanatory effects. However, Chapter 6 showed the need for nuancing, as career-minded female university students may maintain optimism in pursuing their ideal occupations despite the challenging labour market characteristics. This indicates variations in the theory's applicability across the different female demographics, as well as the need to contrast with the counterpart males to revert to the key issue of gender differences.

In relevant literature, Yamaguchi (2017)'s elaboration of the historical practice of trading excessive overtime for lifetime job security, rooted in the assumption of housewives managing family responsibilities, was still practiced by the parents of the interviewees in Japan. For the interviewees themselves, the insights provided by Hochschild & Machung (2012) and Hattori (2015) regarding the dual burden of professional and familial responsibilities borne by women closely align with the concerns expressed during the interviews. The descriptions by Hattori and Nagase (2003) outlining the division between regular and non-regular employees, corporate culture, and the prevalence of excessive overtime influenced the occupational choices of several interviewees in Japan.

The perspective of Nagase (2022) on these labour practices, emphasising the considerable power that employers wield with unrestricted control over job assignments, workplace locations, and working hours, further underscored elements discouraging the interviewees from selecting specific occupations or institutions. This contrasted starkly with the experiences of interviewees in the UK, where individuals enjoyed greater freedom in choosing their desired occupations. Moreover, the observations articulated by Takeishi (2011) regarding the low utilisation and inflexibility surrounding WLB systems in Japan resonated with the challenging views held by the interviewees as they envisioned the progression of their careers within their chosen occupations. In contrast, the safeguarding of a top-heavy core workforce comprising older, highly paid male workers, as discussed by Houseman & Osawa (2003), was perceived to be gradually eroding in today's Japanese society.

Discussion

The above elaborated on how the three theories of Gottfredson's Circumscription and Compromise, the Social Status Dependency, and the institutionalised gender division in the Japanese labour force all provided comprehensive insights into the relatively low occupational expectations of Japanese females among nationally represented high school students. Table 7.1 summarises the findings.

Circumscription & Compromise							
	Gender			_	Social Class		
		Applied	1	Not applied	Applied	Not applied	
Chapter 3	Japanese girls premoinantly chose low-mid ISEI female- dominated occupations	Japanese boys chose male- dominated occupations mid to high level ISEI	Lower educational aspiration and maths scores than boys reduce ISEI	Girls and boys planning to go to university have similar ISEI	Mothers and fathers' occupations affect ISEI of girls and boys	Unlike in PISA 2015, father's occupation does not affect ISEI of boys more than girls	
Chapter 6	Average ISEI of interviewees in Japan is lower than that of the UK, with few STEM occupations	Interviewees in Japan admitted that they would have aimed higher if they were a boy	Japanese parents encouraged sons more, while some parents in the UK had high expectations for daughters	Not many intereviewees in Japan opted for female- dominated occupations with low to mid ISEI	Mothers and fathers' education and occupations had effects on ISEI of interviewees in Japan and UK	More encouragement for boys was across all social class	
		S	ocial Status De	pendency			
		Applied			Not applied		
Chapter 6	Some parents s of the family ar whereas this w	aid females sho nd males be bro as rare in the U	ould take care eadwinners, JK	Most interview a future husba career-oriente were more ind	t interviewees in Japan were not relying on ture husband, although the sample was eer-oriented and interviewees in the UK e more independent females		
Institutionalised gender division in the labour market							
		Арр	olied		Not	applied	
Chapter 3	Girls chose occu prevalent in no jobs, qualified o condusive to W become a hous	upations n-regular occupations 'LB, or to ewife	Substantial pro chose male-dor management tr long hours or p professions	portion of boys ninated acks involving restigious	oys Of girls planning to go to university, 8% chose ing management track and 3% doctor		
Chapter 4	Low occupation Japan correlate	nal expectation d with the poo	ns of girls relativ r gender equalit	e to boys in ty landscape			
Chapter 6	Many interview were concerne discrimiination when child rais those in the UK worried	vees in Japan d about and WLB ing, while were less	Interviewees in see role model balanced profe family in their o while those in U	I Japan did not women who ssion and occupations JK did	While some ir Japan adjuste to ensure WL optimistic in p interested pat	nterviewees in d their occupations B, others were oursuing their ch	

Table 7.1: Applicability of the Theories

The new contribution of this research to the academic literature is evident in several key findings. The study exposes Japan as an anomaly among developed countries where girls exhibit significantly lower occupational expectations than boys. This substantial gender disparity is attributed to a smaller proportion of girls planning to attend university – one of the few among developed countries – and having lower maths scores than boys. These factors are potentially influenced by parental discrimination, favouring sons' education, and societal stereotypes discouraging girls from excelling and working in STEM fields. In-depth interviews reveal that Japanese parents, unlike their European counterparts, often fail to encourage girls to aspire to prestigious occupations, contributing to the observed disparities.

Furthermore, the study sheds light on the counterproductive challenge of a noteworthy proportion of girls planning to become housewives, even among those intending to attend university. This poses a significant human capital loss to the economy, particularly considering that Japanese females are top class in PISA maths and science tests as well as international skills assessments such as PIAAC (OECD 2019a; Komatsu 2021). The research highlights that occupational expectations of young females could also be diminished due to unfavourable labour practices and ineffective WLB measures, revealing that flexible work for full-time employees remains uncommon in Japan, compared to the UK where it is becoming the norm.

On the other hand, the research unveils diversity among groups of females, demonstrating that girls with university plans or similar maths scores as boys have comparable occupational expectations. Furthermore, while social class – measured by the parents' education and occupations – influences the occupational expectations of both genders, it does not significantly contribute to the gender difference. This suggests a shift in girls from higher social classes aiming to achieve social status, mostly or partly, through their own occupations, as opposed to depending solely on their future husbands, challenging traditional gender norms.

In summary, this research provides a multi-dimensional perspective on micro/meso and exo/macro factors contributing to the reduced occupational expectations of Japanese females. While acknowledging the need for nuancing among younger, university-educated, or careerminded females, the research serves as a wake-up call, highlighting Japan in an international context where underutilising competent female human capital constitutes a significant loss to the economy and society, setting it apart from other developed countries.

The Way Forward

Given the above findings, it is essential for Japan to leverage its pool of competent females to address critical challenges such as a shrinking workforce, high fiscal debt, a sluggish economy, and low productivity. This underscores the need for a comprehensive approach to implementing strategic measures that can propel Japan towards a more sustainable future.

Specifically, in terms of WLB in Japan, reviews of policies and their implementation reveal that their effectiveness has been modest. While the government has recognised the challenges through initiatives like limiting overtime work and encouraging paternity and parental leave for fathers, a fundamental shift in corporate culture is imperative. This transformation should prioritise productivity per hour as opposed to traditional metrics like daily or input-based assessments and should reward effective human resource management practices. Therefore, it is worthwhile to draw lessons from the UK and other countries where the normalisation of flexible work arrangements has shown promise.

Additionally, measures that may disincentivise women from working or pursuing careers in challenging occupations need to be addressed. While not extensively emphasised in this research, this includes a fundamental reform of the social security system, which should require at least pension contributions from unemployed or underemployed dependent spouses (Nagase 2003, 2023a, 2023b). Moreover, the income tax system, currently based on a single male breadwinner and a secondary earner wife, should be replaced with a dual income model, aligning with the practices of most other developed countries (Nagase 2011a, 2011b, 2021; Yamaguchi 2017).

Meanwhile, a more direct effort to enhance the occupational expectations of Japanese females is called for. Both the government and the education system must communicate this message to students, parents, the media, and society at large: the traditional model of the male breadwinner and part-time wife is no longer financially viable for a comfortable lifestyle (Dohi 2020), nor is it fiscally sustainable for the country. It is crucial to inform them of the inevitable transition to a dual-income household as the default, where both spouses work full time and husbands take on a greater share of childcare and household chores. The public sector should lead by example in implementing this model, setting the stage for the private sector to follow suit.

Schools, particularly starting as early as kindergarten, should play a pivotal role in eradicating gender stereotypes associated with occupations (Brussino & McBrien 2022). This can be carried out by introducing role models who pursue non-traditional careers, such as male nurses and female nuclear scientists. These initiatives can inspire students to envision their future careers, free from the unnecessary circumscription of gender bias, allowing their interests and skills to flourish uncompromised.

It is equally important for schools to educate parents about the evolving global economy, which is increasingly rewarding human talent and skills. In this changing landscape, where success and sustainability hinge largely on individual capabilities, parents should discourage daughters to rely on future husbands for livelihood and social standing. Instead, they should guide them to aspire occupations that align with their passions and offer self-sustainability. While not covered extensively in this study, the media also bears responsibility in shaping societal perceptions through perpetuating stereotypes or promoting role models, thereby influencing young women's occupational aspirations (Ward & Grower 2020) (see Box 7.1).

Box 7.1 The Role of Media

The media plays a pivotal role in either perpetuating outdated gender stereotypes or showcasing professional women as role models. In Japan, television programmes often fall short in representing women across various occupations, be it in commentary, documentaries, or fictional dramas. Notably, both private broadcasting companies and NHK adhere to ethical standards regulated by the Broadcasting Ethics & Program Improvement Organization (n.d.); however, these standards currently lack specific guidelines aimed at promoting balanced representation and diversity, including gender (The Japan Commercial Broadcasters Association n.d.; NHK 2009).

In contrast, the British Broadcasting Corporation (BBC) has responded to the requirements by the UK's Office of Communications (OfCom) by developing a Code of Practice for Representation, Portrayal, and Diversity (BBC n.d.a, n.d.b) in 2018. This code emphasises the importance of achieving gender balance and reflecting diversity, including disabled individuals, ethnic minorities, and lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer or questioning communities in its broadcasting content. Furthermore, the BBC has established specific targets for women's representation both on air and in lead roles, providing clear directives to production partners on how to meet these objectives. To fulfil this mandate, the BBC annually reports its progress on the Code of Practice (BBC 2022) to OfCom, which subsequently shares its assessment of the BBC's performance with the government and the public (Ofcom 2022).

Japan's BPO could consider adopting comparable codes and targets for Japanese broadcasting companies, beginning with NHK, particularly regarding the portrayal of professional women. Additionally, relevant companies could be obligated to submit annual progress reports which should be open to the public. Through these measures, portrayal of women in skilled professions could be enhanced in the media. This, in turn, could provide role models and contribute to inspiring young females to aim for challenging occupations in the future.

Moreover, financial and career education in schools should be prioritised (Maeda 2017), recognising its crucial role in preparing both girls and boys for the complex economic realities of adulthood. This education should equip them with essential knowledge about various facets, including the lifetime cost of living, income disparities across occupations, the substantial expenses associated with raising children, the prevalence of divorce and single-parent households, as well as critical financial aspects involving social security, unemployment, and pensions (Noda 2019).

Most importantly, career education should underscore the evolving nature of the economy, emphasising that dependence on a single earner is no longer a viable option. In light of the inevitable necessity for two full-time incomes to attain financial comfort, schools should actively encourage young females to consider long-term career paths and strive for economic independence. This empowers them to make informed choices about their future occupations and financial well-being, which ultimately enhances productivity and economic sustainability of the nation.

Future Considerations

In contemplating the future, it is important to consider evolving global trends that could significantly shape occupational expectations. One prominent aspect is the escalating influence of social media and school-facilitated work-related experiences. The 19th Longitudinal Survey of Newborns in the 21st Century (2001 cohort) complements the understanding of conventional factors discussed in this research. This national survey¹⁷ queries 17-year-olds who have selected a future occupation about their influences, allowing for multiple answers (see Table 7.2). While the genders are combined, the highest influence was from media, encompassing social networking services, TV, internet, magazines, and so on, at 24%, followed by work exposure, internships, and other school-related experiences at 23%. Parental recommendations rank third at 19%, followed by discussions with friends and seniors at 15%, ahead of parents as role models at 12% (MEXT 2021a).

#	Influence	%
1	Media (TV, internet, magazines, etc.)	24%
2	Work exposure, internships, etc. at school	23%
3	Parents' recommendations	19%
4	Discussions with friends and seniors	15%
5	Parents as role models	12%
6	Occupational aptitude tests	6%
7	Volunteer activities	6%
8	Job vacancy information	6%
9	Others	38%

Table 7.2: Influence on Occupational Choice of 17-Year Olds

Source: 19th Longitudinal Survey of Newborns in the 21st Century (MEXT 2021a)

While the occupational expectations of these 17-year-olds may still evolve as some of them proceed to university and face the harsh reality of the competitive labour market, these influential means, including social networking services and work exposures, are a modern and sobering

¹⁷ The questionnaires were completed by both the 2001 cohort and parents starting from the 13th survey. While the first survey received 47,010 responses, the 19th survey had 25,504 responses. Furthermore, the survey does not ask specifically what kind of occupations the respondents are envisioning. While numerous surveys focus on the aspired or expected occupations of youths, as explained in Chapter 1, not many inquire about who or what influenced their choices.

reality that could nevertheless directly provide ideas to these youths. Although these topics were covered in the interviews of female university students, they were not discussed extensively in this research due to the need for prioritisation and relevance in understanding the relatively low occupational expectations of Japanese females. However, these topics deserve more attention in future research endeavours.

In contemplating their future occupations, young women should consider three additional global trends. Firstly, they will face the challenge of escalating international competition in the labour market, propelled by the increasing interconnectedness of economies and the accessibility of skilled workers worldwide. This evolution places significant pressure on individuals to continually enhance their skills and adapt to evolving demands to remain competitive. Given that university graduates can be sourced from any part of the world (Lauder & Mayhew 2020), it implies that Japanese graduates are in direct competition with counterparts from the large populations in China and India for employment opportunities. In fact, Conrad & Meyer-Ohle (2019) highlight a growing trend of major Japanese corporations hiring foreigners graduated from both Japanese and overseas universities.

The second facet revolves around the imminent threat of job displacement caused by artificial intelligence (AI), particularly in physically demanding or low-skill occupations such as secretarial work, where routine tasks are poised to be automated. According to OECD (2019d), professions in fields such as finance, medicine, and legal activities, which require extensive education and rely heavily on accumulated knowledge and experience, may also become susceptible to automation by AI. Simultaneously, as AI becomes more pervasive, new occupations will emerge to design, maintain, and supervise these systems. This highlights the importance of women to continuously stay informed and enhance their skills in AI technology and robotics.

The third facet concerns the expanding scope of flexible and remote work, propelled by advancements in IT and the lessons drawn from the Covid-19 pandemic. According to the CAO's survey on the effects of Covid (2023), teleworking has increased from 10% to 30% nationally and 18% to 52% in Tokyo between December 2019 and March 2023. The OECD (2019e) states that emerging technologies hold the potential to grant individuals greater flexibility in determining where, when, and how they work, which can enhance WLB and open up new opportunities in the labour market. At the same time, whether these types of surge is temporary or lasting depends on the balance of advantages and disadvantages for both workers and businesses. While teleworking has the potential to boost productivity and WLF, its overall impact remains ambiguous (OECD 2021b).

Moreover, this evolving landscape in IT and remote work may pave the way for new employment models, such as freelance work and outsourcing, which have the potential to enhance WLB for women. At the same time, it is crucial to remain attentive to the potential pitfalls of this transformation. The expansion of the gig economy could result in intense competition, driving wages to 'race-to-the bottom' and leaving workers without essential social benefits and safety nets.

Despite the above new challenges in the labour market, in line with the original intent of this research, it is paramount to underscore that Japan may lag behind in an increasingly globalised world, if it fails to fully harness the potential of half its human capital. As elucidated in this study, Japanese females demonstrate an extremely high level of competence and skills in international assessments. Consequently, restricting opportunities for females to reach their maximum potential in economically productive activities represents a suboptimal approach for the nation's economic recovery, fiscal balance, and long-term sustainability. Thus, it becomes imperative for the public sector, politicians, private sector, and educational institutions to collectively convey

this message and encourage young girls to aspire to challenging occupations, all while providing the necessary support to help them realise their ambitions.

Limitations and Further Research

This study has several limitations. First, the concept of occupation is somewhat different in Japan compared to many other developed countries. The distinctness of the Japanese labour market, characterised as the 'Membership Type', which involves hiring generalists to be rotated among different posts in organisations, contrasts with the practices in other nations where students often take up specialised occupations, known as the 'Job Type.' Therefore, many Japanese students expect to become company workers or civil servants in general, rather than pursing specific job types, unless they are occupations that require certifications or qualifications. However, as the SES of occupational types is more or less similar when it comes to career-tracked posts or secretarial-type jobs, it is still possible to compare the differences in SES of the expected occupations of girls and boys.

Second, in Chapters 3 and 4, the analysis was confined to samples of students who provided information on their expected occupations and indicated their parents' educational levels and occupations. While the study aimed to compare like-to-like students between Japan and those of other OECD countries, it acknowledges that the sample may have been biased towards students living with both parents. Therefore, the study cannot assert that these students are fully representative of *all* 15-year-olds.

The third limitation pertains to the range of countries included in the analysis for the gender equality landscape variables in Chapter 4. With sample sizes ranging from 32 to 36, there may be restrictions in confidently generalising the relationships observed with the ISEI score ratios. To address this concern, future research could expand the number of countries for the analysis by incorporating middle-income nations that provide reliable and pertinent country-level data on gender equality.

The fourth limitation relates to the interviewees in Chapter 6, who may not necessarily represent the broader population of female university students in Japan and the UK. These individuals volunteered to share their insights and perspectives on their careers, suggesting that they might have been more career-oriented than the average student. Additionally, while the interviewees came from geographically diverse universities, many of these institutions were competitive and/or located in relatively large cities. Consequently, it is reasonable to assume that the interviewees were potentially more progressive in their views on gender issues in both countries. Additionally, the UK's educational system requires students to choose their university majors at around 16 years old, prompting them to specialise early, as most bachelor's degree programmes last three years. In contrast, Japanese students typically decide on their major later, enter broader academic departments, and spend four years to obtain a degree. Moreover, the diversity in nationalities and ethnicities among the UK interviewees and their parents, including individuals with one or two Japanese parents, introduced complexity when attributing cultural influences.

Nonetheless, this research significantly advanced the understanding of low occupational expectations among Japanese females, highlighting the anomaly among developed countries. The study also underscored the need for nuancing concerning girls planning to go to university or career-minded female university students. Additionally, it revealed that fundamental changes in labour practices and improvements for WLB are still necessary to better harness the capabilities of competent Japanese females for the economy.

In terms of future research, while this study focussed on female occupational expectations, assuming their significance for eventual career achievement, it remains necessary to establish

this relationship by examining the actual occupation attained. Consequently, a large-scale longitudinal study tracking the expected occupations of 15-year-olds and their actual occupations at the age of 30 would be highly valuable. Based on the results obtained, it would then be crucial to thoroughly examine the myriad factors that either facilitate or hinder females in achieving their expected occupations, especially when compared to their male counterparts.

Bibliography

- Anghel, B., Rodríguez-Planas, N., & Sanz-de-Galdeano, A. (2020). Is the math gender gap associated with gender equality? only in low-income countries. *Economics of Education Review, 79*, 102064.
- Aoki et al. (2019) 青木多寿子、中富尚宏、徳田智代、森本篤. (2019). 効果的なチーム支援を 引き出すカウンセラーの関わり方: システムとして機能するチームをつくるために. 岡山 大学大学院教育学研究科研究集録, 170, 41-50.
- Acker, J. (1973). Women and social stratification: A case of intellectual sexism. *American Journal of Sociology*, *78*(4), 936-945.
- Adachi (2004). 安達智子 (2004). 大学生のキャリア選択. 日本労働研究雑誌, 533, 27-37.
- ——. (2012). 科学技術職への興味とその規定因── 自己効力と男女差に着目した検討──. 心 *理学研究*, 83(5), 479-488.
- ----. (2022). 若者のキャリア形成とジェンダー-社会正義からの再考-. キャリア教育研 究 40(2), 39-44.
- Adachi, T. (2018). Work–family planning and gender role attitudes among youth. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, 23(1), 52-60.
- Adamic, L., & Filiz, I. O. (2016, Mar 17,). Do jobs run in families? *Meta Research*. Retrieved from <u>https://research.facebook.com/blog/2016/03/do-jobs-run-in-families/</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Adams-Prassl, A., Balgova, M., & Qian, M. (2020). Flexible work arrangements in low wage jobs: Evidence from job vacancy data. *Centre for Economic Policy Research, Discussion Paper No.* DP15263.
- AIDEM (2022). 株式会社アイデム. (2022). 親の子供に対するキャリア観とジェンダーに関す る意識調査. Retrieved from <u>https://apj.aidem.co.jp/upload/chousa_data_pdf/457/aidem_career_2022.pdf</u> (accessed 8 January 2024)
- Akerlof, G. A., & Kranton, R. E. (2010). Economics and identity. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *115*(3), 715-753.
- Al-Bahrani, M. A., Allawati, S. M., Abu Shindi, Y. A., & Bakkar, B. S. (2020). Career aspiration and related contextual variables. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, 25(1), 703-711.
- Amano (2009) 天野馨南子. (2009). 改正育児・介護休業法の意義と「3 歳の壁」. ニッセイ基礎研 Report, 153, 24-31. Retrieved from <u>https://www.nli-research.co.jp/files/topics/38481 ext 18 0.pdf?site=nli (</u>Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Anders, J., Henderson, M., Moulton, V., & Sullivan, A. (2018). The role of schools in explaining individuals' subject choices at age 14. *Oxford Review of Education*, 44(1), 75-93.
- Anzai, S., & Paik, C. M. (2012). Factors influencing Japanese women to choose two-year colleges in Japan. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, *36*(8), 614-625.

- Aramaki (2018). 荒牧草平. (2018). 地位の軌跡が女性の階層意識に及ぼす影響: 階層再生産の 視点から. *荒牧草平編『2015 年 SSM 調査報告書2 人口・家族』(2015 年 SSM 調査研究 会), 2*, 199-217.
- Armstrong, S., Dearden, L., Kobayashi, M., & Nagase, N. (2019). Student loans in Japan: Current problems and possible solutions. *Economics of Education Review, 71*, 120-134.
- Artherton, G., Lewis, J., & Bolton, P. (2023). *Higher education in the UK: Systems, policy approaches, and challenges.* (No. 9640). House of Commons Library. Retrieved from <u>https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-9640/CBP-9640.pdf</u>
- Baird, C. L. (2008). The importance of community context for young women's occupational aspirations. *Sex Roles, 58*(3-4), 208-221.
- Baird, C. L., Burge, S. W., & Reynolds, J. R. (2008). Absurdly ambitious? teenagers' expectations for the future and the realities of social structure. *Sociology Compass, 2*(3), 944-962.
- Bandura, A., Barbaranelli, C., Caprara, G. V., & Pastorelli, C. (2001). Self-efficacy beliefs as shapers of children's aspirations and career trajectories. *Child Development*, *72*(1), 187-206.
- Bartlett, K. A. (2018). The influence of socio-cultural constructs on educational praxis in Japan. *Kwansei Gakuin University Humanities Review, 23*, 73-82.
- Becker, G. S. (1985). Human capital, effort, and the sexual division of labor. *Journal of Labor Economics*, *3*(1), S33-S58.
- Behrman, J. R., Pollak, R. A., & Taubman, P. (1986). Do parents favor boys? *International Economic Review*, , 33-54.
- Benesse. (2021, Dec 11). 小学生がなりたい職業ランキング 2021 Retrieved from https://benesse.jp/juken/202112/20211217-1.html. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Berger, N., Holmes, K., Gore, J. M., & Archer, J. (2020). Charting career aspirations: A latent class mixture model of aspiration trajectories in childhood and adolescence. *The Australian Educational Researcher*, 47, 651-678.
- Blakemore, J. E. O., Lawton, C. A., & Vartanian, L. R. (2005). I can't wait to get married: Gender differences in drive to marry. *Sex Roles, 53*, 327-335.
- Blau, P. M., & Duncan, O. D. (1967). *The American occupational structure.* New York: The Free Press.
- Bolton, P. (2012). Education: Historical statistics. House of Commons Library, 27. Retrieved from https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/74377934.pdf (Accessed 9 December 2023)
- Bolton, P. (2023). *Student loan statistics.* (No. CBP01079). House of Commons Library. Retrieved from <u>https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN01079/SN01079.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Borgonovi, F., & Han, S. W. (2020). Gender disparities in fear of failure among 15-year-old students: The role of gender inequality, the organisation of schooling and economic conditions. *Journal of Adolescence, 86*, 28-39.
- Brinkley, I. (2023). *CIPD good work index 2023: Survey report*. London: Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development.
- Brinton, M. C., Mun, E., & Hertog, E. (2021). Singlehood in contemporary Japan: Rating, dating, and waiting for a good match. *Demographic Research*, 44(10), 239-276.

Brinton, M.C., 池村千秋 (翻訳). (2022). 『縛られる日本人 人口減少をもたらす「規範」を 打ち破れるか』. 中公新書.

British Broadcasting Corporation. (2022). *BBC diversity commissioning code of practice progress report 2021/22*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.bbc.co.uk/creativediversity/documents/bbc-diversity-code-of-practice-</u> <u>2021-2022.pdf</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).

-----. (n.d.a). *BBC diversity commissioning code of practice*. Retrieved from http://downloads.bbc.co.uk/diversity/pdf/diversity-code-of-practice-2018.pdf. (Accessed 19 October 2023).

- ——. (n.d.b). BBC content diversity and inclusion commissioning guidelines script to screen: Changing the face of TV together . Retrieved from <u>http://downloads.bbc.co.uk/diversity/pdf/diversity-code-of-practice-2018.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Britton, J., & Gruber, J. (2020). Do income contingent student loans reduce labor supply? *Economics of Education Review*, *79*(102061), 1-19.
- Broadcasting Ethics & Program Improvement Organization (n.d.) 放送倫理・番組向上機構. (n.d.) BPO とは. Retrieved from <u>https://www.bpo.gr.jp/?page id=912</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature and design. Cambridge, Massachusetts:* Harvard University Press.
- Brussino, O., & McBrien, J. (2022). *Gender stereotypes in education: Policies and practices to address gender stereotyping across OECD education systems, OECD education working papers, no. 271*. Paris: OECD Publishing. <u>doi:10.1787/a46ae056-en</u>.
- Buhr, D., & Stoy, V. (2015). More than just welfare transfers? A review of the scope of Esping-Andersen's welfare regime typology. *Social Policy and Society*, *14*(2), 271-285.
- Cabinet Office (2019a).内閣府 *男女共同参画に関する世論調査 2018 年*. Retrieved from <u>https://survey.gov-online.go.jp/r01/r01-danjo/gairyaku.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——. (2019b). 平成30年度男女共同参画社会の形成の状況 多様な選択を可能にする学びの充実. *令和元年版男女共同参画白書* Retrieved
 from <u>https://www.gender.go.jp/about_danjo/whitepaper/r01/zentai/pdf/r01_tokusyu.pd</u>
 <u>f</u>(Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——.(2019c) 男女共同参画局仕事と生活の調和推進室...仕事と生活の調和(ワーク・ライフ・バランス)レポート 2018(概要)社会で支える継続就業~「働きやすさ」も「働きがい」も~. *共同参画*, 122, 2-5. Retrieved
 from https://www.gender.go.jp/public/kyodosankaku/2019/201905/pdf/201905.pdf
 (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——.(2020). 第5 次男女共同参画基本計画. Retrieved from
 <u>https://www.gender.go.jp/about_danjo/basic_plans/5th/index.html</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——. (2021). 令和3年度 性別による無意識の思い込み (アンコンシャス・バイアス) に関 する調査研究 調査結果. Retrieved from

https://www.gender.go.jp/research/kenkyu/pdf/seibetsu r03/02.pdf (Accessed 19 October 2023).

- . (2022). 女性活躍・男女共同参画の重点方針 2022. Retrieved
 from <u>https://www.cas.go.jp/jp/seisaku/kagayakujosei/dai12/siryou2.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——. (2023). 第6回 新型コロナウイルス感染症の影響下における 生活意識・行動の変化に 関する調査. Retrieved from <u>https://www5.cao.go.jp/keizai2/wellbeing/covid/pdf/result6_covid.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- …. (n.d.a). 理工チャレンジ: 女子中高校生・女子学生の理工系分野への選択. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gender.go.jp/c-challenge/</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——. (n.d.b). 理数教員の性別と女子生徒の文理傾向.
 <u>https://www.gender.go.jp/about_danjo/whitepaper/r01/zentai/html/zuhyo/zuhyo01-00-</u>
 <u>15.html.</u>(Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Carpenter, P. G., & Fleishman, J. A. (1987). Linking intentions and behavior: Australian students' college plans and college attendance. *American Educational Research Journal*, 24(1), 79-105.
- Centre for Progressive Policy. (2021). *Women in the labour market: Boosting mothers' employment and earnings through accessible childcare*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.progressive-policy.net/downloads/files/CPP-report-women-in-the-labour-market-Oct-2021-2.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development. (2019). *Flexible working in the UK*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cipd.org/globalassets/media/knowledge/knowledge-hub/reports/flexible-working_tcm18-58746.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Conrad, H., & Meyer-Ohle, H. (2019). Overcoming the ethnocentric firm?–foreign fresh university graduate employment in Japan as a new international human resource development method. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 30*(17), 2525-2543.
- Coppé, M. (2020). The educational and occupational aspirations of Belgian students: What role for gender? an analysis based on individual data from PISA 2018. Faculté des sciences économiques, sociales, politiques et de communication, Université Catholique de Louvain.
- Croft, A., Schmader, T., Block, K., & Baron, A. S. (2014). The second shift reflected in the second generation: Do parents' gender roles at home predict children's aspirations? *Psychological Science*, *25*(7), 1418-1428.
- Chybalski, F., & Marcinkiewicz, E. (2021). Incorporating pro-family and pro-female components into empirical welfare state classification: Some new evidence for European countries. *Innovation: The European Journal of Social Science Research*, *34*(3), 399-421.
- Dai-ichi Life Insurance. (2023) 第一生命. (2023). 第 34 回「大人になったらなりたいもの」調 査結果を発表. <u>https://www.dai-ichi-life.co.jp/company/news/pdf/2022 071.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Danziger, N., & Eden, Y. (2007). Gender-related differences in the occupational aspirations and career-style preferences of accounting students. *Career Development International, 12*(2), 129-149.

- Davis-Kean, P. E. (2005). The influence of parent education and family income on child achievement: The indirect role of parental expectations and the home environment. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *19*(2), 294.
- Delelegn, A. (2007). Intra-household gender-bias in child educational spending in rural Ethiopia: Panel evidence. *Ethiopian Journal of Economics*, *16*(2)
- Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy. (2022). Millions of Britons to be able to request flexible working on day one of employment . Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/news/millions-of-britons-to-be-able-to-request-flexible-working-on-day-one-of-employment</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Department for Education. (2022). Statistics: Widening participation in higher education. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/widening-participation-in-higher-education</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- ——. (2023, 11 January,). Press release: Cost of living boost for students. *Gov.UK*, Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/news/cost-of-living-boost-for-students</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Department of Trade and Industry. (2003). Balancing work and family life: Enhancing choice and support for parents. Retrieved from <u>https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20030731064549/http://www.dti.go</u> <u>v.uk:80/work-lifebalance/choice.html</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Dohi (2020). 土肥伊都子. (2020). ジェンダーの視点に立ったキャリア教育を考える. 神戸松蔭 女子学院大学研究紀要, 1, 41-56.
- Dufur, M. J., Parcel, T. L., & Troutman, K. P. (2013). Does capital at home matter more than capital at school? social capital effects on academic achievement. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility*, *31*, 1-21.
- Duncan, O. D., Haller, A. O., & Portes, A. (1968). Peer influences on aspirations: A reinterpretation. *American Journal of Sociology*, *74*(2), 119-137.
- Effective Research for Impact Institute (n.d.). Occupational aspirations and expectations. Retrieved from <u>https://socialmobility.org.il/en/factor_child/occupational-expectations/</u>. (Accessed 26 February 2024)
- Erikson, R. (1984). Social class of men, women and families. *Sociology*, 18(4), 500-514.
- Erola, J., Jalonen, S., & Lehti, H. (2016). Parental education, class and income over early life course and children's achievement. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility*, 44, 33-43.
- Esping-Andersen, G. (1990). *The three worlds of welfare capitalism*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- ——. (1997). Hybrid or unique?: The Japanese welfare state between Europe and America. *Journal of European Social Policy*, *7*(3), 179-189.
- -----. (1999). Social foundations of postindustrial economies. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Fagan, C., & Ward, K. (2003). Regulatory convergence? nonstandard work in the UK and the Netherlands. In S. Houseman, & M. Osawa (Eds.), *Nonstandard work in developed economies:: Causes and consequences* (pp. 53-88), Kalamazoo, MI:W.E. Upjohn Institute for Employment Research.

- Farmer, H. S. (1997). Women's motivation related to mastery, career salience, and career aspiration: A multivariate model focusing on the effects of sex role socialization. *Journal of Career Assessment*, *5*(4), 355-381.
- Francis, B. (2002). Is the future really female? The impact and implications of gender for 14-16 year olds' career choices. *Journal of Education and Work*, *15*(1), 75-88.
- Fujima (2021) 藤間公太. (2021). 小学生以下の子どもを持つ女性の就業に対する保育等サービス, 短時間勤務制度の影響. *IPSS Working Paper Series (J)*, (47), 1-13.
- Ganzeboom, H. B. (2010). International standard classification of occupations ISCO-08 with ISEI-08 scores. Appendix to "A new international socio-economic index [ISEI] of occupational status for the international standard classification of occupation 2008 [ISCO-08] constructed with data from the ISSP 2002-2007; with an analysis of quality of occupational measurement in ISSP." *Annual Conference of International Social Survey Programme, , Lisbon, May 1 2010,* Retrieved from http://www.harryganzeboom.nl/ISCO08/isco08 with isei.pdf (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Ganzeboom, H. B., De Graaf, P. M., & Treiman, D. J. (1992). A standard international socioeconomic index of occupational status. *Social Science Research*, *21*(1), 1-56.
- Gatrell, C. J., Burnett, S. B., Cooper, C. L., & Sparrow, P. (2014). Parents, perceptions and belonging: Exploring flexible working among UK fathers and mothers. *British Journal of Management*, *25*(3), 473-487.
- Genji (2004) 元治恵子. (2004). 女子高校生の職業アスピレーションの構造: 専門職と女性職. 応用社会学研究 46,67-76.
- ——. (2011). 職業評定の国際比較. 石田浩・近藤博之・中尾啓子 (編), 『現代の階層社会 2』 (301-316) 東京大学出版会.
- Goldin, C. (1992). The meaning of college in the lives of American women: The past one-hundred years. *National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper Series, 4099*
- ——. (1995). Career and family: College women look to the past. *National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper, 5188*
- ——. (2006). The quiet revolution that transformed women's employment, education, and family. *American Economic Review*, 96(2), 1-21.
- Goldin, C., Katz, L. F., & Kuziemko, I. (2006). The homecoming of American college women: The reversal of the college gender gap. *Journal of Economic Perspectives, 20*(4), 133-156.
- Goldthorpe, J. H. (1983). Women and class analysis: In defence of the conventional view. *Sociology*, *17*(4), 465-488.
- Gottfredson, G. D., Holland, J. L., & Gottfredson, L. S. (1975). The relation of vocational aspirations and assessments to employment reality. Journal of Vocational Behavior, 7(1), 135-148.
- Gottfredson, L. S. (1996). Gottfredson's theory of circumscription and compromise. In D. Brown, & L. Brooks (Eds.), *Career choice and development* (pp. 179-232). San Fransisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- — . (2002). Gottfredson's theory of circumscription, compromise, and self-creation. In Duane
 Brown and Associates (Ed.), *Career choice and development: Fourth edition* (pp. 85-148).
 San Fransisco, CA: Jossey-Bass: A Wiley Company.

- GOV.UK (n.d.). Flexible working. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.uk/flexible-working/types-of-flexible-working</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Guiso, L., Monte, F., Sapienza, P., & Zingales, L. (2008). Culture, gender, and math. *Science*, *320*(5880), 1164-1165.
- Gutman, L. M., Sabates, R., & Schoon, I. (2014). Uncertainty in educational and career aspirations: Gender differences in young people". In I. Schoon, & J. S. Eccles (Eds.), *Gender differences in aspirations and attainment* (pp. 161-181). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Haerpfer, C., Inglehart, R., Moreno, A., Welzel, C., Kizilova, K., Diez-Medrano, J., (Eds.).
 (2022). World values survey: All rounds country-pooled datafile version. Madrid & Vienna: JD Systems Institute. doi:10.14281/18241.20 (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Hama (2018) 濱貴子. (2018). 戦前期「主婦之友」における職業婦人イメージの形成と変容 「職業婦人」と「主婦」イメージの接続. *社会学評論*, 69(3), 320-337.
- Hamaguchi (2016) 濱口桂一郎. (2016). 日本型雇用システムと労働法制のあり方を巡って. 労務理論学会誌, 25, 85-97.
- Hattori (2015) 服部良子. (2015). 労働レジームと家族的責任. 家族社会学研究, 27(1), 36-48.
- Haveman, R., & Wolfe, B. (1995). The determinants of children's attainments: A review of methods and findings. *Journal of Economic Literature*, *33*(4), 1829-1878.
- Hayashi (2012) 林拓也. (2012). 職業アスピレーション再考. 社会学評論, 63(3), 359-375.
- Heath, A., & Britten, N. (1984). Women's jobs do make a difference: A reply to Goldthorpe. *Sociology*, *18*(4), 475-490.
- HM Revenue & Customs. (2014, March 28,). Official statistics: National insurance contributions. *GOV.UK*, Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/main-features-of-national-insurance-contributions</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Higher Education Statistics Agency. (2023, January 31). Where do HE students study. Retrieved from <u>https://www.hesa.ac.uk/data-and-analysis/students/where-study</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Higuchi (2010) 樋口美雄. (2010). 経済学から見た労働時間政策. *Research Institute for Economy, Trade and Industry (RIETI) Discussion Paper Series,* (10-J-010) Retrieved from https://www.rieti.go.jp/jp/publications/dp/10j010.pdf (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Hirakawa (2020) 平河茉璃絵. (2020). 短時間勤務制度が母親の就業に与える影響. *年金研 究*, 12, 29-53.
- Hirasawa (2011). 平沢和司. (2011). 「大学の学校歴を加味した教育・職業達成分析」石田 浩・近藤博之・中尾啓子編, 『現代の階層社会2』 東京大学出版会.
- Hochschild, A., & Machung, A. (2012). *The second shift: Working families and the revolution at home*. London: Penguin.
- Hogarth, T., Hasluck, C., Pierre, G., Winterbotham, M., & Vivian, D. (2001). Work-life balance 2000: Results from the baseline study (Research Report RR249 ed.) Department for Education and Employment. Retrieved from <u>https://core.ac.uk/reader/4154430</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).

- Hong, K. (2008). Neither hybrid nor unique: A reinterpretation of the East Asian welfare regime. *Asian Social Work and Policy Review*, *2*(3), 159-180.
- Hook, J. L. (2006). Care in context: Men's unpaid work in 20 countries, 1965–2003. *American Sociological Review*, *71*(4), 639-660.
- Houseman, S., & Osawa, M. (2003). The growth of nonstandard employment in Japan and the United States. In S. Houseman, & M. Osawa (Eds.), *Nonstandard work in developed economies: Causes and consequences.* (pp. 175-214). Kalamazoo WI,: W.E. Upjohn Institute for Employment Research.
- HR Vision Co. (n.d.) HR ビジョン社. (n.d.) 短時間勤務. Retrieved from <u>https://jinjibu.jp/keyword/detl/994/</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Hunter, D. (2015, May 13). The status of implementation and plans for future revision of the international standard classification of occupations, 2008. Paper presented at the *Meeting* of the Expert GroupF on International Statistical Classifications, New York, 19-22 May 2015; United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs Statistics Division; Retrieved from https://unstats.un.org/unsd/classifications/expertgroup/egm2015/ac289-34.PDF (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Ikemoto (2003) 池本美香. (2003). 育児休業制度を考える. Business & Economic Review 6 月号, 日本総研Retrieved from <u>https://www.jri.co.jp/page.jsp?id=14184#</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Ikkatai et al. (2021) 一方井祐子・井上敦・南崎梓・加納圭・横山広美. (2021). STEM 分野に 必要とされる能力のジェンダーイメージ 日本とイギリスの比較研究. *科学技術社会論研 究*19: 79-95.
- Imada (1996) 今田幸子. (1996). 女子労働と就業継続 (特集 均等法 10 年を問う). *日本労働研 究雑誌*, 38(5), 37-48.
- International Labour Organization. (2016). ISCO-08 structure, index correspondence with ISCO-88., Retrieved from <u>https://www.ilo.org/public/english/bureau/stat/isco/isco08/index.htm</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- ——. (n.d.) Retrieved from <u>https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:12100:0::NO::P12100 ILO COD</u> <u>E:C156</u> (Accessed 27 February 2024).
- Inoue-Smith, Y. (2014). Gender differences in aspirations for career and marriage among Japanese young adults: Evidence from a large national university in Japan. *Journal of International Women's Studies*, *15*(2), 112-126.
- Institute of Population and Social Security Research (IPSS) (2017) 国立社会保障・人口問題研 究所. (2017). 現代日本の結婚と出産 第15 回出生動向基本調査. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ipss.go.jp/ps-doukou/j/doukou15/NFS15_reportALL.pdf</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——. (2022). 第16 回出生動向基本調査(結婚と出産に関する全国調査)
 <u>https://www.ipss.go.jp/ps-doukou/j/doukou16/doukou16 gaiyo.asp</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- International Social Survey Programme Research Group. (2014). International social survey programme: Family and changing gender roles IV-ISSP 2012. *GESIS Data Archive, Cologne.ZA5900 Data File Version, 2*(0). (Accessed 19 October 2023).

- Isa (2022). 伊佐夏実. (2022). 難関大に進学する女子はなぜ少ないのか――難関高校出身者に 焦点をあてたジェンダーによる進路分化のメカニズム――. 教育社会学研究, 109, 5-27.
- Ishii (2009) 石井 和広. (2009, May 15,). 職業分類表の改訂にあたって. *労総政策研究・研修機構*, Retrieved from <u>https://www.jil.go.jp/column/bn/colum0122.html</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Ishikawa, T. (1997). Growth, human development and economic policies in Japan: 1955-1993. Occassional Paper 23, United Nations Development Programme, 23 Retrieved from https://hdr.undp.org/system/files/documents/tsuneoishikawapdf.pdf

Iwahashi (2011) 岩橋正樹. (2011). 日本標準職業分類について. 統計研究彙報, 68, 127-152.

- Japan Institute for Labour Policy and Training (2022). 労働政策研究・研修機構. (2022). *職業分類 類表 第5回改訂 厚生労働省編職業分類 改定の経緯とその内容* jil.go.jp/institute/seika/shokugyo/bunrui/documents/shokugyo05.pdf (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Japan Student Services Organization (2022)日本学生支援機構. (2022). *令和2年度 奨学金に 関する調査*. Retrieved from https://www.jasso.go.jp/statistics/gakusei.chosa/ icsFiles/afieldfile/2022/03/16/data2 0 all.pdf (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Jo (2014). 城亜美. (2014). 中高生のキャリア教育におけるワーク・ライフ・バランスの扱い の検討. *授業実践開発研究*, 7, 33-41.
- Kamise (2008) 上瀬由美子. (2008). 大学生が抱く社会人・サラリーマン-ステレオタイプに 関する予備的研究描画を用いた検討. *情報と社会*, 18, 1-10.
- Kan, M. Y. (2007). Work orientation and wives' employment careers: An evaluation of Hakim's preference theory. *Work and Occupations*, *34*(4), 430-462.
- Kanai (2007). 鹿内啓子. (2007). 大学生の職業選択に対する職業意識と親の影響との関連 性. 北星学園大学文学部北星論集, 44(2), 1-11.
- Kanbayashi (2006). 神林博史. (2006). 階層帰属意識とジェンダー: 分布の男女差に関する検討. *東北学院大学教養学部論集*, (143), 95-123.
- Katase (2005). 片瀬一男. (2005). 『夢の行方: 職業アスピレーションの変容』 東北大学出版 会.
- Kariya (1986). 苅谷剛彦. (1986). 閉ざされた将来像. 教育社会学研究, 41, 95-109.
- Khanal, S. (2018). Gender discrimination in education expenditure in Nepal: Evidence from living standards surveys. *Asian Development Review*, *35*(1), 155-174.
- Kingdon, G. G. (1997). Does the labour market explain lower female schooling in india? *LSE STICERD Research Paper no.DEDPS01.*
- Knight, C. R., & Brinton, M. C. (2017). One egalitarianism or several? two decades of gender-role attitude change in Europe. *American Journal of Sociology*, *122*(5), 1485-1532.
- Komatsu (2021) 小松恭子. (2021). 日本女性のスキル活用と男女賃金格差: PIAAC を用いた 日・韓・英・ノルウェー比較 (石井クンツ昌子先生退職記念号). *生活社会科学研究*, (27), 41-57.

- Kowalewska, H. (2017). Beyond the 'train-first'/'work-first' dichotomy: How welfare states help or hinder maternal employment. *Journal of European Social Policy, 27*(1), 3-24.
- Kristó, K. (2015). Welfare theories in family politics. *Academic and Applied Research in Military and Public Management Science, 14*(1), 45-52.

Kuwashima (2017) 桑島薫. (2017). 日本の「ワーク・ライフ・バランス」をめぐる政策と取り組みの問題点文献レビューをもとに. 日本文化人類学会研究大会発表要旨集日本文化人類学会第51回研究大会, Retrieved from <u>https://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/article/jasca/2017/0/2017 E26/ pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023)

- Langen, A. v., & Dekkers, H. (2005). Cross-national differences in participating in tertiary science, technology, engineering and mathematics education. *Comparative Education*, *41*(3), 329-350.
- Lareau, A. (2002). Invisible inequality: Social class and childrearing in black families and white families. *American Sociological Review*, *67*(5), 747-776.
- Lauder, H., & Mayhew, K. (2020). Higher education and the labour market: An introduction. *Oxford Review of Education*, *46*(1), 1-9.
- Lee, I. H., & Rojewski, J. W. (2009). Development of occupational aspiration prestige: A piecewise latent growth model of selected influences. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 75(1), 82-90.
- Linkedin Japan. (2020, November 15). 「日本女性の仕事と生活に関する意識調査」を発表 . *PR Times*, Retrieved from <u>https://prtimes.jp/main/html/rd/p/00000004.000066809.html</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Looker, E. D., & Magee, P. A. (2000). Gender and work: The occupational expectations of young women and men in the 1990s. *Gender Issues, 18*(2), 74-88.
- Maeda (2017) 前田正子. (2017). 『大卒無業女性の憂鬱: 彼女たちの働かない・働けない理由』新泉社.
- Mann, A., Denis, V., & Percy, C. (2020). Career ready? how schools can better prepare young people for working life in the era of COVID-19. *OECD Education Working Paper*, (241), OECD, doi:10.1787/e1503534-en
- Marini, M. M., & Fan, P. (1997). The gender gap in earnings at career entry. *American Sociological Review, 62*(4), 588-604.
- Marini, M. M., & Greenberger, E. (1978). Sex differences in occupational aspirations and expectations. *Sociology of Work and Occupations*, *5*(2), 147-178.
- Martin, J. P., Simmons, D. R., & Yu, S. L. (2014). Family roles in engineering undergraduates' academic and career choices: Does parental educational attainment matter. *International Journal of Engineering Education*, *30*(1), 136-149.
- Matsuda & Maeda (2008) 松田由希子 & 前田健一. (2008). 大学生の職業選択未関与におよぼす 自己効力感と親や友人からのサポートの影響. 広島大学心理学研究, 7, 147-158.
- Matsui, K. (2019). Is Womenomics working? In A. Gonzalez, & M. Jansen (Eds.), *Women shaping global economic governance* (pp. 151-160). London: Centre for Economic Policy Research.

- Matsui (2016) 松井健. (2016). 同一価値労働同一賃金とワークライフバランス. 労働調 査, (550), 26-37.
- Matsumoto (1995). 松本卓三. (1995). 男子大学生の職業選択過程に影響を及ぼす諸要因の検討. *進路指導研究*, 16, 10-15.
- Matsumoto (2008) 松本浩司. (2008). 高校生の職業観の構造と形成要因: 職業モデルとの関連 を中心に. キャリア教育研究 26(2), 57-67.
- Meece, J. L., Askew, K. J., Agger, C. A., Hutchins, B. C., & Byun, S. (2014). Familial and economic influences on the gender-related educational and occupational aspirations of rural adolescents. *Journal of Educational and Developmental Psychology*, *4*(1), 238-257.
- Mello, Z. R. (2008). Gender variation in developmental trajectories of educational and occupational expectations and attainment from adolescence to adulthood. *Developmental Psychology*, 44(4), 1069-1079.
- Menon, M. (2017). The family-school connection: Parental influences in academic achievement and the underlying gender differences. *World Scientific News*, *2*(67), 173-188.
- Mills, M., & Blossfeld, H. (2006). Globalization, uncertainty and the early life course. In H. Blossfeld, E. Klijzing, M. Mills & K. Kurz (Eds.), *Globalization, uncertainty and youth in society: The losers in a globalizing world* (pp. 1-23). London: Routledge.
- Mincer, J. (1962). Labor force participation of married women: A study of labor supply. In Universities-National Bureau Committee for Economic Research (Ed.), *Aspects of labor economics* (pp. 63-105). Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (2021a). 第 19 回 21 世紀出生 见縦断調査 (平成 13 年出生児) <u>https://www.mext.go.jp/content/20210810-</u> <u>mxt chousa01-000017268 01a.pdf</u> (Accessed 9 January 2024).
- ——. (2021b) 文部科学省. 令和3年度学校基本調査(確定値)の公表について. Retrieved from <u>https://www.mext.go.jp/content/20211222-mxt chousa01-000019664-1.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- . (2022a). 学校基本調查年次統計 進学率(1948年~) <u>https://www.e-stat.go.jp/stat-search/files?page=1&query=%E9%80%B2%E5%AD%A6%E7%8E%87&layout=dataset&tou kei=00400001&tstat=000001011528&stat infid=000031852304&metadata=1&data=1
 (Accessed 19 October 2023).
 </u>
- ——. (2022b). 令和4 年度学校基本調査(確定値)について公表します..文部科学省. *Retrieved from <u>https://www.mext.go.jp/content/20221221-mxt chousa01-</u> <u>000024177_001.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).*
- ——. (2022c). 令和3 年度子供の学習費調査の概要. Retrieved
 from https://www.mext.go.jp/content/20221220-mxt chousa01-100012573_3a.pdf
 (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——. (n.d.). 私立大学等の令和3年度入学者に係る学生納付金等調査結果について. Retrieved from <u>https://www.mext.go.jp/a menu/koutou/shinkou/07021403/1412031 00004.htm</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Ministry of Health, Labour, and Welfare (2003-2022) 厚生労働省. (2003-2022). 就労条件総合 調査:結果の概要. Retrieved from <u>https://www.mhlw.go.jp/toukei/list/11-23c.html</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).

- ——. (2007).「仕事と生活の調和(ワーク・ライフ・バランス)憲章」及び「仕事と生活の 調和推進のための行動指針」. Retrieved from <u>https://www.mhlw.go.jp/shingi/2008/02/dl/s0212-4e.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——. (2017). 第 15 回 21 世紀出生児縦断調査(平成 13 年出生児)
 <u>https://www.mhlw.go.jp/toukei/saikin/hw/syusseiji/15/dl/gaikyou.pdf</u> (Accessed 31 December 2023).
- ——. (2020). 「短時間正社員制度」導入・運用支援マニュアル」. Retrieved
 from <u>https://part-</u>
 <u>tanjikan.mhlw.go.jp/tayou/tanjikan/download/pdf/sogo manual r02.pdf</u>. (Accessed 19
 October 2023).
- ——. (2021a). フレックスタイム制のわかりやすい解説&導入の手引き. Retrieved
 from https://www.mhlw.go.jp/content/001140964.pdf (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- ——. (2021b). 「令和2年度雇用均等基本調査」結果を公表します ~女性の管理職割合や育 児休業取得率などに関する状況の公表. Retrieved from <u>https://www.mhlw.go.jp/toukei/list/dl/71-r02/07.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- . (2022a). 第 11 回 21 世紀成年者縦断調査(平成 13 年出生児).
 <u>https://www.mhlw.go.jp/toukei/saikin/hw/syusseiji/11/index.html</u>. (Accessed 31 December 2023).
- ——. (2022c). 2021 (今和3) 年国民生活基礎調査の概況.. Retrieved ——
 from <u>https://www.mhlw.go.jp/toukei/saikin/hw/k-tyosa/k-tyosa21/dl/12.pdf</u>. (Accessed
 19 October 2023)
- ——. (2022d). 第 10 回 21 世紀成年者縦断調査 (平成 24 年成年者) (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——. (2023). *令和4年人口動態調查*.
- -----. (n.d.a). *女性活躍推進法について*. Retrieved from <u>https://jsite.mhlw.go.jp/tokyo-</u> roudoukyoku/var/rev0/0140/8784/20151110115237.pdf</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- ——. (n.d.b). 女性の職業生活における活躍の推進に関する法律の概要.
 <u>https://www.mhlw.go.jp/file/06-Seisakujouhou-11900000-</u>
 <u>Koyoukintoujidoukateikyoku/0000095826.pdf</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——. (n.d.c). Labour standards. <u>https://www.mhlw.go.jp/stf/english/labour standards index.html</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——. (n.d.d) 短時間勤務制度. Retrieved from <u>https://www.bosei-navi.mhlw.go.jp/glossary/returntowork02.html</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- . (n.d.e). Revision of the act on advancement of measures to support raising next-generation children . Retrieved from <u>https://www.mhlw.go.jp/english/policy/children/childrenchildrearing/dl/150407-01.pdf</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).

 (n.d.f) 短時間正社員制度の導入・定着支援. Retrieved from
 https://www.mhlw.go.jp/seisakunitsuite/bunya/kenkou iryou/iryou/quality/dl/yosan-02.pdf. (Accessed 19 October 2023).

- Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare *et al.* (2021) 厚生労働省,都道府県労働局,&労働基準 監督署. (2021),時間外労働の上限規制 わかりやすい解説. Retrieved from <u>https://www.mhlw.go.jp/content/000463185.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications (MIC) (2009). 総務省. (2009). 日本標準職業分類(平成 21 年 12 月基準設定) https://www.soumu.go.jp/toukei_toukatsu/index/seido/shokgyou/21index.htm (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——.(2011, 2016, 2021) 社会生活基本調査.
 <u>https://www.stat.go.jp/data/shakai/2011/index.html</u>,
 <u>https://www.stat.go.jp/data/shakai/2016/index.html</u>,
 <u>https://www.stat.go.jp/data/shakai/2021/index.html</u>
- ——. (2021). 2019 年全国家計構造調査:所得に関する結果及び家計資産・負債に関する結果. Retrieved from <u>https://www.stat.go.jp/data/zenkokukakei/2019/pdf/gaiyou0518.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- . (2022). 令和2年国勢調査就業状態等基本集計結果. Retrieved from <u>https://www.stat.go.jp/data/kokusei/2020/kekka/pdf/outline_02.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——.(2023a). 労働力調査2023年(令和5年)7月分.. Retrieved from
 <u>https://www.stat.go.jp/data/roudou/sokuhou/tsuki/pdf/gaiyou.pdf</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——. (2023b). 令和4年就業構造基本調査. Retrieved from
 <u>https://www.stat.go.jp/data/shugyou/2022/index2.html</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Miura (2015) 三浦まり. (2015). 新自由主義的母性–「女性の活躍」 政策の矛盾. ジェンダー 研究 18,53-68.
- Miwa (2011) 三輪哲. (2011). 世代間移動における出身階層測定の再検討. *社会学評論, 3 号*(62 巻)
- Miyamoto (2020) 宮本香織. (2020). 高校生の職業アスピレーションの男女差-PISA を用いた 国際比較-. 人間文化創成科学論叢, 22, 225-234.
- Miyamoto, K. (2021). Girls, be ambitious!: Why Japanese girls have lower occupational expectations than boys. *生活社会科学研究 お茶の水女子大学生活社会科学研究会*, 28, 1-22.

----. (2023). Influence of mothers on occupational expectations of female university students in Japan: A comparison with the UK. ジェンダー研究, 26,89-109

- Moakler Jr, M. W., & Kim, M. M. (2014). College major choice in STEM: Revisiting confidence and demographic factors. *The Career Development Quarterly*, *62*(2), 128-142.
- Moriizumi, R., Nakamura, M., 守泉理恵, 中村真理子. (2021). 日本における結婚・出産とキャリ ア形成. 永瀬伸子 寺村絵里子 (編), *少子化と女性のライフコース* (pp. 67-93) 原書房.

- Motohama (2014) 元濱菜穂子. (2014). パネルデータを用いた職業アスピレーションと地位達 成間の関連についての分析. *Discussion Paper Series 77, 東京大学社会科学研究 所*, Retrieved from <u>https://csrda.iss.u-tokyo.ac.jp/panel/dp/PanelDP 077Motohama.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Muramatsu (2000) 村松幹子. (2000). 女子学生のライフコース展望とその変動. 教育社会学研 究, 66, 137-155.
- Nagamachi (2021) 長町理恵子. (2021).「教育投資と大学進学の収益率」. 永瀬伸子・寺村絵 里子編,『少子化と女性のライフコース』 (19-44) 原書房.
- Nagamatsu (2018) 長松奈美江. (2018). 階級・階層研究における多様な職業的地位尺度の比較分析. 日本労働研究雑誌, 697, 18-28.
- Nagase (1994) 永瀬伸子. (1994). 既婚女子の雇用就業形態の選択に関する実証分析--パートと 正社員. 日本労働研究雑誌, 36(12), 31.
- ——. (2003). Standard and nonstandard work arrangements, pay differences, and choice of work by Japanese mothers. In S. Houseman, & M. Osawa (Eds.), *Nonstandard work in developed economies: Causes and consequences* (pp. 267-300). Kalamazoo, MI: W.E. Upjohn Institute for Employment Research.
- ——. (2011a). 若年非正規雇用の現状と年金を含めた社会的保護のあり方. 財) 年金シニアプ
 ラン総合研究機構「年金と経済」, 30(2).
- ----. (2011b). 第3号被保険者制度の見直しを: 低賃金者への配慮と育児期間の拡充にかえよ. 週刊社会保障, 65(2658), 44-49.
- ——. (2014). 育児短時間の義務化が第1子出産と就業継続, 出産意欲に与える影響: 法改正を 自然実験とした実証分析. 人口学研究, 50, 29-53.
- ----. (2017). 2002-2015 年の女性の就業率の変化: アベノミクスの効果はあったか. 統計ウォ ッチング: 人口・社会統計「統計」 編集委員会 編 68(2), 54-58.
- ——. (2018). Has Abe's Womanomics worked? Asian Economic Policy Review, 13(1), 68-101.
- ——. (2021). Abe's Womenomics policy: Did it reduce the gender gap in management? In T. Hoshi, & P. Y. Lipscy (Eds.), *The political economy of the Abe government and Abenomics reforms* (pp. 310-356). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- ——. (2022). 正規・非正規及び男女格差の現状及びその是正に向けた課題. 2022 ~2023 年度
 経済情勢報告 新たな時代における 経済の好循環実現に向けて(pp. 183-188) 連合総合生
 活開発研究所.
- ----. (2023a). 論点焦点 (第 112 回) 社会保険の 106 万円, 130 万円の壁問題. *社労士, 59*(8), 37-39.
- ----.(2023b).現役減少社会にむけた雇用慣行・社会保険加入の在り方、正社員とパートとの 賃金の均衡、そして就業調整をめぐって.2023~2024 年度経済情勢報告,連合総合生活 開発研究所.
- Nagase & Nagamachi (2002). 永瀬伸子、長町理恵子. (2002). 教育コストの変化と家計構 造. *社会科学研究*, 53(5), 179-193.

- Nagase, N., & Brinton, M. C. (2017). The gender division of labor and second births: Labor market institutions and fertility in Japan. *Demographic Research*, *36*, 339-370.
- Nagy, B., Király, G., & Géring, Z. (2016). Work-life balance and gender regime after the economic transition. *Intersections. East European Journal of Society and Politics*, *2*(3), 5-20.
- Nakagawa (2016) 中川まり. (2016). 女性活躍推進とワーク・ライフ・バランスに関する政策 動向. 家族関係学, 35, 75-83.
- Nakao (2011). 中尾啓子. (2011). 地位達成モデルの東アジア国際比較. 石田浩、近藤博之、中 尾啓子 (Eds.), 『現代の階層社会 2』 (289-300) 東京大学出版会.
- Nakayama (1985) 中山慶子. (1985). 女性の職業アスピレーション その背景, 構成要素, ライフ コースとの関連. 教育社会学研究, 40, 65-86.
- Nemoto, K. (2008). Postponed marriage: Exploring women's views of matrimony and work in Japan. *Gender & Society, 22*(2), 219-237.
- ——. (2013). Long working hours and the corporate gender divide in Japan. Gender, Work & Organization, 20(5), 512-527.
- Nenshu Guide (2023). 年収ガイド 年収・収入に関する総合情報サイト. (2023, Jan 20). 消防 士の年収・ボーナス・退職金・年齢別年収推移・生涯賃金. *年収ガイド*, Retrieved from <u>https://www.nenshuu.net/shoku/koumuin/shouboushi.php</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Nihon Trend Research & Aoyamarajubo Clinic. (2022). 【パパ・ママに聞いた!】子供に将来 なってほしい職業ランキング! 男女別で発表 PR Times. <u>https://prtimes.jp/main/html/rd/p/000000143.000087626.html</u>. (Accessed 9 January 2024).
- Nippon Broadcasting Corporation (NHK). (2009) 日本放送局. (2009, March 18,). 日本放送協会 番組基準. Retrieved from <u>https://j-ba.or.jp/category/broadcasting/jba101032</u>
- Nishimura (2001) 西村純子. (2001). 性分業意識の多元性とその規定要因. *年報社会学論集*, 14, 139-150.
- ----. (2014). 『子育てと仕事の社会学: 女性の働きかたは変わったか』 弘文堂.
- Nishizawa, H. (2007). Current situation and issues of occupational classification commonly used by private and public sectors: Summary . *Research report 77*, Japan Institute for Labour Policy and Training.
- Nishizawa (2018).西澤弘. (2018). 職業の区分法と日本の職業別就業構造. 日本労働研究雑 誌 697, 5-17.
- Noda (2019). 野田博也. (2019). 社会的側面を重視するファイナンシャル・ケイパビリティ研 究の到達点と課題. 人間発達学研究 (10), 35-45.
- Nozaki (2010). 野崎華世. (2010). 日本における男女間賃金格差と職業選択. 家計経済研究= Japanese Journal of Research on Household Economics, (87), 51-63.
- Nukita & Furuya (2021) 抜田博子・古屋健. (2021). 女子大学生のライフコースとその関連要因に関する研究. *立正大学心理学研究年報*, (12), 13-24.
- Ochiai (2015) 落合恵美子. (2015). 「日本型福祉レジーム」 はなぜ家族主義のままなのか―4 報告へのコメント. 家族社会学研究 27(1), 61-68.

- Office for National Statistics (ONS). (2019, October 24). Families and the labour market, UK:2019, based on the labour force survey and annual population survey. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentande</u> <u>mployeetypes/articles/familiesandthelabourmarketengland/2019</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——. (2022, July 22). Families and the labour market, UK: 2021, based on the labour force survey, annual population survey and time use survey. *Office for National Statistics*, Retrieved

from <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employment</u> <u>andemployeetypes/articles/familiesandthelabourmarketengland/2021#flexible-working-</u> <u>and-parental-status</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023)

- . (2023a, February 24,). Vital statistics in the UK: Births, deaths and marriages. Retrieved from https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/ populationestimates/datasets/vitalstatisticspopulationandhealthreferencetables (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- (2023b, March28). Age (d), occupation (current) and sex: Census 2021. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/datasets/create/filter-outputs/18709136-b74c-40d6-89db-5c45532abf70#get-data</u>. (Accessed 24 January 2024).
- . (2023c, August 17). Births in England and Wales: 2022. ONS Website, Statistical bulletin Retrieved from
 https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/livebirths/bulletins/birthsummarytablesenglandandwales/2022. (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- . (2023d, May 18). Families and households in the UK: 2022. ONS Website, Statistical Bulletin, Retrieved from <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/fam</u> <u>ilies/bulletins/familiesandhouseholds/2022</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Office of Communications. (2022, November 30). Ofcom annual report on the BBC 2021-22. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0030/248187/fifth-bbc-annual-report.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Ogawa & Tanaka (1980). 小川一夫・田中宏二. (1980). 親の職業が娘の職業選択に及ぼす影響 に関する研究. 教育心理学研究 28(4), 328-331.
- Oliveira, Í M., Porfeli, E. J., do Céu Taveira, M., & Lee, B. (2020). Children's career expectations and parents' jobs: Intergenerational (dis) continuities. *The Career Development Quarterly*, *68*(1), 63-77.
- Olsson, M., & Martiny, S. E. (2018). Does exposure to counter stereotypical role models influence girls' and women's gender stereotypes and career choices? A review of social psychological research. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*, 2264.
- Onodera (2017). 小野寺典子. (2017). NHK 世論調査における調査方法論研究の系譜. NHK 放送 文化研究所年報 NHK 放送文化研究所 編, 61, 51-112.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2015), The ABC of Gender Equality in Education: Aptitude, Behaviour, Confidence, PISA, OECD Publishing. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264229945-en</u>
- ——. (2019a) Technical Report of the Survey of Adult Skills (PIAAC) (3rd Edition). OECD. <u>https://www.oecd.org/skills/piaac/publications/PIAAC Technical Report 2019.pdf</u>

- ——. (2019b) PISA 2018 database. Retrieved from <u>https://www.oecd.org/pisa/data/2018database/</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——. (2019c). PISA 2018 in Spain <u>https://www.oecd.org/pisa/data/PISA2018Spain_final.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- -----. (2019d). Skills matter doi:10.1787/1f029d8f-en
- ——. (2019e). The future of work: OECD employment outlook 2019: Highlights. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Paris. Retrieved from <u>https://www.oecd.org/employment/Employment-Outlook-2019-Highlight-EN.pdf</u>
- -----. (2021a). Health at a glance 2021 doi:10.1787/ae3016b9-en
- ——. (2021b). Teleworking in the COVID-19 pandemic: Trends and prospects, OECD policy responses to Coronavirus (COVID-19), . Paris: OECD Publishing. doi:10.1787/72a416b6-en.
- -----. (2022a). Education at a glance 2022 doi:10.1787/3197152b-en
- ——. (2022b). OECD Economic Surveys: United kingdom 2022. Paris: OECD Publishing. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1787/7c0f1268-en</u>
- ----. (2022c). 科学分野の女性. Retrieved from <u>https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/jp/data-insights/did-someone-say-women-in-science</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——. (2023a). *G7 dashboard on gender gaps 2023 Japan*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gender.go.jp/international/int kaigi/int g7g8/pdf/g7 summit 2023 0</u> <u>1.pdf</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——. (2023b). G7 dashboard on gender gaps 2023 United Kingdom. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gender.go.jp/international/int_kaigi/int_g7g8/pdf/g7_summit_2023_0_6.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).

OECD.Stat (n.d.). Retrieved from <u>https://stats.oecd.org/</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).

Osawa (2015) 大沢真知子. (2015). 『女性はなぜ活躍できないのか』 東洋経済新報社.

Ouchi (2015). 大内裕和. (2015). 日本の奨学金問題. 教育社会学研究, 96, 69-86.

- Ouchi (2012) 大内章子. (2012). 女性総合職・基幹職のキャリア形成: 均等法世代と第二世代 とではどう違うのか. Business and Accounting Review, (9), 107-127.
- Pan, D. (2022). The relationship between socioeconomic classes and higher education entry in UK. *International Journal of New Developments in Education, 4*(13).
- Pasqua, S. (2005). Gender bias in parental investments in children's education: A theoretical analysis. *Review of Economics of the Household, 3*, 291-314.
- Picou, J. S., & Carter, T. M. (1976). Significant-other influence and aspirations. *Sociology of Education*, , 12-22.
- Polavieja, J. G., & Platt, L. (2014). Nurse or mechanic? the role of parental socialization and children's personality in the formation of sex-typed occupational aspirations. *Social Forces*, *93*(1), 31-61.
- Power, M. (1975). Woman's work is never done—by men: A socio-economic model of sex-typing in occupations. *Journal of Industrial Relations*, *17*(3), 225-239.

- Qi, Y., Liu, Y., Huang, B., Xie, S., Liu, J., & Si, J. (2023). How important are parental career expectations? A subtle and long-term influence on adolescents' career aspirations. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, , 1-10.
- Rainey, L. M., & Borders, L. D. (1997). Influential factors in career orientation and career aspiration of early adolescent girls. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 44(2), 160.
- ReseMom. (2020). 小学生のなりたい職業・親が子どもに就かせたい職業ランキングまとめ. Retrieved from <u>https://resemom.jp/article/2020/04/08/55706.html</u>. (Accessed 26 January 2024).
- Reynolds, J., Stewart, M., MacDonald, R., & Sischo, L. (2006). Have adolescents become too ambitious? High school seniors' educational and occupational plans, 1976 to 2000. *Social Problems*, *53*(2), 186-206.
- Ridgeway, C. L. (1978). Predicting college women's aspirations from evaluations of the housewife and work role. *Sociological Quarterly*, *19*(2), 281-291.
- Ro, H. K., Fernandez, F., & Alcott, B. (2022). A comprehensive approach to addressing gender equity in STEM subjects at four-year universities in England. In H. K. Ro, F. Fernandez & E. J. Ramon (Eds.), *Gender equity in STEM in higher education* (pp. 85-101). New York and London: Routledge.
- Rubery, J., Keizer, A., & Grimshaw, D. (2016). Flexibility bites back: The multiple and hidden costs of flexible employment policies. *Human Resource Management Journal, 26*(3), 235-251.
- Saha, L. J. (1982). Gender, school attainment and occupational plans: Determinants of aspirations and expectations among Australian urban school leavers. *Australian Journal of Education*, *26*(3), 247-265.

——. (1997). Aspirations and expectations of students. *International Encyclopedia of the Sociology of Education*, 512-517.

- Saha, L. J., & Sikora, J. (2008). The career aspirations and expectations of school students: From individual to global effects. *Education and Society*, *26*(2), 5-22.
- Saito & Misumi (2011) 斎藤友里子・三隅一人. (2011). 『現代の階層社会: 流動化のなかの社 会意識』 東京大学出版会.
- Sakata (2014). 坂田桐子. (2014). 選好や行動の男女差はどのように生じるか. 日本労働研 究 56(7), 94-104.
- Sakazume (2017). 坂爪洋美. (2017). 育児を理由とする短時間勤務者の仕事内容と管理職の働きかけ. 法政大学キャリアデザイン学部紀要= 法政大学キャリアデザイン学部紀要, 14, 121-159.
- Schleicher, A. (2019). PISA 2018: Insights and interpretations. OECD Publishing. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/pisa/PISA%202018%20Insights%20and%20Interpretations%20F INAL%20PDF.pdf
- Social Stratification and Social Mobility. (2015). 社会階層と社会移動に関する全国調査 (SSM 2015)の質問票. Retrieved from <u>https://ssjda.iss.u-tokyo.ac.jp/chosa-hyo/1508c_mensetsu.pdf</u> (Accessed 18 December 2023).
- Sano (2018). 佐野嘉秀. (2018). 英国の「柔軟な企業」 モデルに関する実証研究の整理. イノ ベーション・マネジメント研究センター ワーキングペーパー, 1-12.

- Sato (2001). 佐藤博樹. (2001). ホワイトカラーの働き方と裁量労働制の適用可能性― 成果主義が機能するための条件―. *組織科学*, 34(3), 42-52.
- Sato (2008).佐藤郁哉. (2008). 『質的データ分析法:』 原理・方法・実践新曜社.
- Schoon, I. (2015). Explaining persisting gender inequalities in aspirations and attainment: An integrative developmental approach. *International Journal of Gender, Science and Technology*, 7(2), 151-165.
- Schoon, I., & Parsons, S. (2002). Teenage aspirations for future careers and occupational outcomes. *Journal of Vocational Behavior, 60*(2), 262-288.
- Schoon, I., & Polek, E. (2011). Teenage career aspirations and adult career attainment: The role of gender, social background and general cognitive ability. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, *35*(3), 210-217.
- Schuette, C. T., Ponton, M. K., & Charlton, M. L. (2012). Middle school children's career aspirations: Relationship to adult occupations and gender. *The Career Development Quarterly*, *60*(1), 36-46.
- Sewell, W. H., Haller, A. O., & Ohlendorf, G. W. (1970). The educational and early occupational status attainment process: Replication and revision. *American Sociological Review*, *35*(6), 1014-1027.
- Sewell, W. H., Hauser, R. M., & Wolf, W. C. (1980). Sex, schooling, and occupational status. *American Journal of Sociology*, *86*(3), 551-583.
- Shaw, L. B., & Shapiro, D. (1987). Women's work plans: Contrasting expectations and actual work experience. *Monthly Labor Review, 110 (11)*, 7-13.
- Shibuya Trend Research (2023). 渋谷トレンドリサーチ. (2023, February 2,). 【2023 年最新!将 来の夢調査】将来なりたい職業&憧れの人物 TOP10! Retrieved from <u>https://shibuya-</u> <u>trendresearch.jp/monthlytrendsurvey/434/</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).

Shirahase (2004). 白波瀬佐和子. (2004). 社会階層と世帯・個人. 社会学評論, 54(4), 370-385.

- Shirakawa (2018) 白川俊之. (2018). 職業移動の性差に関する研究――機会格差の特徴と趨勢の推定. 2015 年 SSM 調査報告書 (社会移動・健康), 3, 65-103.
- Sikora, J., & Pokropek, A. (2011). *Gendered career expectations of students: Perspectives from PISA 2006.* OECD Education Working Papers No. 57, OECD Publishing.
- Sikora, J., & Saha, L. J. (2009). Gender and professional career plans of high school students in comparative perspective. *Educational Research and Evaluation*, *15*(4), 385-403.
- ——. (2011). *Lost talent? the occupational ambitions and attainments of young Australians.* Adelaide: National Centre for Vocational Education Research.
- Sirin, S. R. (2005). Socioeconomic status and academic achievement: A meta-analytic review of research. *Review of Educational Research*, *75*(3), 417-453.
- Smirles, K. E., Basile, K. A., Aughenbaugh, A., Nasser, S., Logue, S., & Arteaga, L. (2020). Japanese women's perceptions of gender roles and leadership and the effects of a women & leadership course: A qualitative analysis.80(May-June), 102359.
- Soldner, M., Rowan-Kenyon, H., Inkelas, K. K., Garvey, J., & Robbins, C. (2012). Supporting students' intentions to persist in STEM disciplines: The role of living-learning programs among other social-cognitive factors. The Journal of Higher Education, 83(3), 311-336.

- Sony Life (2021). ソニー生命. (2021). 中高生が思い描く将来についての意識調査 2021. <u>https://www.sonylife.co.jp/company/news/2021/nr 210729.html#sec8</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Staff, J., Harris, A., Sabates, R., & Briddell, L. (2010). Uncertainty in early occupational aspirations: Role exploration or aimlessness? *Social Forces*, *89*(2), 659-683.
- Stitt-Gohdes, W. L. (1997). *Career development: Issues of gender, race, and class* ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult, Career, and Vocational Education, Center on Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED413533.pdf. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Stoet, G., & Geary, D. C. (2022). Sex differences in adolescents' occupational aspirations: Variations across time and place. *Plos One, 17*(1), e0261438.
- Stuth, S. (2023). It's a matter of interest: How adolescents' gender, social class, and vocational interests prevent the fit between their vocational interests and occupational aspirations. https://doi.org/10.31235/osf.io/q897w
- Sugihashi (2009). 杉橋やよい. (2009). 男女間賃金格差の要因分解手法の意義と内在的限界. 経済志林, 76(4), 53-79.
- Sugiura (n.d.) 杉浦仁美. 職業威信スコア(n.d.). Retrieved from <u>https://sites.google.com/site/sugiura1103/home/7-material/zhi-ye-wei-xinsukoa</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Suzuki (1994). 鈴木淳子. (1994). 平等主義的性役割態度スケール短縮版 (sesra-s) の作成. 心理 学研究, 65(1), 34-41.
- ——. (1996). 若年女性の平等主義的性役割態度と就労との関係について: 就労経験および理想の仕事キャリア・昇進パターン. 社会心理学研究, 11(3), 149-158.
- Takahashi (2018). 高橋和子. (2018). SSM 調査における管理的職業に関する一考察 –1955 年 から 2015 年 SSM 調査データを用いて –.保田時男 (Ed.), 2015 年 SSM 調査報告書 1 調 査方法・概要 東京大学.
- Takahashi & Nakagami (2007). 高橋桂子・仲神八重子. (2007). 女性の継続就業意欲に影響を 与える要因. 新潟大学教育人間科学部紀要–人文社会科学編, 9(2), 291-298.
- Takamatsu et al. (2023). 高松直紀・掛谷純子・坂本理郎. (2023). 両親の期待が女子大学生の ライフコースに与える影響. ビジネス実務論集 41,1-11.
- Takeishi (2011). 武石恵美子. (2011). 働く人のワーク・ライフ・バランスを実現するための 企業・職場の課題. RIETI Discussion Paper Series, 11-J-029
- ---. (2013). 短時間勤務制度の現状と課題. 法政大学キャリアデザイン学会紀要 生涯学習と キャリアデザイン, 10, 67-84.
- Takeishi & Matsubara (2014). 武石恵美子, & 松原光代. (2014). イギリス, ドイツの柔軟な働き 方の現状: 短時間勤務制度の効果的運用についての日本への示唆. 法政大学キャリアデザ イン学会紀要 生涯学習とキャリアデザイン, 11(2), 15-33.
- Taki (2011a). 多喜弘文. (2011a). 日・独・米における学校トラックと進学期待・職業期待. 社 会学評論, 62(2), 136-152.
- ----. (2011b). 日本の高校トラックと社会階層の関連構造 PISA データを用いて. ソシオロ ジ, 55(3), 37-52,128.

Tanaka (1997). 田中重人. (1997). 高学歴化と生分業. 社会学評論, 48(2), 130-142.

- Tanioka (2023). 谷岡謙. (2023). 階層帰属意識の潜在構造分析–Finite mixture model を用いた 「静かな変容」の検証–. 中京大学現代社会学部紀要, 16(2), 139-158.
- Tasaki, N. (2017). The impact of OECD-PISA results on Japanese educational policy. *European Journal of Education*, *52*(2), 145-153.
- Teramura (2015). 寺村絵里子. (2015). 民間企業における職場規範が女性の就業行動に与える 影響の実証分析(社会科学 学位論文). お茶の水女子大学.
- Terasaki (2008). 寺崎里水. (2008). 職業アスピレーションと社会構造の関係からみたキャリ ア教育の課題 中学生を事例として. 子ども社会研究, 14, 45-57.
- The Japan Commercial Broadcasters Association (n.d.)日本民間放送連盟 (n.d.) よりよい放送の ために. Retrieved from <u>https://j-ba.or.jp/category/broadcasting/jba101032</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- The National Archives (n.d.a) Legislation.gov.uk. (n.d.) The flexible working regulations 2014. Retrieved from <u>https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/1398/made</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- ——. (n.d.b) Legislation.gov.uk. Retrieved from<u>https://www.legislation.gov.uk/</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Thévenon, O. (2011). Family policies in OECD countries: A comparative analysis. *Population and Development Review*, *37*(1), 57-87.

. (2016). Do 'institutional complementarities' foster female labour force participation?
 1. *Journal of Institutional Economics*, *12*(2), 471-497.

- Tipping, S., Chanfreau, J., Perry, J., & Tait, C. (2012). The fourth work-life balance employee survey. *Employment Relations Research Series 122, Department for Business Innovation and Skills*, Retrieved from <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme</u> <u>nt_data/file/32153/12-p151-fourth-work-life-balance-employee-survey.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Trades Union Congress. (2021). Half of working mums don't get the flexibility they ask for TUC survey. Retrieved from <u>https://www.tuc.org.uk/news/half-working-mums-dont-get-flexibility-they-ask-tuc-survey</u>. (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Truyens, M. (n.d.). Theory of self-creation, circumscription and compromise Linda Gottfredson 1981, career MARCR. Retrieved from <u>https://marcr.net/marcr-forcareer-professionals/career-theory/career-theories-and-theorists/theory-ofcircumscription-and-compromise-linda-gottfredson/</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Tsujimura *et al.* (1959). 辻村江太郎・佐々木孝男・中村厚史. (1959). *景気変動と就業構造*. (No. 第2号).至誠堂. Cited in 小前和智. (2021). 1990 年代・2000 年代の日本における 有配偶女性の労働供給行動の検証–ダグラス= 有澤の第1法則を中心に–. *SciREX ワーキングペーパー*, (SciREX-WP-2021-#01).

Uenishi (2022). 上西賢佑. (2022). 【育児・介護休業法の改正対応】過去から現在までの改正 内容(経緯・変遷)をまとめて解説. <u>https://workruleblog.com/</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).

Ueno (2021). 上野千鶴子. (2021). 『女の子はどう生きるか: 教えて、上野先生!』 岩波書店.

- Universities UK (2022, October 4). International facts and figures 2022. Retrieved from <u>https://www.universitiesuk.ac.uk/universities-uk-international/insights-and-publications/uuki-publications/international-facts-and-figures-2022</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).
- Van der Lippe, T., Van Breeschoten, L., & Van Hek, M. (2019). Organizational work–life policies and the gender wage gap in European workplaces. *Work and Occupations, 46*(2), 111-148.
- Vella, F. (1993). Gender roles, occupational choice and gender wage differential. *Economic Record*, *69*(4), 382-392.
- ——. (1994). Gender roles and human capital investment: The relationship between traditional attitudes and female labour market performance. *Economica*, *61*(242), 191-211.
- Vincent-Lancrin, S. (2008). The reversal of gender inequalities in higher education: An on-going trend. *Higher education to 2030: Volume 1: Demography* (pp. 265-298). Paris, France: OECD, Centre for Educational Research and Innovation (CERI).
- Vondracek, F. W., Silbereisen, R. K., Reitzle, M., & Wiesner, M. (1999). Vocational preferences of early adolescents: Their development in social context. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 14(3), 267-288.
- Wakisaka (2018). 脇坂明. (2018). 英国におけるワーク・ライフ・バランス再論. 学習院大学 経済論集, 第55 巻(第1号), 19-34.
- Wakita (2009). 脇田彩. (2009). 女性の階層的地位をめぐる論点. 人文学報』 首都大学東京都 市教養学部人文・社会系・東京都立大学人文学部, 407, 83-103.

- ——. (2015). Cap2-2 評定対象・評定者のジェンダーが職業威信スコアに与える影響 (一般セッション ポスターセッション 社会). Paper presented at the 日本行動計量学会大会抄録 *集 43*, 280-283.
- ——. (2021). ジェンダーと職業威信: ジェンダー・ステレオタイプに注目して. 理論と方法
 ,36(1), 51-64.
- Wang, M., Ye, F., & Degol, J. L. (2017). Who chooses STEM careers? using a relative cognitive strength and interest model to predict careers in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 46*, 1805-1820.
- Wängnerud, L. (2009). Women in parliaments: Descriptive and substantive representation. *Annual Review of Political Science, 12*, 51-69.
- Ward, L. M., & Grower, P. (2020). Media and the development of gender role stereotypes. Annual Review of Developmental Psychology, 2, 177-199.

- Watts, L.L., Frame, M.C., Moffett, R.G., Van Hein, J.L., & Hein, M. (2015). The relationship between gender, perceived career barriers, and occupational aspirations. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *45*(1), 10-22.
- Wheatley, D., & Gifford, J. (2019). UK working lives: The CIPD job quality index survey report 2019. London: Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development. Retrieved from <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/333824185 UK Working Lives Survey R</u> eport 2019/link/5d0788a6458515ea1a6b4869/download (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Whiston, S. C., Li, Y., Mitts, N. G., & Wright, L. (2017). Effectiveness of career choice interventions: A meta-analytic replication and extension. *Journal of Vocational Behavior, 100,* 175-184.
- World Economic Forum. (2023). *Global gender gap report 2023*. Cologny/Geneva: World Economic Forum. Retrieved from <u>https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_GGGR_2023.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023)
- Yamada (2015). 山田昌弘. (2015). 『女性活躍後進国ニッポン』 岩波ブックレット.

----. (2016). 『結婚クライシス: 中流転落不安』 東京書籍.

- Yamaguchi (1999) 山口一男. (1999). 既婚女性の性別役割意識と社会階層: 日本と米国の共通 性と異質性について. 社会学評論, 50(2), 231-252.
- ----. (2017). 『働き方の男女不平等』 日本経済新聞出版社.
- Yamaguchi, K. (2019a). Japan's gender gap. *Finance and development 56* (pp. 26-29). Washington, D.C.: International Monetary Fund. Retrieved from <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/fandd/issues/2019/03/gender-equality-in-japan-yamaguchi</u> (Accessed 19 October 2023).

-----. (2019b). Gender inequalities in the Japanese workplace and employment, Springer.

- Yamamoto & Watanabe (2016). 山本洋子、渡辺友季子. (2016). ジェンダー・ギャップ再考: 日本の母親は子どもの教育・仕事・将来をどうみているか? Child Research Net. https://www.blog.crn.or.jp/report/02/225.html (Accessed 31 December 2023).
- Yamamoto, Y., & Hosokawa, S. (2017). Maternal aspirations and expectations of their children's educational attainment in Japan: Relations to gender and mothers' educational levels. *International Psychology Bulletin*, *21*(3), 25-33.
- Yamato (2008). 大和礼子. (2008). 「専業主婦であること」 は女性の階層帰属意識をたかめる か?「専業主婦の妻を持つこと」 は男性の階層帰属意識を高めるか? 関西大学社会学部 紀要, 44(1), 1-21.
- Yokota (2016). 横田明子. (2016). 女子大学生のキャリア形成意識とワーク・ライフ・バランス. 広島大学大学院教育学研究科紀要. 第二部, 文化教育開発関連領域, 65, 265-271.
- Yokota & Shigekawa (2023) 横田友梨香、重川純子. (2023). 高校生のライフプランに影響を及 ぼす要因: 仕事・結婚・家事・育児を中心に<人文・社会科学. *埼玉大学紀要.教育学 部, 72*(2), 203-217.
- Yokoyama (2015). 横山真紀. (2015). 有配偶女性の昇進意欲を規定する要因. *生活経済学研 究 42*, 29-41.
- ——. (2020). 女性の就業と出産–出産後のキャリアに着目した実証分析–(社会科学学位論
 文). お茶の水女子大学.

- Yoshihara (1995). 吉原恵子. (1995). 女子大学生における職業選択のメカニズム. 教育社会学 研究 57, 107-124.
- YouGov. (2018). What would most bother brits about a partner? Retrieved from <u>https://yougov.co.uk/politics/articles/20271-what-would-most-bother-brits-about-partner</u>. (Accessed 22 January 2024).
- YouGov. (2021a). Financial dependence in relationships . Retrieved from <u>https://d3nkl3psvxxpe9.cloudfront.net/documents/YouGov survey results -</u><u>financial dependence in couples.pdf</u>. (Accessed 22 January 2024).
- YouGov. (2021b). Global gender equality 2021. Retrieved from <u>https://docs.cdn.yougov.com/cmzkyf80zr/YouGov%20-%20Global%20Gender%20E</u> <u>quality%202021.pdf</u>. (Accessed 22 January 2024).
- Zhou (2013). 周燕飛. (2013). 育児期女性の活用: 現状と課題 (特集 女性のワーク・ライフの実情: 調査から浮かび上がるもの). Business Labor Trend, 労働政策研究・研修機構, November, 4-10.

Acknowledgements

The long yet fulfilling nine-year journey to the completion of my study would not have been possible without the unwavering encouragement, support, and generosity of numerous individuals. Foremost among them is Professor Nobuko Nagase, to whom I owe my deepest gratitude. She took a bold leap in accepting me as her student, even though I only had a vague idea for my research topic—a comparative study on media representation of professional women between Japan and France. In addition, at the time, I was working for the OECD in Paris in an entirely different field. Throughout these years, Professor Nagase has been a patient guide, teaching me how to navigate the intricacies of labour economics, regression analysis, academic writing, and much more.

My sincere appreciation extends to my thesis review members, Professors Aya Wakita, Isamu Sugino, Junko Nishimura and Masahiro Omori, who kindly and gently provided basic and crucial missing elements as well as detailed corrections on the model formulas – potentially, these shortcomings could have impeded the thesis from passing.

I extend my sincere thanks to my seniors and peers in Professor Nagase's seminar, who openly shared their experiences in manoeuvring the complexities of the doctoral path and providing continuous support. The same appreciation goes to Professor Susumu Imai of Hitotsubashi University who leads a weekly informal econometric study group to which I belong. He not only demonstrated an interest in my research but also shared valuable expertise, sparing his precious time. Special thanks are owed to Professor Yukiko Abe of Hokkaido University, who gave me vital advice when I was lost in my analysis for Chapter 4. I am also thankful to Dr. Miyuki Taniguchi of Saga University and Dr. Kazuko Nakata of Setsunan University for their indispensable help in conducting interviews with female university students.

A heartfelt appreciation is reserved for the 48 interviewees in both Japan and the UK who took the time to share their stories and review my documents. In this context, I would like to acknowledge my former OECD colleagues, friends, and their acquaintances who played a pivotal role in recruiting the interviewees and supported my endeavours throughout the entire process.

Needless to say, I am immensely grateful to my family members—my husband, our twin daughters, and their nanny—who endured my frequent absence. I am also thankful to my father, who diligently handled the university's administrative procedures on my behalf. However, I want to pay my profoundest tribute to my mother, who sadly and suddenly passed away exactly a year ago, despite eagerly looking forward to celebrating my graduation.

Kazuko Miyamoto, born into a modest Buddhist monk's family, overcame financial challenges after the war by securing a scholarship from a temple to attend high school and making her own shirts from bedsheets. Following her graduation, a stint in office work, and marriage to my father, she pursued a degree at a junior college. Upon our return from a posting in 1960s London, where my father was stationed for work, she authored a book detailing our experiences there, which was a novelty at the time.

Simultaneously, she undertook a course in consumer affairs to embark on a new career working at the National Consumer Affairs Center. She had a full-time job with a non-regular contract which allowed her to return at 6 pm to prepare dinner for me and my brother. Upon our move to New York for my father's second posting in the 1970s, she transitioned into a correspondent role for agricultural and consumer-related magazines, providing informative reports on diverse developments in America. She also published a book on American women with careers, along
with another one advising how Japanese women can also work and have a family, which was also translated into Korean.

As a university student in the 1980s, I began to grasp the nature of her work. Her focus encompassed establishing safety standards for consumer products, including toys, electric blankets, child-proof caps for medicine bottles, and more. Additionally, she dedicated efforts to raise awareness about the health risks of asbestos exposure among workers and residents. Her objective was to enhance the safety and well-being of citizens by introducing advanced regulatory standards from the US to Japan. Amidst these endeavours, she managed to earn a law degree while actively contributing to her professional responsibilities.

Years later in the 90s, during my posting in Washington DC, I accompanied her research mission to the US Department of Transportation, where she interviewed officials on automobile crash tests, a measure not yet implemented in Japan at that time. We also visited an NGO campaigning against hormones in milk products and genetically modified food. Subsequently, when I moved to Paris, she also came, but not to go on tourist spots like the Eiffel Tower or acquire luxury bags from Louis Vuitton. Her destination was Parc Monceau, just down the road, where we examined the cork flooring in the children's playground — a safety measure required by the French government to prevent potential injuries to young children.

Beyond trying to establish regulations over consumable goods, my mother actively pursued the modernisation of Japan's governance systems. She played a key role in advocating for the country's information disclosure law for the public sector, drawing inspiration from the American Freedom of Information Act. Additionally, she authored a book on establishing a whistleblowing system to protect employees from harm in exposing unethical practices. Over time, her commitment to these causes led to a role as a university teacher, and she later retired as a full professor. At the end of her career, she served as an ethics board member of a major Japanese automobile company, visiting car manufacturing factories.

However, there were many downsides as well. Due to a scheduling conflict, she could not attend with my father the school play where I played the lead role. Instead, she ordered a tailor-made red dress and simply imagined how I would perform in it. Furthermore, my father, a journalist who was generally exempted from excessive overtime as discussed in this thesis, rarely contributed to household chores or cooking. Therefore, I vividly recall instances of my mother collapsing under the strain of balancing work and family responsibilities. She also experienced facial nerve paralysis for half a year attributed to workplace power harassment.

I had never considered my mother to be my role model due to our divergent professional paths. My determination to help developing countries emerged around age 14, well before fully understanding the nature of her work. The idea of working and raising two children had also been long part of my plan, predating the start of her career. So it was not until her departure that I finally realised that she had passed on her DNA to me in the form of a strong sense of obligation to contribute towards creating a better world for future generations.

With over 30 years of professional experience in development aid, I also hold a firm belief that Japanese women enjoy far more liberty than their counterparts in developing countries. I have witnessed women in poverty, being stripped of the freedom to go to school, live in hygienic conditions, work outside the home, choose their husbands, decide how many children to have, or avoid the horrors of female genital mutilation. Therefore, I hope that Japanese women, endowed with abundant opportunities, will fully leverage their capabilities to strive towards improving the society they belong to. May they transcend traditional roles, following the path laid down by my mother.